# Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa

Ph.D. Thesis

Band Structure Engineering of Ge-rich SiGe Nanostructures for Photonics Applications

Giovanni Pizzi

Advisor **Prof. Giuseppe Grosso** 

# Contents

# Introduction

Ι	Met	hods		5			
1	Ado	pted mo	dels and methods for the electronic states	7			
	1.1	Crystal	geometry of zincblende structures	8			
	1.2	Tight-b	binding model	10			
		1.2.1	Semiempirical approach	13			
		1.2.2	Spin–orbit coupling	19			
	1.3	Strain		26			
		1.3.1	Relation between strains and stresses	30			
		1.3.2	Strains in mismatched epitaxy and continuum elasticity theory	33			
		1.3.3	Change of symmetry under biaxial strain	37			
		1.3.4	Hopping integrals under strain in the TB formalism	38			
		1.3.5	Discussion of the parametrizations and diagonal parameters				
			shifts	39			
		1.3.6	Band structure of Si and Ge under [001] biaxial strain	41			
		1.3.7	Strain balancing	43			
	1.4	SiGe alloys and the virtual crystal approximation					
	1.5	Valence band offsets					
	1.6	5 $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ model					
		1.6.1	$\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ model for bulk systems $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	48			
		1.6.2	$\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ model for heterostructures: the envelope-function ap-				
			proximation	50			
	1.7	Effectiv	re-mass tensors in the conduction band of Si and Ge	55			
	1.8 Evaluation of quasi-Fermi energies and effective masses						
		1.8.1	Rotation of the effective-mass tensor	59			
	1.9	Band b	endings and Schrödinger–Poisson equation	62			
	1.10	Evaluation of phonon scattering lifetimes					
	1.11	Interdi	ffusion due to annealing	65			
	1.A	Append	dix: Basis reordering to optimize the diagonalization	69			

1

## Contents

2	Opti	ical properties of bulk and heterostructured semiconductors	73
	2.1	Absorption and gain	73
		2.1.1 Calculation of the transition rate $W(\omega) \dots \dots \dots \dots$	75
	2.2	Evaluation of the optical properties	78
		2.2.1 Optical matrix elements in the tight-binding formalism	78
		2.2.2 Absorption and gain in the tight-binding model	80
		2.2.3 Absorption and gain in the effective-mass approximation .	80
	2.3	Spontaneous recombination rate	83
		2.3.1 Direct transitions	84
		2.3.2 Indirect transitions	86
	2.4	2D excitons	93
	2.5	Intersubband absorption and oscillator strengths	95
		2.5.1 Intersubband absorption	95
		2.5.2 Oscillator strengths	97
		2.5.3 Absorption coefficient as a function of the oscillator strength	102
		2.5.4 Low-temperature limit	103
	2.A	Appendix: Lineshape function for large broadenings	104
II	Ар	plications	107
_			
3	THz	emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructures	109
3	<b>THz</b> 3.1	emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructures	<b>109</b> 109
3	<b>THz</b> 3.1 3.2	emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructures         Introduction         ISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWs	<b>109</b> 109 113
3	<b>THz</b> 3.1 3.2 3.3	emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructures         Introduction         ISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWs         Non-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWs	<b>109</b> 109 113 122
3	<b>THz</b> 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructures         Introduction         ISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWs         Non-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWs         Design of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>120</li> </ul>
3	<b>THz</b> 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	remission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructures         Introduction         ISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWs         Non-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWs         Design of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter         3.4.1         Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structure	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>121</li> </ul>
3	<b>THz</b> 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5	zemission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructures         Introduction         ISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWs         Non-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWs         Design of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter         3.4.1         Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structure         Design of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitter	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>122</li> </ul>
3	<b>THz</b> 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6	remission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructures         Introduction         ISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWs         Non-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWs         Design of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter         3.4.1         Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structure         Design of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitter         Conclusion of the Chapter	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> </ul>
3	THz 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.A	$z$ emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructuresIntroductionISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWsNon-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWsDesign of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter3.4.1Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structureDesign of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitterConclusion of the ChapterAppendix: details of the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ multiband code	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> <li>135</li> </ul>
3	THz 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.A Achi	$z$ emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructuresIntroductionISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWsNon-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWsDesign of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter3.4.1Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structureDesign of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitterConclusion of the ChapterAppendix: details of the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ multiband codeieving direct-gap Si/Ge systems	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> <li>135</li> <li>139</li> </ul>
3	THz 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.6 3.A Achi 4.1	$z$ emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructuresIntroductionISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWsNon-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWsDesign of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter3.4.1Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structureDesign of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitterConclusion of the ChapterAppendix: details of the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ multiband codeieving direct-gap Si/Ge systemsIntroduction	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> <li>135</li> <li>139</li> <li>139</li> </ul>
3	THz 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.A Achi 4.1 4.2	<b>a</b> emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructuresIntroductionISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWsNon-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWsDesign of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter3.4.1Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structureDesign of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitterConclusion of the ChapterAppendix: details of the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ multiband codeieving direct-gap Si/Ge systemsIntroductionType-I alignment and calculation of the absorption coefficient	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> <li>135</li> <li>139</li> <li>140</li> </ul>
3	THz 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.A 4.1 4.2 4.3	$z$ emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructuresIntroductionISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWsNon-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWsDesign of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter3.4.1Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structureDesign of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitterConclusion of the ChapterAppendix: details of the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ multiband codeieving direct-gap Si/Ge systemsIntroductionType-I alignment and calculation of the absorption coefficientLarge tensile strain for optical gain in Ge	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> <li>135</li> <li>139</li> <li>140</li> <li>141</li> </ul>
3	THz 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.A 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	$z$ emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructuresIntroductionISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWsNon-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWsDesign of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter3.4.1Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structureDesign of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitterConclusion of the ChapterAppendix: details of the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ multiband codeieving direct-gap Si/Ge systemsIntroductionType-I alignment and calculation of the absorption coefficientLarge tensile strain for optical gain in GeSmall strain and doping	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> <li>135</li> <li>139</li> <li>140</li> <li>141</li> <li>149</li> </ul>
3	THz 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.A 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	$z$ emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructuresIntroductionISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWsNon-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWsDesign of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter3.4.1Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structureDesign of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitterConclusion of the ChapterAppendix: details of the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ multiband codeieving direct-gap Si/Ge systemsIntroductionType-I alignment and calculation of the absorption coefficientLarge tensile strain for optical gain in GeSimulating the photoluminescence	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> <li>135</li> <li>139</li> <li>140</li> <li>141</li> <li>149</li> <li>152</li> </ul>
4	THz 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.A 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6	$z$ emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructuresIntroductionISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWsNon-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWsDesign of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter3.4.1Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structureDesign of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitterConclusion of the ChapterAppendix: details of the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ multiband codeieving direct-gap Si/Ge systemsIntroductionType-I alignment and calculation of the absorption coefficientLarge tensile strain for optical gain in GeSimulating the photoluminescenceAnnealing procedure to increase the tensile strain	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> <li>135</li> <li>139</li> <li>140</li> <li>141</li> <li>149</li> <li>152</li> <li>157</li> </ul>
4	THz 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.A 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7	$z$ emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructuresIntroductionISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWsNon-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWsDesign of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter3.4.1Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structureDesign of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitterConclusion of the ChapterAppendix: details of the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ multiband codeieving direct-gap Si/Ge systemsIntroductionType-I alignment and calculation of the absorption coefficientLarge tensile strain for optical gain in GeSimulating the photoluminescenceAnnealing procedure to increase the tensile strainDirect-gap Si_/Ge_m superlattices	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> <li>135</li> <li>139</li> <li>140</li> <li>141</li> <li>149</li> <li>152</li> <li>157</li> <li>161</li> </ul>
4	THz 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.A 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8	<b>c</b> emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructuresIntroductionISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWsNon-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWsDesign of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter3.4.1Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structureDesign of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitterConclusion of the ChapterAppendix: details of the $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ multiband codeieving direct-gap Si/Ge systemsIntroductionType-I alignment and calculation of the absorption coefficientLarge tensile strain for optical gain in GeSimulating the photoluminescenceAnnealing procedure to increase the tensile strainDirect-gap Si/Ge_m superlatticesConclusion of the Chapter	<ul> <li>109</li> <li>109</li> <li>113</li> <li>122</li> <li>126</li> <li>128</li> <li>131</li> <li>133</li> <li>135</li> <li>139</li> <li>140</li> <li>141</li> <li>149</li> <li>152</li> <li>157</li> <li>161</li> <li>173</li> </ul>

Contents

Ap	penc	lices	182
A	Furt	her addressed topics	185
	A.1	SiGe rolled-up nanotubes	186
	A.2	Porous silicon	191
	A.3	Intersubband polaritons	194
Lis	st of p	ublications related to this Thesis	197
Ac	know	ledgements	201
Bil	bliogr	raphy	203
Lis	st of F	igures	223
Lis	st of T	ables	227

v

# Introduction

Information and Communication Technology (ICT) is currently dominated by silicon, because of its advantageous physical and electronic properties, and also due to its large availability. However, the required data transfer rates of modern electronic chips increase very rapidly and are going beyond the switching speeds provided by current state-of-the-art electronics.

Electronic–Photonic Integrated Circuits (EPIC) on Si are probably the most promising answer to this challenge. A laser compatible with the current processing of electronic chips for integrated circuits, based on group-IV materials, is extremely desirable to monolithically integrate electronics and photonics.

Indeed, in the recent years, there has been a renewed interest for Si and Ge as materials for photonics devices [1–3], also thanks to the developments of the their growth technique and to the first demonstration at MIT of a CMOS-compatible optically pumped Ge-on-Si laser [4].

In this Thesis I study bulk and multilayered heterostructures composed of Si, Ge and their alloys with particular attention to Ge-rich systems, with the aim of realizing optical sources in different regions of the electromagnetic spectrum. In particular, the systems investigated are thin layers, superlattices, multiple quantum well (MQW) heterostructures or quantum cascade structures with alternating  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  layers of different composition *x*, coherently grown along the [001] direction on relaxed virtual substrates.

The Thesis is divided in two main Parts. Part I is devoted to the description of the methods that are at the basis of the calculations carried out in the second Part. In particular, in Chap. 1 I describe the models that are used for the evaluation of the electronic states of the studied systems. The two models here adopted are the tightbinding (Sec. 1.2) and the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  method (Sec. 1.6). In both cases, the discussion starts from the application of the model to Si or Ge bulk systems, and it is then generalized to the case of multilayer heterostructures. Moreover, I discuss how strain (Sec. 1.3) and alloying (Sec. 1.4) can be taken into account in the calculations, due to the high relevance of these effects in Si/Ge heterostructures. The last Sections of Chap. 1 are devoted to the description of further theoretical models that are adopted in the second Part of the Thesis, such as for instance the solution of the coupled Schrödinger-Poisson equations that must be solved to take into account self-consistent charge distribution effects (Sec. 1.9), the evaluation of the intersubband phonon scattering lifetimes (Sec. 1.10), or the simulation of the interdiffusion process due to a thermal

#### INTRODUCTION

### annealing of a MQW system (Sec. 1.11).

Chap. 2 is instead dedicated to the theory of the optical properties of bulk and heterostructured semiconductors. In particular, the general definition of the absorption and gain spectra is presented in Sec. 2.1, and then in Sec. 2.2 I discuss how to calculate these spectra both in the tight-binding framework and in the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  effective-mass framework. In Sec. 2.3 the photoluminescence spectra due to the spontaneous recombination in optically-pumped bulk Ge systems is addressed. In Sec. 2.4, 2D excitonic effects on the evaluated absorption spectra are included, and the absorption coefficient in the case of intersubband transitions is addressed in Sec. 2.5.

The models and techniques discussed in Part I are then exploited in Part II which is instead dedicated to several applications, i.e. to the identification and study of different systems that are potential candidates as Si-based light sources.

In particular, this second Part is divided in two Chapters, focusing on two kind of problems which are different both from the point of view of the underlying physics (intersubband vs. interband transitions) and from the point of view of the applications, since the emission frequency is in the far-infrared or in the near-infrared regions, respectively. Consequently, especially for what concerns the applications, the problems addressed in the two Chapters are for many aspects independent. For this reason, a more detailed discussion of the motivations of the investigations of the topics presented in this Thesis can be found in the Introductions of the respective Chapters.

In Chapter 3 I address the use of intersubband transitions in the conduction band of Ge/SiGe MQWs and quantum cascade structures with the final objective of realizing an emitter in the THz region of the electromagnetic spectrum. I start from the study of the absorption due to the intersubband transitions in the conduction band (at the L point) of Ge/SiGe MQW systems (Sec. 3.2). This study is indeed preliminary to the observation of light emission. However, beside the demonstration of intersubband absorption, it is important to study also the non-radiative channels through which the electrons can relax without emission of photons: Sec. 3.3 is devoted to this aim. We then propose a few different designs of THz electroluminescent emitters, based on Ge/SiGe (Sec. 3.4) or on Si/SiGe quantum cascade structures (Sec. 3.5).

In Chapter 4 I focus instead on interband transitions in SiGe systems (thin layers, MQWs and superlattices) with the aim of obtaining a laser emitting in the near-infrared, which could be employed for instance as a source for the optical fiber interconnects used in long-range telecommunications. In particular, in Sec. 4.2 the interband absorption spectrum of a Ge/SiGe MQW system is studied and from comparison with the experimental measures the different involved transitions are identified. In Sec. 4.3 I study the possibility of reaching a direct gap in Ge/SiGe MQW systems by means of a large applied tensile strain, thanks to the different shifts of the conduction  $\Gamma$  and L valleys under biaxial strain. Then, the possibility of reaching positive gain by means of a smaller tensile strain in a strongly *n*-doped Ge system is analyzed with reference to recent literature results (Sec. 4.4), motivating the development of a code to evaluate the photoluminescence spectrum of bulk-like

strained and doped Ge systems; the results obtained with this code are presented and discussed in Sec. 4.5. Furthermore, due to the relevant role of the tensile strain in the relative positioning of the different states in Ge systems, several strategies have been addressed to increase the magnitude of the strain: in particular, in Sec. 4.6 I discuss the effects of thermal annealing on a Ge/SiGe MQW system, focusing on the competitiveness between the redshift of the lowest-energy transitions due to the increase of the biaxial tensile strain, and their blueshift caused by the interdiffusion of the Si atoms in the Ge wells. Eventually, I present a different strategy to obtain a direct-gap structure based on the adoption of short-period Si/Ge superlattices: in Sec. 4.7 I discuss how in this kind of heterostructures the band folding and the reduced symmetry may be able to produce a direct gap, and I then show that in selected superlattices a positive gain can be expected.

Finally, in Appendix A I briefly describe a few further topics that I have addressed: Si/Ge nanotubes, porous silicon and intersubband polaritons. Even if the first two topics are not planar multilayer heterostructures, they show the potential and the peculiar properties of SiGe materials. In the study of the intersubband polaritons, I addressed the specific role of the non-parabolicity of the confined bands and their interactions with cavity modes: the adopted methodology will be further developed for the analysis of intersubband polaritons in SiGe systems.

Part I

# Methods

# Chapter 1

# Adopted models and methods for the electronic states

Many of the electronic and optical properties reported in this Thesis are calculated by means of a first-neighbor tight binding (TB) Hamiltonian with  $sp^3d^5s^*$  orbitals and including spin-orbit interaction. The advantage of this atomistic approach is that it allows us to take into account the geometric details of the whole structure, the chemical composition of the deposited materials and the strain within each layer. The method provides the electronic band structure over the whole Brillouin zone, the spatial and orbital compositions of the states, and the matrix elements of optical transitions. Moreover, the tight binding model is most appropriate for large scale electronic structure calculations, especially when implemented with O(N) strategies (see e.g. Ref. [5] and references therein, and Refs. [6,7]).

However, there are cases (that will be described in detail in the following Chapters) when simpler but faster methods are more appropriate. In particular, we will describe and adopt for some selected applications a multiband  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  effective-mass model. The disadvantage of this model is that it is not as numerically accurate as the tight binding (see e.g. Refs. [8–11]). However, it has mainly two advantages. The first is that it significantly reduces the computation time. This is a strong requirement in the process of optimization of the design of complicated structures (see e.g. Secs. 3.4, 3.5 and 3.A): for such an application, the calculation has to be as real-time as possible, because we need to change many times the input parameters in order to obtain the best design. In practice, each run can last in the worst case tens of seconds, but not hours. The second advantage is that the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  model can give a more intuitive description of many of the physical properties of the system, often allowing to understand their qualitative behavior or even providing for them analytic expressions.

In this Chapter, we describe both models for the calculation of the electronic properties of bulk and heterostructured semiconductors, with special attention to the case of Si and Ge. Furthermore, we also address some further theoretical models that will be adopted in the second Part of the Thesis.

**Table 1.1** – Lattice constants of some semiconductors which crystallize in the diamond structure, taken from Wyckoff [12].

Crystal		a(Å)			
С	Diamond	3.56679	(20 °C)		
Si	Silicon	5.43070	(25 °C)		
		5.445	(1300 °C)		
Ge	Germanium	5.657 35	(20 °C)		
		5.65695	(18 °C)		
α−Sn	Tin (gray)	6.4912			



**Figure 1.1** – FCC lattice. The primitive vectors are  $\tau_1 = a/2(0,1,1)$ ,  $\tau_2 = a/2(1,0,1)$  and  $\tau_3 = a/2(1,1,0)$ , where *a* is the side of the conventional unit cell. The primitive cell is shown with a darker color.

The conventional unit cell, having a basis of four atoms in the positions  $\mathbf{d}_1 = (0, 0, 0), \tau_1, \tau_2$  and  $\tau_3$ , emphasizes the full cubic symmetry  $O_h$  of the lattice.

# 1.1 Crystal geometry of zincblende structures

This Thesis is focused on silicon (Si) and germanium (Ge), which are group IV semiconductors and crystallize in the diamond structure. Since this structure is a special case of the zincblende structure, typical of most group III-V semiconductors, like gallium arsenide (GaAs), indium arsenide (InAs), etc., in this Section we describe the more general zincblende structure.

The Bravais lattice of the zincblende structure is face centered cubic (FCC) with a basis of two atoms, so that it can be seen as two interpenetrating FCC lattices. We can choose the three translation vectors of the FCC lattice as

$$\boldsymbol{\tau}_1 = a/2(0,1,1), \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau}_2 = a/2(1,0,1), \qquad \boldsymbol{\tau}_3 = a/2(1,1,0), \qquad (1.1)$$

as represented in Fig. 1.1; the primitive cell formed by these vectors has volume  $a^3/4$ . However, in order to emphasize the full cubic symmetry of the Bravais lattice, one often uses the larger conventional unit cell with side *a*, also shown in Fig. 1.1. The values of *a* (the lattice constant) for some common semiconductors which crystallize in the diamond structure are given in Table 1.1.

As already mentioned, the zincblende structure has two atoms in the primitive cell, one in the origin  $\mathbf{d}_1 = (0, 0, 0)$ , and one at one fourth of the diagonal of the cube:  $\mathbf{d}_2 = a/4(1, 1, 1)$ ; the resulting structure is shown in Fig. 1.2. In this Figure it is also



**Figure 1.2** – Conventional unit cell of the zincblende structure. First-neighbor bonds are also shown. In this structure, one kind of atoms (e.g. the anions, red in the Figure) form a FCC lattice. The other kind of atoms (cations, blue in the Figure) also form a FCC lattice, which is displaced by one fourth of the diagonal of the conventional unit cell with respect to the FCC lattice of the anions. If the two atoms are equal, one recovers the diamond structure. If we use the primitive cell with translation vectors given in Eq. (1.1) (see also Fig. 1.1), there are only two atoms in the primitive cell: the anion, lying at  $\mathbf{d}_1 = (0, 0, 0)$ , and the cation, lying at  $\mathbf{d}_2 = a/4(1, 1, 1)$ .

In the zincblende structure, each atom has four first neighbors of opposite kind, which form a regular tetrahedron centered on the atom. One of such tetrahedrons is shown in blue in the Figure.

possible to notice that each atom lies at the center of a regular tetrahedron formed by its four first neighbors. We emphasize here that the knowledge of the position of the first neighbors is of great importance for the application of the tight-binding model. We thus write explicitly the coordinates of the positions of the four first neighbors with respect to the reference atom. In the case of the atom centered on the origin, the four nearest-neighbor positions are

$$\mathbf{d}_{2} = \mathbf{a}_{1} = (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}), \qquad \mathbf{d}_{2} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_{1} = \mathbf{a}_{2} = (\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}), \mathbf{d}_{2} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_{2} = \mathbf{a}_{3} = (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}), \qquad \mathbf{d}_{2} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_{3} = \mathbf{a}_{4} = (-\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}),$$
(1.2)

while for the atom centered on  $\mathbf{d}_2$  the relative positions are

$$-\mathbf{a}_{1} = (-\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}), \quad -\mathbf{a}_{2} = (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}), -\mathbf{a}_{3} = (\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}), \quad -\mathbf{a}_{4} = (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}).$$

The two atoms in  $\mathbf{d}_1$  and  $\mathbf{d}_2$  are different in the case of group III-V materials (for instance, in the case of GaAs, we have an arsenic atom in the origin and a gallium atom in  $\mathbf{d}_2$ ), and in this case we designate them as the anion and the cation,





The points of high symmetry are also shown.

respectively. For the diamond structure, the two atoms in the primitive cell are instead equal.

The corresponding primitive vectors of the FCC reciprocal lattice are

$$\mathbf{g}_1 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(-1,1,1), \qquad \mathbf{g}_2 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(1,-1,1), \qquad \mathbf{g}_3 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(1,1,-1),$$

which form a BCC lattice. The Brillouin zone is the well known truncated octahedron, depicted in Fig. 1.3. Some points of high symmetry in the Brillouin zone are denoted by conventional names:

$$\Gamma = (0, 0, 0), \qquad X = \frac{2\pi}{a} (1, 0, 0), \qquad L = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right),$$
$$W = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left(1, \frac{1}{2}, 0\right), \qquad K = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left(\frac{3}{4}, \frac{3}{4}, 0\right), \qquad U = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left(1, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{4}\right).$$

# 1.2 Tight-binding model

One of the models that we use in this work in order to study the electronic and optical properties of Si–Ge nanostructures is the tight-binding model (TB).

When the atoms are brought together to form the crystal, their orbitals overlap and the energy levels spread leading to the formation of bands, i.e. the actual levels in the solid.

We denote by  $\mathbf{r}_{nv}$  the position of a generic atom of the crystal, where *n* indicates the cell to which the atom belongs and *v* indexes the different atoms within the cell; in particular,  $\mathbf{r}_{nv}$  can be written as  $\mathbf{r}_{nv} = \boldsymbol{\tau}_n + \mathbf{d}_v$ , where  $\boldsymbol{\tau}_n$  is a translation vector of the FCC Bravais lattice and  $\mathbf{d}_v$  is the position of the atom *v* within the cell.

The Hamiltonian of an isolated atom of type *v* centered on  $\mathbf{r}_{nv}$  is  $h_v(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{nv})$  and the corresponding Schrödinger equation is given by

$$h_{\nu}\phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{n\nu}) = \left[\frac{p^2}{2m} + V^{(a)}(r-r_{\nu m})\right]\phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{n\nu}) = \tilde{E}_{\nu m}\phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{n\nu}), \quad (1.3)$$

where *m* indexes the states and  $V^{(a)}$  is the atomic potential acting on the electron, due to the nucleus and the other electrons. We know that we can choose solutions

with a definite angular symmetry (for example, if the Hamiltonian depends only on the magnitude of **r** and not on its angular part, we can separate the orbitals  $\phi_{vm}$  in a radial and an angular part, and choose the angular part as a linear combination of spherical harmonics, so that the orbitals have symmetry *s*, *p<sub>x</sub>*, *p<sub>y</sub>*, *p<sub>z</sub>* and so on).

We always assume, moreover, that the atomic orbitals  $\phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{n\nu})$  are Löwdin orbitals, i.e., different orbitals are orthogonal to each other. For orbitals centered on the same atom this is obvious, as we can always choose an orthonormal set of eigenfunctions for the problem (1.3). For atoms centered on different sites, we can first obtain a set of non-orthogonal orbitals simply solving Eq. (1.3). With a procedure shown in Ref. [13] we can at this point change the basis set to obtain the Löwdin orbitals with the requested property

$$\langle \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{n\nu}) | \phi_{\nu' m'}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{n'\nu'}) \rangle = \delta_{mm'} \delta_{nn'} \delta_{\nu\nu'}. \tag{1.4}$$

The simple orthogonalization algorithm presented in [14] has moreover the advantage that the Löwdin orbitals  $\phi_{vm}$  show the same symmetry properties as the original atomic orbitals, so that we can still speak of orbitals of *s*-symmetry,  $p_x$ -symmetry, and so on. This information is contained in the index *m* of  $\phi_{vm}$ .

When we consider the full Hamiltonian of the crystal, the actual wavefunctions must satisfy the Bloch theorem because of the discrete translational symmetry of the lattice; we can write them in the form of Bloch sums

$$\Phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{n} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}_{n\nu}} \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{n\nu})$$
(1.5)

where N is the number of primitive cells in the crystal and the sum over n runs over all the N cells. Note that these Bloch sums are orthonormal because of Eq. (1.4).

We assume that the single-particle Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  for an electron of the crystal can be written in the form

$$\mathcal{H}=\frac{\mathbf{p}^2}{2m}+V(\mathbf{r}),$$

where *V* (the crystalline potential) is assumed to be the sum of the atomic potentials  $V^{(a)}$ :

$$V(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{n,\nu} V^{(a)}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{n\nu}).$$
(1.6)

The eigenfunctions of the total Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  with given **k** vector can be written as linear combinations of the orthonormal Bloch sums  $\Phi_{vm}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r})$ 

$$\Psi_{\mathbf{k}}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{\nu,m} C_{\nu m} \Phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})$$

and the coefficients  $C_{vm}$  can be obtained by simply diagonalizing the Hamiltonian matrix  $H_{vm,v'm'}(\mathbf{k})$ , whose matrix elements are

$$H_{\nu'm',\nu m}(\mathbf{k}) = \langle \Phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) | \mathcal{H} | \Phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) \rangle.$$

Let us explicitly compute the matrix elements  $H_{\nu'm',\nu m}(\mathbf{k})$  of the Hamiltonian.

We can split *V*, given in Eq. (1.6), in two parts, separating the contribution of the atom in  $\mathbf{d}_{v'}$ :

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{\mathbf{p}^2}{2m} + V(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{\mathbf{p}^2}{2m} + V^{(a)}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) + V'(\mathbf{r}) = h_{\nu'} + V'$$

where  $V'(\mathbf{r})$  contains all the remaining terms of the potential, i.e. the atomic potentials centered on sites different from  $\mathbf{d}_{v'}$ .

Using now the fact that  $\phi_{vm}$  is eigenfunction of the atomic Hamiltonian  $h_v$ , as stated in Eq. (1.3), and the explicit expression for the orthonormal  $\Phi_{vm}$  functions, given in Eq. (1.5), we obtain

$$H_{\nu'm',\nu m}(\mathbf{k}) = \langle \Phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) | \mathcal{H} | \Phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) \rangle = E_{\nu'm'} \delta_{\nu\nu'} \delta_{mm'} + \sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}_n} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{\tau}_n + \mathbf{d}_{\nu} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'})} \int d\mathbf{r} \, \phi^*_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) V'(\mathbf{r}) \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_{\nu}).$$
(1.7)

The sum of the previous expression is over all translation vectors  $\boldsymbol{\tau}_n$  such that v and v' belong to different sites. Note that the energy  $E_{v'm'}$  contains the atomic eigenvalue  $\tilde{E}_{v'm'}$  of the atom in  $\mathbf{d}_{v'}$  corrected by the crystal field contribution, which originates from the term in Eq. (1.7) with  $\boldsymbol{\tau}_n = 0$  and v = v'. This term is of the form

$$\int \mathrm{d}\mathbf{r}\,\phi_{\nu'm'}^*(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu'})V'(\mathbf{r})\phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu'}),\tag{1.8}$$

where we stress again that V' is the sum of all contributions to the potential coming from atoms other than the one sitting at  $\mathbf{d}_{v'}$ , and both orbitals are centered on the same position  $\mathbf{d}_{v'}$ . As a consequence,  $E_{v'm'}$  feels its environment, i.e. it contains contributions due to the symmetry of the crystal structure in which the atom is embedded.

As already said, to get the energy levels we only need to solve the eigenvalue problem

$$\mathcal{H}\Psi(\mathbf{k}) = E(\mathbf{k})\Psi(\mathbf{k}),$$

i.e. diagonalize the Hamiltonian matrix  $H_{v'm',vm}(\mathbf{k})$ . This is, however, not simple at all.

The first difficulty that we encounter is in the evaluation of the last term of Eq. (1.7). This term rises two problems: first of all we have to work with the sum over  $\tau_n$  that, even if not infinite, is composed of an unmanageable large number of terms. However, we can make a first approximation considering only those orbitals centered on atoms that are not too far apart, because we are assuming that the orbitals of interest are quite localized and do not interact significantly if they are spatially well separated. We can then adopt the first-neighbor approximation, where we sum only on the nearest-neighbor atoms (in the case of the zincblende structure, only on four atoms), second-neighbor approximation. Indeed, expanding  $V'(\mathbf{r})$  using Eq. (1.6), we see that in general we have integrals in Eq. (1.7) where the two wavefunctions are centered on two different atoms, and interact through an atomic potential centered

on a third site. Always assuming well localized orbitals, we can neglect all those contributions where the three sites are different, and consider only the terms of the following form:

$$\left(\phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) \middle| V^{(a)}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu}-\boldsymbol{\tau}_n) \middle| \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu}-\boldsymbol{\tau}_n) \right).$$
(1.9)

The second problem that we have to face with, is that we have an infinite number of Löwdin orbitals on each site, and therefore also the Hamiltonian matrix is infinite. To obtain a finite matrix, allowing us to diagonalize it with standard methods, we consider only a finite set of orbitals, in particular those of the outermost atomic shells. This choice is physically motivated by the fact that the inner orbitals are quite ineffective to provide relevant features in the electronic properties of the crystal, being tightly bound to the nuclei. If a calculation is performed taking into account also these orbitals, we would get that they generate dispersionless (**k**–independent) core bands, that correspond to an infinite electronic effective mass. Moreover, these (completely filled) bands are deep well below the chemical potential level, and therefore also an excitation of an electron to a higher band is impossible using photons in the visible range or with lower frequency.

The topmost occupied valence bands show on the contrary a complicated dispersion relation  $E(\mathbf{k})$ ; moreover there is the actual possibility that some electrons are transferred to the empty conduction bands, originating interesting transport and optical properties of the semiconductor.

The simplest choice of orbitals that produces reasonable results is the so called  $sp^3$  tight-binding model, where we consider only one orbital with *s* symmetry and three *p* orbitals ( $p_x$ ,  $p_y$  and  $p_z$ ) centered on each atom of the primitive cell, reducing the total number of orbitals to eight in the case of the zincblende structure. In this way we have to diagonalize only a 8 × 8 matrix, simplifying notably the computation.

This description, however, is quite poor, and indeed it lacks some of the most important features of the band dispersion of the group IV and III-V semiconductors. In the literature, there have been different attempts to solve this problem, typically increasing the order of neighbors which are taken into account in the calculation, or introducing additional orbitals for each atom. With this second method, at the expense of an increase of the dimension of the Hamiltonian matrix, one obtains a great improvement of the results of the computation, allowing for the description of some features that were missed by the simple  $sp^3$  model.

The model that is used throughout this work is the  $sp^3d^5s^*$  model in the firstneighbor approximation, that we now describe in detail.

## 1.2.1 Semiempirical approach

An upgrade of the minimal  $sp^3$  basis set model has been obtained introducing, for each atom in the primitive cell, an unoccupied excited *s*-type orbital [15]; this gives a better description of the conduction bands of the semiconductors. Such orbitals are denoted by  $s^*$  to distinguish them from the other lower-energy *s* orbitals.

The major improvement in the description of the conduction bands, however, is obtained by the introduction of *d*-type orbitals, as explained in Jancu *et al.* [16]. One of the main achievements of such a choice is a better agreement with the known sequence of the energy levels, and a better reproduction of the transverse effective masses for the conduction band minima at the L point and along the  $\Gamma$ -X line in the Brillouin zone.

Throughout this work, we thus adopt ten atomic-like orbitals for each atom, denoted by their symmetry as

s; 
$$\underbrace{x, y, z}_{p}$$
;  $\underbrace{xy, xz, yz, x^{2} - y^{2}, 3z^{2} - r^{2}}_{d}$ ; s\*. (1.10)

To distinguish between orbitals belonging to different atoms, we use a specific site label. For zincblende structures, e.g., we denote with  $s_a$  the *s* orbital centered on the anion, and with  $s_c$  the orbital centered on the cation, and similarly for the other orbitals. We will use this notation also for group IV semiconductors if we need to distinguish between the two atoms in the basis, even if the two atoms are of the same kind.

As already said, we limit ourselves to interactions between first neighbors and consider only two-center integrals. The generic integral that we must compute in order to obtain the matrix elements given by Eq. (1.7) is therefore of the form

$$\left(\phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) \middle| V^{(a)}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu}-\boldsymbol{\tau}_n) \middle| \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu}-\boldsymbol{\tau}_n) \right).$$
(1.11)

In the semiempirical approach these integrals, as well as the energies  $E_{vm}$  of Eq. (1.7), are taken as parameters, and are obtained by fitting specific features of the band dispersion of the bulk semiconductor under study. Typically, such features are the values of the energy bands at high-symmetry points of the Brillouin zone and the effective masses, which are obtained from experimental data or from other theoretical methods. The empirical tight-binding model, in this sense, can be seen as an interpolation method that gives the energy bands for all points in the Brillouin zone, starting from a limited set of energies. This semiempirical approach to the tight-binding method was first introduced by Slater and Koster [14].

Using this approach we want now to show that, for a  $sp^3d^5s^*$  model with interactions limited to first neighbors, we need only a small set of independent two-center integrals to obtain the full band dispersion. These are denoted (for group IV crystals) by

$$V(ss\sigma), V(sp\sigma), V(pp\pi), V(sp\sigma), V(pp\pi), V(sd\sigma), V(pd\sigma), V(pd\pi), V(dd\sigma), V(dd\pi), V(dd\delta), V(s^*s\sigma), V(s^*s^*\sigma), V(s^*p\sigma), V(s^*d\sigma).$$
(1.12)

What we mean is that all integrals of the form of Eq. (1.11) can be expressed by appropriate linear combinations of the independent integrals (1.12), where the coefficients depend on the director cosines of the vector  $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{d}_v + \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_{v'}$  that joins the two atoms at  $\mathbf{d}_{v'}$  and at  $\boldsymbol{\tau}_n + \mathbf{d}_v$ .

To clarify this concept, we now discuss the meaning of the integrals (1.12). In the case of two *s* orbitals, the angular momentum quantized in the direction of the vector joining the two atoms can only be zero. However, if we consider two *p* orbitals (see Fig. 1.4), we can overlap them along the direction of the orbital; in this case we speak of a  $\sigma$  bond, and the angular momentum along the axis is still zero. We can however let them overlap in a direction orthogonal to the orbitals, e.g. considering the interaction between two  $p_x$  orbitals, but with the two atoms aligned along the *z* direction: this type of bond is called a  $\pi$  bond, and now the angular momentum along *z* is  $\hbar$ .

In particular, if the vector **R** joining the two atoms is along the *z* direction, we can define the two-center integrals introduced in (1.12) by

Moreover, we have that

$$\langle s|H|p_x \rangle = \langle s|H|p_y \rangle = V(sp\pi) = 0 \tag{1.13}$$

because, if the Hamiltonian includes only the two interacting atoms, then it has a cylindrical symmetry along the axis  $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{d}_v + \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_{v'}$  joining the two atoms. If we consider that the angular part of the orbitals is simply a spherical harmonic function  $Y_{lm}$ , with azimuthal direction  $\mathbf{R}$ , then we see that the matrix element (1.13) of the Hamiltonian vanishes because the two spherical harmonics of the orbitals at the two centers have different m.

In the crystal, however, the direction of the vectors **R** joining two atoms are in general neither parallel nor orthogonal to the directions of the axes x, y, z that we have chosen to define the p orbitals; to get the interaction parameter for a generic direction, we have to expand the spherical harmonics which define the angular part of our orbitals along the direction of **R**. The matrix element is therefore a linear combination of the integrals of (1.12). A graphical representation of one possible case is given in Fig. 1.4.

A complete table of all matrix elements needed for a  $sp^3d^5s^*$  basis is reported in Table 1.2, where *l*, *m*, and *n* denote the director cosines of **R** with respect of the *x*, *y*, *z* axes, as shown in Fig. 1.5. These matrix elements are known as the Slater–Koster parameters.

For the sake of completeness, we mention that in the case of group III-V semiconductors, the only difference is that we have to distinguish for instance between  $V(s_a p_c \sigma)$  and  $V(s_c p_a \sigma)$ : we have indeed different energies depending on whether the *s* orbital is centered on the anion or on the cation. The number of independent integrals will be slightly larger, but except for this there is no conceptual difference from what we have presented up to now for group IV semiconductors.

**Table 1.2** – Slater–Koster parameters up to d–type orbitals in terms of two-center integrals. In this table, we have denoted simply with ( $ss\sigma$ ) the independent integral  $V_{ss\sigma}$ , with ( $pd\pi$ ) the integral  $V_{pd\pi}$  and so on.

$E_{s,s}$	$(ss\sigma)$
$E_{s,x}$	$l(sp\sigma)$
$E_{x,x}$	$l^2(pp\sigma) + (1-l^2)(pp\pi)$
$E_{x,y}$	$lm(pp\sigma) - lm(pp\pi)$
$E_{x,z}$	$ln(pp\sigma) - ln(pp\pi)$
$E_{s,xy}$	$\sqrt{3}lm(sd\sigma)$
$E_{s,x^2-y^2}$	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{3}(l^2-m^2)(sd\sigma)$
$E_{s,3z^2-r^2}$	$[n^2 - \frac{1}{2}(l^2 + m^2)](sd\sigma)$
$E_{x,xy}$	$\sqrt{3}l^2m(pd\sigma) + m(1-2l^2)(pd\pi)$
$E_{x,yz}$	$\sqrt{3}lmn(pd\sigma) - 2lmn(pd\pi)$
$E_{x,zx}$	$\sqrt{3}l^2n(pd\sigma) + n(1-2l^2)(pd\pi)$
$E_{x,x^2-y^2}$	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{3}l(l^2-m^2)(pd\sigma)+l(1-l^2+m^2)(pd\pi)$
$E_{y,x^2-y^2}$	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{3}m(l^2-m^2)(pd\sigma)-m(1+l^2-m^2)(pd\pi)$
$E_{z,x^2-y^2}$	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{3}n(l^2-m^2)(pd\sigma) - n(l^2-m^2)(pd\pi)$
$E_{x,3z^2-r^2}$	$\bar{l}[n^2 - \frac{1}{2}(l^2 + m^2)](pd\sigma) - \sqrt{3}ln^2(pd\pi)$
$E_{y,3z^2-r^2}$	$m\left[n^2 - \frac{1}{2}(l^2 + m^2)\right](pd\sigma) - \sqrt{3}mn^2(pd\pi)$
$E_{z,3z^2-r^2}$	$n[n^2 - \frac{1}{2}(l^2 + m^2)](pd\sigma) + \sqrt{3}n(l^2 + m^2)(pd\pi)$
$E_{xy,xy}$	$3l^2m^2(dd\sigma) + (l^2 + m^2 - 4l^2m^2)(dd\pi) + (n^2 + l^2m^2)(dd\delta)$
$E_{xy,yz}$	$3lm^2n(dd\sigma) + ln(1-4m^2)(dd\pi) + ln(m^2-1)(dd\delta)$
$E_{xy,zx}$	$3l^2mn(dd\sigma) + mn(1-4l^2)(dd\pi) + mn(l^2-1)(dd\delta)$
$E_{xy,x^2-y^2}$	$\frac{3}{2}lm(l^2-m^2)(dd\sigma)+2lm(m^2-l^2)(dd\pi)+\frac{1}{2}lm(l^2-m^2)(dd\delta)$
$E_{yz,x^2-y^2}$	$\frac{3}{2}mn(l^2-m^2)(dd\sigma) - mn[1+2(l^2-m^2)](dd\pi) +$
	$mn\left[1+\frac{1}{2}(l^2-m^2)\right](dd\delta)$
$E_{zx,x^2-y^2}$	$\frac{3}{2}nl(l^2-m^2)(dd\sigma)+nl[1-2(l^2-m^2)](dd\pi)-$
	$nl \left[1 - \frac{1}{2}(l^2 - m^2)\right](dd\delta)$
$E_{xy,3z^2-r^2}$	$\sqrt{3}lm[n^2 - \frac{1}{2}(l^2 + m^2)](dd\sigma) - 2\sqrt{3}lmn^2(dd\pi) +$
	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{3}lm(1+n^2)(dd\delta)$
$E_{yz,3z^2-r^2}$	$\sqrt{3}mn\left[n^2 - \frac{1}{2}(l^2 + m^2)\right](dd\sigma) + \sqrt{3}mn(l^2 + m^2 - n^2)(dd\pi) - \frac{1}{2}(dd\sigma) + \frac{1}{2$
	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{3}mn(l^2+m^2)(dd\delta)$
$E_{zx,3z^2-r^2}$	$\sqrt{3}ln[n^2 - \frac{1}{2}(l^2 + m^2)](dd\sigma) + \sqrt{3}ln(l^2 + m^2 - n^2)(dd\pi) -$
	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{3ln(l^2+m^2)(dd\delta)}$
$E_{x^2-y^2,x^2-y^2}$	$\frac{3}{4}(l^2 - m^2)^2(dd\sigma) + [l^2 + m^2 - (l^2 - m^2)^2](dd\pi) + $
	$\left[n^2 + \frac{1}{4}(l^2 - m^2)^2\right](dd\delta)$
$E_{x^2-y^2,3z^2-r^2}$	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{3(l^2 - m^2)}\left[n^2 - \frac{1}{2}(l^2 + m^2)\right](dd\sigma) + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{3(l^2 - m^2)}\left[n^2 - \frac{1}{2}(l^2 + m^2)\right](dd\sigma) + \frac{1}{2}3(l^2$
	$\sqrt{3n^2(m^2 - l^2)}(dd\pi) + \frac{1}{4}\sqrt{3(1 + n^2)(l^2 - m^2)}(dd\delta)$
$E_{3z^2-r^2,3z^2-r^2}$	$\left[n^{2} - \frac{1}{2}(l^{2} + m^{2})\right]^{-}(dd\sigma) + 3n^{2}(l^{2} + m^{2})(dd\pi) + 3n^{2}(l^{2} + m^{2})(dd\pi)$
	$\frac{3}{4}(l^2+m^2)^2(dd\delta)$

1.2 TIGHT-BINDING MODEL



**Figure 1.4** – Graphical example of the interaction between orbitals on different sites. In this case, the interaction between two  $p_x$  orbitals is shown and is decomposed into its two contributions  $V(pp\sigma)$  and  $V(pp\pi)$ .



We can now apply these results in our specific case. For the zincblende structure, the director cosines of the vectors joining an anion at  $\mathbf{d}_1 = 0$  to its four first neighbors are (see the relations (1.2)):

$$\frac{l}{\mathbf{d}_{2}} \qquad \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \qquad$$

while for a cation at  $\mathbf{d}_2$  the four vectors are  $-\mathbf{d}_2$ ,  $-(\mathbf{d}_2 - \boldsymbol{\tau}_1)$ ,  $-(\mathbf{d}_2 - \boldsymbol{\tau}_2)$ ,  $-(\mathbf{d}_2 - \boldsymbol{\tau}_3)$ , i.e. the opposites of the vectors for an anion. We note here that we are assuming that the atom sitting in the origin is an anion; however, this is only a convention and we could choose to put instead the cation in the origin. The results are the same, because we can go from one description to the other by simply translating the origin of  $\mathbf{d}_2$  and performing an inversion of the axes. Using this transformation, the anions take the place of the cations and vice versa.

Using these coefficients, we can express all integrals needed to obtain the Hamiltonian matrix as a function of the Slater–Koster parameters reported in Table 1.2, so that a generic interaction term between an orbital i of the anion a, sitting in the origin, and an orbital j of the cation c, is of the form

$$H_{ij}^{ac}(\mathbf{k}) = \sum_{\substack{\text{first}\\\text{neighbors}}} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{\tau}_n + \mathbf{d}_2)} \langle \phi_i^a(\mathbf{r}) | H | \phi_j^c(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_2 - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n) \rangle =$$

$$= \sum_{n=0,1,2,3} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot(\mathbf{d}_2 - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n)} E_{ij}(\mathbf{d}_2 - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n), \qquad (1.15)$$

where we have defined  $\tau_0 = (0, 0, 0)$  and  $E_{ij}$  is a Slater–Koster parameter.

We notice, now, that all the integrals between the center atom and the four first neighbors have the same absolute value, and differ only in a sign. We can therefore rewrite Eq. (1.15) as

$$H_{ij}^{ac}(\mathbf{k}) = E_{ij}(\mathbf{d}_2) \sum_{n=0,1,2,3} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{\tau}_n + \mathbf{d}_2)} \operatorname{sign}(n),$$

where sign(*n*) represents the relative sign of the integral for the atom in position  $\mathbf{d}_2 - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n$  and that for the atom in position  $\mathbf{d}_2$ .

Considering all the possibilities for the relative signs, we obtain that the sum of the exponentials can assume only four different values, called phase factors<sup>1</sup>:

$$g_0 = 4(\cos x \cos y \cos z - i \sin x \sin y \sin z), \qquad (1.16a)$$

$$g_1 = 4(-\cos x \sin y \sin z + i \sin x \cos y \cos z), \qquad (1.16b)$$

$$g_2 = 4(-\sin x \cos y \sin z + i \cos x \sin y \cos z),$$
 (1.16c)

$$g_3 = 4(-\sin x \sin y \cos z + i \cos x \cos y \sin z), \qquad (1.16d)$$

where we have defined

$$x=rac{ak_x}{4}, \qquad y=rac{ak_y}{4}, \qquad z=rac{ak_z}{4}.$$

Using the above definitions, we can now write the  $20 \times 20$  Hamiltonian matrix for a zincblende crystal with two atoms in the primitive cell, in the  $sp^3d^5s^*$  basis, as follows:

$$H_{ij} = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} H^{aa} & H^{ac} \\ \hline H^{ca} & H^{cc} \end{array}\right), \tag{1.17}$$

<sup>1</sup>The four phase factors are obtained in the following cases:

 $g_0: \quad sign(0) = sign(1) = sign(2) = sign(3) = 1,$   $g_1: \quad sign(0) = sign(1) = 1, \quad sign(2) = sign(3) = -1,$  $g_2: \quad sign(0) = sign(2) = 1, \quad sign(1) = sign(3) = -1,$ 

 $g_3$ : sign(0) = sign(3) = 1, sign(1) = sign(2) = -1.

1.2 TIGHT-BINDING MODEL

where  $H^{aa}$ ,  $H^{ac}$ ,  $H^{ca}$  and  $H^{cc}$  are 10 × 10 matrices.

In particular,  $H^{aa}$  is the diagonal matrix composed of the atomic eigenvalues corrected by the crystal field contribution; its elements are

$$E_{s}^{a}, E_{p}^{a}, E_{p}^{a}, E_{p}^{a}, E_{d}^{a}, E_{d}^{a}, E_{d}^{a}, E_{d}^{a}, E_{d}^{a}, E_{d}^{a}, E_{d}^{a}, E_{s}^{a}$$

and analogously  $H^{cc}$  for the cation.

We have also that  $H^{ca} = (H^{ac})^{\dagger}$ , because the Hamiltonian is Hermitian.

The block  $H^{ac}$  contains the interactions between the anion and the cation. Its explicit form is shown in Table 1.3.

Diagonalizing the matrix  $H_{ij}(\mathbf{k})$  of Eq. (1.17) we obtain twenty (real) eigenvalues, which are the allowed energies for the electron.

If we plot these energies versus the  $\mathbf{k}$  vector, we obtain the bands of the crystal; an example for silicon is reported in Fig. 1.6, where we have also shown the path followed in  $\mathbf{k}$  space.

## 1.2.2 Spin-orbit coupling

For a more precise analysis of the electronic states, also relativistic effects should be included. Indeed this contribution, even if often negligible on the conduction bands, produces instead quite important effects especially at the top of the valence bands (which are mainly composed of *p*-type states). The correction due to relativistic effects is more important for heavy elements. For most semiconductors, however, these effects are small and we can limit to first-order perturbation theory: for instance, the separation at  $\Gamma$  of the topmost valence bands is only 0.04 eV for silicon (*Z* = 14) and 0.29 eV for germanium (*Z* = 32).

To include these effects, we start from the Dirac relativistic equation

$$\left[c\boldsymbol{\alpha}\cdot\mathbf{p}+\beta mc^2+V(\mathbf{r})\right]\boldsymbol{\psi}=W\boldsymbol{\psi}.$$

Here  $\psi$  is a four-component spinor, **p** is the momentum operator  $-i\hbar\nabla$ ,  $W = E + mc^2$  is the total energy (including the rest energy  $mc^2$ ) and  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are given by

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \boldsymbol{\sigma} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma} & \mathbf{0} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & -\mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix},$$

where **1** is the 2 × 2 unit matrix and  $\sigma$  are the usual Pauli matrices

$$\sigma_x = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_y = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_z = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.18)

Using the Foldy–Wouthuysen transformation [17], we can decouple the strong and weak components of the Dirac spinor. If we consider only the first terms of an expansion in the ratio  $\mathbf{p}/mc$ , we obtain the following equation for the upper two-component spinor:

$$\left[\frac{\mathbf{p}^2}{2m} + V(\mathbf{r}) - \frac{\mathbf{p}^4}{8m^3c^2} - \frac{\hbar^2}{4m^2c^2}\nabla V \cdot \nabla + \frac{\hbar}{4m^2c^2}\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot (\nabla \mathbf{V} \times \mathbf{p})\right] \boldsymbol{\psi} = E\boldsymbol{\psi}.$$

nion). The order of the basis is that reported in Eq. (1.10), i.e. $s$ , $p_x$ , $p_y$ , $p_z$ , $d_{xz}$ , $d_{yz}$ , $d_{x^2-y^2}$ , $d_{3z^2-r^2}$ , $s^*$ for each atom in the primitive cell.	on and the second on an anion, i.e. we have to use, for instance, $V(s_c p_a \sigma)$ instead of $V(s_a p_c \sigma)$ (for those without tilde, the first center is instead on	ype orbital. If we are dealing with a group III-V semiconductor, the elements denoted with a tilde are to be defined with the first orbital centered on a	<b>le 1.3</b> – $H^{ac}$ matrix which describes the interaction between an anion in the origin and a cation in $\mathbf{d}_2$ . We have denoted simply with $x^2$ the $x^2 - y^2$	
--	---	---	---	--

$\left( g_0 \tilde{E}_{s,s^*}  g_1 E_{s^*,x}  g_2 E_{s^*,x} \right)$	$0  \frac{\frac{\xi_1}{\sqrt{3}}E_{x,x^2}}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{\frac{\xi_2}{\sqrt{3}}E_{x,x^2}}{\sqrt{3}}$	<i>?</i> . ×	$0 \qquad -g_1\tilde{E}_{x,x^2} \qquad g_2\tilde{E}_{x,x^2}$	$g_1 \tilde{E}_{s,xy} -g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz} -g_3 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $0 -g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,x^2} g_2 \tilde{E}_{x,x^2}$	$g_2 \tilde{E}_{s,xy} - g_3 \tilde{E}_{x,xy} - g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $g_1 \tilde{E}_{s,xy} - g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz} - g_3 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $0 - g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,x^2} - g_2 \tilde{E}_{x,x^2}$	$g_{3}\tilde{E}_{s,xy} - g_{2}\tilde{E}_{x,xy} - g_{1}\tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $g_{2}\tilde{E}_{s,xy} - g_{3}\tilde{E}_{x,xy} - g_{0}\tilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $g_{1}\tilde{E}_{s,xy} - g_{0}\tilde{E}_{x,yz} - g_{3}\tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $0 - g_{1}\tilde{E}_{x,x^{2}} - g_{2}\tilde{E}_{x,x^{2}}$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$-g_{2}\tilde{E}_{s,x}  g_{3}E_{x,y}  g_{0}E_{x,x} \\ -g_{3}\tilde{E}_{s,x}  g_{2}E_{x,y}  g_{1}E_{x,y} \\ g_{3}\tilde{E}_{s,xy}  -g_{2}\tilde{E}_{x,xy}  -g_{1}\tilde{E}_{x,xy} \\ g_{2}\tilde{E}_{s,xy}  -g_{3}\tilde{E}_{x,yz}  -g_{0}\tilde{E}_{x,yz} \\ g_{1}\tilde{E}_{s,xy}  -g_{0}\tilde{E}_{x,yz}  -g_{3}\tilde{E}_{x,xy} \\ 0  -g_{1}\tilde{E}_{x,x^{2}}  g_{2}\tilde{E}_{x,x^{2}} $	$\begin{array}{rcrcrcr} -g_1\tilde{E}_{s,x} & g_0E_{x,x} & g_3E_{x,y} \\ -g_2\tilde{E}_{s,x} & g_3E_{x,y} & g_0E_{x,x} \\ -g_3\tilde{E}_{s,x} & g_2E_{x,y} & g_1E_{x,y} \\ g_3\tilde{E}_{s,xy} & -g_2\tilde{E}_{x,xy} & -g_1\tilde{E}_{x,xy} \\ g_2\tilde{E}_{s,xy} & -g_3\tilde{E}_{x,xy} & -g_0\tilde{E}_{x,yz} \\ g_1\tilde{E}_{s,xy} & -g_0\tilde{E}_{x,yz} & -g_3\tilde{E}_{x,xy} \\ 0 & -g_1\tilde{E}_{x,x^2} & g_2\tilde{E}_{x,x^2} \end{array}$
< u < u	$\frac{g_2}{\sqrt{2}}\tilde{E}_{x,x^2} - 2\frac{g_3}{\sqrt{2}}\tilde{E}_{x,x^2}$	$g_2 \tilde{E}_{x,x^2}$ 0	t	$-g_3\tilde{E}_{x,xy} -g_2\tilde{E}_{x,xy}$	$-g_0\tilde{E}_{x,yz} -g_1\tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $-g_3\tilde{E}_{x,xy} -g_2\tilde{E}_{x,xy}$	$-g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,xy} - g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $-g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz} - g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $-g_3 \tilde{E}_{x,xy} - g_2 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$	$g_1 E_{x,y} \qquad g_0 E_{x,x}$ $-g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,xy} \qquad -g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $-g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz} \qquad -g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $-g_3 \tilde{E}_{x,xy} \qquad -g_2 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$	$g_0 E_{x,x} \qquad g_1 E_{x,y}$ $g_1 E_{x,y} \qquad g_0 E_{x,x}$ $-g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,xy} \qquad -g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $-g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz} \qquad -g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $-g_3 \tilde{E}_{x,xy} \qquad -g_2 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$	$g_{3}E_{x,y} \qquad g_{2}E_{x,y}$ $g_{0}E_{x,x} \qquad g_{1}E_{x,y}$ $g_{1}E_{x,y} \qquad g_{0}E_{x,x}$ $-g_{1}\tilde{E}_{x,xy} \qquad -g_{0}\tilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $-g_{0}\tilde{E}_{x,yz} \qquad -g_{1}\tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $-g_{3}\tilde{E}_{x,xy} \qquad -g_{2}\tilde{E}_{x,xy}$
$\tilde{E}_{x,x^2}$ 0 $\tilde{E}_{x,x^2}$ $-2\frac{g_3}{\sqrt{3}}\tilde{E}_{x,x^2}$ -	$x_{x,x^2} = 0$	>	$ ilde{E}_{x,xy} - g_2  ilde{E}_{x,xy}$		$\tilde{E}_{x,yz} - g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$	$ar{E}_{x,xy} = -g_0  ilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $ar{E}_{x,yz} = -g_1  ilde{E}_{x,xy}$	$egin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$E_{x,x} \qquad g_1 E_{x,y}$ $E_{x,y} \qquad g_0 E_{x,x}$ $\tilde{E}_{x,xy} \qquad -g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $\tilde{E}_{x,yz} \qquad -g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$	$E_{x,y}$ $g_2 E_{x,y}$ $E_{x,x}$ $g_1 E_{x,y}$ $E_{x,y}$ $g_0 E_{x,x}$ $\tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $-g_0 \tilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $\tilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $-g_1 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$
$0 \\ \frac{13}{\sqrt{3}} \tilde{E}_{x,x^2} - 2 \frac{g_3}{\sqrt{3}}$	0		$_2 \tilde{E}_{x,xy}$ $g_2 E$	$_{1}E_{x,xy}$ $g_{1}E_{1}E_{1}E_{2}E_{1}E_{2}E_{1}E_{2}E_{2}E_{1}E_{2}E_{2}E_{2}E_{2}E_{2}E_{2}E_{2}E_{2$	, L	${}_{0} ilde{E}_{x,yz}$ $g_{0}E$	$(E_{x,x}) = g_0 I$ $(E_{x,yz}) = g_0 E$ $\tilde{F}$ = $G$	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$E_{x,y}$ $g_2 E_{x,y}$ $g_1 E_{x,y}$ $g_1 E_{x,x}$ $g_0 I$ $E_{x,x}$ $g_0 I$ $E_{x,yz}$ $g_0 E_{x,yz}$ $g_0 E_{x,yz}$
$\frac{3}{\sqrt{3}}E_{xz,x^2}$	Q3	0	$E_{xy,xz}$	$E_{xy,xz}$	Ľ	$E_{xy,xy}$	${}_{Exy,xy}$	${}_{1}E_{x,xy}$ ${}_{0}E_{x,yz}$ ${}_{1}E_{xy,xy}$	${}_{2}E_{x,xy}$ ${}_{1}E_{x,xy}$ ${}_{0}E_{x,yz}$ ${}_{E_{xy,xy}}$
	$\frac{g_2}{\sqrt{3}}E_{xz,x^2}$	$g_2 E_{xz,x^2}$	$g_3 E_{xy,xz}$	$S0^{L}xy,xy$	n F	$g_1 E_{xy,xz}$	$g_1 E_{x,xy}$ $g_1 E_{xy,xz}$	$g_0 E_{x,yz}$ $g_1 E_{x,xy}$ $g_1 E_{xy,xz}$	$g_3 E_{x,xy}$ $g_0 E_{x,yz}$ $g_1 E_{x,xy}$ $g_1 E_{xy,xz}$
1	$\frac{g_1}{\sqrt{3}}E_{xz,x^2}$	$-g_1E_{xz,x^2}$	$g_0 E_{xy,xy}$	$\delta x y, xz$	$\sigma_{\gamma}F_{max}$	$g_2 E_{xy,xz}$	82Ex,xy 82Exy,xz	$g_3 E_{x,xy}$ $g_2 E_{x,xy}$ $g_2 E_{xy,xz}$	$g_0 E_{x,yz}$ $g_3 E_{x,xy}$ $g_2 E_{x,xy}$ $g_2 E_{xy,xz}$
>	0	$g_0 E_{x^2,x^2}$	$-g_1 E_{xz,x^2}$	0- 12,1	$q_{2}E_{x7,y2}$	0	0 0 27 E <sub>x7 x2</sub>	$-g_2 E_{x,x^2}$ 0 0	$g_1E_{x,x^2}$ $-g_2E_{x,x^2}$ 0 0 0 $g_2E_{xx,x^2}$
0	$g_0 E_{x^2,x^2}$	0	$\frac{g_1}{\sqrt{3}}E_{xz,x^2}$	C \	$\frac{g_2}{f_3} E_{xz,x^2}$	$-2 \frac{g_3}{\sqrt{3}} E_{xz,x^2}$ $\frac{g_2}{\sqrt{3}} E_{xz,x^2}$	$\frac{2\frac{g_3}{\sqrt{3}}E_{x,x^2}}{-2\frac{g_3}{\sqrt{3}}E_{xz,x^2}}$	$-\frac{g_2}{\sqrt{3}}E_{x,x^2}$ $2\frac{g_3}{\sqrt{3}}E_{x,x^2}$ $-2\frac{g_3}{\sqrt{3}}E_{xz,x^2}$ $\frac{g_2}{\sqrt{3}}E_{xz,x^2}$	$-\frac{g_1}{\sqrt{3}}E_{x,x^2} \\ -\frac{g_2}{\sqrt{3}}E_{x,x^2} \\ 2\frac{g_3}{\sqrt{3}}E_{x,x^2} \\ -2\frac{g_3}{\sqrt{3}}E_{xz,x^2} \\ \frac{g_2}{\sqrt{3}}E_{xz,x^2}$
QnEe* e*	0	0	$g_1 \tilde{E}_{s^*,xy}$		$g_2 \tilde{E}_{s^*,xy}$	$g_3 \tilde{E}_{s^*,xy}$ $g_2 \tilde{E}_{s^*,xy}$	$-g_3 ilde{E}_{s^*,x}$ $g_3 ilde{E}_{s^*,xy}$ $g_2 ilde{E}_{s^*,xy}$	$-g_2 \tilde{E}_{s^*,x}$ $-g_3 \tilde{E}_{s^*,x}$ $g_3 \tilde{E}_{s^*,xy}$ $g_2 \tilde{E}_{s^*,xy}$	$-g_{1}\tilde{E}_{s^{*},x}$ $-g_{2}\tilde{E}_{s^{*},x}$ $-g_{3}\tilde{E}_{s^{*},x}$ $g_{3}\tilde{E}_{s^{*},xy}$ $g_{2}\tilde{E}_{s^{*},xy}$

20



**Figure 1.6** – Band structure of silicon (without the introduction of spin–orbit interactions), using the parametrization of Jancu *et al.* [16]. The path followed in **k** space is also shown (it is split in two parts only for graphical reasons).

The first two terms on the left-hand side are the non-relativistic Hamiltonian. The three following terms

$$\mathcal{H}_{v} = -\frac{\mathbf{p}^{4}}{8m^{3}c^{2}}, \qquad \mathcal{H}_{d} = -\frac{\hbar^{2}}{4m^{2}c^{2}}\nabla V \cdot \nabla, \qquad \mathcal{H}_{so} = \frac{\hbar}{4m^{2}c^{2}}\boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot (\nabla \mathbf{V} \times \mathbf{p}) \quad (1.19)$$

are the first-order relativistic corrections to the Schrödinger Hamiltonian. The first term  $\mathcal{H}_{\nu}$  is the relativistic correction to the kinetic energy, as can be seen expanding the relativistic expression of the kinetic energy

$$\sqrt{c^2 \mathbf{p}^2 + m^2 c^4} = mc^2 + \frac{\mathbf{p}^2}{2m} - \frac{\mathbf{p}^4}{8m^3 c^2} + \cdots$$

The second term  $\mathcal{H}_d$  is a correction to the potential  $V(\mathbf{r})$  and is known as the Darwin term. Finally, the third term  $\mathcal{H}_{so}$  is the spin–orbit coupling and can be interpreted as the interaction between the spin magnetic moment of the electron and the magnetic field felt by the electron (originated from the Coulomb potential of the nucleus). This term can be understood also in a classical analysis [18], even if it leads to a wrong prefactor of two.

The terms  $\mathcal{H}_{\nu}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{d}$  do not depend on the spin of the electron and do not change the symmetry properties of the non-relativistic Hamiltonian. Thus, they are not explicitly considered in a semiempirical tight-binding approximation. Indeed,  $\mathcal{H}_{\nu}$  gives a negative expectation value on any electronic state; we expect a smooth deformation of the bands, but the degeneracy of the states remains unchanged.  $\mathcal{H}_{d}$ gives instead a correction that depends strongly on the angular momentum, and is important only for *s* states. Also in this case, no additional splitting is introduced; the only effect can be the inversion of the order of some levels. Both these effects, however, are automatically included when we fit the two-center integrals to the actual band structure of the crystal, so that we do not need to explicitly consider them.

The spin-orbit term couples instead real-space operators with spin-space operators: the symmetry is thus reduced and, when we classify the states with the irreducible representations of the symmetry group of the Hamiltonian, different groups must be considered. The simple group is used when spin-orbit interactions are discarded, while the corresponding double group is used when these effects are included. A detailed description of these groups and of how the states of the simple group split into the states of the double group is reported in Ref. [19].

For a spherically-symmetric potential  $V_a(r)$ , we can write the spin–orbit term of Eq. (1.19) as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm so} = \frac{\hbar}{4m^2c^2} \frac{1}{r} \frac{\mathrm{d}V_a(r)}{\mathrm{d}r} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{L},$$

where we have used the definition  $\mathbf{L} = \mathbf{r} \times \mathbf{p}$  of the angular momentum operator. For this Hamiltonian, *m* and  $s_z$  are no more good quantum numbers, and the 2(2l + 1) degeneracy of each state with angular momentum *l* is lifted, originating a state with total angular momentum  $j = l + \frac{1}{2}$  and degeneracy 2l + 2, and a state with  $j = l - \frac{1}{2}$  and degeneracy 2l (except for *s* states, that do not split). In the case of a crystal, if

the crystal potential is approximated by sums of spherical potentials, the spin-orbit term can be written as

$$\mathcal{H}_{so} = \frac{\hbar}{4m^2c^2} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\tau}_n} \sum_{\mathbf{d}_\nu} \frac{1}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_\nu - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n|} \frac{\mathrm{d}V_\nu(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_\nu - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n)}{\mathrm{d}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_\nu - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n)} \boldsymbol{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_\nu - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n).$$
(1.20)

For the inclusion of spin–orbit, we must consider different orbitals for spin-up and spin-down electrons and the Bloch sums derived from these orbitals, since the degeneracy on  $s_z$  is now removed. Moreover, this is important only near the nuclei, where  $dV_v(\mathbf{r})/d\mathbf{r}$  is strong, thus only on-site integrals among degenerate Bloch sums are important and are considered in a first-order approximation. Using Eq. (1.20), one can easily compute matrix elements between states with same angular momentum l, but different m and spin.

If we are interested in a semiempirical approach, however, we can simply assume that on each site the spin–orbit interaction term is of the form

$$h_{\rm so} = \alpha \mathbf{L} \cdot \mathbf{S}, \tag{1.21}$$

where **L** is the orbital angular momentum operator,  $\mathbf{S} = \frac{1}{2}\hbar\boldsymbol{\sigma}$  is the spin angular momentum operator and  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$  are the Pauli matrices given in (1.18).

Here  $\alpha$  is a new fitting parameter that is adapted to reproduce the experimental splittings, and can be considered as a constant. We consider the effect of spin–orbit only on *p*–type states, mainly because all the parametrizations that we adopt involve spin–orbitals only for *p*–states, since the effects are smaller for *d*–type states. As already pointed out at the beginning of this Section, we treat spin–orbit interaction in a perturbative approach, writing

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{tb} + \mathcal{H}_{so},$$

where  $\mathcal{H}_{tb}$  is the tight-binding Hamiltonian described in the previous Section.

To evaluate the energy contribution of this perturbation, we introduce the total angular momentum J = L + S so that

$$\mathbf{J}^2 = (\mathbf{L} + \mathbf{S})^2 = \mathbf{L}^2 + \mathbf{S}^2 + 2\mathbf{L} \cdot \mathbf{S}$$

and from this Equation we obtain that the expectation value of the  $L \cdot S$  operator is

$$\langle \mathbf{L} \cdot \mathbf{S} \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbf{J}^2 - \mathbf{L}^2 - \mathbf{S}^2 \rangle = \frac{\hbar^2}{2} [j(j+1) - l(l+1) - s(s+1)],$$
 (1.22)

where *j*, *l* and *s* are the quantum numbers of the operators  $J^2$ ,  $L^2$  and  $S^2$ , respectively.

The new basis set of states includes both spin-up and spin-down states so that we now consider 20 orbitals for each atom in the unit cell, namely:

$$s^{\uparrow}, \quad p_{x}^{\uparrow}, p_{y}^{\uparrow}, p_{z}^{\uparrow}, \quad d_{xy}^{\uparrow}, d_{xz}^{\uparrow}, d_{yz}^{\uparrow}, d_{x^{2}-y^{2}}^{\uparrow}, d_{3z^{2}-r^{2}}^{\uparrow}, \quad s^{*\uparrow}, \\ s^{\downarrow}, \quad p_{x}^{\downarrow}, p_{y}^{\downarrow}, p_{z}^{\downarrow}, \quad d_{xy}^{\downarrow}, d_{xz}^{\downarrow}, d_{yz}^{\downarrow}, d_{x^{2}-y^{2}}^{\downarrow}, d_{3z^{2}-r^{2}}^{\downarrow}, \quad s^{*\downarrow},$$

where the arrows indicate spin-up and spin-down states.

In order to exploit Eq. (1.22), we need to express p states as functions of  $\Phi_{j,j_z}$ , i.e. of eigenstates of the total angular momentum or, more precisely, of  $\mathbf{J}^2$  and  $J_z$ :

$$J^{2}\Phi_{j,j_{z}} = \hbar^{2}j(j+1)\Phi_{j,j_{z}}$$
$$J_{z}\Phi_{j,j_{z}} = \hbar j_{z}\Phi_{j,j_{z}}$$

For this aim we first express the  $p_x$ ,  $p_y$  and  $p_z$  states in terms of the spherical harmonics  $Y_{lm}$ :

$$p_x = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (Y_{1,-1} - Y_{1,1}),$$
  

$$p_y = \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} (Y_{1,-1} + Y_{1,1}),$$
  

$$p_z = Y_{1,0}.$$

We now use the Clebsch–Gordan coefficients to decompose these states (multiplied by their spin part) in terms of  $\Phi_{j,j_z}$ . We obtain<sup>2</sup>

$$\Phi_{3/2,3/2} = Y_{1,1}^{\uparrow} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (p_x^{\uparrow} + i p_y^{\uparrow})$$
(1.23a)

$$\Phi_{3/2,1/2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} Y_{1,1}^{\downarrow} + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} Y_{1,0}^{\uparrow} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} \left[ \left( p_x^{\downarrow} + i p_y^{\downarrow} \right) - 2 p_z^{\uparrow} \right]$$
(1.23b)

$$\Phi_{3/2,-1/2} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} Y_{1,0}^{\downarrow} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} Y_{1,-1}^{\uparrow} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} \left[ \left( p_x^{\uparrow} - i p_y^{\uparrow} \right) + 2 p_z^{\downarrow} \right]$$
(1.23c)

$$\Phi_{3/2,-3/2} = Y_{1,-1}^{\downarrow} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (p_x^{\downarrow} - i p_y^{\downarrow})$$
(1.23d)

$$\Phi_{1/2,1/2} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} Y_{1,0}^{\uparrow} + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} Y_{1,1}^{\downarrow} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \left[ \left( p_x^{\downarrow} + i p_y^{\downarrow} \right) + p_z^{\uparrow} \right]$$
(1.23e)

$$\Phi_{1/2,-1/2} = -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}}Y_{1,-1}^{\uparrow} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}Y_{1,0}^{\downarrow} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}[(p_x^{\uparrow} - ip_y^{\uparrow}) - p_z^{\downarrow}]$$
(1.23f)

Inverting these relations, we obtain the expressions of our states in terms of the total angular momentum eigenstates:

$$p_x^{\uparrow} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ -\Phi_{3/2,3/2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{3/2,-1/2} - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{1/2,-1/2} \right]$$
(1.24a)

$$p_x^{\downarrow} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ -\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{3/2,1/2} - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{1/2,1/2} + \Phi_{3/2,-3/2} \right]$$
(1.24b)

$$p_{y}^{\uparrow} = \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ \Phi_{3/2,3/2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{3/2,-1/2} - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{1/2,-1/2} \right]$$
(1.24c)

$$p_{y}^{\downarrow} = \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{3/2,1/2} + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{1/2,1/2} + \Phi_{3/2,-3/2} \right]$$
(1.24d)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As an overall phase for the states has no physical effects, we could have chosen different Clebsch-Gordan coefficients. Another phase convention which is often used is that of Luttinger [20].

1.2 TIGHT-BINDING MODEL



**Figure 1.7** – As a consequence of spinorbit coupling, the degeneracy of the bands of zincblende or diamond semiconductors is lifted at  $\Gamma$ . The heavy hole (HH) and light hole (LH) states (with j = 3/2) remain degenerate at the zone center, while the split-off state (with j = 1/2) shifts down in energy.  $\Delta$ represents the experimental splitting at  $\Gamma$ .

$$p_z^{\uparrow} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{3/2,1/2} - \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{1/2,1/2}$$
(1.24e)

$$p_z^{\downarrow} = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{3/2,-1/2} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \Phi_{1/2,-1/2}$$
(1.24f)

At this point, the evaluation of the matrix elements of  $\mathcal{H}_{so}$  between these states becomes straightforward. In Eq. (1.22) we have l = 1 and s = 1/2 because we are considering *p*-type orbitals; *j* is obtained from the expansions (1.23) and (1.24). We also use the fact that the eigenstates  $\Phi_{j,j_z}$  are orthogonal and we finally obtain

$$\langle p_{x}^{\uparrow} | \mathcal{H}_{so} | p_{y}^{\uparrow} \rangle = -i\lambda,$$

$$\langle p_{x}^{\uparrow} | \mathcal{H}_{so} | p_{z}^{\downarrow} \rangle = \lambda,$$

$$\langle p_{y}^{\uparrow} | \mathcal{H}_{so} | p_{z}^{\downarrow} \rangle = -i\lambda,$$

$$\langle p_{x}^{\downarrow} | \mathcal{H}_{so} | p_{y}^{\downarrow} \rangle = i\lambda,$$

$$\langle p_{x}^{\downarrow} | \mathcal{H}_{so} | p_{z}^{\uparrow} \rangle = -\lambda,$$

$$\langle p_{y}^{\downarrow} | \mathcal{H}_{so} | p_{z}^{\uparrow} \rangle = -i\lambda,$$

$$\langle p_{y}^{\downarrow} | \mathcal{H}_{so} | p_{z}^{\uparrow} \rangle = -i\lambda,$$

$$\langle p_{y}^{\downarrow} | \mathcal{H}_{so} | p_{z}^{\uparrow} \rangle = -i\lambda,$$

$$\langle p_{y}^{\downarrow} | \mathcal{H}_{so} | p_{z}^{\uparrow} \rangle = -i\lambda,$$

where  $\lambda$  is the spin–orbit parameter which is provided by the parametrization, and is related to the parameter  $\alpha$  of Eq. (1.21) by  $\lambda = \alpha \hbar^2/2$ .

The splitting of the states is easy to understand in the basis of  $\Phi_{j,j_z}$ , where we immediately see from Eq. (1.22) that the expectation value of the quadruplet with j = 3/2 and the doublet with j = 1/2 is different. We thus have four degenerate bands at the zone center and two bands at a lower energy, called the split-off state, as schematically represented in Fig. 1.7. From Eq. (1.22) one also obtains that  $\Delta$ , i.e. the splitting at  $\Gamma$  between the HH, LH states and the SO state, should be equal to  $3\lambda$ . Note

however that this is true only if the parametrization does not include *d* orbitals. If the parametrization includes them, as in the case of the  $sp^3d^5s^*$  parametrizations used in this Thesis, the value of the spin-orbit parameter  $\lambda$  is not given by one third of the experimental splitting  $\Delta$ , even if we do not include spin-orbit interaction between *d* orbitals (as it is the case in all parametrizations used in this Thesis). This discrepancy is due to the fact that valence states have non-zero components for the *d* orbitals.

If we analyze the bands also for **k** values slightly different from zero, we see moreover that the four bands at the zone center have different curvatures, i.e. different effective masses, and are known as the light hole (LH) and heavy hole (HH) states. In particular, the heavy hole states are those with  $|j_z| = 3/2$  ( $\Phi_{3/2,3/2}$  and  $\Phi_{3/2,-3/2}$ ), while the light hole states are those with  $|j_z| = 1/2$  ( $\Phi_{3/2,1/2}$  and  $\Phi_{3/2,-1/2}$ ).

Using the results given in Eq. (1.25), we can now write the general form of the Hamiltonian matrix, which is of size  $40 \times 40$ . Its form is the following:

$$H_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} H_{\uparrow\uparrow}^{aa} & H_{\uparrow\downarrow}^{aa} & H^{ac} & 0\\ H_{\downarrow\uparrow}^{aa} & H_{\downarrow\downarrow}^{aa} & 0 & H^{ac}\\ \hline H^{ca} & 0 & H_{\uparrow\uparrow}^{cc} & H_{\uparrow\downarrow}^{cc}\\ 0 & H^{ca} & H_{\downarrow\uparrow}^{cc} & H_{\downarrow\downarrow}^{cc} \end{pmatrix}$$

where  $H^{ac}$  and  $H^{ca}$  are the same 10 × 10 blocks of Eq. (1.17) and Table 1.3, while the 20 × 20 diagonal blocks contain also spin–orbit interaction terms and are reported in Table 1.4.

To conclude this Section, we note that the states at points of high symmetry of the Brillouin zone are denoted with different symbols in the literature, depending on whether we use the nomenclature of the simple group (i.e., we neglect spin–orbit effects, as it is usually done for silicon) or the nomenclature of the double group, including spin–orbit splittings. A detailed study of the state symmetries and of the simple and double groups can be found in [19, 21].

To make this clear, we show in Fig. 1.8 the names of some important states for silicon and germanium.

# 1.3 Strain

Up to now we have considered perfect Si/Ge crystals with diamond structure. We examine now small deviations from this arrangement. This is important e.g. for the analysis of the effect of a mechanical pressure on the materials, but in particular for the study of heterostructures strained due to the coherent growth in the epitaxial deposition process. Indeed, at the interface between two different materials, if the mismatch of the two lattice constants is not too large, the overlayer can grow (at least for small thicknesses of the grown material) matching its lattice constant to the one of the substrate. The lattice structure is therefore slightly distorted and we need to consider the consequences of this for a quantitative analysis of the electronic and optical properties of the heterostructure. The resulting effects are in many cases not negligible, also because the symmetry of the states will in general change, and this

Table 1.4 - 20  $\times$  20 on-site matrix of an anion, including spin-orbit coupling. The framed elements are actually 5  $\times$  5 diagonal blocks. Elements that are not indicated are zero. A similar matrix is obtained for the self-interaction of cations. Notice that, in a semiempirical approach, there are two different spin-orbit coupling parameters  $\lambda_a$  and  $\lambda_c$ , one for the anions and one for the cations.



1.3 Strain





(b) Germanium, using the nomenclature of the double group.

**Figure 1.8** – Band structure of silicon and germanium crystals. In the case of silicon, we have used the simple group notation, widely used in the literature since the spin–orbit coupling effects are often discarded for silicon. A table of the decomposition of the states of the simple group into the states of the double group is provided in Ref. [19,21]; we report here only some interesting cases:  $\Gamma'_{25} \rightarrow \Gamma_7^+ + \Gamma_8^+$ ;  $\Gamma'_2 \rightarrow \Gamma_7^-$ ,  $\Gamma_{15} \rightarrow \Gamma_6^- + \Gamma_8^-$ ,  $X_1 \rightarrow X_5$ ,  $X_4 \rightarrow X_5$ ,  $L'_3 \rightarrow L_4^- + L_5^- + L_6^-$ ,  $L_3 \rightarrow L_4^+ + L_5^+ + L_6^+$ ,  $L_1 \rightarrow L_6^+$ . Notice that the ordering of the  $\Gamma'_2$  and  $\Gamma_{15}$  states in germanium is opposite to that of silicon.

can affect in a substantial way the optical and transport properties of the system. We stress moreover that these strain effects are always present in SiGe heterostructures, since silicon and germanium have a quite large mismatch of  $\approx 4\%$  of their lattice constants (see Table 1.1). Thus, every (coherently grown) heterostructure composed of silicon and germanium, or more in general of two Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloys with different Ge content *x*, has at least a strained region.

We start with a short summary of the main definitions and results of the theory of elastic strains; we then focus on the analysis of the deformations in the case of epitaxial deposition of lattice mismatched crystals.

We start considering an orthonormal tern of vectors  $(\hat{\mathbf{x}}, \hat{\mathbf{y}}, \hat{\mathbf{z}})$  which describes the unstrained structure of the crystal: after fixing an arbitrary origin, a generic atom of the crystal structure can be identified by a vector  $\mathbf{r}$ , which can be expressed as a linear combination of the three unit vectors:  $\mathbf{r} = x\hat{\mathbf{x}} + y\hat{\mathbf{y}} + z\hat{\mathbf{z}}$ .

If an uniform strain is applied, such that each primitive cell is deformed in the same way, the whole structure changes its shape and also the three vectors  $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$ ,  $\hat{\mathbf{y}}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{z}}$  change to three new vectors  $\hat{\mathbf{x}}$ ,  $\hat{\mathbf{y}}$ ,  $\tilde{\mathbf{z}}$ . This deformation can be described with the following equations:

$$\tilde{\mathbf{x}} = (1 + \varepsilon_{xx})\hat{\mathbf{x}} + \varepsilon_{xy}\hat{\mathbf{y}} + \varepsilon_{xz}\hat{\mathbf{z}}$$
(1.26a)

$$\tilde{\mathbf{y}} = \varepsilon_{yx}\hat{\mathbf{x}} + (1 + \varepsilon_{yy})\hat{\mathbf{y}} + \varepsilon_{yz}\hat{\mathbf{z}}$$
(1.26b)

$$\tilde{\mathbf{z}} = \varepsilon_{zx}\hat{\mathbf{x}} + \varepsilon_{zy}\hat{\mathbf{y}} + (1 + \varepsilon_{zz})\hat{\mathbf{z}}, \qquad (1.26c)$$

so that the atom at **r**, is now at the position

$$\tilde{\mathbf{r}} = x\tilde{\mathbf{x}} + y\tilde{\mathbf{y}} + z\tilde{\mathbf{z}}$$

with the same coefficients x, y, and z because of the definitions (1.26). In general the new vectors  $\tilde{\mathbf{x}}$ ,  $\tilde{\mathbf{y}}$ ,  $\tilde{\mathbf{z}}$  are however no more orthogonal, nor are of unit length.

The displacement **R** of the atom which was at **r** can be written

$$\mathbf{R} = \tilde{\mathbf{r}} - \mathbf{r} = x(\hat{\mathbf{x}} - \tilde{\mathbf{x}}) + y(\hat{\mathbf{y}} - \tilde{\mathbf{y}}) + z(\hat{\mathbf{z}} - \tilde{\mathbf{z}}) =$$
$$= u(\mathbf{r})\hat{\mathbf{x}} + v(\mathbf{r})\hat{\mathbf{y}} + w(\mathbf{r})\hat{\mathbf{z}},$$

where we have defined the three quantities *u*, *v*, *w* as

$$u(\mathbf{r}) = x\varepsilon_{xx} + y\varepsilon_{yx} + z\varepsilon_{zx}$$
$$v(\mathbf{r}) = x\varepsilon_{xy} + y\varepsilon_{yy} + z\varepsilon_{zy}$$

$$w(\mathbf{r}) = x\varepsilon_{xz} + v\varepsilon_{yz} + z\varepsilon_{zz}$$

$$(\mathbf{r}) = x\varepsilon_{xz} + y\varepsilon_{yz} + z\varepsilon_{zz}.$$



In the following, we assume that the deformation is small, that is, every coefficient  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  is much smaller than one, so that we can always expand the above expressions to first order in the coefficients  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  and ignore higher-order terms.

For a non-uniform deformation, the tensor  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  is not constant throughout the whole crystal, but it depends on the point **r**. Taking the origin of the axes near the point **r** that we are interested in (that is, inside a small region in which the deformation is roughly uniform in space), we can expand the displacement **R** around **R**(0) = 0, obtaining the definition for the coefficients  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  in the non-uniform case:

$$\varepsilon_{xx} \approx \frac{\partial u}{\partial x}; \qquad \varepsilon_{yx} \approx \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}; \qquad \varepsilon_{zy} \approx \frac{\partial v}{\partial z}; \qquad \dots$$

Now, noticing that the  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  matrix can be written in matrix form as the gradient of the displacement **R**:

$$\varepsilon_{ij} = \nabla \mathbf{R} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} & \frac{\partial v}{\partial x} & \frac{\partial w}{\partial x} \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} & \frac{\partial v}{\partial y} & \frac{\partial w}{\partial y} \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial z} & \frac{\partial v}{\partial z} & \frac{\partial w}{\partial z} \end{pmatrix},$$

we see at glance that  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  actually transforms as a tensor under rotations; it is called the strain tensor. Finally, it can be easily proven that the transformation from  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  to its symmetric part, leaving unchanged both the length of the vectors and the angles between them, is simply a rotation, so that we always assume in the following that the  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  tensor is symmetric.

## 1.3.1 Relation between strains and stresses

We want now to study the forces, or stresses, which are exerted on a unit area of the crystal. These forces are responsible for the strain of the structure, and in this Section we study the relation between strains and stresses.

Given a surface orthogonal to, say, the *z* direction, we can decompose the force acting on it in its three components along the axes (see Fig. 1.9a): we denote these components as  $\sigma_{xz}$ ,  $\sigma_{yz}$  and  $\sigma_{zz}$ . If we do the same with surfaces orthogonal to the *x* and *y* directions, we end up with the 3 × 3 stress tensor:

$$\sigma_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{xx} & \sigma_{xy} & \sigma_{xz} \\ \sigma_{yx} & \sigma_{yy} & \sigma_{yz} \\ \sigma_{zx} & \sigma_{zy} & \sigma_{zz} \end{pmatrix}.$$

With the notation introduced, the first letter of the subscript is the direction of the force, while the second one is the direction of the normal to the plane on which the force is acting. However, we do not need to worry about this, because this tensor is actually symmetric if we require that there is no torque applied to an elementary cube of the system, so that there is no angular acceleration due to the internal forces. This is graphically shown in Fig. 1.9b.


(a) Graphical representation of the stress components acting on the surfaces of an infinitesimal cube.



**(b)** In order for the torque to vanish on the *xy*-plane, we need  $\sigma_{xy} = \sigma_{yx}$  and similarly for the other planes, so that  $\sigma_{ij}$  must be a symmetric tensor.

Figure 1.9 – Stress components

## Stiffness matrix: General form

Since we are working with small strains, we assume the hypothesis of linear regime, so that we can apply Hooke's law and write the relation between strains and stresses by means of a fourth-order  $C_{ijkl}$  tensor in the form:  $\sigma_{ij} = C_{ijkl}\varepsilon_{kl}$ .

Due to the various symmetries of the problem under consideration, however, the number of independent parameters defining the *C* tensor can be greatly reduced.

First of all, we notice that the relation between strains and stresses is usually given in terms of the coefficients  $\gamma_{ij}$  (called engineering strains), which are defined by

$$\gamma_{ii} = \varepsilon_{ii}, \qquad \gamma_{ij} = \varepsilon_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ji} = 2\varepsilon_{ij} \ (i \neq j).$$

As only the off-diagonal terms are multiplied by two,  $\gamma_{ij}$  is not a tensor and to avoid confusion we do not write it in matrix form, but simply write its six independent components (only six because  $\gamma_{ij} = \gamma_{ji}$ ) in vector form. We use the engineering strains because they are a measure of the total shear deformation, as shown in Fig. 1.10.

Using these conventions, we can write

$$\begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{xx} \\ \sigma_{yy} \\ \sigma_{zz} \\ \sigma_{yz} \\ \sigma_{zx} \\ \sigma_{xy} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} C_{11} & C_{12} & C_{13} & C_{14} & C_{15} & C_{16} \\ C_{21} & C_{22} & C_{23} & C_{24} & C_{25} & C_{26} \\ C_{31} & C_{32} & C_{33} & C_{34} & C_{35} & C_{36} \\ C_{41} & C_{42} & C_{43} & C_{44} & C_{45} & C_{46} \\ C_{51} & C_{52} & C_{53} & C_{54} & C_{55} & C_{56} \\ C_{61} & C_{62} & C_{63} & C_{64} & C_{65} & C_{66} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{xx} \\ \gamma_{yy} \\ \gamma_{zz} \\ \gamma_{xy} \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.28)

where the  $C_{\alpha\beta}$  are called elastic stiffness constants or moduli of elasticity.



**Figure 1.10** – The engineering strain  $\gamma_{xy} = \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} + \frac{\partial v}{\partial x}$  gives the total shear deformation on a given plane. Here is shown the case in which there is only shear deformation, that is  $\varepsilon_{xx} = \varepsilon_{yy} = 0$ .

## Number of independent parameters

First of all we prove that the  $C_{\alpha\beta}$  matrix is symmetric. Let us start writing the elastic energy as a function of the strains. In the assumption of validity of the Hooke's law, the energy is a quadratic function of the total displacements:

$$U = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha,\beta=1}^{6} U_{\alpha\beta} \gamma_{\alpha} \gamma_{\beta}, \qquad (1.29)$$

where the index of the *y*'s identifies the six components of the vector given in (1.28):

 $\gamma_1 = \gamma_{xx}, \quad \gamma_2 = \gamma_{yy}, \quad \gamma_3 = \gamma_{zz}, \quad \gamma_4 = \gamma_{yz}, \quad \gamma_5 = \gamma_{zx}, \quad \gamma_6 = \gamma_{xy}.$ 

The stresses are obtained from the derivative of the energy with respect to the corresponding strain component. For example,

$$\sigma_{xy} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial \gamma_{xy}} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial \gamma_6} = U_{66}\gamma_6 + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\beta \neq 6} (U_{6\beta} + U_{\beta 6})\gamma_\beta =$$
$$= \sum_{\beta=1}^6 \frac{1}{2} (U_{6\beta} + U_{\beta 6})\gamma_\beta.$$

Doing the same for all components and comparing the results with Eq. (1.28), we see that we can identify

$$C_{\alpha\beta}=\frac{1}{2}(U_{\alpha\beta}+U_{\beta\alpha})=C_{\beta\alpha},$$

thereby proving that the stiffness matrix is symmetric.

The semiconductors under consideration have the atoms arranged in a FCC lattice and have accordingly specific symmetry operations. One of the transformations which leaves the system unchanged is the rotation of  $\frac{2\pi}{3}$  around one of the diagonals of the cube (direction [111] and equivalent ones), which interchanges the axes according to

$$x \to y \to z$$
,  $-x \to z \to -y$ ,  $x \to z \to -y$ ,  $-x \to y \to z$ 

	$C_{11}(\mathrm{N/m^2})$	$C_{12}(\mathrm{N/m^2})$	$C_{44}(\mathrm{N/m^2})$
Si Ge	$\frac{1.6577 \cdot 10^{11}}{1.240 \cdot 10^{11}}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.6393 \cdot 10^{11} \\ 0.413 \cdot 10^{11} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.7962 \cdot 10^{11} \\ 0.683 \cdot 10^{11} \end{array}$

Table 1.5 – Stiffness constants of silicon and germanium at 298 K, taken from [22].

depending on the diagonal which is chosen.

A general term of the energy expansion (1.29) is proportional to a product of the form  $y_{ij}y_{kl}$ , where the indices can be x, y or z. If a given index appears an odd number of times, we can always find a rotation around one of the diagonals which changes the sign of the term, since in general we have  $\gamma_{xy} = -\gamma_{x(-y)}$  and so on. To be invariant under the symmetry operations of the cube, these terms must vanish, so that the only terms with a coefficient different from zero are

 $\gamma_{xx}^2$ ,  $\gamma_{yy}^2$ ,  $\gamma_{zz}^2$ ,  $\gamma_{yz}^2$ ,  $\gamma_{zx}^2$ ,  $\gamma_{xy}^2$ ,  $\gamma_{xx}\gamma_{zz}$ ,  $\gamma_{yy}\gamma_{zz}$ ,  $\gamma_{xx}\gamma_{yy}$ .

Furthermore using the same symmetry requirement it can be shown that  $\gamma_{xx}^2$ ,  $y_{yy}^2$  and  $y_{zz}^2$  have the same coefficient; in the same way it is shown that the coefficient is the same for the three terms  $y_{yz}^2$ ,  $y_{zx}^2$  and  $y_{xy}^2$ , and for  $y_{xx}y_{zz}$ ,  $y_{yy}y_{zz}$  and  $y_{xx}y_{yy}$ . Thus the final form of the stiffness matrix in the case of cubic symmetry is

$$C_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} C_{11} & C_{12} & C_{12} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ C_{12} & C_{11} & C_{12} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ C_{12} & C_{12} & C_{11} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & C_{44} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & C_{44} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & C_{44} \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.30)

with only three independent parameters  $C_{11}$ ,  $C_{12}$  and  $C_{44}$ , which depend on the material and are experimentally known for a large set of cubic semiconductors. These stiffness constants are reported in Table 1.5 for silicon and germanium.

#### Strains in mismatched epitaxy and continuum elasticity theory 1.3.2

As already mentioned, one of the most important cases where strains are concerned is that of mismatched epitaxy, in which a semiconductor layer is epitaxially grown on a substrate with a (slightly) different lattice constant. Throughout this work, we consider planar heterostructures and we always assume the ideal case of coherent growth, schematically depicted in Fig. 1.11, meaning that the in-plane lattice constant of all materials in the system is the same and is fixed by the substrate lattice constant. From an experimental point of view, this condition is never exactly achieved, and various kinds of defects (dislocations, stacking faults, ...) are always present in the grown crystal. However, the efforts of the experimentalists are oriented toward the realization of a growth process which is as close as possible to the ideal (coherent)



**Figure 1.11** – When we deposit some layers of a semiconductor on top of a substrate with a different lattice constant, if the lattice mismatch is not too large, the in-plane lattice constant of the overlayer changes, so that each atom of the overlayer bonds to one of the substrate: this is called a coherent growth. In order to minimize the total energy, also the lattice constant in the growth direction is modified: if the material is stretched on the plane, it contracts in the growth direction (and vice versa). A measure of this effect is given by the Poisson's ratio.





one, mainly because the presence of defects degrades significantly the performances of the devices. Often, this is achieved using ingenious techniques that are able for instance to limit the defects within the buffer substrate, and suppress significantly their number in the active region. A TEM micrograph of a SiGe multilayer structure ("active region") grown on a SiGe virtual substrate is shown in Fig. 1.12, where we can see that the defects are mainly confined in the Ge buffer, whereas they are significantly reduced in the active region.

In the following, we show how to calculate the atomic positions in a strained structure using the continuum elasticity theory. This theory takes the stiffness con-

stants measured in the bulk to describe the elastic properties of the system, and does not consider the fact that the crystal is composed of atoms. However, it is known [23] that this theory reproduces correctly the atomic positions in the case of planar heterostructures, even if composed of a very small number of atomic monolayers. In the case of more complicated structures, one can employ other techniques, possibly exploiting an atomistic approach, as it is the case for instance of the valence force field (VFF) [24–27]. Systems that require to be modeled by such more complicated (but detailed) techniques include for instance nanowires, quantum dots, nanotubes (for this latter system, see for instance Appendix A.1).

Since this Thesis focuses mainly on planar heterostructures, we describe below the main results of the continuum elasticity theory that are needed to predict the strains (and thus the atomic positions) in multilayer systems.

We describe in particular biaxial strains in the case of planar heterostructures composed of a sequence of layers grown on a substrate along the [001] direction, which is the growth direction of interest for the integration of photonic devices in the present Si electronic technology. For this reason, all systems considered in this Thesis are grown along the [001] direction. Chosen a coordinate system with two vectors on the plane of the interface and the third vector along the [001] growth direction, the strain tensor  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  within each layer is diagonal and has the following form:

$$\varepsilon_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon_{\parallel} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \varepsilon_{\parallel} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \varepsilon_{\perp} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.31)

For heterostructures grown on a thick substrate, we can assume that the latter is not deformed, so that the in-plane lattice constant is the same for all layers, and the value of  $\varepsilon_{\parallel}$  of a given overlayer is simply given by the lattice mismatch

$$\varepsilon_{\parallel}=\frac{a_S}{a_L}-1,$$

 $a_S$  and  $a_L$  being the bulk lattice constants of the substrate and of the overlayer, respectively.

For common semiconductors, if the crystal is stretched along one direction, it tends to shorten in the other directions (for a graphical representation of this effect in the case of mismatched epitaxy, see Fig. 1.11). To give a measure of this tendency, we define the following ratio  $\eta$ :

$$\eta = -\frac{\varepsilon_{\parallel}}{\varepsilon_{\perp}}.$$
 (1.32)

Just to avoid confusion, we note that this ratio is different from the one known in literature as the Poisson's ratio v. The latter is in fact defined as the ratio of the strain along the two orthogonal directions in the case of uniaxial strains, i.e. when the system is stretched or compressed along one direction and can relax along the two orthogonal directions. In the case of coherently-grown heterostructures, we have instead a biaxial strain, where the strains along two directions are fixed (i.e., those

on the growth plane), and only one direction can freely relax. In this case, the ratio of the two strains assumes the value  $\eta$  defined in Eq. (1.32), and one can easily show that their relation is given by

$$\eta = \frac{1-\nu}{2\nu}.\tag{1.33}$$

We briefly prove here this formula, which is useful since the quantity v is the most used in the literature; for more details one can refer for instance to [28]. We start considering a *uniaxial* stress along the *x* direction. From Hooke's law, we can write  $\sigma_{xx} = E\varepsilon_{xx}$ , where *E* is the modulus of elasticity, i.e. the coefficient  $C_{11}$  of Eq. (1.28). The Poisson ratio *v* is defined by the relation  $\varepsilon_{yy} = \varepsilon_{zz} = -v\varepsilon_{xx} = -v(\sigma_{xx}/E)$ .

I now apply three stresses  $\sigma_{xx}$ ,  $\sigma_{yy}$  and  $\sigma_{zz}$  along the three Cartesian directions. Then, for any given direction, the strain is both controlled by the stress along the same direction (through the modulus of elasticity *E*), and by the stress along the orthogonal directions (through the Poisson ratio *v*). Writing all the contributions together, we obtain

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{xx} = \frac{1}{E} \left[ \sigma_{xx} - \nu (\sigma_{yy} + \sigma_{zz}) \right] \\ \varepsilon_{yy} = \frac{1}{E} \left[ \sigma_{yy} - \nu (\sigma_{xx} + \sigma_{zz}) \right] \\ \varepsilon_{zz} = \frac{1}{E} \left[ \sigma_{zz} - \nu (\sigma_{xx} + \sigma_{yy}) \right] \end{cases}$$

The coefficient  $\eta$  defined above is obtained by the condition  $\sigma_{zz} = 0$  (no stress along the growth direction), and imposing also  $\varepsilon_{xx} = \varepsilon_{yy}$  and  $\sigma_{xx} = \sigma_{yy}$  (same strains and stresses along the two in-plane directions). By simple substitutions we get

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{xx} = \frac{1}{E}\sigma_{xx}(1-\nu) \\ \varepsilon_{zz} = \frac{1}{E}\sigma_{xx}(-2\nu) \end{cases}$$

from which we immediately obtain the expression of  $\eta$  from its definition:

$$\eta = -\frac{\varepsilon_{\parallel}}{\varepsilon_{\perp}} = -\frac{\varepsilon_{xx}}{\varepsilon_{zz}} = \frac{1-\nu}{2\nu},$$

thus proving Eq. (1.33).

Going back to Eq. (1.31) and substituting Eq. (1.32), we get

$$\varepsilon_{ij} = \varepsilon \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1/\eta \end{pmatrix},$$

where by definition  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{\parallel}$ .

We want to emphasize here that the  $\eta$  ratio (or, equivalently, the Poisson's ratio v) does not depend only on the material, through its stiffness constants  $C_{11}$ ,  $C_{12}$  and  $C_{44}$  of Eq. (1.30), but also on the growth direction with respect to the crystalline axes. The value of  $\eta$  for a generic growth direction is obtained by first rotating the stress tensor  $\sigma_{ij}$  to a reference frame where the third coordinate is along the growth direction, and then imposing the condition  $\sigma_{33} = 0$ . In particular, for the [001] direction, which

1.3 Strain



**Figure 1.13** – Unit cell (green shaded parallelepiped) having one atom on each plane orthogonal to  $\tau_3$  and containing a total of four atoms. The coordinates of the basis vectors are:  $\tau_1 = a_{\parallel/2}(-1,1,0), \tau_2 = a_{\parallel/2}(1,1,0), \tau_3 = a_{\perp/2}(0,0,2).$ 

is the only one of interest in this Thesis, we do not need to rotate the tensor and we simply obtain from Eq. (1.28), (1.30) and the condition  $\sigma_{zz} = 0$  that

$$\eta = \frac{C_{11}}{2C_{12}} \qquad \text{(for the [001] direction)}.$$

## 1.3.3 Change of symmetry under biaxial strain

The bulk unstrained diamond structure has the cubic symmetry  $O_h$ , where in particular the *x*, *y* and *z* directions are equivalent. After the application of a biaxial strain, the *z* direction is no more equivalent to the *x* and *y* ones, since the size of the unit cell is different along the different directions, see Eq. (1.31). To describe systems under biaxial strain, we choose not to use the primitive cell introduced in Sec. 1.1. It becomes instead more convenient to use basis vectors that emphasize the new symmetry of the strained crystal. In particular, we choose one vector  $\tau_3$  along the *z* direction and the other two ( $\tau_1$  and  $\tau_2$ ) orthogonal to it, along the [ $\bar{1}10$ ] and [110] directions, as shown in Fig. 1.13. The unit cell contains now four atoms (one for each atomic plane orthogonal to  $\tau_3$ ) and has thus twice the volume of the primitive cell; if we consider the corresponding Brillouin zone, its volume is thus halved. The new Brillouin zone, which is a parallelepiped and is depicted in red in Fig. 1.14a, can be obtained folding the BZ of Fig. 1.3 as illustrated in Fig. 1.14b.

In order to write the TB Hamiltonian, the first step is to calculate the new director cosines for this strained geometry. One can easily see that for the nearest-neighbor



**Figure 1.14** – (a) Folded Brillouin zone (red parallelepiped) corresponding to a FCC Bravais lattice with a basis vector chosen along [001] and four atoms in the unit cell. The red parallelepiped can be obtained folding the truncated octahedron as shown in panel (b).

distances these are given by (for the atoms in the anion position):

$$\frac{l}{\mathbf{v}_{1}} \quad \frac{a_{\parallel}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \quad \frac{a_{\parallel}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \quad \frac{a_{\perp}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \\
\mathbf{v}_{2} \quad -\frac{a_{\parallel}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \quad -\frac{a_{\parallel}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \quad \frac{a_{\perp}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \\
\mathbf{v}_{3} \quad \frac{a_{\parallel}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \quad -\frac{a_{\parallel}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \quad -\frac{a_{\perp}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \\
\mathbf{v}_{4} \quad -\frac{a_{\parallel}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \quad \frac{a_{\parallel}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}} \quad -\frac{a_{\perp}}{\sqrt{2a_{\parallel}^{2}+a_{\perp}^{2}}}$$

where we have defined  $a_{\parallel} = (1 + \varepsilon_{\parallel})a$  the in-plane lattice constant and  $a_{\perp} = (1 + \varepsilon_{\perp})a$  the lattice constant along the growth direction (see also Fig. 1.13). For the atoms sitting in cation positions one just has to take the opposite signs, as discussed already below (1.14). The geometric phase factors introduced in Eqs. (1.16) and the matrix elements reported in Table 1.3 change in a similar way. It is straightforward to obtain the explicit form for the matrix using the same steps presented in Sec. 1.2, and we do not write this matrix explicitly.

The change of the TB parameters due to the change of bond lengths is discussed later in Sec. 1.3.4. Nonetheless, it is worth pointing out already here that the TB formalism, considering explicitly the geometric positions of the atoms through the director cosines of the vectors connecting them, takes automatically into account the symmetry properties of the system, and in particular describes correctly the reduction of the symmetry due to strain effects (which can for instance result in the splitting of degenerate states, see Sec. 1.3.6).

## 1.3.4 Hopping integrals under strain in the TB formalism

The semiempirical parameters that we have discussed in Sec. 1.2.1 are valid only for the relaxed bulk solids and give quantitatively correct results only if we do not have

strain and deformation effects.

In real situations, however, when strains play a crucial role, we need to know how the TB parameters change if the geometric structure of the crystal is modified. In fact, while we have already pointed out in Sec. 1.3.3 that the change of the bond angles is automatically taken into account in the TB model by use of the formulae of Table 1.2, the most important effect that must be taken into account is the dependence on the distance of the hopping integrals between orbitals on neighboring sites. In fact, when the distance between two atoms is changed, the overlap of the orbitals centered on them may change significantly, and the same holds for the integrals introduced in Eq. (1.9).

This dependence is usually given in the form of scale laws: if  $ij\kappa$  is a generic independent Slater–Koster integral (e.g.  $V(ss\sigma)$ ,  $V(pd\pi)$ , ...),  $d_0$  is the unstrained distance between two neighboring atoms for which the bulk parametrization is obtained, and d is the strained distance, we can obtain the new interaction energy in the presence of strain by the following generalization of Harrison's  $d^{-2}$  law:

$$ij\kappa(d) = ij\kappa(d_0)\left(\frac{d_0}{d}\right)^{n_{ij\kappa}}.$$

Here,  $n_{ij\kappa}$  are exponents that express how the interaction between orbitals *i* and *j* (centered on neighboring atoms) changes when the distance between the atoms is modified. These exponents reflect the localization of the two orbitals near their nuclei.

Harrison [29] chose for all these exponents the value 2 when working with a minimal  $sp^3$  basis; in a semiempirical approach [16, 30–32], however, these coefficients are usually slightly modified (typically ranging from 1 to 4) to better reproduce some experimental data, as for example the dE/dp pressure coefficients, which express how the different band edge energies change under hydrostatic or uniaxial pressure applied to the system.

## 1.3.5 Discussion of the parametrizations and diagonal parameters shifts

In the last years many first-neighbor  $sp^3d^5s^*$  parametrizations for Si and Ge appeared in the literature. Since the parametrization of Jancu et al. [16], there have been various attempts to improve it [32–37]. When choosing the parametrization to use, one has to keep in mind that each parametrization tries to reproduce at best a given set of system parameters (e.g. effective masses, band edge energies, etc.) but can give inaccurate results for other parameters.

To give an example, the Si parametrization of Sacconi *et al.* [35] was developed with the aim of having more accurate results for the transport properties of  $n^+$ -Si/SiO<sub>2</sub>/p-Si capacitors: in fact, for the study of the electron tunneling in such structures, it is essential to have precise values for the Si masses along the  $\Delta$  line in order to avoid false estimations of transmission coefficients. Thus, the authors started from the parameters of Ref. [16] (which provide an incorrect mass at  $\Delta$  for Si) and improved them in order to yield precise Si conduction band masses. On the

other hand, this new parametrization lacks the required precision for the conduction states at the L point. These, however, lie at a much higher energy than  $\Delta$  states in Si and can thus be disregarded for the calculation of transport properties in Si structures. Yet, this inaccuracy at the L point is not tolerable if one is concerned with L-like states in Ge-rich SiGe layers. Moreover, in the mentioned Si capacitors, strain is not relevant and thus this parametrization does not provide the scaling exponents  $n_{ij\kappa}$  for the hopping matrix elements, which are instead of the uttermost importance for the accurate evaluation of electronic and optical properties in strained SiGe heterostructures. For similar reasons, also the parametrization of [34] does not provide any scaling parameters (the extension of Ref. [34] in the presence of strain is presented in Ref. [37]).

As a second example, we quote the extrapolation of the results of a given parametrization outside its range of validity. For instance, since SiGe heterostructures are typically grown on SiGe substrates (and since Ge has a larger lattice constant than Si) the parametrizations fit the pressure coefficients for Ge only for compressive in-plane strains. Thus, is is not obvious whether the same parameters can be used also when studying tensile-strained Ge. For this case, discussed for instance in Chap. 4, it is more suitable to use for instance the parametrization provided in [36], developed specifically with the aim of improving the results of [16] for what concerns the effects of tensile strain on the band structure of Ge.

However, the most important difference among different parametrizations often consists in how they modify the on-site terms when a strain is applied. In fact, in the literature it has been pointed out [31] that keeping the on-site energies constant and independent of the strain is not a good approximation. In fact, even the behavior of the band edges would be wrongly reproduced. In particular, in the case of non-hydrostatic strains, we expect that the strain lifts the degeneracies of the on-site energies due to the modification of the crystal symmetry and to the fact that these diagonal terms include the crystal field, defined in Eq. (1.8). As discussed in that Section, in fact, the crystal field has the symmetry of the crystal and not the spherical symmetry of the atomic orbitals: in the presence of a biaxial strain, we thus expect some loss of degeneracy among the different p or d orbitals.

To be more specific, we describe how this effect is taken into account by Jancu *et al.* [16]. In their parametrization, they propose a simple correction only for d-type orbitals, valid in the case of biaxial strain for the [001] (*z*) growth direction. In this case, they suggest that the diagonal terms should change as

$$E_{xy} = E_d [1 + 2b_d (\varepsilon_{zz} - \varepsilon_{xx})],$$
  

$$E_{yz} = E_{xz} = E_d [1 - b_d (\varepsilon_{zz} - \varepsilon_{xx})],$$
  

$$E_{x^2 - y^2} = E_{3z^2 - r^2} = E_d,$$

1

where  $b_d$  is another empirical parameter given in the paper [16]. An analogous treatment for the [111] growth direction can be found in Ref. [36]. This approach could be repeated also for other growth directions, and the relevant parameters could be provided: however, when we do not consider planar layered structures, but for

instance nanowires, quantum dots, ... the strains are no more simply biaxial, and we need a more general treatment of the strain influence on the on-site energies. For instance, in Ref. [31] a possible modification of on-site energies is also presented, allowing to take into account generic strains; but the parameters are provided only for GaAs and InAs. Different approaches that are able to consider generic strains applied to Si and Ge are presented in Refs. [32, 37]. We do not discuss them in detail here, because for the case of planar layered structures grown along the [001] direction such a level of generality is not required. However, a brief discussion of the parametrization of Ref. [32] can be found in Appendix A.1, where we discuss Si/Ge rolled-up nanotubes.

## 1.3.6 Band structure of Si and Ge under [001] biaxial strain

We briefly discuss in this Section some results of the application of strain to silicon and germanium with a short discussion of the main effects on their band structure.

We focus our attention in particular on the  $\Delta$  and  $\Lambda$  directions, i.e. the direction from  $\Gamma$  to *X* (six (001) equivalent directions) and from  $\Gamma$  to *L* (eight (111) equivalent directions), respectively (see also Fig. 1.3), because the conduction band minima in Si and Ge occur along these lines.

Under biaxial strain for the [001] growth direction, the six equivalent  $\Delta$  lines are split in two groups: two  $\Delta_2$  lines along  $k_z$ , with k vector ranging from  $(0, 0, -\pi/a_{\perp})$ to  $(0, 0, \pi/a_{\perp})$ , and four  $\Delta_4$  lines on the  $k_x k_y$  plane, ranging from  $(-2\pi/a_{\parallel}, 0, 0)$  to  $(2\pi/a_{\parallel}, 0, 0)$  and from  $(0, -2\pi/a_{\parallel}, 0)$  to  $(0, 2\pi/a_{\parallel}, 0)$ , respectively. In the presence of strain, the  $\Delta_2$  and  $\Delta_4$  lines become non-equivalent, and the degeneracy of the six  $\Delta$  states is thus split in 4+2, since the effects of the strain is different along the different directions. In fact, when we calculate the band structure, we obtain that the shift of the  $\Delta_2$  minima is opposite to that of the  $\Delta_4$  minima. In particular, for a compressive in-plane strain, the energy of the  $\Delta_2$  minima increases, while the energy of  $\Delta_4$  decreases; the opposite is true for a tensile in-plane strain. A scheme of the different splittings of the  $\Delta$  conduction states under biaxial strains is presented in Fig. 1.15.

The eight *L* lines remain instead equivalent: indeed, given one of these lines, we can obtain the other ones either rotating around  $k_z$  or reflecting with respect to the  $k_x k_y$  plane. The strain only introduces a shift of the energy, which is the same for all 8 lines.

Another important effect of strain is the lifting of the degeneracy at the zone center in the topmost valence bands, separating the heavy-hole and the light-hole states. This is of great importance, because the character of the two states is different  $(|J^2, J_z\rangle = |3/2, 3/2\rangle$  for heavy-hole states,  $|3/2, 1/2\rangle$  for light-hole states) and this strongly influences the selection rules for the optical transitions, as we discuss in Chap. 2. As an example, in Fig. 1.16 we report the behavior of the top of the valence band for germanium. From this Figure, we notice that the light-hole state is on top for a tensile in-plane strain ( $\varepsilon_{\parallel} > 0$ ). For a compressive in-plane strain, corresponding to  $\varepsilon_{\parallel} < 0$ , the heavy-hole state is instead on top. Fig. 1.15 summarizes the effect of a



**Figure 1.15** – Schematic of the splitting of the  $\Delta$  conduction edges and of the HH and LH valence edges under biaxial strain, both in the case of tensile and compressive in-plane strain fields.



**Figure 1.16** – Top of the valence band of germanium for three different strains: from left to right, we have a tensile in-plane strain, corresponding to  $\varepsilon_{\parallel} = 1.33\%$  and  $\varepsilon_{\perp}$  calculated using the Poisson's ratio; an unstrained crystal; and a compressive in-plane strain, corresponding to  $\varepsilon_{\parallel} = -1.33\%$ .

biaxial strain also on the valence states.

Note that, in the presence of strain, outside the  $\Gamma$  point the bands are warped and the states strongly mix, so that the nomenclature "heavy hole" and "light hole" is strictly valid only at  $\Gamma$ . The two states can be distinguished at this point by the analysis of the corresponding eigenvectors at  $\Gamma$ , comparing them with Eqs. (1.23): the easiest thing to check is the presence or absence of a  $p_z$ -type component, since it contributes only to the light-hole states.

## 1.3.7 Strain balancing

When we grow a Ge/SiGe planar heterostructure, due to the different lattice constants of the two materials, the system cannot have infinite size since each layer adds an overall stress to the stack. This usually leads to the formation of dislocations or other defects at the top and bottom of the stack to relax the strain. However, by properly balancing the strain in one compressive layer by growing and adjacent tensile layer, the overall maximum stack thickness can be significantly increased. Then, in order to grow a large number of layers (as it is typically required for instance in quantum cascade systems, see Sec. 3.4), the substrate lattice constant has to be chosen in order to satisfy the strain balancing condition. We report here only the most important results that will be used in the Thesis; for a discussion of the different formulae that can be found in the literature concerning the strain-balancing condition, and for a discussion of their validity, we refer to [38].

The most simple formula that is often found for the optimal substrate lattice constant that fulfills the strain balancing condition is the average of the lattice constants of the layers, weighted by the respective layer thicknesses. In particular, in the case of an infinite stack of two different layers 1 and 2 with lattice constants  $a_1$  and  $a_2$ , and thicknesses  $t_1$  and  $t_2$ , the corresponding substrate lattice parameter  $a_0$  is given by

$$a_0 = \frac{a_1 t_1 + a_2 t_2}{t_1 + t_2}.$$

This method is however strictly valid only if the two materials have identical elastic properties, which is however not true for Si and Ge (see Table 1.5). In any case, this formula has always a qualitative validity, stating that the substrate lattice constant should be intermediate between those of the two layers, so that in one layer the strain is compressive and in the other it is tensile.

A more sound expression can be obtained from the requirement of zero average in-plane stress in the system; this condition can be achieved by minimizing the total strain energy of the layered system. The complete calculation can be found in Ref. [38]; the final result for a two-layer system is that the average strain energy density in the two strained layers is

$$U_{\rm av} = \frac{A_1 \varepsilon_1^2 t_1 + A_2 \varepsilon_2^2 t_2}{t_1 + t_2}$$

where  $\varepsilon_1$  and  $\varepsilon_2$  are the in-plane strains in the two layers, and  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are coefficients which depend only on the elastic constants of the layers 1 and 2, each of them given by

$$A = C_{11} + C_{12} - \frac{2C_{12}^2}{C_{11}},$$

where  $C_{11}$  and  $C_{22}$  are the elastic stiffness coefficients given in Table 1.5 for the layer under consideration.

The average in-plane stress due to the biaxial strain in the two-layer system is

defined by

$$X = \frac{\partial U_{\rm av}}{\partial \varepsilon_1}$$

and the strain-balance condition is obtained by the requirement X = 0. The final result is that the substrate lattice constant  $a_0$  must satisfy

$$a_0 = \frac{A_1 t_1 a_1 a_2^2 + A_2 t_2 a_2 a_1^2}{A_1 t_1 a_2^2 + A_2 t_2 a_1^2}$$

The above method can be generalized to a periodic stack of more than two layers, as in the case of the quantum cascade structures presented in Sec. 3.4, allowing for the estimation of the best substrate lattice constant to be exploited to minimize strain relaxation effects.

## 1.4 SiGe alloys and the virtual crystal approximation

The discussion of the tight-binding model of Sec. 1.2 applies to perfect crystals composed solely of one kind of atoms (either Si or Ge). In real applications, however, SiGe alloys often play a significant role. For instance, a growth of a Ge layer on a Si substrate (or vice versa) would not be coherent for more than a few atomic layers, due to the large lattice mismatch between Si and Ge; on the contrary, Si-rich SiGe alloys can grow coherently on Si substrates for hundreds of angstrom (see e.g. Ref. [39]).

Si and Ge are perfectly miscible at any concentration.  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  alloys are thus composed of a uniform random distribution of Si and Ge atoms, with an average fractional Ge composition given by the number  $0 \le x \le 1$ . Such an alloy does not possess any translational invariance, so that in principle one could not use the Bloch theorem. The Bloch theorem can be recovered considering a very large supercell containing Si and Ge atoms in the correct proportion, and calculating the electronic states for different random distributions of the atoms in the supercell. The properties of the bulk SiGe alloy would then be obtained as the limiting ones for a very large supercell. This kind of calculation is of course possible, but it is also much more complicated and computationally demanding than the one for a simple bulk crystal.

For SiGe alloys, however, there is a simple approximation, called the Virtual Crystal Approximation (VCA), which greatly simplifies the problem but is still able to produce very good results. This approximation will be always adopted in this Thesis when considering alloys. The VCA describes the alloy as a perfect crystal, where each atom is neither a Si nor a Ge one, but is a virtual atom whose properties are obtained by suitable interpolation of the Si and Ge properties. This allows us to use the same formalism of Sec. 1.2 also for the SiGe alloys.

In particular, the relaxed lattice constant  $a_0(x)$  of a Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloy is obtained (in Å units) by the formula [40, 41]:

$$a_0(x) = a_0(Si) + 0.200326x(1-x) + [a_0(Ge) - a_0(Si)]x$$
(1.34)

where  $a_0$  (Si) and  $a_0$  (Ge) are the bulk lattice constants of Si and Ge given in Table 1.1, and the factor 0.200326 is a quadratic correction, which is introduced in order to reproduce the experimental deviation from the Vegard's law (i.e., the linear interpolation of the lattice constants of Si and Ge). Also the refractive index is not simply linearly interpolated, but we adopt instead the following formula given in Ref. [42]:

$$n_{\mathrm{Si}_{1-x}\mathrm{Ge}_x} \approx 3.42 + 0.37x + 0.22x^2.$$
 (1.35)

A linear interpolation is instead adopted for the elastic constants (in order to obtain the alloy lattice parameter along the growth direction), and also for the on-site energies. Finally, Si and Ge hopping parameters are scaled as discussed in Sec. 1.3.4 according to the interatomic distances obtained for the SiGe alloys, and at this point the two sets of parameters are linearly interpolated to obtain the hopping parameters in the VCA.

Before concluding this discussion, we mention one of the weaknesses of the VCA, related to the prediction of the bandgap of SiGe alloys as a function of the Ge concentration x. From experiments, it is known that the bandgap of Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloys is a decreasing function of x, and that there is a crossover between the  $\Delta$  and L minima at  $x \approx 0.85$ . Moreover, as visible from the experimental data of Fig. 1.17, the region x < 0.85 is characterized by a "bowing", i.e. a downward deviation of the curve with respect to a linear interpolation. In Fig. 1.17 we also report the theoretical results for the fundamental bandgap in the VCA approximation, obtained using the two different parametrizations of Refs. [16, 32]. As it is evident, while the low and high-end parts of the graph are well reproduced (especially the Ge-rich region is well described), the bowing behavior is completely missed. To be able to describe it, a treatment beyond the VCA is needed. The most simple improvement consists of a quadratic interpolation of the TB parameters, as discussed in Ref. [43]. Another possibility is the supercell approach discussed above, whose effectiveness is for instance discussed in Ref. [32].

## 1.5 Valence band offsets

When building heterostructures, two different materials (or two alloys with different concentrations) are arranged face to face. In general, the electronic distribution near the interface differs from the bulk. This can result in a relative shift of the bulk states far from the interface and in a band energy discontinuity at the interface. To evaluate this effect, Van de Walle and Martin [23] have taken into account a suitable supercell containing both Si and Ge atoms and have calculated the energy discontinuity at the Si/Ge interface using local-density-functional theory with non-local norm-conserving pseudopotentials. The main result is that the average valence band, defined as  $E_{av} = (E_{HH} + E_{LH} + E_{SO})/3$ , depends only weakly on the strain and is almost independent of the crystallographic direction of the interface. This weak dependence of  $E_{av}$  suggests to adopt this quantity to define the band offsets.



**Figure 1.17** – Comparison of the experimental fundamental bandgap of unstrained  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  alloys with two theoretical results in the VCA approximation, using the parametrizations of Refs. [16, 32]. The experimental data is from Ref. [44] and is obtained from photoluminescence measurements at T=4.2 K. The dashed line is the fit of the experimental data provided in Ref. [44].

Typically, a linear interpolation both with respect to the strain and to the composition is adopted. For instance, in Ref. [41] the following formula is proposed:

$$\Delta E_{\rm av} = (0.47 - 0.06y)(x - y), \tag{1.36}$$

which gives the discontinuity of the average valence band in eV of a  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  strained alloy epitaxially grown on a  $Si_{1-y}Ge_y$  substrate. The same functional dependence can be adopted to interpolate the band offset parameters of Ref. [23] and in this case we obtain

$$\Delta E_{\rm av} = (0.54 - 0.03y)(x - y). \tag{1.37}$$

As we see, these values have a quite large inaccuracy, estimated to be of the order of 100 meV [23].

Practically, in the TB calculation, the average valence band  $E_{av}$  is calculated for both the bulk materials across the interface, and then a suitable shift of the diagonal energies is applied in order to reproduce the  $\Delta E_{av}$  value given by one of the above formulae.

Finally, we mention that these formulae are deduced for planar heterostructures with biaxial in-plane strain. For more complicated structures with more general strain fields, this assumption is not valid and one must find another rule for the evaluation of the band offsets. The most simple rule, which is widely used and is adopted for instance in the parametrization of Ref. [32], is to just add a constant diagonal energy shift to all Ge atoms with respect to Si atoms, independent of the strain status: while in the approaches of Eqs. (1.36) and (1.37), the formulae for  $\Delta E_{av}$ 

already include the energy shift induced by the hydrostatic strain, in this second approach the shift only takes into account the differences in composition, while both the hydrostatic and uniaxial corrections to the band edges are to be included by the TB calculation.

## 1.6 $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ model

With the tight-binding model described in Sec. 1.2 (or with other methods as for instance pseudopotential) we can obtain the description of the electronic states of a crystal in the whole Brillouin zone. These methods possess a high degree of accuracy; however, it is often not possible to obtain explicit analytical expressions of many useful properties, as effective masses, absorption coefficients, ... Moreover, these techniques can be computationally demanding in real systems. On the other hand, one is often not interested in the detailed description of the states in the whole BZ. Indeed, in a vast class of problems, only the properties near the band extrema are of relevance. In these cases, we expect that suitable approximations can be applied to significantly simplify the problem, with the advantage of obtaining a clearer physical insight of the system properties. Indeed, the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  model has been developed precisely to this aim: starting from the exact knowledge of eigenstates and eigenvalues of a crystal at only one  $\mathbf{k}_0$  point (typically a band extremum), the model allows to obtain a fairly accurate description of the states in a  $\Delta \mathbf{k}$  neighborhood of the given  $\mathbf{k}_0$  point. Moreover (as it is discussed in Sec.3.A, where an implementation of a multiband  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ model and its results are presented) the implementation of the model is fast enough to be employed in real-time calculations, even in the case of charged systems where self-consistent calculations are required to reproduce the band bending (see Sec. 1.9).

The purpose of this Section is not to give a thorough review of the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  model, since this is outside the scope of this Thesis, but only to summarize the main results of the model for bulk systems and planar heterostructures (in the case of non-degenerate bands) that are employed in the next Chapters. The  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  method for degenerate (or almost degenerate) bands, as for instance at the top of the valence band of group IV or III-V materials, has been developed by Luttinger and Kohn [20] and by Kane [48]. A treatise on the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  method, focusing in particular on its applications to semiconductor heterostructures, can be found in the book of Bastard [49].

More recently, more advanced models have been developed; we just mention here some of them for the sake of completeness, but we refer the reader to the literature for the details. For instance, in Ref. [50] a 14-band  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  model is developed, which considers the 14 near-gap states at  $\Gamma$  with symmetry { $\Gamma_8^-$ ,  $\Gamma_7^-$ ,  $\Gamma_8^+$ ,  $\Gamma_7^+$ } (see Fig. 1.8 for the nomenclature of the states). A further extension is the 30-band  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  model [51,52], which allows to describe the near-gap valence and conduction bands over the whole BZ. Finally, we point to Ref. [9] for a discussion of the limits of  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  models and in particular on how the correct crystal symmetry has to be incorporated *a posteriori* in the standard  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  model (while in the TB formalism the correct symmetry is naturally imposed, since the atomic positions are employed in constructing the Hamiltonian).

## **1.6.1** $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$ model for bulk systems

For a crystalline system, we know that the Hamiltonian of a bulk electron can be written as  $\mathcal{H} = p^2/m_0 + V(\mathbf{r})$ , where the potential  $V(\mathbf{r})$  has the same periodicity of the crystal, i.e.  $V(\mathbf{r} + \mathbf{R}) = V(\mathbf{r})$  for all lattice translations **R**. (Note that in this section we define the free-electron mass as  $m_0$  to distinguish it from the various effective-masses.) Then, from the Bloch theorem, we know that for each **k** vector in the BZ we can write the solutions of the system Hamiltonian as

$$\mathcal{H}\psi_{\mathbf{k}}^{n} = E_{\mathbf{k}}^{n}\psi_{\mathbf{k}}^{n},\tag{1.38}$$

where *n* indexes the different bands, and the wavefunctions are of the Bloch form  $\psi_{\mathbf{k}}^{n}(\mathbf{r}) = e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}u_{\mathbf{k}}^{n}(\mathbf{r})$  with the periodic functions  $u_{\mathbf{k}}^{n}(\mathbf{r})$  having the same periodicity of  $V(\mathbf{r})$ .

We now assume that we know from some other method (e.g. from tight binding) the solutions of the problem at some point  $\mathbf{k}_0$ , which for notation simplicity we assume to be the  $\Gamma$  point, i.e.  $\mathbf{k}_0 = 0$  (the extension to  $\mathbf{k}_0 \neq 0$  is straightforward and it is briefly discussed at the end of this Section). Typically, this point  $\mathbf{k}_0$  is chosen where an extremum for the bands is located, e.g. a local conduction band minimum. This means that we know all the energies  $E_0^n$  at the  $\Gamma$  point, and the corresponding wavefunctions  $\psi_0^n(\mathbf{r}) = u_0^n(\mathbf{r})$ . We want to show that with only this knowledge, we can describe in a perturbation-theory approach the eigenfunctions and the eigenstates for  $\mathbf{k}$  vectors not too far away from the  $\Gamma$  point (i.e., we can obtain the wavefunctions and the band structure near  $\Gamma$ ). In order to do this, we find the Hamiltonian for the function  $u_k^n$ . We first rewrite Eq. (1.38) as a function of the  $u_k^n(\mathbf{r})$ :

$$\left(\frac{p^2}{2m_0} + V(\mathbf{r})\right)e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}u_{\mathbf{k}}^n(\mathbf{r}) = E_{\mathbf{k}}^n e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}u_{\mathbf{k}}^n(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (1.39)$$

and we use  $\mathbf{p} = -i\hbar\nabla$  to obtain

$$p^{2}\left(e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}u_{\mathbf{k}}^{n}(\mathbf{r})\right) = e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}\left(p^{2} + 2\hbar\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{p} + \hbar^{2}k^{2}\right)u_{\mathbf{k}}^{n}(\mathbf{r}).$$

Substituting this expression in Eq. (1.39) and dividing by  $e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}$ , we obtain

$$\left\{ \left[ \frac{p^2}{2m_0} + V \right] + \frac{\hbar}{m_0} \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p} \right\} u_{\mathbf{k}}^n = \left( E_{\mathbf{k}}^n - \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m_0} \right) u_{\mathbf{k}}^n.$$
(1.40)

With the definitions  $\mathcal{H}_0 \equiv \mathcal{H}(\mathbf{k} = 0)$ ,  $W(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{\hbar}{m_0} \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  and  $\varepsilon_{\mathbf{k}}^n = E_{\mathbf{k}}^n - \hbar^2 k^2 / 2m_0$ , we can finally rewrite Eq. (1.40) as

$$[\mathcal{H}_0 + W(\mathbf{k})]u_{\mathbf{k}}^n = \varepsilon_{n\mathbf{k}}u_{\mathbf{k}}^n.$$
(1.41)

Up to know, we have only recast the Hamiltonian in a more convenient form for our next steps, but no approximations have been made and Eq. (1.41) is exact. In this form, however, we immediately see that if  $W(\mathbf{k})$  is small (i.e., if  $\mathbf{k}$  is small), we can consider  $W(\mathbf{k})$  as a perturbation to  $\mathcal{H}_0$ , for which we have assumed to know all eigenstates and eigenenergies, and obtain then the states and the bands near  $\Gamma$  using perturbation theory. From now on we focus only on non-degenerate bands (apart from spin), which is valid for instance if we want to study the conduction band of Si and Ge. If we have chosen a local band extremum, the first order correction (proportional to  $\mathbf{k}$ ) is zero, and then the second-order perturbative correction gives:

$$u_{n\mathbf{k}} = u_{n0} + \sum_{m\neq n} \frac{\langle u_{m0} | W(\mathbf{k}) | u_{n0} \rangle}{\varepsilon_{n0} - \varepsilon_{m0}} u_{m0},$$
  
$$\varepsilon_{n\mathbf{k}} = \varepsilon_{n0} + \sum_{m\neq n} \frac{|\langle u_{m0} | W(\mathbf{k}) | u_{n0} \rangle|^2}{\varepsilon_{n0} - \varepsilon_{m0}}.$$

Substituting the explicit expression of  $W(\mathbf{k})$  and of  $\varepsilon_{n\mathbf{k}}$ , we finally obtain the band dispersion for the *n*-th band near  $\mathbf{k}_0 = 0$ :

$$E_{n\mathbf{k}} = E_{n0} + \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m_0} + \frac{\hbar^2}{m_0^2} \sum_{m \neq n} \frac{|\mathbf{p}_{nm} \cdot \mathbf{k}|^2}{E_{n0} - E_{m0}},$$
(1.42)

where we have defined the momentum matrix element

$$\mathbf{p}_{nm} = \langle u_{m0} | \mathbf{p} | u_{n0} \rangle.$$

A few comments are in order at this point. First of all, we can now quantify the meaning of "small" **k**: from the previous perturbative approach, we see that the requirement is  $|\varepsilon_{n\mathbf{k}} - \varepsilon_{n0}| \ll |\varepsilon_{n0} - \varepsilon_{m0}|$  for all *m*, i.e. we want that the energy dispersion of the band of interest be much smaller than all band gaps at  $\mathbf{k}_0$ . Secondly, we see that we do not actually need the explicit form of the  $u_{n0}(\mathbf{r})$  at  $\mathbf{k}_0$ , but only the matrix elements  $\mathbf{p}_{nm}$  of the momentum operator  $\mathbf{p}$  between the periodic functions (and only at  $\mathbf{k}_0$ ). As we show in Chap. 2, these matrix elements can be calculated in the TB formalism, so that we can start from the results of the TB at a given  $\mathbf{k}_0$ point and obtain from these results a suitable  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  Hamiltonian. As a further remark, if the spin–orbit interaction term is included in the Hamiltonian, then the whole discussion is valid upon substitution of the  $\mathbf{p}$  operator with the  $\pi$  operator [49], defined by

$$\boldsymbol{\pi} = \mathbf{p} + \frac{\hbar}{4m_0c^2}(\boldsymbol{\sigma} \times \nabla V).$$

Finally, we notice that in these simple approximations, we have obtained in Eq. (1.42) a quadratic expression for the band dispersion  $E_{n\mathbf{k}}$  as a function of  $\mathbf{k}$ : this can be written as

$$E_{n\mathbf{k}} = E_{n0} + \frac{\hbar^2}{2} \sum_{i,j=x,y,z} k_i \left[ \frac{1}{m_n^*} \right]_{ij} k_j$$

where *i*, *j* run over the three components of the vector **k**, and we have defined the inverse-mass tensor for the n-th band as

$$\left[\frac{1}{m_n^*}\right]_{ij} = \frac{1}{m_0}\delta_{ij} + \frac{2}{m_0^2}\sum_{m\neq n}\frac{(p_{mn})_i(p_{nm})_j}{E_{n0} - E_{m0}}.$$
(1.43)

Typically, for an evaluation of the inverse-mass tensor one limits the sum to near states (since farther bands give small contributions due to the energy denominator). For instance, the simplest approximation for the lowest conduction band at  $\Gamma$  in Ge (or in many III-V materials) is to sum only over the HH, LH and SO valence states. Note that practically, however, the whole process is often reversed: one measures experimentally the band edges and the effective masses, and employs directly these experimental values to define the parameters of the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  Hamiltonian. We note that the inverse-mass tensor can be defined also as

$$\left[\frac{1}{m_n^*}\right]_{ij} = \frac{1}{\hbar^2} \left.\frac{\partial^2 E(\mathbf{k})}{\partial k_i \partial k_j}\right|_{\mathbf{k}=\mathbf{k}_0};$$

this expression is valid also if one relaxes some of the approximations made above, obtaining non-parabolic corrections to the energy dispersion [49].

Finally, we briefly show how the same formalism can be extended to a  $\mathbf{k}_0$  point different from the  $\Gamma$  point. In this case, calling  $\Delta \mathbf{k} = \mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}_0$  and defining  $w_{\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}_0}^n(\mathbf{r}) \equiv e^{i\mathbf{k}_0\cdot\mathbf{r}}u_{\mathbf{k}}^n(\mathbf{r})$ , we have

$$p^{2}\left(e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}u_{\mathbf{k}}^{n}(\mathbf{r})\right) = p^{2}\left(e^{i\Delta\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}w_{\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}_{0}}^{n}(\mathbf{r})\right) = e^{i\Delta\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}\left(p^{2} + 2\hbar\Delta\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{p} + \hbar^{2}(\Delta\mathbf{k})^{2}\right)w_{\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}_{0}}^{n}(\mathbf{r}),$$

so that the Hamiltonian for the function  $w_{\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}_0}^n$  is

$$\left\{\left[\frac{p^2}{2m_0}+V\right]+\frac{\hbar}{m_0}\Delta\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{p}\right\}w_{\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}_0}^n=\left(E_{\mathbf{k}}^n-\frac{\hbar^2(\Delta\mathbf{k})^2}{2m_0}\right)w_{\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}_0}^n.$$

Now, as before, at the  $\mathbf{k}_0$  point it holds  $w_{\mathbf{k},\mathbf{k}_0}^n = \psi_{n\mathbf{k}_0}$ , and we are assuming to know these wavefunctions and the respective eigenenergies  $E_{\mathbf{k}_0}^n$ . Then the same formalism described above can be applied, where the  $\mathbf{k}$  variable (i.e. the displacement from the  $\Gamma$  point) is replaced by  $\Delta \mathbf{k}$  (i.e. the displacement from  $\mathbf{k}_0$ ). As a final remark, we note that the approximation of non-degenerate bands is valid also for the conduction band at the L point and at the band minima along the  $\Delta$  lines, since at these points we have only a valley degeneracy, that is there are degenerate states, but at different  $\mathbf{k}$  points and not at the same  $\mathbf{k}_0$  point.

## **1.6.2** k · p model for heterostructures: the envelope-function approximation

The  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  model applied to heterostructures has been studied for many years, starting from very simple models up to the "thirty-band" models mentioned at the beginning of Sec. 1.6. We refer to the literature for a detailed description of them, and in

particular to the book of Bastard [49] and to the works of Burt (see for instance Ref. [53] for the justification of the application of the effective-mass approach to microstructures). Here, we just limit to a brief discussion on the derivation of the envelope-function equation when we consider states originating mainly from only one band (e.g., one conduction band), referring to the above-mentioned works for the discussion of the adopted approximations.

The complete Hamiltonian of a multilayer system is

$$\left[\frac{p^2}{2m_0} + V_{cr}(\mathbf{r}) + U(z)\right] \Psi(\mathbf{r}) = E\Psi(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (1.44)$$

where  $V_{cr}$  is the crystalline potential, which we assume periodic within each material,  $m_0$  is the free-electron mass and U(z) is a possibly non-zero external potential due for instance to an external electric field, to a charge rearrangement in the system which can induce a band bending, and so on.

We write the generic eigenstate  $\Psi_i$  of the heterostructure as a linear combination of the complete set  $\{u_{n'0}\}$  of the periodic part of the Bloch functions at  $\Gamma$ :

$$\Psi_i(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{n'} F_{n'}^i(\mathbf{r}) u_{n'0}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (1.45)$$

where  $F_{n'}^i$  is the n'-th component of the so-called envelope function associated to  $\Psi_i$  (for simplicity, we focus on the minimum at  $\Gamma$ , and drop in the following the index 0 from the functions  $u_{n'0}$ , but the same reasoning applies to the other conduction-band minima).

Note that the functions  $u_{n'0}(\mathbf{r})$  are in general different in the different materials that compose the heterostructure. The expansion (1.45) is a good approximation of the actual wavefunction if the external potentials and the system composition, and thus the envelope function F vary very slowly with respect to the unit cell size. Alternatively, if the two neighboring materials are similar, one could assume as a first approximation that the periodic part of the bulk wavefunction is the same for the two materials.

The index n' in Eq. (1.45) should run over all the eigenstates at  $\Gamma$ . However, for practical reasons, it is typically limited to a subset of  $\Gamma$  eigenstates of the bulk crystal (e.g., the lowest conduction band and the HH, LH and SO valence bands), as already discussed in Sec. 1.6.1 in the bulk case. Note that we can write the envelope function as a vector  $F = (F_1, \ldots, F_s)^t$  where *s* is the number of bands that we are considering in the sum of Eq. (1.45), so that we can also write  $\Psi = F \cdot (u_1, \ldots, u_s)$ .

Let us discuss the equation that is satisfied by the functions  $u_n$ . If we are at position **r** in the region occupied by the *j*-th material of a multilayer system, and we are far from the interfaces separating different materials, then the following equation for the bulk *j*-th material holds (in absence of external fields):

$$\left(\frac{p^2}{2m_0} + V_{cr}(\mathbf{r})\right) u_{n'}^j(\mathbf{r}) = E_{n'}^j u_{n'}^j(\mathbf{r}).$$
(1.46)

Here,  $V_{cr}(\mathbf{r})$  is the crystalline potential of the material j and  $E_n^j$  is the bulk energy of the n-th state at k = 0 for the j-th material. Due to the dependence on the material j, this energy is in fact dependent on z (for planar heterostructures grown along z):  $E_n^j \equiv W_n(z)$ . This function of z is the band profile for the n-th band. Basically, as we can deduce from Eq. (1.46),  $W_n(z)$  gives the energy of the n-th band edge in the bulk of the material in the position z, correctly including the band offset (discussed in Sec. 1.5). Using this notation, we can rewrite Eq. (1.46) as

$$\left(\frac{p^2}{2m_0} + V_{cr}(\mathbf{r})\right)u_{n'}(\mathbf{r}) = W(z)u_{n'}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (1.47)$$

where we do not write anymore the index j explicitly, since it can be deduced from the coordinate **r**.

As a preliminary step, let us calculate the result of the action of the momentum operator and of its square modulus on a product of two functions:

$$\mathbf{p}(Fu) = (\mathbf{p}F)u + F(\mathbf{p}u);$$
  

$$p^{2}(Fu) = \mathbf{p}[(\mathbf{p}F)u + F(\mathbf{p}u)] = (p^{2}F)u + 2(\mathbf{p}F) \cdot (\mathbf{p}u) + F(p^{2}u). \quad (1.48)$$

We now substitute the expression (1.45) for  $\Psi$  in the Hamiltonian equation (1.44) and exploit the relation (1.48) to obtain

$$\sum_{n'} \left\{ \frac{1}{2m_0} \left[ (p^2 F_{n'}) u_{n'} + 2(\mathbf{p} F_{n'}) \cdot (\mathbf{p} u_{n'}) \right] + F_{n'} \left( \frac{p^2}{2m_0} + V_{cr} \right) u_{n'} + (U - E) F_{n'} u_{n'} \right\} = 0.$$

Substituting the result of Eq. (1.47) we rewrite the above equation as

$$\sum_{n'} \left\{ \frac{1}{2m_0} \left[ (p^2 F_{n'}) u_{n'} + 2(\mathbf{p} F_{n'}) \cdot (\mathbf{p} u_{n'}) \right] + F_{n'} u_{n'} (U(z) + W(z) - E) \right\} = 0.$$

We now multiply on the left by  $u_n^*$  and integrate over a unit cell. In this integration, we use the approximation that the envelope functions  $F_n$  are approximately constant over a unit cell due to their slow spatial variation, as discussed above, and the same holds for U. Moreover, we remind that (within a unit cell) the  $u_n$  are orthogonal, being solutions of the Hamiltonian equation (1.46) for different eigenvalues, i.e.  $\langle u_n | u_{n'} \rangle = \delta_{nn'}$ . We thus obtain

$$\frac{p^2}{2m_0}F_n + \sum_{n'\neq n}\frac{1}{m_0}(\mathbf{p}F_{n'})\cdot\mathbf{p}_{n'n} + F_n(U+W-E) = 0, \qquad (1.49)$$

where we have defined  $\mathbf{p}_{n'n} = \langle u_n | \mathbf{p} | u_{n'} \rangle$  as in the previous section, and we have excluded in the sum the term n' = n since  $p_{nn} = 0$  for parity reasons.

We have thus obtained a set of coupled Hamiltonian-like equations for the components  $F_n$  of the envelope function. We consider the Ben Daniel–Duke model

and focus on a state  $\Psi$  of the conduction band of the heterostructure. We represent this state on a basis composed of a single conduction band (n = c) of the bulk material and of a finite set of valence bands labeled by the index v. Then, we expect that the main contribution to  $\Psi$  comes from the envelope function  $F_c$  with n' = c, and we can try to write an equation for  $F_c$  only, eliminating the explicit dependence on the  $\{F_v\}$ . In fact, from Eq. (1.49) for the cases n' = v (ignoring the free-electron term, i.e. the term  $p^2/2m_0$ , and also the coupling between valence bands  $p_{vv'}$ ), we can easily obtain an expression for each valence component  $F_v$  of the envelope function associated to  $\Psi$  in terms of the conduction component  $F_c$ . With these approximations, we obtain:

$$F_{\nu} = \frac{1}{E - W_{\nu}(z) - U(z)} \frac{\mathbf{P}_{c\nu}}{m_0} \cdot (\mathbf{p}F_c).$$

We can now substitute this expression in the equation (1.49) and derive an equation for the conduction-part  $F_c$  of the envelope function only. In particular the term  $\sum_{n'\neq n} \frac{1}{m_0} (\mathbf{p}F_{n'}) \cdot \mathbf{p}_{n'n}$  of Eq. (1.49) gives, for n = c, n' = v:

$$\frac{1}{m_0^2} \sum_{\nu} \mathbf{p}_{\nu c} \cdot \mathbf{p} \left[ \frac{1}{E - W_{\nu}(z) - U(z)} \mathbf{p}_{c\nu} \cdot (\mathbf{p}F_c) \right] =$$
$$= \frac{1}{m_0^2} \sum_{\alpha,\beta} p^{\alpha} \sum_{\nu} \frac{p_{\nu c}^{\alpha} p_{c\nu}^{\beta}}{E - W_{\nu}(z) - U(z)} p^{\beta} F_c$$
(1.50)

where the indices  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  run over the spatial coordinates *x*, *y* and *z*.

The simplest result can be obtained assuming that  $E - W_{\nu} \approx W_c - W_{\nu}$  for heterostructure states  $\Psi$  with energy E in the conduction band, i.e. assuming that the energy E of the heterostructure state is not too far away from the bulk eigenvalue  $W_c$  with respect to the gap  $W_c - W_{\nu}$  in the bulk<sup>3</sup>. Moreover, we neglect the U(z) contribution in the denominator, assuming that the perturbations due to the external fields are small with respect to the energy gaps.

Then, we can exploit the definition of the effective mass tensor of Eq. (1.43) from which

$$\sum_{\nu} \frac{p_{c\nu}^{\alpha} p_{\nu c}^{\beta}}{W_c(z) - W_\nu(z)} = \frac{m_0^2}{2} \left[ \left( \frac{1}{m^*(z)} \right)_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{\delta_{\alpha\beta}}{m_0} \right]$$

where the *z* dependence of  $m^*$  accounts for the different effective masses in the different materials composing the heterostructure.

Substituting the above expression and Eq. (1.50) in Eq. (1.49) with n = c and n' = v, we finally obtain:

$$\frac{p^2}{2m_0}F_c + [U(z) + W_c(z) - E]F_c + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\alpha\beta}p^{\alpha}\left[\left(\frac{1}{m^*(z)}\right)_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{\delta_{\alpha\beta}}{m_0}\right]p^{\beta}F_c = 0$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Note that this approximation gives parabolic subbands. In general, to take into account also non-parabolic effects, one should define an effective mass that depends also on the energy E. However, these effects are relevant only in materials with very narrow gap, or for heterostructure states with energy much larger than the energy minimum (e.g. due to a large in-plane momentum).

or, simplifying the first term and the term with  $\delta_{\alpha\beta}$ :

$$\frac{1}{2}\sum_{\alpha\beta}p^{\alpha}\left(\frac{1}{m^{*}(z)}\right)_{\alpha\beta}p^{\beta}F_{c} + [U+W_{c}]F_{c} = EF_{c}$$
(1.51)

which is the reduced Hamiltonian equation for the  $F_c$  component of the eigenvector  $\Psi$ .

We assume now that the inverse mass tensor does not couple the growth direction z with the motion on the xy plane, and in particular that it has the form

$$\left(\frac{1}{m^*}\right)_{\alpha\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 1/m_x^* & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1/m_y^* & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1/m_z^* \end{pmatrix};$$

the generalization with non-diagonal effective-mass tensor is given in Sec. 1.8.1. We can then separate the *z* variable in Eq. (1.51) and choose the following form for the envelope function  $F_c$ :

$$F_c(x, y, z) = e^{ik_x x + ik_y y} \chi(z),$$

so that Eq. (1.51) becomes

$$\left\{-\frac{\hbar^2}{2}\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\frac{1}{m_z^*(z)}\frac{\partial}{\partial z} + \left[U(z) + W_c(z)\right]\right\}\chi(z) = E'\chi(z), \tag{1.52}$$

where the energy E' is the *z* contribution to the total energy:

$$E = E' + \frac{\hbar^2 k_x^2}{2m_x} + \frac{\hbar^2 k_y^2}{2m_y}$$

Note that in Eq. (1.52) the kinetic operator has the form  $\partial_z \frac{1}{m_z^*(z)} \partial_z$ , i.e. the effective mass is between the two derivation operators. This is very important for what concerns the conditions to be satisfied by  $\chi$  at the interfaces between materials with different  $m^*$ . In fact, multiplying Eq. (1.52) by  $\chi^*(z)$  and taking the imaginary part, one gets

$$\operatorname{Im}\left[\chi^{*}(z)\partial_{z}\left(\frac{1}{m_{z}^{*}(z)}\partial_{z}\chi(z)\right)\right] = 0, \qquad (1.53)$$

where we have used the fact that both  $\chi^* \chi$  and the potential are real functions. Now, Eq. (1.53) can be rewritten as

$$\partial_z \left[ \chi^*(z) \frac{1}{m_z} \partial_z \chi(z) - \chi(z) \frac{1}{m_z} \partial_z \chi^*(z) \right] = 0,$$

that is the conservation equation for the current *J*, which is proportional to the quantity between square brackets. Then, this quantity is conserved across an interface between two materials if both

$$\chi(z)$$
 and  $\frac{1}{m_z(z)}\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\chi(z)$  (1.54)

**Table 1.6** – Relevant conduction-band masses for Si and Ge, in units of the electron mass.  $m_{l,t}^{\Delta}$  are the longitudinal and transverse masses of the minima along the  $\Delta$  line.  $m_{l,t}^{L}$  are the longitudinal and transverse masses of the minima at the L points.  $m_{\Gamma}$  refers to the isotropic mass of the  $\Gamma_{7}^{-}$  minimum (see Fig. 1.8). The theoretical data are from the parametrization of Ref. [41]. The experimental data are taken from Madelung [22].

	Si (theory)	Si (exp.)	Ge (theory)	Ge (exp.)
$m_l^{\Delta}$	0.918	0.9163 (1.26 K)	0.955	
$m_t^{\Delta}$	0.197	0.1905 (1.26 K)	0.203	
$m_l^{\rm L}$	1.659		1.742	1.59 (120 K)
$m_t^{L}$	0.133		0.0984	0.0823 (120 K)
$m_{\Gamma}$				0.0380 (30 K)

are continuous at the interface.

Summarizing, the envelope function is the product of a plane wave on the *xy* plane and the function  $\chi(z)$ , that can be found numerically solving Eq. (1.52) and enforcing the continuity of the quantities (1.54) at the interfaces.

# 1.7 Effective-mass tensors in the conduction band of Si and Ge

We now focus on the effective masses around the most relevant conduction-band minima in bulk Si and Ge.

For what concerns the  $\Gamma$  edges, the effective mass tensor is a multiple of the identity (i.e., it is isotropic). We then know that both Si and Ge have other (local or global) conduction-band minima along the  $\Delta$  lines and at the L points (see e.g. Fig. 1.8). For these minima, the tensor is not a multiple of the identity. In both kind of valleys ( $\Delta$  and L), the inverse-mass tensor is diagonal in a basis set which has one ("longitudinal") direction along the line connecting the  $\Gamma$  point with the **k** point at which the minimum occurs, and two equivalent "transverse" directions<sup>4</sup>. Moreover, both for L and  $\Delta$  minima, the longitudinal masses are larger than the transverse masses.

The values of the relevant masses for Si and Ge at the different conduction-band minima are reported in Table 1.6. In Fig. 1.18 we also plot the ellipsoids of constant energy around the energy minima along the  $\Delta$  lines and at the L points.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>For strained Si<sub>1-x</sub> Ge<sub>x</sub> alloys, the two transverse directions are no more equivalent, even if the difference between the two transverse masses is very small and can be often disregarded. For a parametrization of the longitudinal and transverse effective masses at  $\Delta$  and L for strained SiGe alloys, see Ref. [41].



**Figure 1.18** – Schematic of the ellipsoids of constant energy around the energy minima along the  $\Delta$  lines (panel a) or at the L points (panel b) for Si and Ge.

## 1.8 Evaluation of quasi-Fermi energies and effective masses

In the calculation of most electronic, optical and transport properties one has to evaluate an integral over the whole Brillouin zone (BZ) of a given quantity. This is true for instance for the calculation of the absorption or of the gain coefficient, as described in Sec. 2.1.

The most simple calculation of this kind is the counting up of filled states in a given band. To clarify this concept, let us consider a simple model system with one valence band and one conduction band. If the system is pumped with a light source (with energy larger than the bandgap) some electrons are excited from the valence to the conduction band. If the intraband relaxation channels (for instance via acoustic phonons) are much faster than the interband recombination, one can consider that a quasi-equilibrium is reached inside each of the two bands, so that we can define two quasi-Fermi energies  $E_c^f$  and  $E_v^f$  in the conduction and valence band, respectively. The values of  $E_c^f$  and  $E_v^f$  determine the number of electrons (holes) in the conduction (valence) band. This number can be calculated assuming a Fermi–Dirac distribution of the carriers within each band, so that the total number of electrons (holes) is given by:

$$N_{e,h} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \sum_{\sigma} f_{e,h}(E_{c,\nu}(\mathbf{k})), \qquad (1.55)$$

i.e. by the sum over all states  $(\mathbf{k}, \sigma)$  of the corresponding Fermi-Dirac distribution function defined by

$$f_{c,\nu}(E) = \frac{1}{1 + e^{(E - E_{c,\nu}^f)/k_B T}}, \qquad f_e(E) = f_c(E), \qquad f_h(E) = 1 - f_\nu(E).$$

In the above expressions,  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant, T is the electron temperature,  $E_{c,\nu}(\mathbf{k})$  are the band energy dispersions of the conduction and valence bands and  $f_h$  is the distribution function for holes, so that we have to count the empty states and then  $f_h(E) = 1 - f_{\nu}(E)$ . Finally, the sum over states  $(\mathbf{k}, \sigma)$  is made over all  $\mathbf{k}$  points in the BZ and over the two spin polarizations; since the quantity to be summed does not depend on the spin in this case, we can simply replace this sum with a factor of 2.

The number of  $\mathbf{k}$  points in the BZ is equal to the number of unit cells of the crystal and thus it is very large; hence, we can safely convert the sum of Eq. (1.55) with an integral over the whole BZ obtaining

$$N_{e,h} = \frac{V}{(2\pi)^3} 2 \int_{BZ} d^3 \mathbf{k} f_{e,h}(E_{c,\nu}(\mathbf{k})), \qquad (1.56)$$

where the factor of two takes into account the spin degeneracy as discussed above, and the factor  $V/(2\pi)^3$  is the density of **k** points for a 3D crystal.

Since  $f_{e,h}$  is a function of the energy, it would be much more convenient to convert this integral over all **k** points to an integral over energy. In order to do this, we have to know the expression of  $E_{c,\nu}(\mathbf{k})$ . To simplify the notation, we focus on the simple case of parabolic bands, that is often adopted in this Thesis when an analytical expression is needed, and moreover it is a quite good approximation near a band edge. Then, focusing for instance on the conduction band (and assuming for simplicity of notation that the band minimum is at the  $\Gamma$  point), we have

$$E_c(k) = E_c^0 + \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m_c^*},$$
(1.57)

where  $m_c^*$  is the conduction effective mass. This form of  $E_c(k)$  implies that the bands are isotropic (i.e., the energy dispersion does not depend on the direction of the **k** vector) so that the band energy depends only on  $k = |\mathbf{k}|$ . In this approximation we can rewrite Eq. (1.56) in spherical coordinates as

$$N_e = \frac{2V}{(2\pi)^3} \int_{BZ} 4\pi k^2 dk f_e(E_c(k)).$$
(1.58)

Then, using the inverse of Eq. (1.57):

$$k = \sqrt{\frac{2m_c^*(E_c(k) - E_c^0)}{\hbar^2}}$$

we can change the integration variable in Eq. (1.58) finally obtaining

$$n_e = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \left(\frac{2m_c^*}{\hbar^2}\right)^{3/2} \int_{E_0}^{\infty} dE \sqrt{E - E_c^0} f_c(E),$$

where  $n_e = N_e/V$  is the density of electrons in the conduction band, and we have extended the integral up to infinity thanks to the natural cutoff given by the Fermi–Dirac distribution.

From the last equation, we see that we can write the integral as

$$n_e = \int_{E_c^0}^{\infty} dE g_c^{3D}(E) f_e(E), \qquad (1.59)$$

where

$$g_c^{\rm 3D}(E) = \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \left(\frac{2m_c^*}{\hbar^2}\right)^{3/2} \sqrt{E - E_c^0}$$
(1.60)

is the 3D density of states (DOS) for a parabolic isotropic band with effective mass  $m_c^*$ , including the factor of 2 for the sum over the spins. Note that we can implicitly take into account the bottom integration limit  $E_c^0$  of Eq. (1.59) if in Eq. (1.60) we assume that the square root is defined as

$$\sqrt{x} = \begin{cases} \sqrt{x} & x \ge 0\\ 0 & x < 0 \end{cases}.$$
(1.61)

Note that the same steps can be followed for any integrand factor that depends only on the energy, and not only for the Fermi–Dirac distribution  $f_{e,h}$ .

The same calculation can be performed also for a 2D gas, as for instance to calculate the occupation of a given subband of a quantum well. In this case, the density of **k** points is  $S/(2\pi^2)$ , where *S* is the sample surface; the integral can be recast in cylindrical coordinates as  $\int d^2 \mathbf{k} \rightarrow \int 2\pi k dk$ , and we finally obtain

$$n_e^{2D} = N_e/S = \int_{E_0}^{\infty} dEg_c^{2D}(E)f_e(E),$$

(where  $E_0$  is now the subband edge and  $n_c^{2D}$  is the surface charge density in the given subband), with

$$g_c^{\rm 2D}(E) = \frac{m_c^*}{\pi \hbar^2} \theta(E - E_0).$$
(1.62)

Here again we have inserted the Heaviside step function  $\theta(E)$  to implicitly take into account the bottom integration limit  $E_0$ .

A (straightforward) generalization, which is very important for Si and Ge, is needed for the case of non-isotropic masses (as it happens at the L and  $\Delta$  minima). In this case, it is convenient to write the (parabolic) energy dispersion in a orthogonal coordinate system 1, 2, 3 in which the effective-mass tensor is diagonal:

$$E(\mathbf{k} = (k_1, k_2, k_3)) = E_0 + \frac{\hbar^2 k_1^2}{2m_1^*} + \frac{\hbar^2 k_2^2}{2m_2^*} + \frac{\hbar^2 k_3^2}{2m_3^*}$$

In this case, we can define  $k'_i = k_i / \sqrt{m_i^*}$  for i = 1, 2, 3, so that  $E(\mathbf{k}) = \hbar^2 / 2[(k'_1)^2 + (k'_2)^2 + (k'_3)^2]$ . Then, in this primed system the energy dispersion is isotropic, and we can perform the same steps as before; the final result is that the effective mass  $m_c^*$  of Eq. (1.60) must be substituted in the non-isotropic case by the density-of-states effective-mass

$$m_{\rm DOS}^* = \sqrt[3]{m_1^* m_2^* m_3^*}$$

or, in the 2D case of Eq. (1.62), by

$$m_{\rm DOS}^* = \sqrt{m_1^* m_2^*}$$

In the 2D case,  $m_1^*$  and  $m_2^*$  represent the two masses in the plane orthogonal to the growth axis. In Sec. 1.8.1 we describe how to evaluate these masses when the growth axis is not one of the principal axes of the inverse-mass tensor.

For more complicated (or realistic) calculations, taking into account also band non-parabolicities, band warping and so on, we have to numerically evaluate the DOS from a full TB band calculation. In this case, the electronic states on a 3D grid in **k** space can be calculated by diagonalization of the TB Hamiltonian matrix, and then we can evaluate the DOS directly from the sum in **k**-space of Eq. (1.55) using a histogram technique. This is usually satisfactory in many cases, also thanks to the great computational power of modern computers. If however we want to reduce the number of **k** points for which the Hamiltonian matrix has to be diagonalized (or, equivalently, we want to increase the precision of the calculation for a fixed number of **k** points) we can use more sophisticated methods, as the tetrahedron method (for more details, see Ref. [54]).

## 1.8.1 Rotation of the effective-mass tensor

Let us consider the inverse-mass tensor in a basis  $(\hat{x}', \hat{y}', \hat{z}')$  in which it is diagonal:

$$\left(\frac{1}{m^*}\right)_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{m_T} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{m_T} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{m_L} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.63)

We are assuming here that two of the three masses (the transverse masses) are equal, while the third longitudinal one along the third basis vector can be in general different (even if the considerations below can be easily generalized to the case with three different masses). This is in fact the case for the conduction L valleys (with  $\hat{z}'$  axis along the  $\Gamma$ -L line) and for the  $\Delta$  valleys (with  $\hat{z}'$  axis along the  $\Gamma$ -X line), as visible from the ellipsoids of constant energy shown in Fig. 1.18. Note that, due to the degeneracy on the x'y' plane, in order to define the basis we simply have to give the coordinates of the versor  $\hat{z}'$ : for instance, if we consider the L valley at  $\frac{\pi}{a}(1,1,1)$ , we choose  $\hat{z}' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(1,1,1)$ . Note that we express the coordinates of the vectors in the system xyz defined by the crystalline axes, so that the vector with components (0,0,1) is along the [001] direction.

Our aim is to calculate the confinement mass  $m_3^*$  along a generic growth direction  $\hat{\mathbf{v}}$ , possibly different from one of the three basis vectors, and the two principal masses  $m_1^*$  and  $m_2^*$  in the plane orthogonal to this direction. In this Thesis we consider structures grown along the [001] direction, so that  $\hat{\mathbf{v}} = (0, 0, 1)$ .

The first operation that we have to perform is to rotate the tensor so that one of the basis vectors (e.g. the third one  $\hat{z}'$ ) now points along  $\hat{v}$ .



We thus need to find an orthogonal transformation which transforms the  $(\hat{\mathbf{x}}', \hat{\mathbf{y}}', \hat{\mathbf{z}}')$  unit vectors to a new orthogonal set with  $\hat{\mathbf{z}}' \equiv \hat{\mathbf{v}}$ . We call this new reference frame the growth reference frame. The simplest transformation is a rotation around the axis defined by  $\hat{\mathbf{z}}' \times \hat{\mathbf{v}}$  (assuming, of course, that  $\hat{\mathbf{v}}$  is not already in the  $\hat{\mathbf{z}}'$  direction); the cosine of the angle of rotation  $\varphi$  is given by  $\hat{\mathbf{z}}' \cdot \hat{\mathbf{v}}$ (always assuming unit vectors).

To obtain an explicit form for the rotation given above (which brings  $\hat{\mathbf{z}}' \text{ on } \hat{\mathbf{v}}$ ) we use the fact that the Lie algebra of the three-dimensional rotation group  $SO_3$  is the group of the antisymmetric  $3 \times 3$ -matrices (satisfying  $A^T = -A$ ).

Since the generators of the rotations around the axes are

$$A_{\mathbf{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ A_{\mathbf{y}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ A_{\mathbf{z}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

the rotation around a unit vector of coordinates (x, y, z) of an angle  $\varphi$  can be written as

$$Q = e^{\varphi(xA_{\mathbf{x}} + yA_{\mathbf{y}} + zA_{\mathbf{z}})}$$

where we have to compute the exponential of a matrix.

It can be proven that the explicit form of this matrix is

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} x^2(1-\cos\varphi) + \cos\varphi & xy(1-\cos\varphi) - z\sin\varphi & xz(1-\cos\varphi) + y\sin\varphi \\ xy(1-\cos\varphi) + z\sin\varphi & y^2(1-\cos\varphi) + \cos\varphi & yz(1-\cos\varphi) - x\sin\varphi \\ xz(1-\cos\varphi) - y\sin\varphi & yz(1-\cos\varphi) + x\sin\varphi & z^2(1-\cos\varphi) + \cos\varphi \end{pmatrix}$$

where, for our purposes, (x, y, z) are the coordinates of the cross product  $\hat{\mathbf{z}}' \times \hat{\mathbf{v}}$  after the normalization to one, and  $\cos \varphi = \hat{\mathbf{v}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{z}}'$ .

In this way we have obtained the matrix which transforms the components of the vector from the growth reference frame, which coincides with the xyz frame for  $\hat{\mathbf{v}} = (0, 0, 1)$ , to the x'y'z' reference frame. Then, we can transform the inverse mass tensor from the x'y'z' reference frame, in which it has the diagonal form given in Eq. (1.63), to the growth reference frame by means of the transformation<sup>5</sup>  $Q(1/m^*)_{ij}Q^T$ .

Since the case of  $\Delta$  valleys is trivial, we discuss here in detail the particular case of  $\hat{z}' = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(1,1,1)$ , typical of L valleys. The final rotated matrix in the *xyz* system, using the approach described above, is

$$\left(\frac{1}{m^*}\right)_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2m_L + m_T}{3m_L m_T} & \frac{m_T - m_L}{3m_L m_T} & \frac{m_T - m_L}{3m_L m_T} \\ \frac{m_T - m_L}{3m_L m_T} & \frac{2m_L + m_T}{3m_L m_T} & \frac{m_T - m_L}{3m_L m_T} \\ \frac{m_T - m_L}{3m_L m_T} & \frac{m_T - m_L}{3m_L m_T} & \frac{2m_L + m_T}{3m_L m_T} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.64)

From this point on, since we discuss only of this growth reference frame, we call *x*, *y*, *z* the three coordinates in this basis, so *i* and *j* indices run over  $\{x, y, z\}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Note that the matrix *Q* is expressed in the coordinate system defined by the crystalline directions xyz, while the tensor of Eq. (1.63) is in the x'y'z' basis. Then, in general, if we want to use the *Q* matrices to perform the transformation, we have to go through the crystalline coordinate system in each transformation, i.e. we have to perform the rotation in two steps, first bringing  $\hat{\mathbf{v}}$  onto  $[001] \equiv \hat{\mathbf{z}}$ , and then from  $\hat{\mathbf{z}}$  to  $\hat{\mathbf{z}}'$ : here, the first transformation is simply the identity.

and that *z* indicates the growth direction. We want now to focus on the case of systems with a potential energy depending only on *z*, as inversion layers or multilayer systems. In this case, the Hamiltonian matrix for the envelope functions  $\psi$  reads  $[T+V(z)]\psi = E\psi$ , with the potential energy depending only on the growth direction *z* and the kinetic energy is

$$T = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j} p_i w_{ij} p_j,$$
 (1.65)

where  $w_{ij} = (1/m^*)_{ij}$  is the inverse mass tensor in the coordinate system in which the growth direction is along the third axis, i.e. the one obtained with the steps above.

Using this form for *T*, the motions along *x*, *y* and *z* are coupled. In order to decouple the motion on the plane from the motion along *z*, we adopt the method described in Ref. [55] that we briefly summarize here.

Since the potential V(z) depends on z only, we can choose the solution  $\psi$  of the form

$$\psi(x, y, z) = \xi(z)e^{ik_1x + ik_2y}.$$
(1.66)

Substituting this form in the Schrödinger equation and using the Eq. (1.65) for the kinetic energy *T*, we find the following equation for  $\xi$ :

$$-\frac{1}{2}w_{33}\hbar^2\frac{d^2\xi}{dz^2} - i\hbar^2(w_{13}k_1 + w_{23}k_2)\frac{d\xi}{dz} + V(z)\xi(z) = E'\xi(z), \qquad (1.67)$$

with

$$E = E' + \frac{1}{2}\hbar^2 (w_{11}k_1^2 + 2w_{12}k_1k_2 + w_{22}k_2^2).$$

Eq. (1.67) is not in the usual "Schrödinger equation" form, since it has a first-order derivative with respect to z. To remove it, we make the further substitution

$$\xi(z) = \zeta(z)e^{-iz(w_{13}k_1 + w_{23}k_2)/w_{33}}$$

so that  $\zeta$  satisfies

$$-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m_3^*}\frac{d^2\zeta}{dz^2} + V(z)\zeta(z) = E''\zeta(z), \qquad (1.68)$$

with  $m_3 = w_{33}^{-1}$  and

$$E(k_{1}, k_{2}) = E'' + \frac{1}{2}\hbar^{2} \left[ \left( w_{11} - \frac{w_{13}^{2}}{w_{33}} \right) k_{1}^{2} + 2 \left( w_{12} - \frac{w_{13}w_{23}}{w_{33}} \right) k_{1}k_{2} + \left( w_{22} - \frac{w_{23}^{2}}{w_{33}} \right) k_{2}^{2} \right].$$

$$(1.69)$$

We have then obtained with Eq. (1.68) a usual Schrödinger equation in z, whose solution gives the energies E''; we immediately see that the confinement mass  $m_3^*$  is precisely given by the inverse of the (3,3) element of the rotated tensor, since it is the one that determines the energy levels E''. The actual energy E of the electron

is given by Eq. (1.69): the term in square brackets basically takes into account the kinetic energy due to the motion in the xy plane. Then, the two principal masses  $m_1^*$  and  $m_2^*$  can be found as the (inverse of) the eigenvalues of the following matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix} w_{11} - \frac{w_{13}^2}{w_{33}} & w_{12} - \frac{w_{13}w_{23}}{w_{33}} \\ w_{12} - \frac{w_{13}w_{23}}{w_{33}} & w_{22} - \frac{w_{23}^2}{w_{33}} \end{pmatrix}.$$

In particular in the case of L valleys, using the coefficients  $w_{ij} = (1/m^*)_{ij}$  of (1.64), the inverse of the eigenvalues are:

$$m_1^* = m_T, \qquad m_2^* = \frac{m_T + 2m_L}{3}$$

and for the confinement mass we get

$$m_3^*=\frac{3m_Lm_T}{2m_L+m_T}.$$

## 1.9 Band bendings and Schrödinger–Poisson equation

When a MQW system is doped, the doping atoms can ionize and the resulting free electrons rearrange to reach an equilibrium condition. In particular, one common doping technique is the so-called modulation doping, where only the barriers are doped. Then, usually the doping charge is transferred into the well, so that the electrons are localized in a different spatial region with respect to the doping ions. This kind of doping scheme is often adopted because it provides a transport channel due to the free electrons which is located in the QW, while the charged ions remain in the barrier, separated from the transport channel. Since these ions act as scattering centers for the electrons, the spatial separation reduces the scattering and enhances the mobility of the system.

For large doping densities, however, one cannot neglect the effect of the electrostatic potential that builds up due to the charge localization. In this case, the approach that we describe here is needed to correctly calculate the band bendings that occur.

Due to the invariance of the system for translations along the growth plane, we consider only a one-dimensional problem along the growth direction z, which is sufficient and suitable for the study of MQWs and in general of planar heterostructures.

As we have described in Sec. 1.6.2, the envelope functions  $\psi_{j,\alpha}(z)$  for the band j satisfy the Schrödinger equation

$$\frac{\hbar^2}{2} \frac{d}{dz} \left( \frac{1}{m_j^*(z)} \frac{d}{dz} \right) \psi_{j,\alpha}(z) + V_j(z) \psi_{j,\alpha}(z) = E_{j,\alpha} \psi_{j,\alpha}(z), \quad (1.70)$$

where  $E_{j,\alpha}$  is the eigenenergy of the  $\alpha$ -th state and  $V_j(z) = -e\phi(z) + \Delta E_j(z)$  is the potential energy, which consists of a sum of the electrostatic contribution ( $\phi(z)$  is the electrostatic potential) and of the energy  $\Delta E_j(z)$  due to the band offset of the band *j* under consideration.

The electrostatic potential  $\phi(z)$  can be obtained solving the one-dimensional Poisson equation

$$\frac{d}{dz}\left(\varepsilon_{s}(z)\frac{d}{dz}\right)\phi(z) = \frac{-e}{\varepsilon_{0}}\left[N_{D}(z) - n(z)\right],$$
(1.71)

where  $\varepsilon_s$  is the dielectric constant,  $N_D$  the ionized donor concentration, and n is the electron density distribution. Finally, the latter density is related to the wavefunctions  $\psi_{i,\alpha}(x)$  by

$$n(z) = \sum_{j} \sum_{\alpha} \psi_{j,\alpha}^{*}(z) \psi_{j,\alpha}(z) n_{j,\alpha},$$

where *j* runs over all bands under consideration,  $\alpha$  indexes the different states and  $n_{j,\alpha}$  is the electron occupation for each state. This occupation is obtained integrating the density of states times the Fermi distribution function. In particular, in 2D and under the assumption of parabolic bands, we can use the results for the DOS of Eq. (1.62) and solve analytically the integral, obtaining:

$$n_{j,\alpha} = \frac{m_{\rm DOS}^*}{\pi\hbar^2} \int_{E_{j,\alpha}}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1 + e^{(E-E_F)/k_BT}} dE = \frac{m_{\rm DOS}^*k_BT}{\pi\hbar^2} \ln\left(1 + e^{(E_F - E_{j,\alpha})/k_BT}\right),$$

where  $E_F$  is the quasi Fermi energy in the conduction band. Note that, in the low-temperature limit  $T \rightarrow 0$ , the above expression further simplifies to

$$n_{j,\alpha} = \begin{cases} \frac{m_{\text{DOS}}^*(E_F - E_{j,\alpha})}{\pi\hbar^2} & E_F > E_{j,\alpha} \\ 0 & E_F < E_{j,\alpha} \end{cases}$$

The above equations (1.70) and (1.71) constitute a set of coupled equations, which must be solved together in order to find the final self-consistent solution. In the code, an iterative procedure is used, which has been carefully developed to be very stable and to converge to the correct solution also in strongly n-doped systems, as the ones that are discussed in Chap. 3. The details of the code are described in Sec. 3.A.

## 1.10 Evaluation of phonon scattering lifetimes

A key parameter in the design of quantum cascade structures, as those discussed in Chap. 3, are the non-radiative ISB relaxation lifetimes, which may originate from different mechanisms. One of them is the scattering due to the different kind of phonons in the crystal. The scattering rates between two subbands i and f belonging to the same valley (intravalley scattering) due to emission (upper sign) or absorption (lower sign) of optical and acoustic phonons can be respectively written as follows [56]



**Figure 1.19** – Some possible (intravalley) intersubband scattering processes involving acoustic or optical phonons between an initial subband *i* and a final subband *f*.

(see also Fig. 1.19):

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{\text{opt}}^{\pm}} = \frac{D_0^2 m^* G}{4\pi \hbar^2 \rho \omega_0} \left[ n(\omega_0) + \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \right] \Theta(E_i - E_f \mp \hbar \omega_0), \quad (1.72)$$

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{\text{ac}}^{\pm}} = \frac{\Xi_0^2 k_B T m^* G}{4\pi \hbar^3 \rho v_s^2} \Theta(E_i - E_f).$$

In these equations  $D_0$  and  $\Xi$  are the scalar optical and acoustic deformation potentials,  $\omega_0$  and  $n(\omega_0)$  are the q = 0 optical phonon frequency and equilibrium number,  $m^*$ is the two-dimensional DOS effective mass,  $\rho$  is the mass density,  $v_s$  is the sound velocity and  $\Theta$  is the Heaviside step function. Some typical parameters for Si and Ge are collected in Ref. [56]. Finally, G is the overlap factor defined by

$$G = \int dq_z \left| \langle f | e^{iq_z z} | i \rangle \right|^2.$$
(1.73)

In Si and Ge the phonon scattering is associated only to the mechanical deformations of the crystal, since Si and Ge are non-polar materials, and the energy dependence is simply given by a  $\Theta$  function to take into account energy conservation. Instead, in the case of III-V compounds, due to polarization of the material associated to the longitudinal optical phonons, the scattering time shows a resonance at  $\omega_0$ .

In the above expressions, the only quantity to evaluate numerically from the wavefunctions is the overlap *G* factor. The calculation requires the evaluation of an integral over the whole Brillouin zone of the square modulus of a matrix element (which is another integral). Moreover, the matrix element inside the integral contains the rapidly oscillating function  $e^{iq_z z}$ . It is then evident that a numerical evaluation of the *G* factor can be problematic. A first approach that leads to accurate results for the evaluation of the matrix element

$$|\langle f|e^{iq_z z}|i\rangle|^2 = |\langle f|\cos(q_z z)|i\rangle|^2 + |\langle f|\sin(q_z z)|i\rangle|^2$$

consists in discretizing the z axis and approximating the wavefunctions by linear interpolation of the sampling points. Then, the integrands in each interpolation interval are simply the products of a sin or cos function by a polynomial of degree

two, and can be evaluated analytically. Subsequently, the external integral  $\int dq_z$  is performed (choosing a suitable finite region of integration, since the function  $|\langle f|e^{iq_z z}|i\rangle|^2$  goes rapidly to zero for  $|q_z| \to \infty$  [57]).

We emphasize here that for this problem, the routines that allow the evaluation of the integral of a generic function multiplied by a cos or sin function, as those implemented in the QUADPACK library, cannot be implemented here: in fact, they require that the integrand function has continuous derivatives, otherwise large numerical errors may occur. However, the wavefunctions are usually evaluated solving the Schrödinger equation on a discretized set of values, so that the linear interpolation does not have a continuous derivative. Different interpolation schemes may partially solve the problem with increased computational time.

A better and easier method for the evaluation of Eq. (1.73) can however be found. In fact, we can think to the matrix element  $\tilde{g}(q_z) = \langle f | e^{iq_z z} | i \rangle$  as the Fourier transform of the function  $g(z) = \psi_i(z) \cdot \psi_f(z)$ , where  $\psi_i(z)$  and  $\psi_f(z)$  are the envelope functions associated to the subbands *i* and *f*. Then, *G* is the square of the  $\mathcal{L}_2$ -norm of the function  $\tilde{g}(q_z)$ :  $G = \|\tilde{g}(q_z)\|_{\mathcal{L}_2}^2$ . We can thus apply the Parseval theorem, which relates the  $\mathcal{L}_2$ -norm of a function and of its Fourier transform by

$$\|\tilde{g}(q_z)\|_{\mathcal{L}_2}^2 = 2\pi \|g(z)\|_{\mathcal{L}_2}^2$$

so that in conclusion *G* can be rewritten as:

$$G=2\pi\int dz|\psi_f(z)|^2|\psi_i(z)|^2.$$

The advantage of this form is that now we need to evaluate only a single integral instead of a double integral, and most importantly all rapidly-oscillating factors have disappeared from the final expression, allowing in this way a fast and accurate evaluation of the *G* overlap factors.

Finally, for intervalley scattering (e.g. between states belonging to different L valleys, or between L and  $\Delta_2$  valleys), Jacoboni and Reggiani [58] propose to use the same functional forms given in Eq. (1.72), but with different phenomenological parameters based on an effective deformation potential that includes the contributions of both optical and acoustic phonons. In particular, an expression identical to Eq. (1.72) is used to compute the intervalley scattering rates into each  $\Delta$  (L) valley with  $\Delta_0$  and  $\omega_0$  replaced by model parameters extrapolated from experimental data (see Refs. [56, 58] for a set of values for the parameters).

## 1.11 Interdiffusion due to annealing

In Sec. 4.6 we study the interdiffusion process caused by the thermal annealing of MQW structures. As a consequence of the interdiffusion, interfaces between layers are no more sharp; instead, the concentration profile, i.e. the value x of the concentration of Ge in the Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloy, becomes a smooth function of the growth

coordinate z. In this Section, we describe the model that was implemented and used in order to evaluate the concentration profile after the annealing process.

We call  $\chi(z, t)$  the concentration profile as a function of the growth coordinate and of the time. Then, it must satisfy the following diffusion equation:

$$\frac{\partial \chi(z,t)}{\partial t} = D\nabla^2 \chi(z,t), \qquad (1.74)$$

where *D* is the diffusion coefficient. In order to obtain the simple form of Eq. (1.74), we have assumed that *D* depends neither on the spatial coordinate (i.e., we assume a single diffusion coefficient for the whole MQW structure) nor on time. In particular, concerning this last approximation, we make the assumption that the diffusion coefficient *D* is different from zero (and constant) only from t = 0 to  $t = t_{ann}$ , where  $t_{ann}$  is the total annealing time. We furthermore assume a piecewise-constant profile  $\chi(z, t = 0)$  before the annealing process, i.e. we assume a perfect growth of the sample, with sharp interfaces.

The value of *D*, which depends on the temperature, can be extrapolated from XRD measurements on experimental samples as discussed in [59]. Since in Sec. 4.6 we study Ge/Si<sub>0.13</sub>Ge<sub>0.87</sub> MQW samples, we also fitted the results of Ref. [59] for the *T*-dependent linear diffusion coefficient, where the authors studied the interdiffusion of Si<sub>0.02</sub>Ge<sub>0.98</sub>/Si<sub>0.16</sub>Ge<sub>0.84</sub> superlattice samples grown on Si<sub>0.14</sub>Ge<sub>0.86</sub> substrates in the 600–700 °C temperature range.

The functional form of D(T) for these kind of systems in the given temperature range is typically taken to be [60]

$$D(T) = D_0 e^{-E_A/(k_B T)},$$

where  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant,  $D_0$  is called the diffusion prefactor and  $E_A$  is the activation energy. Note that the prefactor  $D_0$  may have an uncertainty of several orders of magnitude [60] due to the exponential dependence of D(T) on the temperature.

In particular, from the fit of the interdiffusion data of Ref. [59] for the superlattice samples cited above, we obtain

$$D_0 = 4.4 \,\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s}, \qquad E_A = 3.2 \,\mathrm{meV}.$$

Using these values, we can calculate the profile  $\chi(z, t > t_{ann})$  after the thermal annealing by numerical solution of Eq. (1.74).

The solution of Eq. (1.74) for constant *D* is simple: in fact, calling  $\tilde{\chi}(k, t) = \mathcal{F}[\chi(z, t)]$  the Fourier transform of  $\chi$  with respect to the space coordinate, we can rewrite the diffusion equation in Fourier space as

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{\chi}(k,t)}{\partial t} = -Dk^2 \tilde{\chi}(k,t)$$
so that the solution  $\tilde{\chi}(k, t)$  at time *t* is related to the solution at time zero by

$$\tilde{\chi}(k,t) = \tilde{\chi}(k,t=0)e^{-k^2Dt}.$$

Going back to real space, and using the fact that the Fourier transform of the product of two functions is a convolution of their transforms, we finally get

$$\chi(z,t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dz' \chi(z',t=0) \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi Dt}} e^{-(z-z')^2/(4Dt)}.$$
 (1.75)

In order to solve numerically the diffusion equation (1.74), two different approaches can be adopted.

- **Real-space approach** In this first approach, we simply integrate Eq. (1.75) in real space. To this aim, we define the concentration profile  $\chi(z, t = 0)$  over a large-enough number of periods (e.g., five or ten) to simulate the periodic conditions, and possibly terminate the structure on both sides by a capping layer. Then, after a discrete sampling of the *z* axis, we calculate  $\chi(z, t_{ann})$  by direct numerical integration of Eq. (1.75). Finally, the profile for one period can be obtained from the central region of the simulated system.
- **Fourier-space approach** In this second approach we exploit the fact that, in Fourier transform, the solution  $\tilde{\chi}(k, t)$  is simply a product of two functions, and therefore very easy to calculate. So, we start by calculating a discrete Fourier transform of the initial profile  $\chi(z, t = 0)$  defined only over one period (note that in this approach, the periodic conditions are automatically enforced). Then, we multiply the obtained  $\tilde{\chi}(k, t = 0)$  by the Fourier transform of the exponential function  $g(z, t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi Dt}}e^{-z^2/(4Dt)}$ , and we finally perform an inverse Fourier Transform of the result to obtain the profile after a time *t*. For the numerical implementation of the discrete Fourier transform, we employ the FFTW library.

When adopting this method, one should pay attention to the magnitude of the time step *t*. In fact, if the annealing time is large, the Gaussian g(z, t) is not well confined within the sampling domain (whose width is the same of the MQW period). Then, to ensure the correctness of the result, one has to divide the total annealing time  $t_{ann}$  in *m* steps (of length  $\Delta t = t_{ann}/m$ ), where *m* is chosen large enough so that  $g(z, \Delta t)$  is almost zero outside the sampling period, and then calculate the inverse Fourier Transform of  $\tilde{\chi}(k, t = 0) \cdot \tilde{g}(k, \Delta t)^m$  to obtain  $\chi(z, t_{ann})$ .

Both methods have been implemented, and the results are the same within the numerical accuracy. The second method, however, is much faster also thanks to the use of the optimized libraries for the calculation of the discrete Fast Fourier Transform. Note that to maximally optimize the computation time, one should choose a number of sampling points for the z axis which is a power of two. To

#### Adopted models and methods for the electronic states



**Figure 1.20** – Concentration profile  $\chi(z, t_{ann})$ , i.e. the Ge content *x* of the Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloy, vs. the coordinate along the growth direction *z*, plotted for one period of a MQW structure (see text). (a): unannealed sample, with sharp interfaces. From (b) to (f): profiles obtained from sample (a) after annealing for  $t_{ann} = 30$  s at 650, 700, 750, 800, 850 °C, respectively.

show a typical result, we plot in Fig. 1.20 the calculated profiles for an annealing time of  $t_{ann} = 30$  s and different annealing temperatures. The unannealed sample of Fig. 1.20a, which is defined by the function  $\chi(z, t = 0)$ , is a Ge/Si<sub>0.13</sub>Si<sub>0.87</sub> MQW system with well width of 176 Å and barrier width of 88 Å.

Finally, the TB code has been adapted to take as input a generic  $\chi(z)$  profile. Using this profile, the code calculates for each atomic monolayer the *z* coordinate of the atoms and the corresponding Ge content *x*, so to have the best approximation of the input profile  $\chi$ . We emphasize that the *z*-dependent lattice constant in the growth direction is evaluated by means of macroscopic elastic theory (as described in Sec. 1.3.2), where the Poisson ratio is calculated consistently from the input profile  $\chi(z)$ .

# 1.A Appendix: Basis reordering to optimize the diagonalization

In this Appendix we describe a technique that was implemented in the code, that allows to reduce significantly the time needed for the diagonalization of the TB Hamiltonian matrix.

Let us consider a planar heterostructure with *open* boundary conditions. Then, its Hamiltonian matrix is of the form

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & b_1 \mid 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ b_1^{\dagger} & a_2 & b_2 \mid 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b_2^{\dagger} & a_3 & b_3 \mid 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b_3^{\dagger} & a_4 & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \ddots & \ddots & b_{n-1} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & b_{n-1}^{\dagger} & a_n \end{pmatrix}$$

where the  $a_i$ 's and  $b_i$ 's are in general block matrices relative to a given monolayer and not simple numbers (for instance, they are  $20 \times 20$  blocks in a  $sp^3d^5s^*$  basis including spin-orbit interactions).

This form of the matrix is particularly convenient for the computation of eigenvalues and eigenvectors, since it is in *banded* form, i.e. the only elements which are different from zero are those in the main diagonal and in a small number of sub- and superdiagonals. Indeed, for these matrices special routines allow a faster calculation of eigenvalues and eigenvectors; for instance, in the standard LAPACK library the algorithm for Hermitian banded matrices (in complex double precision) is implemented by the ZHBEV subroutine, that can be used in place of the usual ZHEEV one. The advantage in terms of computation time is relevant, since the algorithm scales with a smaller power of the matrix size. Moreover, with ZHBEV the matrix is stored in RAM using a compact storage scheme (i.e., only the main diagonal and the relevant superdiagonals are stored) avoiding the need to allocate space for elements which are zero, and thus having less memory requirements if only eigenvalues are needed.

However, many interesting systems have instead *periodic* boundary conditions. In this case, the matrix has the following form:

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & b_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & c \\ b_1^{\dagger} & a_2 & b_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b_2^{\dagger} & a_3 & b_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b_3^{\dagger} & a_4 & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \ddots & \ddots & b_{n-1} \\ c^{\dagger} & 0 & 0 & 0 & b_{n-1}^{\dagger} & a_n \end{pmatrix}$$

where we now have an additional  $20 \times 20$  block *c* at the top-right angle of the matrix.

#### Adopted models and methods for the electronic states



**Figure 1.21** – Graphical representation that illustrates the procedure used to reorder the basis and bring the matrix to banded form, in the simple case with only 8 sites. At the beginning, we have a system with only first-neighbor interactions  $b_i$  and  $c^{\dagger}$ , as in (a) and (b). At the end, we have reordered the basis with a procedure that can be pictorially illustrated as a "squeezing" of the chain (c), so that each site is linked at most with a site of distance two from itself (d). What is most important, we have no more a link between the first and the last site.

This destroys the banded form of the matrix and it thus seems that we are forced back to employ the usual dense matrix routines, as ZHEEV for instance.

However, since we have only one new block c that is different from zero, it is plausible that with a simple unitary transformation we can rewrite the matrix in banded form, allowing a considerable speed-up in the diagonalization.

The unitary transformation that we use in the code is plausibly one of the easiest ones (since it consists only in a reordering of the basis). This transformation has the only drawback that the number of sub- and superdiagonals is increased; however, we verified that the speed-up is still significant, and at the same time the unitary transformation (and its inverse) are so simple that we do not need to store in RAM the unitary matrix, which would require a lot of memory, but only to define the function that gives the new index of a basis element given the old index, and its inverse.

To better understand the strategy that we use to bring the matrix in banded form, let us describe the problem from a physical point of view. The diagonal terms  $a_i$  are the layer self-energies, while all non-diagonal terms represent interactions between two (neighboring) layers. In particular  $b_i$  is the interaction between the *i*-th and the (i + 1)-th layer, and *c* is the interaction between the first and the last layer (so that  $c^{\dagger}$  is the "inverse" interaction between the last and the first layer).

We can make a graphical representation of this quasi-one-dimensional chain, as shown in Fig. 1.21. The periodic case can be represented by a circular ring with each site connected to its two first neighbors (Fig. 1.21b). If we draw it as a linear chain (Fig. 1.21a), we see that each site is linked to its first neighbors, except for the first and the last one that are also linked together. Thus in the Hamiltonian matrix we have the top-right corner that is different from zero. If we now think to "squeeze" the ring (Fig. 1.21c-d), interleaving the sites of the chain so that the new order is

1, 
$$n$$
, 2,  $n-1$ , 3,  $n-2$ , ...

we now see that each site is linked at most with a site of distance two from itself. But what is most important, we have no more a link between the first and the last site. This means that, if we write the Hamiltonian matrix in this new reordered basis, the non-zero elements are only those on the diagonal and on the two sub- and superdiagonals. For instance, again in the case n = 8, the matrix is:

$$H = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & c & b_1 & & & \\ c^{\dagger} & a_8 & 0 & b_7^{\dagger} & & & \\ b_1^{\dagger} & 0 & a_2 & 0 & b_2 & & \\ & b_7 & 0 & a_7 & 0 & b_6^{\dagger} & & \\ & & b_2^{\dagger} & 0 & a_3 & 0 & b_3 & & \\ & & & b_6 & 0 & a_6 & 0 & b_5^{\dagger} \\ & & & & b_3^{\dagger} & 0 & a_4 & b_4 \\ & & & & & & b_5 & b_4^{\dagger} & a_5 \end{pmatrix}$$

What is important to notice is that now, for some pairs of sites, the relative order in the new basis is inverted (for instance in the above example the 7<sup>th</sup> layer is before than the 6<sup>th</sup>): in these cases, we must remember to write  $b_i^{\dagger}$  above the diagonal and  $b_i$  below when we define the matrix, since the element above the diagonal now represents for instance the interaction from 7 to 6, i.e.  $b_6^{\dagger}$ .

We have thus again a matrix in banded form, even if we needed to increase the band width with respect to the original problem. For instance, in the case of  $20 \times 20$  blocks, we go from a band width of  $39 = 2 \cdot 20 - 1$  to a band width of  $59 = 3 \cdot 20 - 1$ . This, however, still allows for a faster calculation for typical-size systems, composed of a number of layers of the order of 100, for the reason discussed above (i.e., the different scaling of the computation time with the size of the matrix).

The reindexing function, i.e. the function that gives the new index of a block given the old one, and its inverse are quite simple to write and we report here their implementation in Fortran (77):

```
* *****
subroutine map_layer(i,n,inew)
* Given a block with index i in chain of length n,
* returns in inew the new index in
* the reordered chain
* *****
implicit none
integer i, n, inew
*
if (i .le. (n+1)/2) then
```

Adopted models and methods for the electronic states

```
inew = 2 * i - 1
else
    inew = 2 * n - 2 * i + 2
endif
return
end
```

```
*****
*
    subroutine map_layer_inverse(i,n,iorig)
    Given a block with index i in reordered chain of
*
     length n, returns in iorig the original index
*
     *****
*
    implicit none
    integer i, n, iorig
*
    if (mod(i,2).eq.0) then
       iorig = n + 1 - i/2
    else
       iorig = (i + 1)/2
    endif
    return
    end
```

# Chapter 2

# Optical properties of bulk and heterostructured semiconductors

In this Chapter, we discuss how the optical properties of semiconductor materials are defined and can be calculated using the methods and techniques described in the previous Chapter.

In particular, in Sec. 2.1 we focus on the derivation of the expressions for the absorption and gain spectra (for direct transitions); in Sec. 2.2 we specialize the expressions that we have obtained, explaining how the above-mentioned quantities can be evaluated both in the tight-binding (TB) formalism or using the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  approximation.

Then, in Sec. 2.3 we calculate the expressions for the spontaneous recombination rate spectra including in this case also the contribution due to indirect transitions.

Sec. 2.4 is devoted to the inclusion of the excitonic effects to the calculated absorption spectra, with special attention to the case of 2D excitons that occur in multiple quantum well structures.

In Sec. 2.5 we discuss the form of the absorption coefficient in the special case of intersubband transitions, we define oscillator strengths and sum rules, and treat the case of a non-diagonal effective mass tensor.

Finally, in the Appendix to this Chapter (Sec. 2.A), we derive the general analytic form of the broadening function to be used when the line broadening is comparable to the transition frequency.

# 2.1 Absorption and gain

Let us start deducing the relationship between the imaginary part of the dielectric constant  $\varepsilon_2(\omega)$  and the number of transitions per unit time  $W(\omega)$ . For more details, we refer to [61]; note that in this Thesis we use MKS units.

Let us consider a transverse plane wave described by the vector potential

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r},t) = A_0 \hat{\mathbf{e}} e^{i(\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} + c.c., \qquad (2.1)$$

where  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}$  is the polarization vector (with  $\mathbf{q} \perp \hat{\mathbf{e}}$ ), the amplitude  $A_0$  is taken as real and *c.c.* indicates the complex conjugate of the preceding expression. The electric field associated to this vector potential can be obtained from the relation  $\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) = -\partial \mathbf{A}/\partial t$ , so that the electric field can be written as

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = E_0 \hat{\mathbf{e}} e^{i(\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} + c.c.,$$

with  $E_0 = i\omega A_0$ . If this electric field is present within a (isotropic) medium, it induces a current **J** which is connected to the electric field through the complex transverse conductivity  $\sigma(\mathbf{q}, \omega)$  by:

$$\mathbf{J}(\mathbf{r},t) = \sigma(\mathbf{q},\omega)E_0\hat{\mathbf{e}}e^{i(\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} + c.c$$

Let us now calculate the power dissipated in a medium where a current **J** flows and an electric field **E** is present: this is given by

$$\int_{V} \mathbf{J} \cdot \mathbf{E} d\mathbf{r} = \int_{V} d\mathbf{r} (\sigma E_{0} e^{i(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{r} - \omega t)} + c.c.) (E_{0} e^{i(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{r} - \omega t)} + c.c.) =$$
$$= \int_{V} d\mathbf{r} (\sigma |E_{0}|^{2} + \sigma^{*} |E_{0}|^{2}) + \int_{V} d\mathbf{r} (\sigma E_{0}^{2} e^{2i(\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{r} - \omega t)} + c.c.).$$

The second integral is zero, since it is the integral of a rapidly oscillating function over the volume *V*, and only the first integral remains, giving the final result

$$\int_{V} \mathbf{J} \cdot \mathbf{E} d\mathbf{r} = 2\sigma_{1}(\mathbf{q}, \omega) |E_{0}|^{2} V, \qquad (2.2)$$

with  $\sigma_1 = \operatorname{Re}(\sigma) = (\sigma + \sigma^*)/2$ .

To obtain the required relation between  $\varepsilon_2$  and  $W(\omega)$ , we equate the dissipated power calculated macroscopically in Eq. (2.2) with the same quantity calculated microscopically, which is given by the number of transitions per unit time  $W(\omega)$ multiplied by the photon energy  $\hbar\omega$ : we thus obtain

$$2\sigma_1(\mathbf{q},\omega)|E_0|^2 V = \hbar\omega W(\omega) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \sigma_1(\mathbf{q},\omega) = \frac{\hbar\omega W(\omega)}{2V\omega^2 A_0^2}.$$

To connect the real part of  $\sigma$  with the imaginary part of the complex dielectric function  $\varepsilon$ , we observe that from the equations  $\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P}$  and  $\partial \mathbf{P}/\partial t = \mathbf{J}$  we have

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{D}}{\partial t} = \varepsilon_0 \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} + \mathbf{J}.$$

Since **D** =  $\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon \mathbf{E}$  and **J** =  $\sigma \mathbf{E}$ , we obtain

$$\varepsilon = 1 + \frac{i\sigma}{\omega\varepsilon_0}.$$

Taking the imaginary part of the above expression, we finally obtain  $\varepsilon_2 = \sigma_1/(\omega \varepsilon_0)$ , so that in conclusion

$$\varepsilon_2(\mathbf{q},\omega) = \frac{\hbar W(\omega)}{2\varepsilon_0 V \omega^2 A_0^2}.$$
(2.3)

Before deriving the microscopic expression for the transition rate  $W(\omega)$ , we want to connect the  $\varepsilon_2$  function to the absorption spectrum  $\alpha(\omega)$ , defined by the relation

$$I = I_0 e^{-\alpha(\omega)L}, \qquad (2.4)$$

where  $I_0$  is the initial intensity of a monochromatic beam of frequency  $\omega$  and I is the attenuated intensity after a path of length L inside the material (which is assumed to be homogeneous).

The dispersion relation of a plane wave propagating along z, with amplitude dependence  $e^{i(q_z z - \omega t)}$ , is  $q_z = \tilde{n}\omega/c$ , where  $\tilde{n}$  is the complex refractive index. The attenuation part of the wave amplitude comes from the imaginary part of  $q_z$ , that is Im  $q_z = n_2\omega/c$ , with  $n_2 = \text{Im }\tilde{n}$ . For the attenuation of the intensity, we have to consider the square modulus of the amplitude, so that (after a path L) we have  $I = I_0 e^{-2(\text{Im } q_z)L}$ . Equating this expression with Eq. (2.4) we thus obtain that

$$\alpha(\omega)=\frac{2n_2\omega}{c}$$

We now remind that the dielectric function is the square of the complex refractive index, so that

$$\varepsilon = \tilde{n}^2 = (n_1 + in_2)^2 \Rightarrow \begin{cases} \varepsilon_1 = n_1^2 - n_2^2 \\ \varepsilon_2 = 2n_1n_2 \end{cases} \Rightarrow 2n_2 = \frac{\varepsilon_2}{n_1}.$$

Finally, substituting these results in Eq. (2.3), we obtain the final expression for the absorption coefficient as a function of the microscopic transition rate:

$$\alpha(\omega) = \frac{\hbar W(\omega)}{2n_1(\omega)c\varepsilon_0 V \omega A_0^2}.$$
(2.5)

For weak absorption, the frequency dependence of  $n_1$  is weak and can be neglected. It turns out, however, that this approximation is a good one also in the case of strong absorption (e.g. from comparison with the experimental data), so that in general one simply uses the static refractive index of the material as  $n_1$  in the above formula.

#### **2.1.1** Calculation of the transition rate $W(\omega)$

We now calculate the transition rate  $W(\omega)$ . In a generic system described by the Hamiltonian  $H_0 = p^2/(2m_0) + V(r)$ , the presence of an electromagnetic field can be described via the minimal coupling, i.e. substituting **p** with **p** + *e***A**, where *e* > 0 is the modulus of the elementary charge and **A** is the vector potential of the electromagnetic field. Using the form for **A** given in Eq. (2.1), we can write the Hamiltonian of the coupled system as

$$H = H_0 + \frac{eA_0}{m_0} e^{i(\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} \hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p} + \frac{eA_0}{m_0} e^{-i(\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} \hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p}$$
(2.6)

Optical properties of bulk and heterostructured semiconductors

where we have neglected the term proportional to  $A^2$ : this is typically a very good approximation if the field intensity is not too large and thus we are not interested in non-linear effects. The Hamiltonian *H* is then the sum of the uncoupled Hamiltonian  $H_0$  and of two terms that account for the absorption and emission of photons of energy  $\hbar \omega$ , respectively. We can then treat the coupling of the system with the electromagnetic field using the time-dependent perturbation theory. In particular, let us consider two eigenstates of  $H_0$ ,  $|\psi_i\rangle$  and  $|\psi_j\rangle$ , with energy  $E_i < E_j$ , respectively. In the presence of the electromagnetic field,  $|\psi_i\rangle$  and  $|\psi_j\rangle$  are no more eigenstates of the total Hamiltonian *H*, and in fact the two perturbative terms induce electromagnetic transitions between these states. Indeed, using the Fermi golden rule, we can write the probability per unit time that an electron makes a transition from  $|\psi_i\rangle$  to  $|\psi_j\rangle$ with the absorption of a photon of energy  $\hbar \omega$  as:

$$P_{i \to j} = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} \left( \frac{eA_0}{m_0} \right)^2 |\langle \psi_j | e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}} \hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p} | \psi_i \rangle |^2 \delta(E_j - E_i - \hbar\omega).$$
(2.7)

Analogously, we can evaluate the probability per unit time for the inverse process, when an electron makes a transition from  $|\psi_j\rangle$  to  $|\psi_i\rangle$  with the emission of a photon of energy  $\hbar\omega$  as:

$$P_{j\to i} = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} \left(\frac{eA_0}{m_0}\right)^2 |\langle \psi_i | e^{-i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}} \hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p} | \psi_j \rangle|^2 \delta(E_i - E_j + \hbar\omega).$$
(2.8)

As it is usual, we can adopt the electric dipole approximation, assuming that  $e^{i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}} \approx 1$  since the momentum  $\mathbf{q}$  carried by the photon is much smaller than the typical momenta of the electrons,  $\mathbf{k}$ , so that in  $\mathbf{k}$ -space the photons can induce only vertical transitions.

Let us now calculate the net transition rate involving photons of energy  $\hbar \omega$ . We call *f* the distribution function for the electrons (this is typically the Fermi–Dirac distribution, but in many cases the situation may be slightly more complicated: for instance in an optically pumped semiconductor, it is convenient to introduce two different distribution functions for the electrons in the conduction band and for the holes in the valence band, see also Sec. 1.8). Then, in order for a transition to occur, we need that the initial state is occupied and the final state is empty: the net rate is then obtained summing over all pair of states the quantity

$$P_{i \to j} f(E_i) (1 - f(E_j)) - P_{j \to i} f(E_j) (1 - f(E_i)).$$

Substituting Eqs. (2.7) and (2.8) we obtain

$$W(\omega) = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} \left(\frac{eA_0}{m_0}\right)^2 \sum_{ij} |\langle \psi_j | \hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p} | \psi_i \rangle|^2 \delta(E_j - E_i - \hbar\omega) [f(E_i) - f(E_j)], \quad (2.9)$$

where the sum is over all possible initial and final states, and in particular the sum over the indices *i* and *j* includes also a sum over the two spin polarizations of each state.

Let us now specify the above formula for the case of interband transitions in a semiconductor. We consider as initial state a valence state  $|\psi_{v,\mathbf{k},\sigma}\rangle$  and the corresponding final state is a conduction state  $|\psi_{c,\mathbf{k},\sigma}\rangle$ , where the index v(c) labels the different valence (conduction) bands. Note that we are assuming that the **k** point is the same for both states due to the dipole approximation discussed above, and also that the spin polarization  $\sigma$  is the same since the operator  $\hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  does not involve the spin. Then, we can rewrite Eq. (2.9) replacing the sum over all states *i* and *j* with

$$W(\omega) = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} \left(\frac{eA_0}{m_0}\right)^2 2 \sum_{c,v} \sum_{\mathbf{k}} |\langle \psi_{c,\mathbf{k}} | \hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p} | \psi_{v,\mathbf{k}} \rangle|^2 \delta(E_{c,\mathbf{k}} - E_{v,\mathbf{k}} - \hbar\omega) [f(E_{v,\mathbf{k}}) - f(E_{c,\mathbf{k}})],$$

where the factor of two in front of the sums accounts for the two spin polarizations  $\sigma$ . We can make a further step converting the sum over all **k** points in the Brillouin zone (BZ) in an integral:

$$W(\omega) = \frac{4\pi}{\hbar} \left(\frac{eA_0}{m_0}\right)^2 \sum_{c,\nu} \frac{V}{(2\pi)^3} \cdot (2.10)$$
  
$$\cdot \int_{BZ} d\mathbf{k} \, |\hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{c\nu}(\mathbf{k})|^2 \, \delta(E_{c,\mathbf{k}} - E_{\nu,\mathbf{k}} - \hbar\omega) [f(E_{\nu,\mathbf{k}}) - f(E_{c,\mathbf{k}})],$$

where we have defined the momentum matrix element

$$\mathbf{p}_{c\nu}(\mathbf{k}) = \langle \psi_{c,\mathbf{k}} | \mathbf{p} | \psi_{\nu,\mathbf{k}} \rangle.$$
(2.11)

Finally, using Eq. (2.5) and Eq. (2.10) together, we can obtain the required expression for the absorption coefficient:

$$\alpha(\omega) = \frac{e^2}{4\pi\varepsilon_0} \frac{1}{\pi n_1 m_0^2 c \omega} \sum_{c,v} \int_{BZ} d\mathbf{k} |\hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{cv}(\mathbf{k})|^2 \cdot \delta(E_{c,\mathbf{k}} - E_{v,\mathbf{k}} - \hbar\omega) [f(E_{v,\mathbf{k}}) - f(E_{c,\mathbf{k}})].$$
(2.12)

In the calculation, the Dirac's delta is often replaced by a suitable (normalized) lineshape function to take into account the different broadening mechanisms. A typical broadening curve is a Lorentzian function (for the justification and the limits of validity of this lineshape, see Sec. 2.A), so that the substitution reads

$$\delta(E_{c,\mathbf{k}} - E_{\nu,\mathbf{k}} - \hbar\omega) \to \mathcal{L}(E_{c,\mathbf{k}} - E_{\nu,\mathbf{k}} - \hbar\omega) \equiv \frac{\Gamma}{\pi} \frac{1}{(E_{c,\mathbf{k}} - E_{\nu,\mathbf{k}} - \hbar\omega)^2 + \Gamma^2}, \quad (2.13)$$

where  $\Gamma$  is the half width at half maximum (HWHM). Then, the problem of calculating the absorption spectrum is recast to the calculation of the momentum matrix elements  $\mathbf{p}_{cv}(\mathbf{k})$  for each pair (v, c) of bands, and the integration of the quantity reported in Eq. (2.12) over the whole BZ. The details of how this can be done in the TB or in the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  formalism is discussed in the following Sections.

Before concluding this Section, we mention that there are cases in which the absorption coefficient assumes negative values: this is called a gain, and the gain spectrum is defined as

$$G(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = -\boldsymbol{\alpha}(\boldsymbol{\omega}). \tag{2.14}$$

In this case, the electromagnetic field is amplified when it propagates through the system. This is what typically happens when a population inversion condition is established (as for instance in a laser). This can also be easily seen by inspection of Eq. (2.12): in fact, all terms are positive except for the the difference of the Fermi functions  $f(E_{v,\mathbf{k}}) - f(E_{c,\mathbf{k}})$ .

In the applications described in Chap. 4, we study systems that display positive gain, i.e. negative absorption in a given frequency range.

# 2.2 Evaluation of the optical properties

#### 2.2.1 Optical matrix elements in the tight-binding formalism

In Sec. 2.1 we have seen that, in order to calculate the absorption coefficient  $\alpha(\omega)$ , we need to compute the matrix elements (2.11) of the momentum operator. In the tight-binding model, the basis functions are Bloch sums built from the localized orbitals  $\phi_{vm}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{nv})$  introduced at the beginning of Sec. 1.2, where we remind that *n* indicates the unit cell, *v* the atom within the unit cell and *m* the symmetry of the orbital (s,  $p_x$ ,  $d_{yz}$  and so on). However, the **p** operator is not diagonal in this basis (as it would be instead in a plane-wave basis). To calculate the matrix element between localized states one should know the functional form of the orbitals  $\phi_{vm}$ . However in most semiempirical TB parametrizations, only the on-site energies of each orbital and the hopping integrals between neighboring orbitals are given. Nevertheless, a suitable approximation (that we describe in this Section) can be found in order to evaluate the  $\mathbf{p}_{cv}$  matrix elements. This approximation has been first proposed for bulk systems in Ref. [62], and then extended also to confined systems (see Ref. [63] and references therein), and the good agreement between calculated and measured optical properties shows the reliability of the approximations that are used. In particular, typical quantities that have been compared in the literature are the imaginary part of the dielectric constant,  $\varepsilon_2(\omega)$ , and the absorption coefficient,  $\alpha(\omega)$ . An example of the comparison between the calculated and measured absorption coefficient for a quantum-confined Ge/SiGe MQW system can be found in this Thesis in Fig. 4.1a.

Let us start from the Bloch sums of Eq. (1.5):

$$\Phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}} \sum_{n} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}_{n\nu}} \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{n\nu}), \qquad (2.15)$$

where *n* runs over the *N* unit cells of the crystal. We have already discussed in Sec. 1.2 how the eigenfunctions of the total Hamiltonian *H* with given **k** vector can be written as linear combinations of the orthonormalized Bloch sums  $\Phi_{vm}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r})$ , so that for the two states involved in the optical matrix element we have:

$$|\psi_{\mathbf{v},\mathbf{k}}\rangle = \sum_{\nu,m} C_{\nu m}^{\mathbf{v}}(\mathbf{k}) \Phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})$$
(2.16)

$$|\psi_{c,\mathbf{k}}\rangle = \sum_{\nu',m'} C^{c}_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{k}) \Phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})$$
(2.17)

where the  $C_{\nu m}^{v}(\mathbf{k})$  and  $C_{\nu'm'}^{c}(\mathbf{k})$  are the coefficients of the linear combinations, obtained from the diagonalization of the *H* matrix.

Substituting Eqs. (2.15), (2.16) and (2.17) in the expression (2.11) for  $\mathbf{p}_{cv}(\mathbf{k})$  we obtain:

$$\mathbf{p}_{cv}(\mathbf{k}) = \sum_{m,m'} \sum_{\nu,\nu'} [C_{\nu'm'}^{c}(\mathbf{k})]^{*} C_{\nu m}^{v}(\mathbf{k}) \cdot \left[ \sum_{n} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{\tau}_{n}+\mathbf{d}_{\nu}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu'})} \langle \phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) | \mathbf{p} | \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r}-\boldsymbol{\tau}_{n}-\mathbf{d}_{\nu}) \rangle \right].$$

We are now left with the problem of calculating the matrix elements of the momentum operator,  $\langle \phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) | \mathbf{p} | \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_{\nu}) \rangle$ , which as we have already discussed cannot be evaluated exactly since we do not know the explicit form of the localized orbitals  $\phi$ . In order to obtain an approximate relation, we convert the momentum matrix element to a matrix element involving the position operator using the commutation relation

$$\mathbf{p}=\frac{m_0}{i\hbar}[\mathbf{r},\mathbf{H}],$$

so that we obtain

$$\langle \phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) | \mathbf{p} | \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_{\nu}) \rangle = \frac{m_0}{i\hbar} \left\{ \langle \phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) | \mathbf{r} H | \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_{\nu}) \rangle - \langle \phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) | H \mathbf{r} | \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_{\nu}) \rangle \right\}$$

We introduce now the approximation of assuming the localized orbitals  $\phi$  eigenstates of the position operator **r**, so that

$$\mathbf{r} \left| \phi_{vm} (\mathbf{r} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_v) \right\rangle = (\boldsymbol{\tau}_n + \mathbf{d}_v) \left| \phi_{vm} (\mathbf{r} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_v) \right\rangle$$

This approximation is reasonable since the  $\phi$  orbitals are localized; the validity of this approximation is discussed in Ref. [63]. In this way, we finally obtain that the **p** matrix element between localized orbitals is given by

$$\langle \phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) | \mathbf{p} | \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_{\nu}) \rangle = = \frac{im_0}{\hbar} (\boldsymbol{\tau}_n + \mathbf{d}_{\nu} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) \langle \phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) | H | \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_{\nu}) \rangle.$$

The last matrix element of *H* between functions localized on nearest-neighbor atoms is simply one of the hopping integrals discussed in Sec. 1.2, see e.g. the integral (1.9). In conclusion the matrix element  $\hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{cv}(\mathbf{k})$  can be expressed in terms of the tight-binding semiempirical parameters:

$$\hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{cv}(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{im_0}{\hbar} \sum_{m,m'} \sum_{\nu,\nu'} [C_{\nu'm'}^c(\mathbf{k})]^* C_{\nu m}^v(\mathbf{k}) \left[ \sum_n e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot(\boldsymbol{\tau}_n + \mathbf{d}_{\nu} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'})} \hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot (\boldsymbol{\tau}_n + \mathbf{d}_{\nu} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) \langle \phi_{\nu'm'}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{d}_{\nu'}) | H | \phi_{\nu m}(\mathbf{r} - \boldsymbol{\tau}_n - \mathbf{d}_{\nu}) \rangle \right]. \quad (2.18)$$

For the evaluation of the above expression, we consider only those *n* in the sum such that  $(\boldsymbol{\tau}_n + \mathbf{d}_v - \mathbf{d}_{v'})$  is a vector connecting two first-neighbor atoms.

## 2.2.2 Absorption and gain in the tight-binding model

Using the general formula given in Eq. (2.12) and the result of Eq. (2.18) for the  $\mathbf{p}_{cv}$  matrix element, it is now easy to calculate the absorption (or the gain) spectrum of a given material using the TB code.

The integration in **k** space can involve a significantly large number of **k** points of the BZ and thus can be extremely demanding. The way to simplify the calculation depends on the particular system that we are simulating. The most simple strategy to evaluate the numerical integral is to calculate the matrix elements on a regular 3D grid, possibly exploiting all the symmetries of the system so to make the calculations only in the irreducible wedge of the BZ. Moreover, we can further limit the integration to a smaller region of **k** points for which the transition energy is below a chosen threshold. For instance, if we study the direct-gap absorption at  $\Gamma$ , and we are interested in the spectrum only for photon energies  $\hbar\omega$  smaller than, say, 1.5 eV, we can consider only those **k** points lying in the corresponding suitable neighborhood of the  $\Gamma$  point, since all interband vertical transitions at larger  $|\mathbf{k}|$  typically occur at a much larger transition energy and thus do not contribute to the  $\alpha(\omega)$  spectrum in the energy range of interest.

However, in the calculations of Chap. 4, when we study the contribution due to confined states in systems with thick barriers, we often use a different integration scheme: in particular, we can reasonably assume that the  $k_z$  dispersion of these states is flat, so that we only have to perform an integration in two dimensions  $(k_x, k_y)$ . Moreover, we can reasonably assume that the dependence of the matrix elements on the angle  $k_{\theta}$  (defined by  $\tan k_{\theta} = k_y/k_x$ ) is weak, so that we can perform an integral in radial coordinates  $(k_{\rho} = \sqrt{k_x^2 + k_y^2}, k_{\theta})$ , sampling only a few lines with fixed  $k_{\theta}$  (e.g. eight lines at  $k_{\theta} = 0^\circ$ , 45°, 90°, ...) and with a finer sampling along the  $k_{\rho}$  coordinate. This allows to significantly reduce the number of **k** points for which the evaluation has to be done, and thus to reduce the computational time without a large error on the resulting evaluated spectrum.

#### 2.2.3 Absorption and gain in the effective-mass approximation

We have discussed in the previous Section how to calculate the absorption spectrum using the tight-binding code. This calculation is quantitatively precise and it takes into account all the relevant effects (as the dependence of the  $\mathbf{p}$  matrix element on  $\mathbf{k}$ , the non-parabolicities of the bands and so on). However, the evaluation of a single spectrum may require in general the calculation of the matrix elements at hundreds of thousands of  $\mathbf{k}$  points and, even if the computation is parallelized on several processors, it results to be extremely demanding.

When we are instead interested in obtaining the optical spectra in a much faster way (possibly obtaining analytical expressions) we can work in the effective mass



**Figure 2.1** – Scheme of a direct interband transition between a pair of parabolic bands, occurring at a wavevector **k**. The gap at  $\Gamma$  is denoted by  $E_g$ .

approximation discussed in Chap. 1 (see also Ref. [64]). In particular, in Sec. 1.8 we have shown that the density of states (DOS) can be exploited to convert an integral over  $\mathbf{k}$  into an integral over the energy (in the simple case of parabolic bands). Using those results, we now specialize Eq. (2.12) in the context of the effective-mass approximation. We consider a 3D system: the same results can be analogously obtained also for a quantum-confined 2D system, using the appropriate expression for the DOS.

To obtain the final expression, we generalize the 3D DOS of Eq. (1.60) defining the joint density of states, i.e. choosing as integration variable the transition energy between a conduction and a valence band rather than simply the band energy.

Indeed, if both the conduction-band energy  $E_c(\mathbf{k})$  and the valence-band energy  $E_v(\mathbf{k})$  are parabolic (and isotropic), also their difference  $E_{tr}(\mathbf{k}) = E_c(\mathbf{k}) - E_v(\mathbf{k})$  has a parabolic dispersion, and in particular it holds (see Fig. 2.1)

$$E_{\rm tr}(\mathbf{k}) = E_g + \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m_c^*} - \left(-\frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m_v^*}\right) = E_g + \frac{\hbar^2 k^2}{2m_{cv}^*},$$
(2.19)

where  $E_g$  is the bandgap energy at  $\Gamma$  (which in general depends on v and c), and  $m_{cv}^*$  is the reduced effective mass given by

$$\frac{1}{m_{cv}^*} = \frac{1}{m_c^*} + \frac{1}{m_v^*}.$$
(2.20)

Since the energy dispersion has the same functional form, the results of Sec. 1.8 can be applied here by simply substituting in Eq. (1.60) the DOS effective mass with the reduced effective mass  $m_{cv}^*$ .

Hence, we can rewrite Eq. (2.12) for the absorption coefficient as

$$\alpha_{3\mathrm{D}}(\omega) = \frac{e^2}{4\pi\varepsilon_0} \frac{|\hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{cv}|^2}{\pi n_1 m_0^2 c \omega} \sum_{c,v} \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \left(\frac{2m_{cv}^*}{\hbar^2}\right)^{3/2} \int_{E_g}^{\infty} dE_{\mathrm{tr}} \sqrt{E_{\mathrm{tr}} - E_g} \cdot \delta(E_{\mathrm{tr}} - \hbar\omega) \left[f(E_v(E_{\mathrm{tr}})) - f(E_c(E_{\mathrm{tr}}))\right], (2.21)$$

where we remind that  $m_0$  is the free-electron mass. Moreover, we have assumed that the  $\mathbf{p}_{cv}(\mathbf{k})$  matrix element does not depend significantly on  $\mathbf{k}$ , and thus we can take its value at  $\Gamma$  and consider  $\mathbf{p}_{cv}$  as a constant. For its evaluation, we can either use the results of Sec. 1.6.1 and deduce its value from the effective masses and the energy of the bandgap, or more simply we can calculate the  $\mathbf{p}_{cv}$  value at  $\Gamma$  with the TB code for the relevant band edges (e.g. where *c* is the bottom conduction band and *v* runs over the HH, LH and SO valence bands).

Note that it is possible to substitute the integral in **k**-space with an integral over energy only because (in our approximation of parabolic and isotropic bands) we can write the valence energy  $E_v(E_{tr})$  and the conduction energy  $E_c(E_{tr})$  as functions of the integration variable  $E_{tr}$ , since  $E_c$  and  $E_v$  are the arguments of the distribution functions. Indeed, inverting Eq. (2.19) we can easily prove that

$$E_{\nu}(E_{\rm tr}) = -(E_{\rm tr} - E_g) \frac{m_{c\nu}^*}{m_{\nu}^*}, \qquad (2.22)$$

$$E_{c}(E_{\rm tr}) = E_{g} + (E_{\rm tr} - E_{g})\frac{m_{c\nu}^{*}}{m_{c}^{*}}$$
(2.23)

where we have set the zero of the energy at the top of the valence band; analogous equations can be obtained for the valence split-off (SO) band.

As an example, we show that at T = 0 (and without optical pumping) we can easily obtain an analytical expression for the absorption coefficient. We calculate here only the contribution from one given pair of bands (v, c); the total absorption coefficient is given by the sum of the contributions of all band pairs.

At T = 0 in an undoped semiconductor without optical pumping, the valence band is full and the conduction band is empty, so that  $f(E_v) - f(E_c) = 1$ . Eq. (2.21) then becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{\rm 3D}(\omega) &= \frac{e^2}{4\pi\varepsilon_0} \frac{|\hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{c\nu}|^2}{\pi n_1 m_0^2 c \omega} \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \left(\frac{2m_{c\nu}^*}{\hbar^2}\right)^{3/2} \int_{E_g}^{\infty} dE_{\rm tr} \sqrt{E_{\rm tr} - E_g} \delta(E_{\rm tr} - \hbar\omega) = \\ &= \frac{e^2}{4\pi\varepsilon_0} \frac{|\hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{c\nu}|^2}{2\pi^3 n_1 m_0^2 c \omega} \left(\frac{2m_{c\nu}^*}{\hbar^2}\right)^{3/2} \sqrt{\hbar\omega - E_g}, \end{aligned}$$

where we are using the convention of Eq. (1.61) so that  $\alpha(\hbar\omega < E_g) = 0$ .

Analogously, generalizing the above discussions also to the 2D case and using the expression for the 2D DOS of Eq. (1.62), we can obtain the absorption coefficient of a quantum-confined unexcited system at T = 0, associated to a given pair of bands (v, c), one in the valence and one in the conduction band, as

$$\alpha_{\rm 2D}(\omega) = \frac{e^2}{4\pi\varepsilon_0} \frac{|\hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p}_{cv}|^2}{\pi n_1 m_0^2 c \omega} \frac{m_{cv}^*}{\pi \hbar^2} \theta(\hbar \omega - E_g'), \qquad (2.24)$$

where  $E'_g$  is the energy difference at  $\Gamma$  between the two bands, which is the sum of the bulk gap energy  $E_g$  and of the confinement energies of the two involved bands v and c.

# 2.3 Spontaneous recombination rate

In this Section we evaluate the spontaneous recombination rate in a semiconductor, comparing the direct contribution (due to the transitions that are vertical in  $\mathbf{k}$ -space and involve only one photon) and the indirect contribution (arising from second-order processes involving both one photon and one phonon). We assume that a given population of electrons and holes is present in the conduction and valence band, respectively, either due to doping or due to an optical pump. We assume that the photon energy of the pump is larger than the relevant energy region in which the recombination occurs, so that we can neglect the stimulated emission and consider only the spontaneous recombination rate. We furthermore assume that fast relaxation mechanisms exist, that allow a fast thermalization of the electrons and holes within the conduction and valence band.

The results of this Section are used in Sec. 4.5, where we describe the code that we have implemented to calculate the photoluminescence (PL) spectra of Ge bulk systems as a function of the doping charge, the pump power and the temperature. For definiteness, in this Section we focus on Ge systems, i.e. we consider the direct transitions at  $\Gamma$  and the indirect transitions between the four conduction L valleys and the topmost valence states (HH, LH and SO) at  $\Gamma$ .

We start with the derivation of the optical density of states  $G_{\Omega}(\hbar\omega)$  of the electromagnetic field, where  $G_{\Omega}(\hbar\omega)d\Omega_q d(\hbar\omega)$  is the total number of photons per unit volume contained in the energy interval  $d(\hbar\omega)$  and with wavevector **q** in the solid angle  $d\Omega_q$ , for a given polarization. This density can be obtained observing that from the dispersion relation connecting energy and momentum of a photon, we have

$$q = n \frac{\omega}{c} \implies dq = \frac{n}{\hbar c} d(\hbar \omega),$$
 (2.25)

where n is the refractive index of the material, and we are neglecting its frequency dependence. Then, using (2.25), we can count the number of modes per unit volume of one given polarization:

$$\frac{d^{3}\mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^{3}} = \frac{q^{2}dqd\Omega_{q}}{(2\pi)^{3}} = \frac{n^{3}(\hbar\omega)^{2}}{(2\pi\hbar c)^{3}}d\Omega_{q}d(\hbar\omega) \equiv G_{\Omega}(\hbar\omega)d\Omega_{q}d(\hbar\omega),$$

that is the definition of  $G_{\Omega}(\hbar\omega)$ .

To work out the expression for the recombination rate, it is more convenient to adopt the second quantization formalism, writing the vector potential for a plane wave of frequency  $\omega$  and polarization  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}$  as

$$\mathbf{A}(\omega) = \left(\frac{\hbar}{2V\omega\varepsilon_0\varepsilon}\right)^{1/2} \left[a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}}^{\dagger}(\omega) + a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}}(\omega)\right]\hat{\mathbf{e}},\tag{2.26}$$

where  $\varepsilon = n^2$  is the material dielectric constant; the creation operator  $a_{\hat{e}}^{\dagger}(\omega)$  for a photon of frequency  $\omega$  and polarization vector  $\hat{e}$ , and the respective annihilation operator  $a_{\hat{e}}(\omega)$  satisfy the commutation relation

$$[a, a^{\dagger}] = 1$$

The prefactor of the expression Eq. (2.26) can be obtained semiclassically. Indeed, for a state with *N* photons of energy  $\hbar \omega$  in a volume *V*, we expect that the energy density is given by

$$U = \frac{N\hbar\omega}{V}.$$
 (2.27)

On the other hand, the (time-averaged) energy density for an electromagnetic wave is

$$U = \frac{1}{2} (\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{D} + \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{H}) = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon E^2 = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon \omega^2 A^2,$$

where we have used the relation  $\mathbf{E} = -\partial A/\partial t$ . Then, in second quantization the energy density can be obtained calculating the average value of the operator  $\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon \omega^2 A^{\dagger} A$  on a state  $|N\rangle$  with *N* photons:

$$U = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon \omega^2 \frac{\hbar}{2V \omega \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon} \left\langle N | (a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}} + a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}}^{\dagger}) (a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}}^{\dagger} + a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}}) | N \right\rangle = \frac{\hbar \omega}{V} \frac{\langle N | a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}} a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}}^{\dagger} + a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}}^{\dagger} a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}} | N \rangle}{2} = \frac{\hbar \omega}{V} \frac{2N+1}{2},$$

and we see that in the semiclassical limit  $N \gg 1$  this expression is the same of Eq. (2.27).

Analogously to what has been done in Eq. (2.6), we can write the interaction Hamiltonian with the electromagnetic field: in second quantization, for a given light polarization  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}$  and frequency  $\omega$ , this is

$$H_{\rm int}^{\rm e.m.}(\hat{\mathbf{e}},\omega) = \frac{e}{m_0} \mathbf{A}(\omega) \cdot \mathbf{p}.$$
(2.28)

#### 2.3.1 Direct transitions

We first address direct transitions from the bottom of the conduction to the top of the valence band, in a neighborhood of the  $\Gamma$  point. We consider an initial state  $|i\rangle$  with only one electron excited in the conduction band at **k** with energy  $E_c^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k})$  (leaving a hole at energy  $E_v^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k})$ ), and no photons in the system; and a final state  $|f\rangle$  with all electrons in the valence band and with one photon of energy  $\hbar \omega = E_c^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k}) - E_v^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k})$ :

$$egin{aligned} &|i
angle = \left|\psi_{c}^{\Gamma}
ight
angle \left|0
ight
angle \ &|f_{\omega}
angle = \left|\psi_{v}^{\Gamma}
ight
angle \left|0\cdots1_{\omega}\cdots0
ight
angle , \end{aligned}$$

where the convention is to indicate first the electron states and then the photon states, and the notation  $|0\cdots 1_{\omega}\cdots 0\rangle$  indicates that there is only one photon at frequency  $\omega$ .

The states  $|i\rangle$  and  $|f_{\omega}\rangle$  are eigenstates of the uncoupled system, but the interaction of Eq. (2.28) allows transitions between the two states, with matrix element

$$\langle f_{\omega} | H_{\text{int}}^{\text{e.m.}}(\hat{\mathbf{e}}, \omega) | i \rangle = \frac{e}{m_0} \left( \frac{\hbar}{2V\omega\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon} \right)^{1/2} (\mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{e}}) \cdot \langle \mathbf{1}_{\omega} | a_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}}^{\dagger} | 0 \rangle =$$

$$= \frac{e}{m_0} \left( \frac{\hbar}{2V\omega\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon} \right)^{1/2} (\mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{e}}).$$

$$(2.29)$$

Here,  $\mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma}$  is the matrix element defined in Eq. (2.11) calculated at the  $\Gamma$  point, where we assume that its value does not depend significantly on **k** in a neighborhood of the  $\Gamma$  point. Note moreover that in the last step we have used  $\langle 1_{\omega} | a_{\hat{s}}(\omega) | 0 \rangle = 1$ .

Using the Fermi golden rule, we can calculate the transition probability per unit time between the two states: we then have that

$$P_{i\to f_{\omega}} = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} |\hat{\mathbf{e}}_i \cdot \mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma}|^2 \delta(E_c^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k}) - E_v^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k}) - \hbar\omega) \frac{e^2\hbar}{2Vm_0^2\varepsilon_0\varepsilon\omega}$$

Since in the spontaneous emission process the direction and the polarization of the emitted photon is arbitrary, we have to calculate the probability summed over all possible directions and polarizations. We then discuss preliminarily the quantity

$$\sum_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}} |\hat{\mathbf{e}}_i \cdot \mathbf{p}_{c\nu}^{\Gamma}|^2 = \sum_{i=1,2} \int d\Omega |\hat{\mathbf{e}}_i \cdot \mathbf{p}_{c\nu}^{\Gamma}|^2, \qquad (2.30)$$

where  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}_1$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}_2$  are two orthogonal polarizations, both orthogonal to the light wavevector  $\mathbf{q}$ . In particular, fixing the *z* axis along the direction of the vector  $\mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma}$ , we can take  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}_1$  parallel to  $\mathbf{q} \times \mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}_2$  orthogonal to  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}_1$ . We then see immediately that  $|\hat{\mathbf{e}}_1 \cdot \mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma}|^2 = 0$ , while  $|\hat{\mathbf{e}}_2 \cdot \mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma}|^2 = \sin^2 \theta |\mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma}|^2$ , where  $\theta$  is the azimuthal angle in spherical coordinates. Then, the integral (2.30) becomes

$$2\pi \int_0^{\pi} \sin\theta d\theta \cdot \sin^2\theta |\mathbf{p}_{c\nu}^{\Gamma}|^2 = \frac{8\pi}{3} |\mathbf{p}_{c\nu}^{\Gamma}|^2.$$
(2.31)

The spontaneous transition rate  $R_{sp}(\hbar\omega)d(\hbar\omega)$  per unit volume for photon emission in a frequency range  $d(\hbar\omega)$  can be then written as:

$$R_{\rm sp}(\hbar\omega)d(\hbar\omega) = \frac{1}{V}\sum_{c,v}\sum_{\mathbf{k},\sigma}\sum_{\hat{\mathbf{e}}}P_{i\to f_{\omega}}f_{e}(\mathbf{k})f_{h}(\mathbf{k})G_{\Omega}(\hbar\omega)Vd(\hbar\omega).$$
(2.32)

In this expression,  $f_e$  is the distribution for electrons in the conduction band and represents the number of initial states,  $f_h$  is the distribution for holes in the valence band and is the number of final states for the electronic part of the wavefunction, and  $G_{\Omega}(\hbar\omega)Vd(\hbar\omega)$  is the number of final photonic states. Note that we are summing over all (**k**,  $\sigma$ ) electronic states and over all conduction and valence bands.

Substituting all the expressions found above in Eq. (2.32) we finally obtain

$$\begin{split} R_{\rm sp}(\hbar\omega)d(\hbar\omega) &= \frac{1}{V}\sum_{c,v}\sum_{\mathbf{k},\sigma}\frac{2\pi}{\hbar}\frac{8\pi}{3}|\mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma}|^{2}\delta(E_{c}^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k}) - E_{v}^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k}) - \hbar\omega)\cdot\\ &\cdot \frac{e^{2}\hbar}{2m_{0}^{2}\varepsilon_{0}\varepsilon\omega}f_{e}(\mathbf{k})f_{h}(\mathbf{k})\frac{n^{3}(\hbar\omega)^{2}}{(2\pi\hbar c)^{3}}d(\hbar\omega) =\\ &= \frac{1}{V}\sum_{c,v}\sum_{\mathbf{k},\sigma}\frac{e^{2}}{4\pi\varepsilon_{0}\hbar c}\frac{4n|\mathbf{p}_{cv}^{\Gamma}|^{2}\hbar\omega}{3m_{0}^{2}c^{2}\hbar}\delta(E_{\rm tr}^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k}) - \hbar\omega)f_{e}(\mathbf{k})f_{h}(\mathbf{k})d(\hbar\omega) \end{split}$$

where we have substituted  $\varepsilon = n^2$  and we have used the definition  $E_{tr}^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k}) = E_c^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k}) - E_v^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k})$ .

Finally, in the case of parabolic bands in the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  approximation, we can use the 3D joint density of states as we did in (2.19) and in following Equations, obtaining

$$\begin{split} R_{\rm sp}(\hbar\omega)d(\hbar\omega) &= \sum_{c,\nu} \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \left(\frac{2m_{c\nu}^*}{\hbar^2}\right)^{3/2} \int dE_{\rm tr} \sqrt{E_{\rm tr} - E_g^{c\nu}} \theta(E_{\rm tr} - E_g^{c\nu}) \\ &= \frac{e^2}{4\pi\varepsilon_0 \hbar c} \frac{4n|\mathbf{p}_{c\nu}^{\Gamma}|^2 \hbar \omega}{3m_0^2 c^2 \hbar} \delta(E_{\rm tr}^{\Gamma}(\mathbf{k}) - \hbar\omega) f_e(E_c(E_{\rm tr})) f_h(E_{\nu}(E_{\rm tr})) = \\ &= \sum_{c,\nu} \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \left(\frac{2m_{c\nu}^*}{\hbar^2}\right)^{3/2} \sqrt{\hbar\omega - E_g^{c\nu}} \theta(\hbar\omega - E_g^{c\nu}) \cdot \\ &= \frac{e^2}{4\pi\varepsilon_0 \hbar c} \frac{4n|\mathbf{p}_{c\nu}^{\Gamma}|^2 \hbar \omega}{3m_0^2 c^2 \hbar} f_e(E_c(E_{\rm tr})) f_h(E_{\nu}(E_{\rm tr})) \end{split}$$

with  $E_v(E_{tr})$  and  $E_c(E_{tr})$  given in Eqs. (2.22) and (2.23), and  $E_g^{cv}$  is the gap at  $\Gamma$  between the two bands v and c.

#### 2.3.2 Indirect transitions

Si and Ge have an indirect gap (see e.g. Fig. 1.8), thus direct optical transitions between states at the bottom of the conduction band (at  $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{k}_c$ ) and states at the top of the valence band (at  $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{k}_v$ ) are forbidden. Nevertheless, lattice vibrations relax this selection rule, allowing indirect transitions between these two electronic states via a two-step process where both a photon and a phonon are involved and the required momentum  $\mathbf{q} = \mathbf{k}_c - \mathbf{k}_v$  is carried by the phonon.

In order to evaluate the spontaneous transition rate due to indirect transitions, let us start to write the interaction Hamiltonian of the electronic system with both the radiation field and the lattice vibrations as a sum of two terms:

$$H_{\rm int} = H_{\rm int}^{\rm e.m.} + H_{\rm int}^{\rm ph}, \qquad (2.33)$$

where  $H_{\text{int}}^{\text{e.m.}}$  is the interaction Hamiltonian with the electromagnetic field (2.28), while  $H_{\text{int}}^{\text{ph}}$  is the interaction Hamiltonian with the phonons, whose explicit form is given later in this Section.

#### 2.3 Spontaneous recombination rate



**Figure 2.2** – Schematic of a indirect transition occurring between a state in a conduction L valley at  $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{k}_{\rm L}$  and energy  $E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L})$ , and a valence state (in the band v) at  $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}$  and energy  $E_v(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma})$ . The red arrows represent the emission or absorption of a phonon, while the green arrows represent the emission of a photon. The direct and indirect gaps are denoted with  $E_0^{\Gamma}$  and  $E_0^{\Gamma}$ , respectively;  $\omega_{\rm ph}$  is the phonon frequency, while  $\omega_{\rm abs}$  ( $\omega_{\rm em}$ ) is the photon frequency in a process involving a phonon absorption (emission). The shown process is of type I, i.e. the first process is the absorption/emission of a phonon, and subsequently the photon is emitted. Analogously, a type-II process may occur (not shown) where the emission of the photon precedes the emission/absorption of the phonon, and then the intermediate state is at  $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{k}_{\rm L}$ .

As discussed above, the indirect transitions are forbidden in first-order perturbation theory due to the momentum selection rule. Then, let us evaluate the transition rate in second-order perturbation theory, where the resulting net transition rate  $W(\omega)$  is obtained substituting the matrix element of Eq. (2.29) with [65]

$$H_{if}^{(2)} = \sum_{m} \frac{\langle i|H_{\rm int}|m\rangle \langle m|H_{\rm int}|f\rangle}{E'_m - E'_f},$$
(2.34)

where  $|i\rangle$  and  $|f\rangle$  are the initial and final states, respectively, and the sum is over all possible intermediate states  $|m\rangle$ . The energies  $E'_i$ ,  $E'_m$  and  $E'_f$  denote the total energies of the system, i.e. including the contribution of the electronic system, of the radiation field and of the phonon field. In particular the conservation of energy implies that  $E'_i = E'_f$ , and then the denominator  $E'_m - E'_f = E'_m - E'_i$  quantifies the deviation of the intermediate state  $|m\rangle$  from the energy-conservation condition.

For definiteness, in the following we focus on a Ge bulk crystal, and we model the system by a single conduction band with one  $\Gamma$  valley and four degenerate L valleys (at lower energy). In the valence, all considered bands have maximum at  $\Gamma$  (and typically we include the three HH, LH and SO bands). A schematic of some possible indirect processes for the bulk Ge system are shown in Fig. 2.2.

For the evaluation of the indirect recombination rate, we choose the following initial and final states:

$$|i\rangle = |\psi_c(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L})\rangle |0\rangle |\cdots n_{\rm ph}(\mathbf{q})\cdots\rangle, \qquad (2.35a)$$

$$|f^{\rm abs}\rangle = |\psi_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma})\rangle |0\cdots 1_{\omega_{\rm abs}}\cdots 0\rangle |\cdots (n_{\rm ph}(\mathbf{q}) - 1)\cdots\rangle, \qquad (2.35b)$$

$$|f^{\text{em}}\rangle = |\psi_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma})\rangle |0\cdots 1_{\omega_{\text{em}}}\cdots 0\rangle |\cdots (n_{\text{ph}}(\mathbf{q}) + 1)\cdots\rangle.$$
(2.35c)

In the above expressions, we are indicating first the electronic part of the wavefunction, then the electromagnetic part (where  $|0\cdots 1_{\omega_{abs}}\cdots 0\rangle$  indicates that only one photon with energy  $\hbar\omega_{abs}$  is present), and the third part is the phonon component, where  $|\cdots n_{ph}(\mathbf{q})\cdots\rangle$  indicates a state with  $n_{ph}(\mathbf{q})$  phonons with wavevector  $\mathbf{q}$  and energy  $E_{ph}(\mathbf{q})$ . Moreover, we are considering two possible final states: both are obtained from  $|i\rangle$  emitting a photon, but while in  $|f^{em}\rangle$  also one phonon is emitted, in  $|f^{abs}\rangle$  one phonon is absorbed. Finally, for what concerns the electronic states,  $|\psi_c(\mathbf{k}_L)\rangle$  indicates a state in a conduction L valley, with  $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{k}_L$  in the neighborhood of the L point, while  $|\psi_v(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma})\rangle$  is a state in the valence band labeled by v, with  $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}$ in the neighborhood of the  $\Gamma$  point. The spin of the initial and final states is assumed to be the same (and is not indicated explicitly), since only states with the same spin are coupled by the interaction Hamiltonian (2.33).

The total energies of the initial and final states are:

$$E'_{i} = E_{c}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{L}}) + n_{\mathrm{ph}}\hbar\omega_{\mathrm{ph}}$$
(2.36a)

$$E'_{f^{\text{abs}}} = E_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) + (n_{\text{ph}} - 1)\hbar\omega_{\text{ph}} + \hbar\omega_{\text{abs}}, \qquad (2.36b)$$

$$E'_{f^{\text{em}}} = E_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) + (n_{\text{ph}} + 1)\hbar\omega_{\text{ph}} + \hbar\omega_{\text{em}}.$$
(2.36c)

From the energy conservation condition  $E'_i = E'_f$ , we deduce that

$$\hbar\omega_{\rm abs} = E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L}) - E_v(\mathbf{k}_{\rm \Gamma}) + \hbar\omega_{\rm ph}, \qquad (2.37a)$$

$$\hbar\omega_{\rm em} = E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L}) - E_v(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) - \hbar\omega_{\rm ph}, \qquad (2.37b)$$

as it can also be deduced by inspection of Fig. 2.2.

Let us consider now the possible intermediate states  $|m\rangle$  that have non-zero matrix element with both the initial and the final state, so that (2.34) is non-zero. There are two kinds of such intermediate states. In the first case (that we call of type I), the first process is a phonon scattering, followed by a photon emission, as the one shown in Fig. 2.2. Then, we see that for these type-I processes

$$\langle f|H_{\rm int}|m_{\rm I}\rangle = \langle f|H_{\rm int}^{\rm e.m.}|m_{\rm I}\rangle, \qquad \langle m_{\rm I}|H_{\rm int}|i\rangle = \langle m_{\rm I}|H_{\rm int}^{\rm pn}|i\rangle.$$
 (2.38)

Moreover, due to the momentum conservation rule and to the verticality of the electromagnetic transitions, we see immediately that the electronic part of  $|m_1\rangle$  must be at **k** = **k**<sub> $\Gamma$ </sub> (see Fig. 2.2).

Analogously, we can have type-II processes, in which the first process is the photon emission, which is followed by the phonon scattering. In this case, the electronic part of  $|m_{II}\rangle$  must be at  $\mathbf{k} = \mathbf{k}_{L}$ .

The complete expressions of the allowed intermediate states (both for the phonon absorption and emission processes) are:

$$|m_{\rm I}^{\rm abs}\rangle = |\psi_c(\mathbf{k}_{\rm \Gamma})\rangle |0\rangle |\cdots (n_{\rm ph} - 1)\cdots\rangle, \qquad (2.39a)$$

$$|m_{\rm I}^{\rm em}\rangle = |\psi_c(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma})\rangle|0\rangle|\cdots(n_{\rm ph}+1)\cdots\rangle, \qquad (2.39b)$$

$$|m_{\rm II}^{\rm abs}\rangle = |\psi_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L})\rangle |0\cdots 1_{\omega_{\rm abs}}\cdots 0\rangle |\cdots n_{\rm ph}\cdots\rangle, \qquad (2.39c)$$

$$|m_{\rm II}^{\rm em}\rangle = |\psi_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L})\rangle |0\cdots 1_{\omega_{\rm em}}\cdots 0\rangle |\cdots n_{\rm ph}\cdots\rangle, \qquad (2.39d)$$

with energies

$$E'_{m_{\rm r}^{\rm abs}} = E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) + (n_{\rm ph} - 1)\hbar\omega_{\rm ph}, \qquad (2.40a)$$

$$E_{m_{\rm f}^{\rm em}}^{\prime} = E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) + (n_{\rm ph} + 1)\hbar\omega_{\rm ph}, \qquad (2.40b)$$

$$E'_{m_{\rm H}^{\rm abs}} = E_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L}) + n_{\rm ph}\hbar\omega_{\rm ph} + \hbar\omega_{\rm abs}, \qquad (2.40c)$$

$$E'_{m_{\rm II}^{\rm em}} = E_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L}) + n_{\rm ph}\hbar\omega_{\rm ph} + \hbar\omega_{\rm em}.$$
 (2.40d)

We now want to show that, in first approximation, type-II processes can be neglected in Ge systems. To this aim, we calculate the denominator  $(E'_m - E'_f)$  of Eq. (2.34) both for type-I and type-II processes. Using Eqs. (2.36), (2.37) and (2.40) we can easily obtain that

$$|E'_{m_{\mathrm{I}}} - E'_{f}| = |E_{c}(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) - E_{c}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{L}}) \mp \hbar \omega_{\mathrm{ph}}| \approx 0.1 \,\mathrm{eV}, \qquad (2.41a)$$

$$|E'_{m_{\mathrm{II}}} - E'_{f}| = |E_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{L}}) - E_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) \pm \hbar\omega_{\mathrm{ph}}| \approx 1\,\mathrm{eV},\tag{2.41b}$$

where the top (bottom) sign accounts for processes involving the absorption (emission) of a phonon. The numerical estimate has been done using the band structure of Ge (see Fig. 1.8) and considering that a typical value for the phonon energy in Ge is  $\hbar \omega_{\rm ph} \approx 30$  meV. Then, the contribution of type-II processes is expected to be much smaller than the contribution of type-I processes, also because in the final transition rates the matrix element (2.34), and thus in particular the denominator given in Eqs. (2.41), is squared.

Therefore in the following (also for notation simplicity) we consider only type-I processes and we do not write anymore the subscript I, even if type-II processes can be included with a straightforward generalization of the results reported below.

Let us now write explicitly the form of the electron-phonon interaction  $H_{int}^{ph}$ . One can derive that the electron-phonon scattering is described by a Hamiltonian of the form [66]:

$$H_{\text{int}}^{\text{ph}} = \sum_{\mathbf{q}} \sum_{\mathbf{k}} D_{\mathbf{q}} (b_{\mathbf{q}} + b_{\mathbf{q}}^{\dagger}) C_{\mathbf{q},\mathbf{k}},$$

where  $b_{\mathbf{q}}$  is the bosonic annihilation operator for a phonon with wavevector<sup>1</sup>  $\mathbf{q}$ , and  $C_{q,k}$  contains the electronic part of the interaction Hamiltonian, with terms of the form  $c_{\mathbf{k}+\mathbf{q}}^{\dagger}c_{\mathbf{k}}$  (where  $c_{\mathbf{k}}$  is the fermion annihilation operator for the electrons). Consequently, the matrix elements  $\langle m | H_{int}^{ph} | i \rangle$  are of the form

$$\langle m^{\rm abs}|H^{\rm ph}_{\rm int}|i\rangle = D_{\mathbf{q}}\sqrt{n_{\rm ph}}, \qquad \langle m^{\rm em}|H^{\rm ph}_{\rm int}|i\rangle = D_{\mathbf{q}}\sqrt{n_{\rm ph}+1}, \qquad (2.42)$$

where **q** is the wavevector that allows a transition between  $|i\rangle$  and  $|m\rangle$  conserving the momentum, i.e.  $\mathbf{q} = \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{L}} - \mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{\Gamma}}$ .

In general, one should now consider all possible scattering mechanisms (e.g. both due to acoustic and optical phonons) and the dispersion relation of the phonon branches. Here we instead consider the simplified approach discussed in Refs. [67,68]. In particular, the overall action of all phonons is modeled by a single dispersionless phonon with energy  $\hbar \omega_{\rm ph} = 27.56$  meV [67] for what concerns the  $\Gamma$ -L scattering. The coefficient  $D_q$  for this single effective phonon is written as [66]

$$D_{\mathbf{q}} = D_{\mathrm{eff}} \sqrt{\frac{\hbar^2}{2\rho V \hbar \omega_{\mathrm{ph}}}},$$

with  $\rho$  is the mass density and V the volume of the crystal;  $D_{\text{eff}}$  is an effective deformation potential, whose value is  $D_{\text{eff}} = 2 \cdot 10^8 \text{ eV/cm}$  [67] (note that  $D_{\text{eff}}$  and  $D_{\mathbf{q}}$  have different units).

Then, the square of the matrix elements (2.42) can be written as

$$|\langle m^{\rm abs}|H^{\rm ph}_{\rm int}|i\rangle|^2 = n_{\rm ph} \frac{\hbar^2 D_{\rm eff}^2}{2\rho V \hbar \omega_{\rm ph}},$$
(2.43a)

$$|\langle m^{\rm em}|H^{\rm ph}_{\rm int}|i\rangle|^2 = (n_{\rm ph}+1)\frac{\hbar^2 D_{\rm eff}^2}{2\rho V \hbar \omega_{\rm ph}}.$$
 (2.43b)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In general, we should also have a further index to label the phonon branch, but for simplicity we do not indicate it in the expressions of this Section.

#### 2.3 Spontaneous recombination rate

Moreover, from Eq. (2.38) we see that the matrix elements  $|\langle f^{abs,em}|H_{int}|m^{abs,em}\rangle|^2$  involve only the electromagnetic part  $H_{int}^{e.m.}$  of the interaction Hamiltonian and we then already know the expression for this matrix element, see Eq. (2.29).

With the knowledge of these matrix elements, the transition probability per unit time between the  $|i\rangle$  and  $|f\rangle$  states can be obtained using the Fermi golden rule:

$$P_{i \to f^{\text{abs,em}}} = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} |H_{if^{\text{abs,em}}}^{(2)}|^2 \delta(E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\text{L}}) - E_\nu(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) - \hbar\omega \pm \hbar\omega_{\text{ph}}) =$$

$$= \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} \left| \frac{\langle f^{\text{abs,em}} | H_{\text{int}}^{\text{e.m.}} | m^{\text{abs,em}} \rangle \langle m^{\text{abs,em}} | H_{\text{int}}^{\text{ph}} | i \rangle}{E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) - E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\text{L}}) \mp \hbar\omega_{\text{ph}}} \right|^2 \cdot$$

$$\cdot \delta(E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\text{L}}) - E_\nu(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) - \hbar\omega \pm \hbar\omega_{\text{ph}}), \qquad (2.44)$$

where the sum over all intermediate states  $|m\rangle$  is reduced to one state only for each phonon absorption or emission process, and also here the top (bottom) sign refers to processes involving a phonon absorption (emission). The spontaneous transition rate  $R_{sp}^{ind}$  due to indirect transitions is obtained analogously to Eq. (2.32) as

$$R_{\rm sp}^{\rm ind}(\hbar\omega)d(\hbar\omega) = \frac{1}{V}\sum_{i,f}\sum_{\hat{\mathbf{c}}} P_{i\to f}f_e(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L})f_h(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma})G_{\Omega}(\hbar\omega)Vd(\hbar\omega)$$

In the case of Ge systems, the sum over all possible initial and final states becomes

$$\sum_{i,f} \rightarrow 2N_V \sum_{\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{L}}} \sum_{\mathbf{k}_{\mathrm{\Gamma}}} \sum_{\nu} \sum_{\mathrm{abs,em}},$$

where the factor of two takes into account the spin degeneracy,  $N_V = 4$  is the number of equivalent L valleys in which the initial state  $|i\rangle$  can be chosen, and the sum over  $\mathbf{k}_L$  runs only within one given L valley. Finally, the sum over v is over all valence bands included in the model.

Substituting the matrix elements in Eq. (2.44) and using Eq. (2.31) for the sum over all polarizations, we finally get that the net spontaneous recombination rate per unit volume and energy is

$$R_{\rm sp}^{\rm ind}(\hbar\omega) = F_{\rm ind} \cdot \hbar\omega \sum_{\rm abs,em} \sum_{\nu} (n_{\rm ph} + \frac{1}{2} \mp \frac{1}{2}) |p_{c\nu}^{\Gamma}|^2 \frac{1}{V^2} \sum_{\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma},\mathbf{k}_{\rm L}} f_e(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L}) f_h(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) \cdot \delta(E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L}) - E_\nu(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) - \hbar\omega \pm \hbar\omega_{\rm ph}) \frac{1}{(E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) - E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\rm L}) \mp \hbar\omega_{\rm ph})^2}, \quad (2.45)$$

where  $|p_{cv}^{\Gamma}|$  is the optical matrix element between the  $\Gamma$  conduction band and the *v* valence band calculated at the  $\Gamma$  point, and the prefactor  $F_{\text{ind}}$  is given by

$$F_{\rm ind} = \frac{4N_V}{3} \frac{e^2}{4\pi\varepsilon_0 \hbar c} \frac{\hbar |D_{\rm eff}|^2 n}{m_0^2 c^2 \rho \hbar \omega_{\rm ph}}.$$

We remind here that *n* is the refractive index of the material, and that the physical units of  $F_{\text{ind}}$  are volume time<sup>-1</sup> mass<sup>-1</sup>. Moreover, we can convert the two sums over

the  $\mathbf{k}$  vectors in Eq. (2.45) to integrals with the substitution

$$\frac{1}{V^2}\sum_{\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma},\mathbf{k}_{L}} \rightarrow \int \frac{d\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}}{(2\pi)^3} \int \frac{d\mathbf{k}_{L}}{(2\pi)^3}.$$

To obtain an analytical expression, we now assume parabolic bands and convert the two integrals over  $\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}$ ,  $\mathbf{k}_{L}$  to two integrals over the energies  $\varepsilon_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma})$  and  $\varepsilon_{L}(\mathbf{k}_{L})$ , respectively; these latter energies are shown in Fig. 2.2 and represent the energy of the valence (conduction) state at  $\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}$  ( $\mathbf{k}_{L}$ ) measured from the top of the valence band (bottom of the L band), respectively. We then obtain

$$R_{\rm sp}^{\rm ind}(\hbar\omega) = F_{\rm ind} \cdot \hbar\omega \sum_{\rm abs,em} \sum_{\nu} (n_{\rm ph} + 1/2 \mp 1/2) |p_{c\nu}^{\Gamma}|^2 \int_0^{\infty} d\varepsilon_{\rm L}$$
$$g(\varepsilon_{\nu}, m_{\nu}^*) g(\varepsilon_{\rm L}, m_{\rm L}^*) f_e(\varepsilon_{\rm L}) f_h(\varepsilon_{\nu}) \frac{1}{(E_c(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) - E_{\nu}(\mathbf{k}_{\Gamma}) - \hbar\omega)^2}.$$
(2.46)

In the latter expression, we have defined the factor g(E, m) as the 3D DOS *without* the sum over the spin, i.e.

$$g(E,m) = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \left(\frac{2m}{\hbar^2}\right)^{3/2} \sqrt{E_3}$$

 $m_{\nu}^{*}$  is the valence effective mass of the band  $\nu$ , and  $m_{\rm L}^{*}$  is the 3D DOS effective mass associated to one L valley. We have moreover used the Dirac's delta to remove the integral over the valence energy  $\varepsilon_{\nu}$ , from which we can obtain the following relation to express  $\varepsilon_{\nu}$  as a function of  $\varepsilon_{\rm L}$  (see also Fig. 2.2):

$$\varepsilon_{\nu} = -(E_0^{\rm L} + \varepsilon_{\rm L} - \hbar\omega \pm \hbar\omega_{\rm ph}).$$

Using this latter expression, we see that the integral over  $\varepsilon_{\rm L}$  does not extend to infinity, but it has a natural cutoff: indeed,  $g(\varepsilon_{\nu}, m_{\nu}^*)$  is zero for  $\varepsilon_{\rm v} < 0$ , i.e. for  $\varepsilon_{\rm L} > \hbar\omega \mp \hbar\omega_{\rm ph} - E_0^{\rm L}$ .

The only final issue that we point out here is that the denominator can have a  $1/x^2$  (non-integrable) divergence within the integration domain when the photon energy is large enough. This occurs when the intermediate state is no more virtual, but a phonon can induce a first-order transition between the conduction L and  $\Gamma$  valleys. The effect of these processes is to thermalize the L and  $\Gamma$  valleys, and thus these processes are already taken into account by the fact that we consider a single conduction quasi-Fermi energy, common to both the L and the  $\Gamma$  valleys. We then substitute the denominator in Eq. (2.46) with the value that it assumes for a transition between the bottom of the L valley and the top of the valence band [65], i.e. with  $(E_0^{\Gamma} - \hbar\omega)^2 = (E_0^{\Gamma} - E_0^{L} \mp \hbar\omega_{\rm ph})^2$ , so that we finally have

$$R_{\rm sp}^{\rm ind}(\hbar\omega) = F_{\rm ind} \cdot \hbar\omega \sum_{\rm abs,em} \sum_{\nu} (n_{\rm ph} + 1/2 \mp 1/2) |p_{c\nu}^{\Gamma}|^2 \frac{1}{(E_0^{\Gamma} - E_0^{\rm L} \mp \hbar\omega_{\rm ph})^2} \cdot \int_0^{\hbar\omega \mp \hbar\omega_{\rm ph} - E_0^{\rm L}} d\varepsilon_{\rm L} g(\varepsilon_{\nu}, m_{\nu}^*) g(\varepsilon_{\rm L}, m_{\rm L}^*) f_e(\varepsilon_{\rm L}) f_h(\varepsilon_{\nu}).$$
(2.47)

Finally, if we consider a thermalized bath of phonons at a given lattice temperature T, the number of phonons  $n_{\rm ph}$  is given by the Bose–Einstein distribution

$$n_{\rm ph} = \frac{1}{e^{E_{\rm ph}/K_BT} - 1}.$$

We now have all ingredients for the calculation of the spontaneous transition rate due to indirect transitions, which simply requires the numerical evaluation of the definite integral of Eq. (2.47).

# 2.4 2D excitons

In real systems, the optical absorption spectrum is significantly modified by the presence of excitons. Thus, in order to obtain realistic  $\alpha(\omega)$  spectra, the excitonic contribution has to be included. For the theory on 3D and 2D excitons, we refer for instance to the book of Haug and Koch [69]: we report here only the final results and we discuss the details of the implementation in the code for the evaluation of the optical spectra of MQW systems.

The binding energy of bound excitonic states depends on the dimensionality of the system. In particular, when we consider a given pair of bands (v, c), the binding energy  $\tilde{E}_n$  of the *n*-th bound state is given by

$$\tilde{E}_n = -E_0 \frac{1}{n^2},$$
  $n = 1, 2, ...$  (3D bound states)  
 $\tilde{E}_n = -E_0 \frac{1}{(n+1/2)^2},$   $n = 0, 1, ...$  (2D bound states)

where

$$E_0 = \frac{\hbar^2}{2m_{cv}a_0^2}, \qquad a_0 = \frac{\hbar^2 4\pi\varepsilon_0\varepsilon}{e^2 m_{cv}}:$$

here,  $\varepsilon$  is the dielectric constant of the material and  $m_{cv}$  is the reduced mass of the v and c bands, introduced in Eq. (2.20). Note that the largest binding energy (which is  $-\tilde{E}_1$  in 3D and  $-\tilde{E}_0$  in 2D) is  $E_0$  in the 3D case, while it is  $4E_0$  in the 2D case. For typical Ge/SiGe MQW systems, the binding energy is approximately 4 meV (i.e.  $E_0 \approx 1 \text{ meV}$ ).

As discussed in detail in Ref. [69], we expect that the absorption spectrum is modified by the presence of  $\delta$ -like absorption features in correspondence of the bound excitonic states below the onset of the absorption calculated in the previous Sections. In particular, in 2D the excitonic correction below the gap (for each given band pair) is given by

$$\alpha_{\text{bound}}^{\text{exc}}(\omega) = \alpha_{2D}^{0} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{4}{(n+1/2)^{3}} \delta\left(\Delta + \frac{1}{(n+1/2)^{2}}\right)$$
(2.48)

with

$$\Delta = \frac{\hbar\omega - E'_g}{E_0} \tag{2.49}$$



**Figure 2.3** – Comparison of the 2D interband absorption coefficient due to a single pair of subbands, with and without the excitonic contribution. The gap energy is set to  $E'_g =$ 900 meV and the binding energy is  $4E_0 = 4$  meV. The Lorentzian broadening is set to  $\Gamma = 2$  meV.

and  $\alpha_{2D}^0$  defined here as the value of the absorption coefficient just above the gap,  $\alpha_{2D}^0 \equiv \alpha_{\text{free}}(\hbar\omega = E'_g)$ , where  $\alpha_{\text{free}}(\omega)$  is the absorption spectrum of Eq. (2.24). Note that each peak associated to an excitonic bound state contributes to the spectrum with intensity proportional to  $1/(n + 1/2)^3$ , and in the limit of  $E \to E'_g$  the  $\delta$  peaks tend to form a continuum, whose value tends to  $\alpha_{\text{bound}}^{\text{exc}}(\omega \to E'_g/\hbar) \to 2\alpha_{2D}^0$ .

Moreover, a correction is expected also above the onset of the one-particle absorption  $\alpha_{\text{free}}$ , due to fact that the Coulomb attraction between holes and electrons has effects also in the continuum: in fact, above the gap energy, we have [69]

$$\alpha_{\rm cont}^{\rm exc}(\omega) = \alpha_{\rm free}(\omega)C(\omega),$$

where  $\alpha_{\text{cont}}^{\text{exc}}(\omega)$  is the absorption spectrum including the excitonic contributions in the continuum ( $\hbar \omega > E'_g$ ), and  $C(\omega)$  is the Coulomb enhancement factor, that in 2D is

$$C(\omega)=\frac{e^{\pi/\sqrt{\Delta}}}{\cosh(\pi/\sqrt{\Delta})},$$

where  $\Delta$  is the same of Eq. (2.49) (note that the 3D Coulomb enhancement form has a different expression, see Ref. [69]). Note that  $C(\omega \rightarrow E'_g/\hbar) \rightarrow 2$ , so that the two parts of  $\alpha^{\text{exc}}$  connect continuously at  $E'_g$ .

In the numerical implementation, the Dirac's delta functions in Eq. (2.48) are substituted with Lorentzian peaks with suitable width as discussed in (2.13), where the width is chosen by comparison with the experimental data. Moreover, only the first few bound states (typically up to four) are included in Eq. (2.48), since the contribution of all remaining states with larger *n* is negligible. Furthermore, to avoid discontinuities in the simulated spectrum, the contribution of the Coulomb enhancement factor, which should be exactly zero below  $E'_g$ , is instead smoothed with a Lorentzian tail (with same width as the one used for the delta functions). A comparison of the interband absorption spectrum of a 2D system (originating only from one pair of subbands) with and without the excitonic contribution is reported in Fig. 2.3. In practice, the electronic states are calculated using the TB code, and the excitonic contribution is evaluated for all couples of valence and conduction bands. Actually, the choice of the unit cell in MQW systems implies a folding of states with  $\Delta$  symmetry at the  $\Gamma$  point of the BZ of the multilayer structure: then at  $\Gamma$  we find both these folded states and the genuine  $\Gamma$  states. The matrix dipole element between the folded states and the valence states is zero, and thus they are not optically active. A suitable filtering of the conduction states (based on the magnitude of the dipole matrix element) is thus applied to exclude these folded bands and then the excitonic contribution is added only to the transitions to genuine  $\Gamma$  states.

Finally, for an example of a comparison of an experimental and theoretical absorption spectrum, including the 2D excitonic contribution, see Fig. 4.1a of this Thesis.

# 2.5 Intersubband absorption and oscillator strengths

The aim of this Section is to calculate the form of the absorption coefficient for intersubband transitions, with particular focus on the case of non-diagonal effectivemass tensors since this is the case for Ge-rich systems (see Sec. 1.7) as those discussed in Chap. 3. In the following we assume that the heterostructures are grown along the z direction. Moreover, we do not consider explicitly the case of a spatially-varying  $m^*(z)$ , even if this is in general of interest for heterostructures. For a discussion of the generalization of the expressions in this case, see Ref. [70].

#### 2.5.1 Intersubband absorption

In this Section we derive the expression of the intersubband absorption coefficient  $\alpha(\omega)$  (see also Ref. [71]).

We need to calculate the transition rate  $W(\omega)$  for intersubband transitions: once we know this quantity, we obtain the absorption coefficient using Eq. (2.5).

In the effective-mass approximation with a non-isotropic effective mass, we have seen in Eq. (1.65) that the Hamiltonian for the envelope function  $\psi_i$  can be written as

$$H\psi_i = E_i\psi_i, \qquad H = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{p}\cdot w^{\gamma}\cdot\mathbf{p} + V(z),$$

where  $w^{\gamma}$  is the 3 × 3 inverse mass tensor for a given band and valley (see Sec. 1.8.1), and we use the symbol  $\gamma$  to denote the valley. Note that each valley has in general a different mass tensor. For instance, for  $\Delta_4$  states in Si, the two valleys along  $k_x$  have the longitudinal mass along x, while the two valleys along  $k_y$  have the longitudinal mass along y. Hence the inverse mass tensors are different, and electrons in different valleys couple differently with a given light polarization.

Using the minimal coupling and the form for A of Eq. (2.1), we obtain that the

perturbation due to the presence of the electromagnetic field is given by

$$\frac{1}{2}eA_0\sum_{\alpha,\beta}\left(p_{\alpha}w^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta}\hat{e}_{\beta}+\hat{e}_{\alpha}w^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta}p_{\beta}\right)e^{i(\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)}$$

where the indices  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  run over the three coordinates *x*, *y* and *z*.

Let us consider two states  $\psi_i = \psi_{n,\mathbf{k}_{\parallel},\sigma}$  and  $\psi_j = \psi_{m,\mathbf{k}_{\parallel},\sigma}$ , where *n* and *m* are the subband indices, and we assume that  $n \neq m$ . We are interested in the optical transitions between the two states (note that we have assumed that the two states have same in-plane momentum  $\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}$  and spin  $\sigma$  for the reasons discussed in Sec. 2.1). In particular, the absorption probability from  $\psi_i$  to  $\psi_j$ , with  $E_i < E_j$ , for the valley  $\gamma$  is given by

$$P_{n\to m}^{\gamma}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel},\sigma) = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar} A_0^2 \left| \sum_{\alpha} \hat{e}_{\alpha} w_{\alpha z}^{\gamma} \right|^2 \cdot |p_{nm}^z|^2 \cdot e^2 \delta(E_m - E_n - \hbar\omega), \qquad (2.50)$$

where  $p_{nm}^z$  is the matrix element  $\langle \psi_{n,\mathbf{k}_{\parallel},\sigma} | p_z | \psi_{m,\mathbf{k}_{\parallel},\sigma} \rangle$ : note that, if we assume the form (1.66) for the  $\psi$  envelope functions, the only component that gives non-zero matrix element is  $p_z$ , since we have assumed that the two states belong to two different subbands  $n \neq m$ . As a consequence, this matrix element does not depend neither on  $\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}$  nor on  $\sigma$ . Moreover, we are assuming parabolic and parallel subbands, so that  $E_j - E_i = E_m - E_n$  ( $E_n$  and  $E_m$  are the energy at the bottom of the respective subbands). Therefore, the energy difference in the Dirac's delta depends only on the subband indices n and m and as a consequence also  $P_{n \to m}^{\gamma}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, \sigma)$  depends only on n and m. However, we have left the indices  $\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}$  and  $\sigma$  explicitly indicated to remind that this is a quantity that is evaluated for a transition between two single states and not between all states of the two subbands n and m.

To take into account the broadening of the states, also in this case we substitute the  $\delta$  function with the Lorentzian of (2.13). Note however that this substitution holds only if the broadening  $\Gamma$  is much smaller than the level separation  $E_m - E_n$ . In the opposite case, which may happen for instance for intersubband transitions in the THz range, the more general lineshape expression given in Sec. 2.A is appropriate.

For the emission from  $\psi_j$  to  $\psi_i$ , it is easy to show that  $P_{n \to m}^{\gamma}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, \sigma) = P_{m \to n}^{\gamma}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, \sigma)$ . The net transition rate  $W(\omega)$  between the two subbands *n* and *m*, which occurs at the same frequency  $\omega$  for all  $\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}$  due to the mentioned hypothesis of parallel bands, is then given by

$$W_{n \to m}^{\gamma}(\omega) = P_{n \to m}^{\gamma} \sum_{\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, \sigma} [f(E_i, \mathbf{k}_{\parallel}) - f(E_j, \mathbf{k}_{\parallel})] :$$

here, *f* is the Fermi distribution function, and we remind that  $E_i = E_n + \frac{\hbar^2}{2} \mathbf{k}_{\parallel} \cdot \tilde{w} \cdot \mathbf{k}_{\parallel}$ , where  $\tilde{w}$  is the 2 × 2 mass tensor on the *xy* plane described in Eq. (1.69).

Using these results, we can write the 2D (adimensional) absorption coefficient, defined as the usual absorption coefficient multiplied by the length  $L_z$  of the het-

erostructure. Its expression is

$$\alpha_{2\mathrm{D}}(\omega) = \sum_{\substack{n < m \\ \nu}} \sum_{\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}} 2P_{n \to m}^{\nu} \frac{\hbar}{2Scn\varepsilon_0 A_0^2 \omega} [f(E_i, \mathbf{k}_{\parallel}) - f(E_j, \mathbf{k}_{\parallel})],$$

where  $S = V/L_z$  is the sample surface and the factor of two accounts for the sum over the spins.

## 2.5.2 Oscillator strengths

Before going on to determine an explicit expression for  $\alpha_{2D}(\omega)$ , we define the oscillator strength (OS) that is useful to express  $\alpha(\omega)$  in a more compact form; in fact, often in the literature the absorption coefficient is not written explicitly as a function of the matrix element contained in  $P_{n \to m}^{\gamma}$  but as a function of the OS. Since the definition of the OS is not unique in the literature, we report here its expressions together with the respective Thomas–Kuhn sum rule for the different cases that are of interest.

#### Oscillator strength and Thomas-Kuhn rule in the simplest case

Let us consider a system with the simple Hamiltonian

$$H\phi(z) = E\phi(z), \qquad H = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m_0}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} + V(z), \qquad (2.51)$$

i.e. a simple one-dimensional Schrödinger equation with fixed isotropic mass, equal to the free-electron mass  $m_0$ .

In this case, it is usual to define the (adimensional) oscillator strength between two eigenstates  $\phi_n$  and  $\phi_m$  of the Hamiltonian (2.51) as

$$f_{nm} = \frac{2}{m_0 \hbar \omega_{mn}} |\langle \phi_n | p_z | \phi_m \rangle|^2$$
(2.52)

where  $\hbar \omega_{mn}$  is defined as  $(E_m - E_n)$  (with the correct sign, so that  $\omega_{nm} = -\omega_{mn}$ ), and  $p_z$  is the usual momentum operator

$$p_z = -i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial z}.$$

If the system is bounded, so that the wavefunctions are normalizable and bounded, we can also use (within the dipole approximation) the interaction Hamiltonian  $H' = -e\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{r}$ , using the relation between the matrix elements:

$$\mathbf{p}_{nm} = im_0 \omega_{nm} \mathbf{r}_{nm} \tag{2.53}$$

so that the oscillator strength can also be written as

$$f_{nm}=\frac{2m_0\omega_{mn}}{\hbar}|\langle\phi_n|z|\phi_m\rangle|^2.$$

Note that this substitution is not strictly correct for periodic systems (for instance for systems described by the Kronig–Penney model, as superlattices), and in this case the  $\mathbf{A} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  interaction should be used. For a detailed discussion of the error introduced when using the *z* matrix element, see Ref. [72].

The above-defined oscillator strength satisfies the sum rule

$$\sum_{m} f_{nm} = 1, \qquad (2.54)$$

known as the Thomas–Kuhn sum rule, which is valid for all initial states n and where the sum extends over all final states m.

We prove this sum rule in the case of a finite bounded system by writing the oscillator strength as in (2.52):

$$\sum_{m} f_{nm} = \sum_{m} \frac{2}{m_0 \hbar \omega_{mn}} |\langle \phi_n | p_z | \phi_m \rangle|^2 = \sum_{m} \frac{2}{m_0 \hbar \omega_{mn}} \langle \phi_n | p_z | \phi_m \rangle \langle \phi_m | p_z | \phi_n \rangle.$$

Using now Eq. (2.53), we can write

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \phi_m | p_z | \phi_n \rangle &= i m_0 \omega_{mn} \left\langle \phi_m | z | \phi_n \right\rangle; \\ \langle \phi_n | p_z | \phi_m \rangle &= i m_0 \omega_{nm} \left\langle \phi_n | z | \phi_m \right\rangle = -i m_0 \omega_{mn} \left\langle \phi_n | z | \phi_m \right\rangle \end{aligned}$$

and thus the sum rule becomes

$$\sum_{m} f_{nm} = \sum_{m} \frac{1}{m_0 \hbar \omega_{mn}} \left( \langle \phi_n | p_z | \phi_m \rangle \langle \phi_m | p_z | \phi_n \rangle + \langle \phi_n | p_z | \phi_m \rangle \langle \phi_m | p_z | \phi_n \rangle \right) =$$
$$= \sum_{m} \frac{i}{\hbar} \left( \langle \phi_n | p_z | \phi_m \rangle \langle \phi_m | z | \phi_n \rangle - \langle \phi_n | z | \phi_m \rangle \langle \phi_m | p_z | \phi_n \rangle \right) = \frac{i}{\hbar} \left\langle \phi_n | [p_z, z] | \phi_n \rangle \right\}$$

where in the last step we have used the completeness relation  $\sum_{m} |\phi_{m}\rangle \langle \phi_{m}| = 1$ .

Finally, using the commutator relation

$$[p_z, z] = -i\hbar \tag{2.55}$$

and the fact that the states  $|\phi_n\rangle$  are normalized to one, we get the sum rule (2.54).

#### **Oscillator strength in the case** $m^* \neq m_0$

We consider now a system with an effective mass  $m^*$  different from the bare electron mass  $m_0$ , but still limiting the analysis to an isotropic mass. In this case, the Hamiltonian is

$$H\phi(z) = E\phi(z), \qquad H = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2m^*}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} + V(z).$$

In the literature, slightly different definitions of the oscillator strength are used.

Apparently, the simplest extension of the definition of the previous section is to substitute  $m_0$  with  $m^*$ : we thus get the definition of the oscillator strength

$$\tilde{f}_{nm} = \frac{2}{m^* \hbar \omega_{mn}} |\langle \phi_n | p_z | \phi_m \rangle|^2 \stackrel{*}{=} \frac{2m^* \omega_{mn}}{\hbar} |\langle \phi_n | z | \phi_m \rangle|^2$$

where the second equality holds exactly only for finite bounded systems. With this definition the sum rule has the same form of Eq. (2.54), i.e.  $\sum_m \tilde{f}_{nm} = 1$ . This definition is used for instance in Ref. [73].

However, as discussed below, this definition cannot be easily extended to the case of a non-isotropic effective mass. Sometimes, in the literature one finds a different expression of the oscillator strength, that actually coincides with that of Eq. (2.52):

$$\hat{f}_{nm} = \frac{2}{m_0 \hbar \omega_{mn}} |\langle \phi_n | p_z | \phi_m \rangle|^2$$

which satisfies the modified Thomas-Kuhn sum rule

$$\sum_{m} \stackrel{\triangle}{f}_{nm} = \frac{m^*}{m_0}.$$

Even this form, however, is not suitable to be extended to the case of a nonisotropic mass; we instead choose the following form:

$$f_{nm} = \frac{2m_0}{\hbar\omega_{mn}} \frac{1}{(m^*)^2} |\langle \phi_n | p_z | \phi_m \rangle|^2$$
(2.56)

with the modified Thomas-Kuhn sum rule

$$\sum_{m} f_{nm} = \frac{m_0}{m^*}.$$
 (2.57)

We use this expression in the following since, as we are going to see in a moment, it can be naturally extended to the case of a non-isotropic mass. We stress again that in the literature all the three forms of the oscillator strength can be found, and one must be careful to check the one that is used.

#### Oscillator strength for a non-diagonal inverse mass tensor

We now consider the case in which the inverse-mass tensor w is no more a multiple of the identity.

In this case, the envelope function (for a given fixed valley  $\gamma$  and band) is the eigenfunction of a Hamiltonian of the form

$$H=\frac{1}{2}\mathbf{p}\cdot w^{\gamma}\cdot \mathbf{p}+V(z),$$

where **p** is the vector momentum operator  $\mathbf{p} = -i\hbar\nabla$  and  $w^{\gamma}$  is the 3 × 3 inverse mass tensor relative to the given band and valley  $\gamma$ , as discussed at the beginning of Sec. 2.5.1.

In the general case of two and three dimensions, we have to consider explicitly the polarization vector  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}$  of the photon which is involved in the transitions between the two states.

Following Ref. [74], we thus define the oscillator strength for a given fixed valley y and a given polarization  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}$  as

$$f_{nm}^{\gamma} = \frac{2m_0}{\hbar\omega_{mn}} |\langle \psi_n | \hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot w^{\gamma} \cdot \mathbf{p} | \psi_m \rangle|^2 = = \frac{2m_0}{\hbar\omega_{mn}} (\hat{e}_x w_{xz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_y w_{yz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_z w_{zz}^{\gamma})^2 |p_{nm}^z|^2, \qquad (2.58)$$

where  $p_{nm}^{z}$  is the matrix element of the  $p^{z}$  component of the momentum operator between the states  $|n\rangle$  and  $|m\rangle$ , that are the parts of the envelope function  $\psi$  that depend only on z after the variable separation, as described in Sec. 1.8.1.

The motivation for this definition can be understood looking at the expression for the intersubband absorption coefficient  $\alpha_{2D}(\omega)$  given in Sec. 2.5.1:  $f_{nm}$  is defined in a way that it reduces to Eq. (2.56) for isotropic  $m^*$ , and that it is an "ingredient" of the equation that we will obtain for  $\alpha_{2D}(\omega)$ , i.e. Eq. (2.63).

Let us now derive the expression of the oscillator strength as a function of the position matrix element instead that of  $\langle p_z \rangle$ . As a first step, we express the commutator [H, z] in terms of **p**:

$$[H,z] = \sum_{i,j} \left[ \frac{1}{2} p_i w_{ij}^{\gamma} p_j + V(z), z \right] = \sum_{i,j} \left[ \frac{1}{2} p_i w_{ij}^{\gamma} p_j, z \right] = \frac{1}{2} (A + B + C), \quad (2.59)$$

where

$$A = \sum_{j=x,y} [p_z w_{zj}^{\gamma} p_j, z], \quad B = \sum_{i=x,y} [p_i w_{iz}^{\gamma} p_z, z], \quad C = [p_z w_{zz}^{\gamma} p_z, z].$$

Let us calculate the three contributions. For the first two terms, since  $[p_i, z] = 0$  for i = x, y, we have that the terms A + B can be written as

$$A + B = \sum_{j=x,y} w_{zj}^{\gamma} p_j[p_z, z] + \sum_{i=x,y} w_{iz}^{\gamma} p_i[p_z, z] = -2i\hbar \sum_{j=x,y} w_{zj}^{\gamma} p_j$$
(2.60)

where we have used the fact that the tensor  $w^{\gamma}$  is symmetric, and we have substituted the commutation relation of Eq. (2.55).

For the term *C* we have instead

$$C = [p_z w_{zz}^{\gamma} p_z, z] = p_z w_{zz}^{\gamma} [p_z, z] + [p_z, z] w_{zz}^{\gamma} p_z = -2i\hbar p_z w_{zz}^{\gamma}, \qquad (2.61)$$

so that, inserting Eqs. (2.60) and (2.61) in Eq. (2.59) we obtain

$$[H,z] = -i\hbar \sum_{j=x,y,z} w_{zj}^{\gamma} p_j.$$

We can now express the  $p_z$  matrix element as a function of the z matrix element:

$$\langle n|p_{z}|m\rangle \stackrel{\star}{=} \sum_{j} \frac{\langle n|w_{zj}^{\gamma}p_{j}|m\rangle}{w_{zz}^{\gamma}} = \frac{i}{\hbar} \frac{\langle n|[H,z]|m\rangle}{w_{zz}^{\gamma}} = \frac{i}{\hbar} \frac{1}{w_{zz}^{\gamma}} (E_{m} - E_{n}) \langle n|z|m\rangle, \quad (2.62)$$

where the equality marked with a star holds since the matrix elements of  $p_x$  and  $p_y$  vanish, due to the symmetry of the eigenfunctions  $|n\rangle$ ,  $|m\rangle$ .

Using Eq. (2.62), we can finally rewrite the oscillator strength of Eq. (2.58) as

$$f_{nm}^{\gamma} = \frac{2m_0\omega_{mn}}{\hbar} \frac{(\hat{e}_x w_{xz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_y w_{yz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_z w_{zz}^{\gamma})^2}{w_{zz}^2} |\langle n|z|m\rangle|^2 =$$
$$= \frac{2m_0 E_{mn}^{\rm tr}}{\hbar^2} \frac{(\hat{e}_x w_{xz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_y w_{yz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_z w_{zz}^{\gamma})^2}{w_{zz}^2} |\langle n|z|m\rangle|^2$$

where the transition energy  $E_{mn}^{tr}$  is defined as usual:  $E_{mn}^{tr} = \hbar \omega_{mn} = \hbar (\omega_m - \omega_n)$ .

Finally, we derive the Thomas–Kuhn sum rule fulfilled exploiting this definition of the oscillator strength. We have from Eq. (2.58):

$$\sum_{m} f_{nm}^{\gamma} = (\hat{e}_{x} w_{xz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_{y} w_{yz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_{z} w_{zz}^{\gamma})^{2} \frac{2m_{0}}{\hbar} \sum_{m} \frac{\langle n|p_{z}|m\rangle \langle m|p_{z}|n\rangle}{\omega_{nm}} = D\frac{i}{\hbar} \sum_{m} \frac{\omega_{mn} \langle n|z|m\rangle \langle m|p_{z}|n\rangle + \omega_{nm} \langle n|p_{z}|m\rangle \langle m|z|n\rangle}{\omega_{nm}}$$

where we have substituted Eq. (2.62) once for the first matrix element and once for the second one, and we have defined

$$D = \frac{(\hat{e}_x w_{xz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_y w_{yz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_z w_{zz}^{\gamma})^2 m_0}{w_{zz}^{\gamma}}.$$

Now we use  $\omega_{mn}/\omega_{nm} = -1$  and the completeness relation  $\sum_{m} |m\rangle \langle m| = 1$ , so that the sum rule becomes

$$\sum_{m} f_{nm}^{\gamma} = D \frac{i}{\hbar} (\langle n | p_{z} z | n \rangle - \langle n | z p_{z} | n \rangle) = D \frac{i}{\hbar} \langle n | [p_{z}, z] | n \rangle$$

and since from Eq. (2.55) we have  $[p_z, z] = -i\hbar$ , we finally obtain the final form for the sum rule

$$\sum_{m} f_{nm}^{\gamma} = \frac{(\hat{e}_x w_{xz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_y w_{yz}^{\gamma} + \hat{e}_z w_{zz}^{\gamma})^2 m_0}{w_{zz}^{\gamma}}.$$

To verify this result, we check what happens when the effective mass is isotropic. In this case, the  $w^{\gamma}$  tensor is diagonal and thus  $w_{xz}^{\gamma} = w_{yz}^{\gamma} = 0$ , and moreover  $w_{zz}^{\gamma} = 1/m^*$ . The sum rule becomes

$$\sum_{m} f_{nm}^{\gamma} = \hat{e}_z^2 m_0 w_{zz}^{\gamma} = \hat{e}_z^2 \frac{m_0}{m^*} \left( = \frac{m_0}{m^*} \text{ for a TM polarization} \right),$$

that shows that in this limit only the light polarized along the growth direction z (pure TM mode) can produce intersubband transitions, and in this case the sum rule has the same form of Eq. (2.57).

Optical properties of bulk and heterostructured semiconductors

#### 2.5.3 Absorption coefficient as a function of the oscillator strength

We can now continue the derivation of the expression of the absorption coefficient, that we started in Sec. 2.5.1, using the expression of the oscillator strength derived in the previous Section.

Using the definition of Eq. (2.58), we can rewrite the probability per unit time  $P_{n \to m}^{\gamma}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, \sigma)$  of Eq. (2.50) as

$$P_{n \to m}^{\gamma}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, \sigma) = \frac{\pi e^2 \omega_{mn}}{m_0} A_0^2 f_{nm}^{\gamma} \delta(E_m - E_n - \hbar \omega).$$

The adimensional absorption coefficient thus becomes (substituting the Dirac's delta with the Lorentzian function, see also Sec. 2.A for a discussion on the validity of this substitution):

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{2D}(\omega) &= \sum_{\substack{n < m \\ \gamma}} \sum_{\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}} \frac{f_{nm}^{\gamma}}{cn\varepsilon_{0}\omega} \frac{\hbar e^{2}\omega_{mn}}{m_{0}S} \frac{\Gamma}{(E_{m} - E_{n} - \hbar\omega)^{2} + \Gamma^{2}} [f_{n}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}) - f_{m}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel})] = \\ &= \sum_{\substack{n < m \\ \gamma}} \int \frac{d^{2}\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}}{(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{f_{nm}^{\gamma}e^{2}\omega_{mn}\hbar}{cn\varepsilon_{0}\omega m_{0}} \frac{\Gamma}{(E_{m} - E_{n} - \hbar\omega)^{2} + \Gamma^{2}} [f_{n}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}) - f_{m}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel})]. \end{aligned}$$

Note that  $f_{nm}^{\gamma}$  is the oscillator strength, while  $f_n(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel})$  is the Fermi distribution for the state of the subband *n* with in-plane momentum  $\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}$ .

We now substitute the integral over  $\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}$  with an integral over the energy: calling  $m_{DOS}^{*\gamma}$  the DOS mass for a single valley (it has the same value for all valleys), and correctly taking into account the spin degeneracy, we obtain

$$\alpha_{2D}(\omega) = \sum_{\substack{n < m \\ \gamma}} \int_{E_n}^{\infty} dE' \frac{m_{DOS}^{*\gamma}}{\pi\hbar^2} \cdot \frac{e^2 \omega_{mn} \hbar}{2cn\varepsilon_0 \omega m_0} \cdot \frac{f_{nm}^{\gamma} \Gamma}{(E_m - E_n - \hbar\omega)^2 + \Gamma^2} [f(E') - f(E' + E_m - E_n)]$$

where we have used again the assumption that the bands are parabolic and parallel. Under these assumptions, we can perform explicitly the integration:

$$\alpha_{2D}(\omega) = \frac{e^2}{2cn\varepsilon_0\omega m_0\pi\hbar} \sum_{\substack{n < m \\ \gamma}} m_{DOS}^{*\gamma} \omega_{mn} \frac{f_{nm}^{\gamma}\Gamma}{(E_m - E_n - \hbar\omega)^2 + \Gamma^2} \cdot \int_{E_n}^{\infty} dE' \left[ \frac{1}{e^{(E' - E_f)/KT} + 1} - \frac{1}{e^{(E' + E_m - E_n - E_f)/KT} + 1} \right]$$

where  $E_f$  is the Fermi energy, and integrating we finally obtain:

$$\alpha_{2D}(\omega) = \frac{e^2}{2\varepsilon_0 cn\hbar} \sum_{\substack{n < m \\ \gamma}} \frac{m_{DOS}^{\gamma}}{m_0} \cdot \frac{\omega_{mn}}{\omega} \cdot \frac{\Gamma/\pi}{(E_m - E_n - \hbar\omega)^2 + \Gamma^2} \cdot f_{nm}^{\gamma} \cdot KT \log\left[\frac{e^{(E_f - E_n)/KT} + 1}{e^{(E_f - E_m)/KT} + 1}\right].$$
(2.63)
#### 2.5.4 Low-temperature limit

In the low temperature limit  $T \rightarrow 0$ , assuming that only the lowest state n = 1 is filled, we get the following limit:

$$\log\left[\frac{e^{(E_f-E_n)/KT}+1}{e^{(E_f-E_m)/KT}+1}\right] \cdot KT \to (E_f-E_1)\delta_{n,1}$$

so that the absorption coefficient becomes (if we focus only to transitions to the first empty state m = 2):

$$\lim_{T\to 0}\alpha_{2D}(\omega)=\frac{e^2}{2\varepsilon_0cn\hbar\pi}\sum_{\gamma}\left[\frac{m_{DOS}^{\gamma}}{\pi\hbar^2}(E_f-E_1)\right]\frac{\pi\hbar^2}{m_0}\frac{\omega_{21}}{\omega}\frac{\Gamma}{(E_{21}-\hbar\omega)^2+\Gamma^2}f_{12}^{\gamma}.$$

Now we note that the square bracket is the surface density of the electrons filling the first subband up to energy  $E_f$  in a given valley  $\gamma$ , i.e. its value is  $n_{2D}/N^{\gamma}$ , where  $N^{\gamma}$  is the number of degenerate valleys and  $n_{2D}$  is the total number of free electrons per unit surface in the sample. The expression thus becomes

$$\lim_{T \to 0} \alpha_{2D}(\omega) = \frac{n_{2D} e^2 \hbar}{2\varepsilon_0 cn} \left[ \frac{\sum_{\gamma} f_{12}^{\gamma}}{N^{\gamma} m_0} \right] \cdot \frac{\Gamma}{(E_{21} - \hbar\omega)^2 + \Gamma^2} \cdot \frac{\omega_{21}}{\omega}$$

and its maximum value (reached at  $\omega_{21} = \omega$ ) is

$$\alpha_{2D}^{\max} = \frac{n_{2D}e^2\hbar}{2\varepsilon_0 cn\Gamma} \left(\frac{\sum_{\gamma} f_{12}^{\gamma}/m_0}{N^{\gamma}}\right).$$

i.e. the formula given also in Ref. [73], averaged over all valleys.

To have a rough estimate of this value, we note that in most cases for quantum well systems we can consider that the largest part of the sum rule is saturated by  $f_{12}$ , so that we can substitute  $f_{12}^{\gamma} \approx \sum_{m} f_{1m}^{\gamma}$ . Note moreover that in the case of a pure TM radiation (field along  $\hat{z}$ ), the expression of the sum rule of the oscillator strength reduces to

$$\sum_{m} f_{1m}^{\gamma} = m_0 w_{zz} = \frac{m_0}{m_z^*}$$

so that in this simple case the system behaves as if it had an isotropic mass equal to the  $m_z^*$  mass.

# 2.A Appendix: Lineshape function for large broadenings

In Eq. (2.13) we have discussed that often the broadening effects on the absorption coefficient are simply taken into account by substituting the Dirac's delta  $\delta(E_{ij} - \hbar\omega)$  with the Lorentzian  $\frac{\Gamma}{\pi} \frac{1}{(E_{ij} - \hbar\omega)^2 + \Gamma^2}$ .

We discuss in this Appendix why this substitution is reasonable, and the limits of its validity. We can see directly by inspection of the expressions for  $\alpha_{2D}$  that the Lorentzian broadening cannot correct describe systems with small transition energy and large broadening. Indeed, if the Lorentzian broadening  $\Gamma$  is comparable (or even larger) than the intersubband transition energies  $E_{ij}$ , we have a divergence of  $\alpha_{2D}(\omega)$  at zero frequency due to the factor  $1/\omega$  in its expression, see for instance Eq. (2.63). If instead  $\Gamma$  is small, then we can assume that the Lorentzian provides an effective damping of the  $\alpha$  coefficient, and (far from  $\omega = 0$ ) the expression is valid.

Let us then start again from Eqs. (2.7) and (2.8). We remind the limit [61]

$$\lim_{\Gamma \to 0^+} \frac{1}{x - i\Gamma} = P \frac{1}{x} + i\pi \delta(x).$$
(2.64)

Then, we can substitute the  $\delta(E_{ij} - \hbar \omega)$  that we are using to describe the imaginary part  $\varepsilon_2$  of the dielectric constant with  $\frac{1}{E_{ij} - \hbar \omega - i\Gamma}$ , and then at the end we will take the imaginary part to have the expression of  $\varepsilon_2$  and thus of  $\alpha$ .

If we make this substitution, we see that in the sum of Eq. (2.9) we have that each



**Figure 2.4** – Comparison of the absorption coefficient obtained adopting different lineshapes, as discussed in Sec. 2.A. We have chosen  $E_{ji} = 40$  meV in panel (a) and  $E_{ji} = 100$  meV in panel (b). The black curve is obtained using a Lorentzian lineshape of (2.67), while the red curve is obtained using the lineshape of (2.65). In both panels, the broadening is set to  $\Gamma = 10$  meV.

pair of states (i, j) contributes with two terms:

$$\sum_{ij} |\langle \psi_j | \hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p} | \psi_i \rangle|^2 \frac{1}{E_{ji} - \hbar\omega - i\Gamma} [f(E_i) - f(E_j)] = \sum_{i < j} |\langle \psi_j | \hat{\mathbf{e}} \cdot \mathbf{p} | \psi_i \rangle|^2 \left\{ \frac{1}{E_{ji} - \hbar\omega - i\Gamma} - \frac{1}{-E_{ji} - \hbar\omega - i\Gamma} \right\} [f(E_i) - f(E_j)],$$

where we the sum is now only on i < j and we have used  $E_{ij} = -E_{ji}$ , and  $f(E_j) - f(E_i) = -[f(E_i) - f(E_j)]$ .

The term in curly brackets can be rewritten as

$$\left\{\frac{2E_{ji}}{E_{ji}^2-(\hbar\omega+i\Gamma)^2}\right\}$$

and to obtain the expression for the lineshape of  $\alpha$  we have to take its imaginary part divided by  $\pi$ , see Eq. (2.64), obtaining

$$\frac{\Gamma}{\pi} \frac{2E_{ji} \cdot 2\hbar\omega}{(E_{ji}^2 - \hbar^2\omega^2 + \Gamma^2)^2 + (2\hbar\omega\Gamma)^2}.$$
(2.65)

This is the more correct lineshape to be used when  $\Gamma$  is comparable to  $E_{ji}$ : in fact, now we have a factor  $\omega$  at the numerator which removes the degeneracy at  $\omega = 0$  discussed above for Eq. (2.63).

To justify the Lorentzian approximation, we consider the limit  $\Gamma \ll E_{ji}$  and  $\Gamma \ll \hbar \omega$ , which is for instance a very good approximation for interband transitions, where  $\Gamma$  is typically of the order of 10 meV while  $E_{ji} \approx 1 \text{ eV}$ . Then, we can discard the  $\Gamma^2$  term in the first bracket at the denominator of Eq. (2.65), and moreover we can assume that

$$E_{ji} + \hbar\omega \approx 2\hbar\omega \approx 2E_{ji} \tag{2.66}$$

near the resonance, where  $\alpha$  is non-zero. Then, for the first bracket at the denominator of Eq. (2.65) it holds

$$(E_{ji}^{2} - \hbar^{2}\omega^{2})^{2} = (E_{ji} - \hbar\omega)^{2}(E_{ji} + \hbar\omega)^{2} \approx (E_{ji} - \hbar\omega)^{2}(2E_{ji})^{2}$$

and then, approximating Eq. (2.65) using (2.66) we get that the lineshape is approximately given by

$$\frac{\Gamma/\pi}{(E_{ji}-\hbar\omega)^2+\Gamma^2},$$
(2.67)

which is the Lorentzian lineshape discussed in Eq. (2.13).

In Fig. 2.4, a comparison of the absorption coefficient obtained using the two lineshapes is reported for a broadening  $\Gamma = 10$  meV and for different values of  $E_{ji}$ . We see in Fig. 2.4a that near  $\omega = 0$  the correct lineshape (red curve) must be taken into account to avoid divergences. In Fig. 2.4b we can instead notice that the difference between the two lineshapes is very small already for  $E_{ji} = 100$  meV, if we are not interested in the absorption in regions of the spectrum near  $\omega = 0$ .

Part II

Applications

# Chapter 3

# THz emission from Si-compatible multilayer SiGe heterostructures

# 3.1 Introduction

In the last years, there has been an increasing interest in the development of unipolar photonic devices based on intersubband (ISB) transitions and operating in a quantum cascade (QC) architecture.

The first quantum cascade laser (QCL), emitting in the mid-infrared, was developed at Bell Labs in 1994 [75]. A few years later, in 2002, the first THz QCL (fabricated with a GaAs/AlGaAs heterostructure) was demonstrated by Köhler et al. [76]. This device opened a whole new field of research and applications, since for the first time cheap and compact sources in the THz region of the electromagnetic spectrum (1–10 THz,  $\lambda \approx 300-30 \,\mu$ m,  $E \approx 4-40 \,\text{meV}$ ) became easily available. In just a few years, in fact, the development of THz devices has grown incredibly fast [77].

This rapid development has also been driven by the rather large number of applications of the THz radiation, which are mainly of two categories: imaging and sensing. In fact, since THz radiation has a low diffusion in inhomogeneous materials, it is particularly suited for imaging applications; moreover, it can be used for sensing since many complex molecules have rovibrational absorption lines in this frequency range.

The unprecedented performance of these devices for what concerns the linewidth and the output power has already given rise to applications in local oscillators [78,79], real-time imaging [80] and molecular spectroscopy [81]. Detailed review of the applications of THz radiation can be found for instance in Refs. [42,82].

The key requirement for most applications is the availability of cheap, high-power and compact THz sources, and the THz ISB lasers have these features. Moreover, the possibility of tailoring the emission frequency when designing the structure is another great advantage of these solid state devices: for instance, since the first THz QCL operating at 4.4 THz [76], there have been demonstrations of devices emitting even below 1 THz [83]. However, THz QCLs have one main issue which has not been



**Figure 3.1** – Timeline for the maximum operating temperature in pulsed mode for (a) THz QCLs and (b) mid-IR QCLs. The shaded area represents the temperature region achievable with thermoelectric coolers. Figure reproduced from [87].

solved yet: they can operate only at low temperature (in contrast to mid-IR QCLs). In fact, the first THz QCL was able to operate up to 50 K. Nowadays, even if many critical improvements have been made, mainly to the design of the active region and of the waveguide, the present maximum operating temperature is only slowly increasing, as evident in Fig. 3.1. The highest operating temperature at the moment of writing is 186 K [84], even if there has been a recent claim at the ITQW2011 conference of a new record temperature of 193 K [85]; note however that higher temperatures (225 K) have been reached by the application of a strong magnetic field to reduce the non-radiative scattering [86]. Thus THz lasing still needs cryogenic operation since it has not reached the temperature range accessible with thermoelectric (Peltier) coolers.

This is a very important issue that needs to be solved, since in many market and industrial applications (as the ones discussed above) devices working at room temperature are required. However, it is commonly believed that further incremental developments to the current devices will not lead to significant improvements for what concerns the operating temperature; innovative approaches must be developed [87].

One interesting and promising possibility is to exploit new materials in the QC design, which can have better characteristics and overcome the intrinsic limitations of the usual GaAs/AlGaAs heterostructures. For instance, to take advantage of the lower effective masses, InP-based InGaAs/AlGaAs THz lasers are being investigated [88].

But also Si, Ge and their alloys are now attracting increasing efforts towards the realization of QC lasers. These materials were not usually considered suitable for photonics applications due to their indirect band gap, preventing an efficient recombination of electrons and holes and thus precluding the realization of efficient interband optical devices. (For more details on interband transitions in SiGe structures, see Chap. 4.) However, the exploitation of intersubband transitions either in the valence or in the conduction band allows to overcome this limitation. One of the reasons which pushes towards the realization of Si- and Ge-based optical devices is the possibility of integrating the optical part of the device with its control electronics. In fact, nowadays the largest part of the electronics is based on Si, and in particular the complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) technology is well established for the realization of integrated circuits. This is due to many factors, as the low static power supply drawn by CMOS devices (since the power is drawn only when switching between on and off states) and their quite high degree of immunity to noise [89]. Moreover silicon is particularly suited to the realization of these devices because its high thermal conductivity allows to dissipate efficiently the heat. Due to the enormous development of CMOS technology, a CMOS-compatible light-emitting device is particularly appealing, since it would allow the complete integration of the photonics devices on the same chip, with benefits in terms of manufacturing costs, device performance and robustness, etc.

Silicon-germanium multilayer heterostructures, and in particular those grown along the [001] direction, are thus quite appealing from this point of view, since they are highly compatible with CMOS processing [89].

For what concerns SiGe QC devices based on ISB transitions, these are not meant to overcome existing III-V lasers used in fiber-based telecommunications, since for these applications the operating wavelength is fixed by technological reasons in the near-infrared and thus requires lasers operating with interband transitions (see Chap. 4). On the other hand, chip-to-chip optical interconnects in electronic circuits are at the moment the object of intense research in order to overcome the current limitations of electronic connections. THz lasers could be an interesting opportunity, since THz radiation can be easily guided by metallic waveguides, and most integrated circuits elements (substrates, plastic cover, ...) are quite transparent in this frequency range; moreover Si-based lasers are the optimal choice thanks to their possibility of being directly integrated on the chips.

However, the most important advantage in the adoption of Si and Ge is that they are non-polar materials and thus the interaction of electrons with polar longitudinal optical (LO) phonons is absent. This is the main source of non-radiative intersubband relaxation for electrons, which reduces the population inversion and thus the possibility of device operation at high temperatures. Hence, SiGe lasers could give the possibility of obtaining THz emission at room temperature. Moreover a Ge/SiGe QCL, having no reststrahlen absorption, could allow the emission in the reststrahlen band of typical III-V semiconductors ranging from 23 to 65  $\mu$ m ( $\approx$ 20–50 meV), closing the wavelength gap of QCLs existing today.

We remark here that, since silicon and germanium have different lattice constants, the resulting QW structures will be subject to strain fields. From the experimental point of view, this has to be carefully taken into account to avoid formation of defects. Moreover, also when designing cascade structures, one should try to balance the strain (alternating compressively and tensile strained layers) in order to minimize the total elastic energy, and allow the growth of structures with large number of periods without dislocations. In fact, strain can also be exploited as another degree of freedom to adjust the material properties, for instance to shift the band edges or to remove the degeneracies of the states, as it is discussed later in this Chapter.

Electroluminescence from Si-rich Si/SiGe QC structures was observed both in the mid-infrared [90] and in the THz [91], but up to now there have been significant difficulties in demonstrating laser emission. It is important to highlight that in the experiments of Refs. [90, 91], only valence-band ISB transitions were used. One of the reasons is that the valence effective masses are typically smaller than the  $\Delta$ conduction masses along the tunneling direction in Si-based systems. A large mass, in fact, makes it very difficult to design devices which exploit the mechanism of resonant tunneling injection, since large masses imply small tunneling probabilities and thus small currents; that is, the injection is suppressed. Moreover, since the gain is inversely proportional to the effective mass, we expect that the gain is much more significant in structures with small masses.

However, exploiting valence ISB transitions has some big disadvantages: first, the presence of different valence bands (HH, LH) with similar energy introduces non-radiative scattering channels which reduce the performance of the device. Moreover, these bands have a very large non-parabolicity so that the behavior of a device based on ISB transitions in the valence band is very difficult to predict and describe. Furthermore, in these systems the quantum wells (where the holes are localized) are in the SiGe alloy material regions, whereas the pure Si layers act as barriers: this implies that also alloy scattering will be significant in these systems.

To overcome these difficulties, we will instead address intersubband transitions in *n*-doped Ge-rich Ge/SiGe heterostructures (even if in Sec. 3.5 we also address a Si-rich structure). In fact, when working in the conduction band of SiGe heterostructures, we can think of two main designs. In the first one, realized by Si QWs embedded in Si-rich SiGe barriers, the electrons are confined in the Si  $\Delta$  valleys. The second possibility is to consider Ge QWs embedded in Ge-rich SiGe barriers, and in this case the electrons are instead confined in the L valleys of Ge.

The first advantage of both conduction-band schemes is that the electrons are not confined in the alloy materials, but either in the Si or in the Ge pure materials, reducing thus significantly the alloy scattering. Moreover, analyzing the band structure of the systems, one sees that devices can be designed so that only one kind of states (e.g. only electrons at L) participate to charge transport, while the other conduction states are higher in energy and can be ignored, simplifying significantly the design of the QCLs (see Sec. 3.4).

The main advantage of Ge-rich structures is that the confinement mass at the L point of Ge along the growth direction is much smaller ( $\approx 0.12m_0$ ) than the effective mass at the  $\Delta$  valley in Si, which is  $\approx 0.92m_0$ , and we have already discussed the importance of having small effective masses in QC structures.

Moreover, the choice of Ge-rich structures has another positive "side effect". Since the inverse-mass tensor at the L point is not diagonal in a reference system where one vector is along the growth direction [001] (see Sec. 1.7), the usual selection rule for intersubband transitions, which forbids the TE mode emission in such structures, no more holds. Hence, it could be possible to observe light emission along the growth direction of a QCL.

Of course, the growth of Ge-rich structures poses non-trivial technical problems, mainly for the realization of a Ge-rich virtual substrate (VS) with small defect density. Only recently the technique of reverse grading has been developed [92], extending to the high Ge-content (x) regime the technique used for x < 0.5. In this procedure, the VS is obtained varying the composition of the deposited alloys with gradients of the order of 5%/micron [89] up to the desired value.

Most of the work presented in this Chapter has been done in tight collaboration with different experimental groups, in particular the "LFTS" group (Rome, Italy) for what concerns the growth and the spectroscopic analysis of SiGe MQWs, the "CNR-IMM" (Catania, Italy) group for the characterization spectroscopy, the "NEST" (Pisa, Italy) group for what concerns the design phase and the transport measurements, and the "HZDR" (Dresden, Germany) for the time-resolved pump and probe measurements.

## 3.2 ISB transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWs

As a first step towards the realization of a Ge-rich *n*-type THz QCL, the theoretical study and experimental demonstration of ISB transitions in the conduction band of Ge/Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> MQW structures is needed. Moreover, it is fundamental to acquire a precise knowledge of the bands lineup at the Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub>/Ge interface, a difficult task in the high Ge composition range. In fact, in relaxed Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloys, the absolute conduction-band minimum has a  $\Delta$ -L crossover at x = 0.85. Furthermore, the strain in the structure changes significantly the energy of all conduction-band minima. Given a layer sequence, it is therefore crucial to investigate the relative energy position of the  $\Delta$  and L states in the strained barriers and wells. Indeed, their relative energy position plays a crucial role in phenomena such as carrier tunneling and transfer doping effectiveness, determining in turn the performance of optoelectronic devices based on this kind of systems.



**Figure 3.2** – Normalized transmission spectra for sample 1598:  $T_{\text{TE}}(E)$  (dashed-dotted line) and  $T_{\text{TM}}(E)$  (solid line). The absorption peaks due to the dopant levels in the Si substrate are labeled with P. The inset shows a scheme of the optical path inside the sample. The MQWs position is indicated as well as the Au coating.

To this aim, in Refs. [93,94] we have shown experimental evidence of conduction band intersubband transitions in compressively-strained Ge quantum wells confined between Ge-rich SiGe barriers, and reported an extensive study of electronic and optical properties of Ge/Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> MQWs, with well width in the range 8.5-24 nm. The absorption measurements have been interpreted by means of the  $k \cdot p$  code described in Appendix 3.A of this Chapter. The observed features and the agreement between theoretical and experimental data demonstrate the high quality of the grown Ge/SiGe MQWs, the presence of a significant conduction-band offset and the effectiveness of the adopted theoretical models for evaluating band profiles, electronic structures, and self-consistent spatial distribution of charge carriers due to transfer doping. Furthermore, the careful determination of the strain conditions of the heterostructures has allowed the evaluation of the relative position of the  $\Delta$  and L minima in the barriers and in the wells. In particular, we provided a quantitative understanding of why, in a modulation doped Ge/SiGe MQW, only a small fraction of the donor electrons in the barriers transfers into the well region, due to the relative positioning of the  $\Delta$  and L states.

The SiGe heterostructures were grown by means of ultra-high vacuum chemical vapor deposition from high purity silane and germane on Si(001) substrates. The MQW structures were deposited at 500 °C on a partially relaxed reverse graded virtual substrate grown on silicon [95,96]. The MQWs were made of 10 repetitions of Ge wells and Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> barriers (8 repetitions for sample 1598) with thicknesses reported in Table 3.1. The doping has been obtained by codeposition, adding phosphine to the reacting gases. In selected samples, we have inserted an undoped SiGe spacer layer between the *n*-doped barriers and the Ge wells. For the details of the structural characterization of the samples by means of transmission electron microscopy, x-ray diffraction and Raman spectroscopy we refer to Ref. [94]. We only point out here that these investigations have allowed us to calculate the in-plane lattice parameter  $a_{\parallel}$  of each sample (which is the lattice parameter of a relaxed cubic Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloy with  $x_{eq} = 0.93$ ). Moreover, the wells and barriers have always been found to be lattice matched and also coherent with the underlying VS.

Low-temperature intersubband-transition absorption spectra have been mea-

**Table 3.1** – Well (Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> barrier) widths  $d_w$  ( $d_b$ ) and 2D doping concentrations in the barriers ( $\tilde{n}_{2D} = N_D \cdot d_b$ ) for the investigated samples, where  $N_D$  is the donor density in the doped portion of the barriers. Samples 1617 and 1619 have two 4 nm-thick undoped Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> spacers on each side of the barrier, and in these two cases  $d_b$  includes the spacer layer thickness. Measured values at T = 10 K for the two-dimensional carrier densities transferred into the well region ( $n_{2D}$ ), the intersubband absorption energies ( $E_{abs}$ ) and the FWHM (2 $\gamma$ ) of the absorption peaks, are also reported.

Sample	d <sub>w</sub> (nm)	<i>d</i> <sub>b</sub> (nm)	$\tilde{n}_{2D}$ (10 <sup>12</sup> cm <sup>-2</sup> )	$n_{2D}$ (10 <sup>11</sup> cm <sup>-2</sup> )	E <sub>abs</sub> (meV)	FWHM (meV)
1617	8.5	29.6	12	1.5	49.5	13
1630	10.0	22.5	1.9	1.4	45.5	13.5
1616	10.2	22.0	5.5	3.4	46.0	11.5
1619	12.0	28.0	11	2.2	39.7	10.5
1596	15.0	30.0	14	1.8	32.8	10.5
1594	18.5	30.0	12	3	28.1	11
1597	19.5	30.0	15	3.9	26.2	9.5
1598	24.0	30.0	15	4.7	22.2	10.5

sured on the samples of Table 3.1. In Fig. 3.2 we report the normalized TE  $(T_{\text{TE}}(E))$ and TM  $(T_{\text{TM}}(E))$  spectra of sample 1598. In the energy range of 30–50 meV the TE and TM spectra are dominated by narrow absorption features due to the dopant levels of the Si substrate. In addition, a large dip located at 22.2 meV is clearly visible in the TM spectrum. This absorption feature, which is not evident in the TE spectrum, is related to intersubband electronic transitions in the conduction band at the L point. It is worth to point out here that (as already mentioned before) while for Si/SiGe wells ISB transitions are forbidden for TE-polarized light, theoretical calculations indicate that in *n*-type Ge-rich Ge/SiGe MQWs the intersubband absorption of radiation with polarization vector parallel to the QW growth plane becomes visible in the TE spectrum, even if with a weak oscillator strength ( $\approx$  20% of its TM counterpart [74]). Moreover in our samples, this intensity is further reduced because the field component parallel to the MQW plane is strongly suppressed at the surface by phase-matching effects due to the presence of the Au top layer [73]. We then expect that no signal is visible in the TE spectra.

Polarization-independent transitions, such as the narrow absorption features related to the dopant levels mentioned above, can be eliminated by calculating the linear dichroic transmission spectrum  $T_D(E) = T_{\text{TM}}(E)/T_{\text{TE}}(E)$ . The linear dichroic spectra of some of the investigated samples are shown in Fig. 3.3 in the energy range where intersubband transitions are predicted by numerical calculations. Although in this region several absorption lines are observed in the TM and TE spectra, the dichroic signal is characterized by a single pronounced transmission dip which is due to a reduced transmission of the TM mode and which monotonically blueshifts upon decreasing the well width. We attribute this feature to optical transitions from the ground to the first excited subband state at the L point. Depending on the number of periods in the MQW structure, on the waveguide length, and on the density of



charges transferred into the wells, the observed transmission varies in the 50–90% range. For the investigated well widths (8.5–24.0 nm) the intersubband transition energies cover the 22–50 meV energy interval. The typical absorption line width [full width at half maximum (FWHM)] is about 10 meV with a maximum of 13.5 meV obtained for sample 1630.

For the adopted waveguide geometry the dimensionless absorption coefficient  $\alpha_{2D}(E)$  (discussed in Sec. 2.5), associated to each QW, can be evaluated from the transmission data using the relation [73]

$$\alpha_{\rm 2D}(E) = \frac{-\ln[T(E)]\cos(\theta)}{CMN_W\sin^2(\theta)},\tag{3.1}$$

where  $N_w$  is the number of QWs in the sample, *M* is the number of internal reflections in the waveguide,  $\theta = 45^{\circ}$  is the angle between the incident radiation and the growth direction, and *C* is a parameter between 1 and 2 which accounts for the field enhancement due to the surface metallization. The  $\alpha_{2D}$  spectra of three representative samples obtained from transmittance data using Eq. (3.1) are reported in Fig. 3.4. We have used the value C = 1.5 since this value well reproduces the



**Figure 3.5** – L (black, solid),  $\Delta_2$  (red, dotteddashed),  $\Delta_4$  (blue, dashed), and  $\Gamma$  (green, dotted) conduction-band edge profiles for the investigated Ge/Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> MQW structures grown on [001] relaxed Si<sub>0.07</sub>Ge<sub>0.93</sub> substrates. The zero of energy is set at the average of the top valence bands in the substrate.

absorption spectra that were previously measured [97] in strained Si MQW samples with the same waveguide geometry and known electron density in the well, obtained from Hall-effect measurements. Following the scheme of Refs. [73, 98], the energy integral of the low-temperature dimensionless absorption coefficient  $\alpha_{2D}(E)$  can be related to the two-dimensional carrier density in the well  $n_{2D}$  through the relation (see also Sec. 2.5.4):

$$\int \alpha_{2D}(E)dE = \frac{\pi n_{2D}e^2\hbar}{2n\varepsilon_0 cm_z} f_{12},$$
(3.2)

which holds under the assumption that carriers populate only the ground subband and for electric fields oriented along the growth direction; in the above expression n = 4 is the static Ge refractive index,  $m_z = 0.12m_0$  is the [001] confinement effective mass of the L valley electrons and  $f_{12}$  is the dimensionless oscillator strength (with Thomas–Kuhn sum rule  $\sum_m f_{1m} = 1$ , see discussion in Sec. 2.5.2). The  $n_{2D}$  carrier density of our samples evaluated from Eq. (3.2) assuming  $f_{12} = 1$  is reported in Table 3.1. The used value for the oscillator strength is compatible with the values obtained by our numerical calculations, which for the investigated sample are in the 0.92–0.98 range. We find that  $n_{2D}$  is in the range  $1.5 \cdot 10^{11}$ – $5 \cdot 10^{11}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>.

An important experimental result is the apparent ineffectiveness of induced charge transfer in these heterostructures: comparing the  $n_{2D}$  values with the 2D donor concentrations  $\tilde{n}_{2D}$  reported in Table 3.1, we deduce that most of the donor electrons are not transferred into the wells.

In order to understand this phenomenon, we have exploited the multiband selfconsistent  $k \cdot p$  code developed for this study, and described in Appendix 3.A of this Chapter, where we also describe the reasons for the choice of this method.

The obtained L,  $\Delta_2$ ,  $\Delta_4$ , and  $\Gamma$  conduction-band edge profiles are shown in Fig. 3.5. The in-plane compressive (tensile) strain in the well (barrier) region moves upward (downward) the  $\Delta_2$  states while the opposite holds for the  $\Delta_4$  levels. Note also that for [001] biaxial strain the four L valleys remain degenerate (valley splitting effects



**Figure 3.6** – L (black) and  $\Delta_2$  (red) band profiles and squared wave functions for the 1594 sample calculated at T = 10 K. The green shaded region of width  $4k_BT$  is centered on the Fermi energy. The donor level in the barriers is represented by a blue dashed line.

**Figure 3.7** – (a) Measured (closed symbols) and calculated (open symbols) twodimensional carrier densities  $n_{2D}$  in the well region plotted as a function of the well width for the samples of Table 3.1. Calculations have been carried out using the parameter values reported in Table 3.4. (b) Two-dimensional carrier densities as measured (closed symbols) and calculated (open symbols) modifying the parameter values of Table 3.4 as follows:  $\Xi_u^{\Delta} =$ 5 eV (dashed line);  $\Delta E_{v,avg} = 0.060$  eV (solid line); and  $\Delta E_{v,avg} = 0.104$  eV (dotted line). Samples with spacer layers (1617 and 1619) are represented by triangles.

can be safely disregarded for well widths of the order of those of Table 3.1). From Fig. 3.5 it is evident that the conduction minimum in the doped barrier material, where the donor levels are located, is along the  $\Delta_2$  lines. The  $\Gamma$  and  $\Delta_4$  states are higher in energy and thus at low temperature are expected to play a negligible role for charge redistribution. We find that the band offset between the L edges in the well and in the barrier is 124 meV and the energy difference between the  $\Delta_2$  minima in the barrier and the L minima in the well is only  $\approx 40$  meV.

The results of the self-consistent calculation for the conduction electronic states

at 10 K in the sample 1594 are reported in Fig. 3.6. The dashed line at about 25 meV below the  $\Delta_2$  band edge represents the donor level. The Fermi energy is also shown. Note that far from the interfaces the donor level in the barriers is below the Fermi energy. As a consequence a very small fraction of the donor impurity states is ionized. In other words the electronic density in the well due to the transfer doping is limited by the small energy difference between the  $\Delta_2$  minima in the barrier and the L minima in the well. The two-dimensional carrier densities for the samples of Table 3.1 are reported in Fig. 3.7a for samples having different well widths.

Measured (closed symbols) as well as calculated (open symbols)  $n_{2D}$  values are both in the range  $1 \cdot 10^{11} - 5 \cdot 10^{11}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>. We point out that the absence of a general trend of the  $n_{2D}$  values as a function of the well width is to be attributed to the different doping levels and geometries of the samples. For instance, as expected, the insertion of a spacer between the well and the doped barrier region [triangles in Figs. 3.7a and 3.7b] reduces the charge transferred into the well, despite the larger number of donors with respect to the samples with similar well width. The overall agreement between the predicted and the measured values of  $n_{2D}$  is satisfactory.

The discrepancies between theoretical and measured densities observed for some of the investigated samples in Fig. 3.7a may be mainly attributed to the unavoidable uncertainties affecting their compositional and structural parameters, in particular those related to the precise evaluation of the  $\Delta_2$ -L energy separation. In fact, our simulations indicate that the amount of charge transferred into the well region critically depends on the energy difference between the L and  $\Delta_2$  conduction valleys in the well and barrier materials, respectively. As an example, for the sample 1596 (whose calculated  $n_{2D}$  is  $5.2 \cdot 10^{11}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>), the experimental value  $n_{2D} = 1.8 \cdot 10^{11}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> is exactly reproduced decreasing the  $\Delta_2$ -L energy difference by only 8 meV. This small change in the  $\Delta_2$ -L separation can be for instance related to a variation in the Ge content in the barrier from 80% to 79%, a quantity which is within our experimental uncertainty [96]. From the measured carrier densities we deduce that only the lowest  $(E_1)$  conduction subband is populated at low temperature. This confirms that the measured absorption peaks are related to the  $E_1 \rightarrow E_2$  transitions at the L point in the Ge region. Neglecting the minor contribution due to the excitonic interaction, and in the two-level model [73], the energy of the absorption resonance  $E_a$  is given by

$$E_a^2 = E_{21}^2(1+\alpha),$$

where  $E_{21}$  is the bare intersubband transition energy and  $\alpha = \frac{2e^2 n_{2D}}{\varepsilon \varepsilon_0 E_{21}} S$  accounts for the blueshift induced by the depolarization effect. *S* is an effective length given by

$$S = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dz \left[ \int_{-\infty}^{z} dz' \psi_2(z') \psi_1(z') \right]$$

and  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  are the ground and first excited L subband wavefunctions, respectively.

In Fig. 3.8a we compare the theoretical evaluation of the intersubband absorption energies with the corresponding measured values. We observe that the theoretical model satisfactorily reproduces the measured data, especially for small  $d_w$  where



**Figure 3.8** – (a) Measured (closed symbols) and calculated (open symbols) intersubband absorption energies as a function of the quantum well width  $d_w$ . Calculations have been carried out using the parameter values reported in Table 3.4. (b) Intersubband absorption energies as measured (closed symbols) and calculated (open symbols) modifying the parameter values of Table 3.4 as follows:  $\Xi_u^{\Delta} = 5 \text{ eV}$  (dashed line);  $\Delta E_{v,\text{avg}} = 0.060 \text{ eV}$  (solid line); and  $\Delta E_{v,\text{avg}} = 0.104 \text{ eV}$  (dotted line).

depolarization effects are negligible and the transition energy is more sensitive to the conduction-band offset [97]. Note however that in the large-well region, absorption energies are systematically underestimated.

In the investigated samples the Hartree potential and the plasmon effect are responsible of significant deviations of the intersubband absorption resonances from the bare intersubband transition energies as calculated in the flat band approximation. These two effects cannot be separated and depend on the amount of charge transferred into the well region. On the other hand, since the  $n_{2D}$  carrier densities in the well depend critically on the  $\Delta_2$ -L energy differences, besides the uncertainties related to the structural and chemical composition of the samples, also those affecting the other input parameters used in the model play an important role in the calculated  $n_{2D}$ values. Indeed, several material parameters jointly contribute to determine the  $\Delta_2$ -L energy difference, as for instance the hydrostatic and uniaxial deformation potentials of  $\Delta$  states in Ge, for which no experimental values are reported in the literature, or the valence-band offsets  $\Delta E_{\nu,avg}$  of the strained SiGe interface, whose precise values are still under debate [99, 100]. For this reason one can think to tune within the known uncertainty a subset of the model parameters in order to simultaneously fit the numerical results with the measured  $n_{2D}$  densities and intersubband absorption energies. In this way the model could be exploited to suggest more precise values for these fitting material parameters. However, we found that the introduction of one fitting parameter in the model does not lead to a substantially better agreement between measured and calculated absorption energies. More precisely, if the  $\Delta_2$ -L energy difference is increased, higher absorption energies in the large well region are found due to the enhancement of the plasmonic blueshift. Nevertheless, for reasonable values of the fitting parameter, this improvement remains modest while

the evaluated 2D carrier densities significantly change. As a consequence the good agreement previously obtained with the measured densities is lost.

Among the different material parameters which influence the  $\Delta_2$ -L energy difference, we have tested as fitting variables the  $\Xi_u^{\Delta}$  deformation potential for Ge and the  $\Delta E_{\nu,avg}$  valence offset, due to the relatively large indeterminacy which affects them. As one can easily get convinced, larger  $\Delta_2$ -L energy differences can be obtained if smaller values of  $\Xi_u^{\Delta}$ (Ge) or  $\Delta E_{\nu,avg}$  are assumed.

As an example in Fig. 3.8b (dashed line) numerical absorption energies calculated diminishing the uniaxial deformation potential  $\Xi_u^{\Delta}$  of Ge to the tentative fit value of 5 eV are reported. In this case the  $\Delta_2$  donor states have higher energies and the carrier densities become 2–4 times larger than the measured ones, as reported in Fig. 3.7b, but the improvement in the energy differences between the measured and calculated absorption energies for the large well region is only on the order of 5%. We point out that the relative insensitiveness of the absorption energies with respect to  $n_{2D}$  in the 10<sup>11</sup>–10<sup>12</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup> density range here investigated, can be attributed to the opposite sign of the Hartree potential and the plasmonic effect contributions to the absorption energies.

Similar results are found if the valence-band offset between the well and barrier materials  $\Delta E_{\nu,avg}$  is decreased from the value of 0.083 eV, obtained by means of Eq. (1.36), to the tentative fit value of 0.060 eV (see Figs. 3.7b and 3.8b, solid lines).

For the sake of completeness we also report in Fig. 3.8b (dotted line) absorption energies obtained with a larger  $\Delta E_{\nu,avg}$ . In this case the  $\Delta_2$ -L difference diminishes and then the amount of transferred charge rapidly decreases. For instance at  $\Delta E_{\nu,avg} =$ 0.104 eV, a value calculated according to the relation for the offsets between the *topmost* valence bands given in Ref. [99],  $n_{2D}$  values result to be less than 10<sup>10</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup> (see Fig. 3.7b). Therefore the absorption resonances, which are now practically coincident with the flat band transition energies, become even more underestimated (see Fig. 3.8b).

In summary, the use of material parameters as fitting variables of the model does not remove the small systematic deviation between measured and calculated intersubband absorption energies observed in the large well width region. Then we conclude that from the present experiments there is no evidence to invoke new values for the material parameters since the literature data [Table 3.4 and Eq. (1.36)] allow a sound theoretical description of the measurements. The discrepancy in the absorption energies found for the large well samples could be more profitably addressed by means of first-principles calculations. In fact, it is well known that when the collective (plasmon) energies become as large as  $E_{21}$ , as it happens for the investigated samples with large wells, the intersubband resonances cannot be described in a single-particle framework anymore [73].



**Figure 3.9** – Self-consistent band edge profiles (thick lines) and squared modulus of the wavefunctions (thin lines) calculated for sample S1776 at T = 10 K in the absence of optical excitation. Profiles and states at L point (black lines, confined levels at energies  $E_1$ ,  $E_2$ ) and at  $\Delta_2$  band edge (red lines) are displayed. The donor level in the doped portion of the barrier is also represented (blue line). The green shaded area represents the energy region from the Fermi level to  $2k_BT$  above it.

# 3.3 Non-radiative lifetimes in Ge/SiGe MQWs

A further important step towards the realization of a THz QCL is the estimate and measurement of the non-radiative relaxation lifetimes  $\tau$  between different subbands. Previous experimental determinations of  $\tau$  in Si/SiGe heterostructures by time-resolved pump-probe transmission experiments were restricted to *p*-type systems [101–104] and very short  $\tau < 1$  ps were reported [102, 103] for ISB transition energies above the longitudinal optical (LO) phonon energies  $hv_{LO}^{Si} = 63$  meV,  $hv_{LO}^{Ge} = 37$  meV and attributed to the scattering with LO phonons. At ISB transition energies below  $hv_{LO}$ , the main scattering channel has been instead attributed to alloy disorder in the SiGe wells, with values of  $\tau$  around 10 ps [101, 104].

Scattering by alloy disorder should be strongly reduced in n-type Ge QWs with thickness  $d_{\text{QW}} > 10$  nm since the wavefunctions are mainly confined in the pure-Ge well: longer lifetimes, desirable for the QCL design, are then expected for such structures. We have thus grown n-type modulation-doped strained Ge/Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> MQW samples and we have determined the non-radiative  $\tau$  using narrow-band picosecond pulses provided by the Dresden free-electron laser (FEL) "FELBE" [105]. The laser photon energy  $hv_{\text{FEL}}$  was tuned at the ISB transition energy to measure the transient bleaching signal by means of far-infrared degenerate pump-probe measurements.

The SiGe heterostructures were grown by means of the same technique described in Sec. 3.2. The MQWs were made of 20 repetitions of Ge/Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> with  $d_{QW}$  = 13 nm (sample S1776) or  $d_{QW}$  = 24 nm (samples S1745 and S1750). The 30 nm-thick Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> barriers were doped by phosphine codeposition resulting in a dopant concentration of  $N_d \approx 1 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. The barriers were either doped uniformly, or alternatively 10 nm-thick Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> spacers were left undoped on each side of the QW (see Table 3.2). We just stress here that there have been major improvements to the growth technique with respect to the samples of Table 3.1, as it is reflected on the much narrower lineshape of the ISB absorption feature: FWHM down to 3 meV have been measured in these new samples, see Fig. 3.10 (to be compared to 10–13 meV for the samples of Table 3.1).

**Table 3.2** – Parameters and results for the samples discussed in this section. The ISB transition energy is determined from both FTIR experiments (exp) and band calculations (theo) including the depolarization shift.  $\tau$  is the non-radiative relaxation time as determined from pump-probe experiments. The TM-mode transmittance  $T_{\text{TM}}$  at the used FEL photon energy is also reported.

Sample	d <sub>QW</sub> (nm)	Spacer	Т (К)	ISBT theo (meV)	ISBT exp (meV)	hv <sub>FEL</sub> (meV)	$T_{\rm TM}$	τ (ps)
S1745	24	no	4 30 90	15	16.2 17.9 20	14.1 14.1 18.2	0.71 0.71 0.66	27 34 30
S1750	24	yes	30 90	13	14.7 18.0	14.1 18.2	0.67 0.64	34 34
S1776	13	yes	4 50 130	32	28.4 28.5 28.5	28.8 28.8 28.8	0.73 0.72 0.71	33 33 33

**Figure 3.10** – TM to TE waveguide mode transmittance ratio for two samples at T = 10 K (thin lines) and T =90 K (thick lines). Lorentzian-shape dips are the signature of the  $E_1 \rightarrow E_2$ intersubband transition. Spectra are vertically offset in steps of 0.4 for clarity. Data around 41 meV for T = 10 K are discarded, as the transmitted signal is zero because of absorption by donor impurity levels in the Si substrate.



Electronic states calculations were performed by means of the effective-mass self-consistent approach with the code described in Appendix 3.A of this Chapter. States originating both from the L and  $\Delta_2$  band edges are included in the model ( $\Gamma$ and  $\Delta_4$  states are much higher in energy and can be disregarded in this context). As an example we show in Fig. 3.9 the band edge profiles and the square modulus of the near-gap states for the conduction band of sample S1776 calculated at T = 10 K. The QW ground state at energy  $E_1$  and the first excited state at  $E_2$  are clearly visible. In the doped portion of the barrier, the donor levels lie 24.7 meV below the  $\Delta_2$  bands. We find that for the chosen temperature the donors are partially ionized, so that only a fraction of the doping charge is transferred into the well.

Low-temperature absorption spectra were measured by FTIR in order to identify the ISB transition energy. The radiation was coupled to the samples adopting a waveguide geometry with lateral facets at 70° with respect to the growth plane. The top (growth) side was coated with a 5 nm-thick Ti layer followed by an 80 nm-thick



**Figure 3.11** – Relative transmission change  $\Delta_T$  (see text) measured with the FEL photon energy tuned close to the ISB transition energy for each sample and temperature (see Table 3.2). A fit to a single-exponential decay provides the intersubband transition lifetimes  $\tau$ . (a) Temperature dependence for SI745. (b) Results for different samples at T = 30 K (T = 50 K for S1776). The maximum value of  $\Delta_T$  is indicative of the fraction of confined electrons excited by the pump pulse.

Au metallization in order to ensure a good overlap of the optical mode with the active MQWs region [94]. The waveguide length and thickness were designed to allow only one light reflection inside the waveguide, as required for a precise determination of  $\tau$  [106]. The dichroic transmittance shown in Fig. 3.10 is obtained as the ratio between the transmitted beam intensity with non-vanishing component of the polarization parallel to the growth direction (TM mode), and the transmitted intensity with orthogonal polarization (TE mode) as described in Sec. 3.2. One single absorption feature with Lorentzian lineshape and full width of about 3 (5) meV was observed in samples with (without) undoped spacers at all *T* up to 130 K. As shown in Table 3.2 the measured ISB transition energies agree well with the theoretical values, obtained including the depolarization shift.

The intersubband non-radiative lifetimes were measured in a degenerate pumpprobe scheme [106] with the FEL emitting a continuous train of pulses (duration from 4.8 ps for  $hv_{\text{FEL}} = 28.8 \text{ meV}$  to 13 ps for 14.1 meV, with separation of 77 ns). The pump power was reduced by a set of attenuators to 40 mW (pulse energy $\approx$  3 nJ, power density at focus around 6 kW/cm<sup>2</sup>). The transmission change  $\Delta_T$  relative to the absolute TM-mode transmittance  $T_{\text{TM}}(v_{\text{FEL}})$  (see Table 3.2) obtained from FTIR data (so that  $|\Delta_T| < 1$ ) was determined as a function of the pump-probe delay  $\delta t$ .

All curves presented in Fig. 3.11 show  $\Delta_T > 0$  (bleaching) indicating a decreased population of the lower subband at  $\delta t = 0$  and subsequent relaxation towards equilibrium [106, 107]. In Fig. 3.11a we plot the measured  $\Delta_T$  for sample S1745. The exponential decrease of  $\Delta_T$  vs.  $\delta t$  is extremely clear at all measured temperatures and the exponential fitting of each curve in Fig. 3.11a provides the non-radiative relaxation time  $\tau$  with relative uncertainty below 5% (see Table 3.2). In Fig. 3.11b we plot  $\Delta_T$  for all three samples (T = 30 K for S1745 and S1750, T = 50 K for S1776); exponential decays with very similar relaxation times are obtained. We found values of the order of  $\tau \approx 30$  ps independent of the value of T and  $d_{OW}$  and of the presence of a spacer layer. We stress again that a *T*-independent value of  $\tau$  is beneficial for high-*T* operation of QCLs [42, 56, 102] (note that  $\tau^{-1}$  is an exponentially decreasing function of 1/T in III-V QCL heterostructures with single-well transition [108]).

We shall now consider all scattering processes separately. First of all we note that in all our samples  $E_2 - E_1$  is smaller than the Ge LO phonon energy  $hv_{LO} = 37$  meV. Therefore, LO-phonon scattering is strongly suppressed [107, 109, 110] for S1745 and S1750, while it might play a role in S1776, where  $E_2 - E_1$  is only 8 meV lower than  $hv_{LO}$ . Since we did not see appreciable difference in the lifetime of S1776, the LO-phonon scattering channel seems not to contribute to the observed lifetime. A second phononmediated scattering channel may be related to intervalley transitions [109] between the first-excited L ( $E_2$ ) level and the quasi-continuum of  $\Delta_2$  states, represented by red curves in Fig. 3.9. Note that in sample S1776,  $E_2$  is in the energy region where  $\Delta_2$  levels are present, while samples with larger  $d_{\rm OW}$  (S1745 and S1750) have the first-excited L level well below the  $\Delta_2$  continuum (not shown). Therefore if  $\tau$  would be dominated by the  $E_2 - \Delta_2$  scattering channel, we should expect large differences in the relaxation times. Since the observed  $\tau$  are approximately sample-independent, we conclude that the time scale is not set by the intervalley scattering. Indeed, the  $\Delta_2$  states are localized in a different spatial region. Therefore, the phonon-assisted intervalley  $E_2 - \Delta_2$  scattering processes are strongly suppressed due to the small overlap factor G [56,110] discussed in Sec. 1.10. We calculated the overlap G factors for  $E_2 - \Delta_2$  intervalley scattering processes and found them to be approximately 2 orders of magnitude smaller than the corresponding quantity evaluated by using  $E_1$  as the final state. Concerning other inelastic interactions, we are left with acoustic-phonon intersubband scattering followed by hot-carrier thermalization [107,110], which is thought to play a key role in group-IV conduction-band materials at electron energies well below  $hv_{LO}$  [56,109,111]. However, the predicted temperature dependence of the phonon-mediated relaxation time is not observed in our measurements (see Fig. 3.11), indicating that also this channel is not the dominant one.

Elastic scattering channels due to static potential energy perturbations such as interface roughness, ionized impurities and/or alloy disorder can also contribute to intersubband relaxation, in conjunction with fast intrasubband thermalization [42, 109]. The temperature independence of the measured  $\tau$  seems to suggest that such elastic scattering processes dominate the intersubband relaxation. However, since we used a modulation-doped scheme, impurity scattering rates should be strongly dependent on the presence of undoped spacers. Moreover alloy disorder effects, which in pure-Ge wells are active only in the barrier region, and interface roughness scattering should both depend on  $d_{QW}$ . The fact that these dependencies are not measured in our samples suggests that the predominant intersubband scattering channel is related to static potential energy perturbations inside the Ge well, such as dislocations and background impurities. If this is the case, even longer relaxation times could be achieved optimizing further the sample growth process.

In conclusion, we have measured the non-radiative ISB relaxation times for electrons in Ge quantum wells displaying intersubband transition energy between 14 and 29 meV, i.e. within the frequency range of the reststrahlen absorption of typical III-V THZ EMISSION FROM SI-COMPATIBLE MULTILAYER SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES

semiconductors used for existing quantum cascade lasers. We obtained relaxation times up to 33 ps at 130 K nearly independent of temperature, well width and presence of undoped spacers. These results indicate that n-type Ge/SiGe heterostructures are very promising for the realization of Si–based emitters in a wide far-infrared range, eventually capable of high temperature operation.

# 3.4 Design of a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter

In the previous Sections, we have discussed different experiments and measurements that are preliminary to the realization of a n-type Ge-based QCL: in particular, the intersubband absorption between confined states in the conduction band, and the measurements of the non-radiative lifetimes. The following step is the measurement of the electroluminescence. To this aim, we have designed a quantum cascade (QC) structure with Ge wells and SiGe barriers that, under bias, should be able to emit photons in the desired THz energy region.

In the design of the QC emitter, different constraints must be taken into account. We have discussed in detail in the previous Sections how the lowest-lying levels in such structures originate from L states. The first constraint comes then from the requirement of a large enough conduction band offset (CBO) at the L point, so that the potential profile can confine at least two levels. Following the results of the previous Sections, we choose concentration of Ge in the Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> barriers of  $x \approx 0.8$  (the reason for the choice of this value is discussed below in more detail).

Then, we have to take into account the limits of the coherent growth process. In order to maximize the number of emitted photons, the largest possible number of structure periods must be grown. However, due to the different lattice constants of the well (Ge) and barrier (SiGe) materials, strain balancing is required in order to allow the growth of a large enough number of periods without formation of dislocations or other defects (for the evaluation of the optimal substrate lattice constant that minimizes the elastic energy of the stack of layers, see Sec. 1.3.7): then, the lattice constant of the substrate cannot be arbitrary. Furthermore, we also need the design to be very simple, with the lowest possible number of wells in each period, so as to minimize the total structure length.

Moreover, in order to reduce all scattering mechanisms that would reduce the performance of the device, we want to suppress all scattering from L states to states of different valleys, in particular to the  $\Delta_2$  states that, as we have discussed, are very near to the L states. To this aim, the material parameters must be optimized so that these  $\Delta_2$  levels are shifted to higher energy and thus are not involved in the transport of electrons through the cascade structure. The key parameter to tune is also in this case the substrate Ge content (i.e., the strain of the structure). In fact, varying the *x* content of the substrate Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloy in the 80 – 100% range, the conduction band offsets at L and  $\Delta_2$  do not change substantially (see Table 3.3), so that the electronic levels are not significantly influenced by this parameter. On the contrary, the energy difference between the L band edge in the Ge well and the  $\Delta_2$  edge in

**Table 3.3** – L and  $\Delta_2$  conduction-band offsets (CBOs) between Ge and Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub>. The minus sign for the  $\Delta_2$  CBO indicates that the  $\Delta_2$  level in Ge is at higher energy than in the SiGe alloy. Also the energy difference between the  $\Delta_2$  edge in the SiGe alloy and the L band edge in Ge is reported.

Substrate Ge content	L CBO (meV)	$\Delta_2 \text{ CBO (meV)}$	$\Delta_2$ –L (meV)
97%	123.8	-168.8	30
95%	123.6	-169.1	35
93%	123.5	-169.4	40
92%	123.4	-169.6	42
91%	123.3	-169.7	45
84%	122.8	-170.6	62

the SiGe barriers is strongly affected by the strain, due to the reduction of the  $\Delta_2$  energy for large tensile strains (in the barriers). Then, compatibly with the previous requirement of strain balancing, we want to reduce the Ge content of the substrate so to increase the  $\Delta_2$ -L energy difference, as can be also deduced inspecting Table 3.3 which reports the  $\Delta_2$ -L difference for different values of the substrate Ge content.

In order to reduce the Ge content of the substrate while keeping the strain balancing requirement, one should either have larger barrier thicknesses or reduce the Ge content of the barriers. Both strategies, however, are detrimental for different reasons. For what concerns the Ge content of the barriers, we have identified the  $Si_{0.2}Ge_{0.8}$ alloy as the best compromise between a sufficiently large offset for the L states and a large separation between L and  $\Delta_2$  states. In fact, considering a Si<sub>0.05</sub>Ge<sub>0.95</sub> substrate (i.e. the one that fulfills the strain-balancing conditions in the final structure), a reduction of the Ge content of the barriers to 78% gives a L- $\Delta_2$  separation of only 10 meV (while an increase to 82% gives a significant reduction of the L CBO to less than 110 meV). Secondly, for what concerns the barrier thickness, we cannot have barriers that are too thick, otherwise the resonant tunneling mechanisms that are fundamental for the operation of a QC structure would be strongly suppressed. Note, however, that thin barriers are in fact beneficial for what concerns the positioning of the  $\Delta_2$  states. In fact, as already discussed, these states are confined within the SiGe alloy materials; if the thickness of these layers is small, a large confinement energy for the  $\Delta_2$  levels is obtained, and consequently all these undesired levels are shifted to a higher energy.

Due to the above mentioned considerations, many parameters of the design are locked. With these constraints, we have then designed a three-well strain-balanced QC emitter. The structure is designed to work under a bias of 6.5 kV/cm, with emission frequency around 30 meV; the structure and the resulting levels under this bias are shown in Fig. 3.12. In the Figure, the first-confined  $\Delta_2$  levels in the SiGe layers are also displayed, showing that they are higher in energy than the relevant L states. In particular, the structure is composed by one larger well ("transition well"), where the emission of photons should occur involving transitions between the first excited and the ground state of this well; the other two (narrower) wells act



**Figure 3.12** – Band profile (thick lines) and squared moduli of the wavefunctions for the L (black) and  $\Delta_2$  (red) states under a bias of 6.5 kV/cm. The orange arrows represent the optical transitions. The  $\Delta_2$  states confined in the SiGe layers are visible and are at higher energy than the relevant L states also due to the large confinement energy.

**Figure 3.13** – Band profile and squared moduli of the wavefunctions for the L (black) and  $\Delta_2$  (red) states under a bias of 8.5 kV/cm, taking into account also the band bending as discussed in the text.

as extractor and injector.

The stability of the design has been verified by varying by ±10% the layer thicknesses: in all cases, a slightly different electric field can be found that allows the alignment of the levels. Moreover, also a self-consistent calculation taking into account the band bendings due to the presence of the doping charge  $(2 \cdot 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  in the extractor well has been performed: the resulting profile is shown in Fig. 3.13, proving that (even if for a different electric field value of 8.5 kV/cm) we have again a level alignment. Note that this calculation has been performed under the assumption of a fast equilibrium reached within each period, so that each set of four levels in each period has its own quasi-Fermi level, and moreover assuming a complete ionization of the doping charge.

#### 3.4.1 Contacts in the Ge/SiGe quantum cascade structure

A sample with 20 periods, according to the design described above, has been grown in Rome and measured at NEST laboratory in Pisa in order to reveal the electroluminescence signal under bias. However, no electroluminescence could be distinguished from the background blackbody radiation.

In order to understand the possible reasons for the absence of an electroluminescence signal, we also investigated the electronic structure of the contact layers. An important point has to be emphasized regarding the bottom contact. In order to obtain a parallel lattice constant equivalent to a  $Si_{0.05}Ge_{0.95}$  alloy, in the experiments



**Figure 3.14** – Band edges and states of the grown Ge/SiGe QC structure (only three periods are shown) to emphasize the position of the states in the contacts. Note that the lowest-lying states in the contacts are at a much higher energy than the relevant states within the active region.

a reverse-graded buffer is realized, with final Ge content equal to x = 0.86. However, since the strain relaxation is not complete in this buffer layer, the resulting parallel lattice constant is the same of a SiGe alloy with x = 0.95. While this subtlety is not a problem for the active region, since the substrate enters only through its lattice constant, it becomes very important when the charge injection from the contacts is taken into account.

In fact, the band structure of the contact region is not the one of a relaxed  $Si_{0.05}Ge_{0.95}$  alloy, but the one of a strained  $Si_{0.14}Ge_{0.86}$  alloy. The calculations then show that in the contacts the  $\Delta_2$  states are below the L states. Moreover, the relevant states in the active region are at a much lower energy with respect to the electronic states in the contacts. This can imply that the electronic transport in the structure can occur without a relaxation into the relevant states of the active region, and even more importantly electrons cannot be easily extracted from the top contact. To better clarify the problem, we report in Fig. 3.14 the scheme of the states in the grown structure, where both the bottom and top layer contacts are composed of a  $Si_{0.14}Ge_{0.86}$  alloy; for clarity, only three repetitions of the active region between the top and bottom contacts are shown. Note that in all Figures of this Section, for simplicity we have shown the contacts as non-conductive, and consequently their band edges are not flat.

In order to solve this problem, we have proposed a new modified design, where the active region is left unchanged with respect to what described in the previous Section, while all changes are meant to improve both the injection and extraction regions.

The first modification consists in an inversion of the growth order of the layer

#### THZ EMISSION FROM SI-COMPATIBLE MULTILAYER SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES



Figure 3.15 - Improved design for the injector region (top contact layer) of the QC emitter.

stack, so that the injection of electrons occurs *from* the top contact *to* the bottom contact layer.

Then, a second modification involves the injection region (now located at the top contact layer). This layer must be realized with a Si<sub>0.05</sub>Ge<sub>0.95</sub> alloy (note that, due to the value of the in-plane lattice constant in the structure, this layer is relaxed). Moreover, between the top contact layer and the beginning of the active region, a Si<sub>0.02</sub>Ge<sub>0.98</sub> layer should be inserted, so that the bottom at L in this layer is approximately at the same energy of the first excited state in the first quantum well of the active region. Finally, the region should start with a barrier so that also the first Ge region (injector) is able to confine electrons. For what concerns the doping, the total length of the top contact layer can be of about 2000 Å, with a very large doping ( $\approx 5 \cdot 10^{18}$ –1  $\cdot 10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>), but leaving undoped a small region between the contact and the active region. All these requirements are summarized in Fig. 3.15.

Finally, the third set of modifications involves the extraction region (bottom contact layer). Between the Si<sub>0.14</sub>Ge<sub>0.86</sub> virtual substrate and the active region, a 8000 Å-thick Si<sub>0.05</sub>Ge<sub>0.95</sub> (unstrained) layer should be inserted. In this way, also in the extraction region the bottom levels are at L. Moreover, between the active region and the bottom contact layer, a Si<sub>0.03</sub>Ge<sub>0.97</sub> layer should be inserted, so that the electrons can be more easily extracted from the ground state of the last extractor well. Also in this case, the whole bottom contact should be *n*-doped with a very large doping ( $\approx 5 \cdot 10^{18}$ -1  $\cdot 10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>), but leaving undoped a small region between the active region and the contact. These requirements are summarized in Fig. 3.16.

#### 3.5 Design of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitter



**Figure 3.16** – Improved design for the extractor region (bottom contact layer) of the QC emitter.

# 3.5 Design of a Si/SiGe quantum cascade emitter

We have proposed three possible designs of Si/SiGe QC structures, with low-Ge content  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  barriers (*x* typically in the range 20–40%).

In this kind of systems, the L edge is at high energy and can be disregarded; the relevant states to be taken into account are the  $\Delta_2$  and  $\Delta_4$  edges. Since in general the Si QWs are tensile strained (due to the growth on SiGe virtual substrates, with typical Ge content  $x \approx 10\%$ ), the lowest states (that are exploited for the electronic transport) are of  $\Delta_2$  symmetry, while we try to keep the  $\Delta_4$  states (with reversed profile: the quantum wells are the SiGe layers) high enough in energy so that the  $\Delta_2 \rightarrow \Delta_4$  scattering is suppressed.

These designs rely on diagonal (in real space) transitions, i.e. between the fundamental levels of two adjacent wells. To have a significant overlap between the wavefunctions, we need a very thin barrier between the two wells. A thicker well acts both as injector and extractor, allowing the transport from the bottom level of one period to the upper one of the next period.

In the first design of Fig. 3.17, the barriers are composed of a Si<sub>0.8</sub>Ge<sub>0.2</sub> alloy. While the two (thinner) wells where the transition occurs are composed of pure silicon, the thick well has a small Ge content x = 0.05; this non-zero x value was chosen to allow the injection of electrons in the upper transition level. The structure is grown on a Si<sub>0.8</sub>Ge<sub>0.2</sub> substrate, implying that it is not strain-compensated. This substrate is needed to keep the  $\Delta_4$  states at higher energy with respect to  $\Delta_2$  states. Indeed, as already pointed out, the  $\Delta_4$  band profile is inverted with respect to the  $\Delta_2$  profile ( $\Delta_4$  electrons localize in the SiGe thin barrier regions). Moreover, since the barriers are relaxed, the bottom of the  $\Delta_4$  band profile coincides with the top of

THZ EMISSION FROM SI-COMPATIBLE MULTILAYER SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES



**Figure 3.17** – First Si/SiGe QC design. The substrate is a  $Si_{0.8}Ge_{0.2}$  alloy and the thick well is *n*-doped. The operating field is 14 kV/cm. The black arrows indicate the optical transitions.



**Figure 3.18** – Second Si/SiGe QC design. The substrate is a  $Si_{0.76}Ge_{0.14}$  alloy and the thick well is *n*-doped. The operating field is 16 kV/cm. The black arrows indicate the optical transitions.

the  $\Delta_2$  profile (see Fig. 3.17). As a consequence, the lowest  $\Delta_4$  states lie far away in energy from the active  $\Delta_2$  levels. The operating field for this structure is of 14 kV/cm and the transition energy of 21 meV.

The second design, reported in Fig. 3.18, is a modification of the previous one to obtain a partial strain compensation. This has been achieved by decreasing the substrate Ge content to 14%, and increasing the Ge content of two of the barriers from 20% to 40%. We stress, however, that even this structure does not obtain a complete strain balancing, which would require a Si<sub>0.93</sub>Ge<sub>0.07</sub> substrate. This substrate, however, would shift the  $\Delta_4$  states in the SiGe layers much lower in energy, reaching the range of the  $\Delta_2$  states. The chosen value x = 14% for the substrate



**Figure 3.19** – Third Si/SiGe QC design. The substrate is a  $Si_{0.8}Ge_{0.2}$  alloy and the thick well is *n*-doped. The operating field is 15 kV/cm. The black arrows indicate the optical transitions.

lattice constant guarantees instead that the first  $\Delta_4$  confined states are at least 35 meV above the active levels localized in the adjacent spatial regions. Note that, in order to compensate for the increased barrier height, we have reduced the injection barrier thickness. The above argument on the competitiveness between strain compensation and  $\Delta_2 - \Delta_4$  level separation shows clearly that a Si/SiGe QC design is pretty difficult to obtain. The operating field for this system is of 16 kV/cm and the transition energy of 24 meV.

Finally, the third design, reported in Fig. 3.19, contains an additional small well of pure Si between the extraction barrier and the big  $Si_{0.95}$ Ge<sub>0.05</sub> well. This configuration allows a finer tuning of the levels overlapping and relative positioning. In fact, this additional well allows to reduce the energy of the final state of the transitions, since the electron extraction is now facilitated by the new well. As a consequence, the radiative transition energy is slightly larger than in the previous structures. However, in the design, one has to avoid that the energy levels are lowered too much, since in this case the electronic states would remain confined in the additional well, and the injection in the following cascade period would be hindered. We also stress that this type of design has never been reported previously in the literature. The operating field for this system is of 15 kV/cm and the transition energy of 35 meV.

We have proposed these three designs and now the experimentalists are planning the growth of samples according to what reported here, in order to measure the possible electroluminescence out of these structures.

# 3.6 Conclusion of the Chapter

In conclusion, in this Chapter we have discussed critically why the choice of Si and Ge materials could be beneficial to overcome the present limitations of THz QCLs.

#### THZ EMISSION FROM SI-COMPATIBLE MULTILAYER SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES

We have theoretically supported the first important experiments to realize a QCL in the conduction band of Ge/SiGe systems and we have thoroughly described and interpreted the results by means of numerical simulations.

In particular, we have first discussed the absorption between the first and the second subband in the conduction band (at the L point) of Ge/SiGe MQW systems, and we have studied in detail the interplay between the position of the L states in the Ge well and of the  $\Delta_2$  states in the SiGe barriers. We have then shown that long  $\approx 30$  ns non-radiative lifetimes can be achieved in these systems for the relaxation from the first-excited subband, and we have discussed the most important mechanism that could be at the origin of this non-radiative relaxation. Then, we have presented a design for a Ge/SiGe quantum cascade emitter, that could allow the experimental measurement of electroluminescence out of this system and pave the way to the first Ge/SiGe QCL. Regarding this point, we have not only discussed the active region design (and the importance of removing the  $\Delta_2$  states from the relevant energy range), but we have also optimized the contact regions so to have efficient injection and extraction of electrons in the system. We have also presented three possible designs for a Si/SiGe emitter (with electrons in the  $\Delta_2$  states), showing that such systems have much more stringent requirements (for instance, a complete strain compensation cannot be achieved, otherwise  $\Delta_4$  states would we in the same energy region of the active  $\Delta_2$  states). Finally, in Appendix 3.A we discuss in detail the motivations for the choice of the self-consistent multiband  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  code that we have implemented for the present study, and the most important details of the code.

## 3.A Appendix: details of the k · p multiband code

The TB code developed as described in Sec. 1.2 is a very powerful and quantitatively precise tool for the determination of the electronic and optical properties of SiGe heterostructures. However, it has the drawback of being computationally quite intensive.

While designing a QC structure, however, one often needs to change many of the parameters of the system (Ge content of the barriers, layer widths, substrate lattice constant, ...); it is therefore necessary to have a tool that, even if less precise, is fast and interactive enough to allow for a real-time calculation of the properties of the system. Another case in which a fast code is needed is when we want to perform self-consistent calculations, as we have shown in the previous Sections to be necessary for modulation-doped MQW systems, so to take into account the band bending due the doping charge. These calculations require the iterative solution of a self-consistent Schrödinger–Poisson equation (see Sec. 1.9), and can involve a large number of iterations before convergence is attained. Also the TB formalism is of course suitable to this goal, but for instance if each calculation requires some tens of minutes, one has to wait for days to obtain a single result.

In the choice of the theoretical method to be implemented in the code, the requirement was to be able to address the systems described in Sec. 3.2, where very large n-dopings of the barriers lead to modest charge transfer in the quantum wells. It has been thus necessary to write a code with the following properties:

- It must be a *multiband calculation*, which takes into account the L,  $\Delta$  (and possibly  $\Gamma$ ) conduction valleys. In fact, these conduction band minima have very close energies in the heterostructures that we have investigated and must all be considered simultaneously. In this way, partial ionization of the dopants can be properly taken into account for a self-consistent evaluation of the Fermi energies and of the electronic carrier densities in the wells.
- It must be *fast*, but at the same time *accurate* enough to give quantitatively meaningful results.
- It must include a *1D Poisson solver* to calculate the electric field and the electrostatic potential due to the distribution of the doping charge in the structure, which is calculated starting from the probability distribution  $|\psi|^2$  obtained from the solution of the Schrödinger equation.
- It must adopt a *stable self-consistent iterative algorithm* to solve the self-consistent 1D Schrödinger–Poisson equation. In fact, we have discussed how changes of only a few meV in the band edge positions can lead to changes of orders of magnitude in the amount of charge transferred into the QWs. Thus, in these unlucky (but common) situations, the iterative algorithm has to be devised carefully in order to be able to reach convergence even under these extremely unstable conditions.

THZ EMISSION FROM SI-COMPATIBLE MULTILAYER SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES

To this aim, we have implemented a code in the  $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{p}$  envelope function framework. In this model the band alignments of the L,  $\Delta$ , and  $\Gamma$  conduction minima between a biaxially strained Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> layer grown on a relaxed Si<sub>1-y</sub>Ge<sub>y</sub> substrate are evaluated according to Ref. [23]:

$$E_c^{\mathrm{L},\Delta,\Gamma}(x,y) = E_{\nu,\mathrm{avg}}^{\mathrm{L},\Delta,\Gamma}(x,y) + \frac{1}{3}\Delta_0(x) + E_g^{\mathrm{L},\Delta,\Gamma}(x) + E_h^{\mathrm{L},\Delta,\Gamma}(x,y) + E_u^{\mathrm{L},\Delta,\Gamma}(x,y),$$

where  $E_g^{\text{L},\Delta,\Gamma}(x, y)$  are the band gaps at the L,  $\Delta$  and  $\Gamma$  points,  $\Delta_0(x)$  is the spin-orbit splitting of the unstrained bulk  $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$  alloy;  $E_h^{\text{L},\Delta,\Gamma}(x, y)$  is the band-gap shift due to the hydrostatic component of the strain, and  $E_u^{\text{L},\Delta,\Gamma}(x, y)$  is the contribution from the uniaxial part.  $E_{\nu,\text{avg}}^{\text{L},\Delta,\Gamma}(x, y)$  is the offset between the barycenters of the heavy, light, and split-off valence bands in the substrate and in the strained layer and is given by Eq. (1.36).

The  $E_g^{L,\Delta,\Gamma}(x)$  band gaps (in eV) for unstrained Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> alloys are parametrized to reproduce the experimental data according to Ref. [44]:

$$\begin{split} E_g^{\rm L}(x) &= 2.01 - 1.27x, \\ E_g^{\Delta}(x) &= 1.155 - 0.43x + 0.206x^2, \\ E_g^{\Gamma}(x) &= 3.37 - 2.48x. \end{split}$$

Finally, for the hydrostatic,  $E_h^{L,\Delta,\Gamma}(x, y)$ , and the uniaxial,  $E_u^{L,\Delta,\Gamma}(x, y)$ , strain terms for the well and barrier regions, it holds [23]

$$\begin{split} E_{h}^{\mathrm{L},\Delta,\Gamma}(x,y) &= \left(a_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{L},\Delta,\Gamma} - a_{v}\right) \cdot \left(2\varepsilon_{\parallel} + \varepsilon_{\perp}\right), \\ E_{u}^{\Delta_{2}}(x,y) &= \frac{2}{3}\Xi_{u}^{\Delta}(\varepsilon_{\perp} - \varepsilon_{\parallel}), \\ E_{u}^{\Delta_{4}}(x,y) &= -\frac{1}{3}\Xi_{u}^{\Delta}(\varepsilon_{\perp} - \varepsilon_{\parallel}), \\ E_{u}^{\mathrm{L}}(x,y) &= E_{u}^{\Gamma}(x,y) = 0, \end{split}$$

where  $\varepsilon_{\parallel}$  and  $\varepsilon_{\perp}$  are the strain components along the parallel and growth directions, respectively;  $a_c$ ,  $a_v$ , and  $\Xi$  are the deformation potentials. To take into account the *z* dependence of the longitudinal and perpendicular effective masses of the strained SiGe and Ge materials, we use the mass parametrization reported in Ref. [41] for  $\Delta$ and L electrons. Densities of states for the confined states are calculated as discussed in Sec. 1.8 in the parabolic band approximation.

The values adopted for the spin-orbit splitting and for the deformation potentials are summarized in Table 3.4 for Si and Ge bulk crystals. The corresponding parameters for the SiGe barrier material are obtained by linear interpolation. Nonlinear interpolations are instead adopted for the lattice constant, see Eq. (1.34), and the static refractive index, see Eq. (1.35).

For what concerns the solution of the coupled Schrödinger–Poisson equations, the Schrödinger equation for the envelope function is solved numerically for each

	Silicon	Germanium
$\Delta_0 (eV)$	0.044 <sup>a</sup>	0.296 <sup>a</sup>
$a_c^{\rm L} - a_v ~({\rm eV})$	-3.12 <sup>b</sup>	$-2.78^{b}$
$a_c^{\Delta} - a_v \ (\text{eV})$	1.72 <sup>b</sup>	1.31 <sup>b</sup>
$\Xi_u^{\Delta}$ (eV)	8.7 <sup>c</sup>	9.42 <sup>c</sup>

**Table 3.4** – Spin-orbit splitting  $\Delta_0$  and deformation potentials for Si and Ge bulk crystals adopted in the code. Values for SiGe alloys have been obtained by linear interpolation. a: Data from Ref. [112]; b: Data from Ref. [23]; c: Data from Ref. [113].

conduction valley, using the standard technique of discretizing the wavefunctions along the growth direction *z* and diagonalizing the resulting Hamiltonian matrix to obtain eigenenergies and eigenstates. The model for the solution of the self-consistent equations is described in detail in Sec. 1.9. Exchange-correlation effects are included in the local-density approximation [114] only for the 2D electrons at the L point since at low temperature the free electron density is mostly due to the confined carriers at L.

The Fermi level  $E_f$  is evaluated as a function of temperature taking into account also the occupation of the impurity levels in the barriers. We assume that the energies of the impurity states are  $E_b$  meV below the *z*-dependent conduction minimum of the barrier material; we adopt for  $E_b$  the value of the binding energy of phosphorus in a Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> bulk alloy (see Refs. [115, 116]). Moreover, the occupancy of bound impurity states is evaluated avoiding double occupation due to Coulomb repulsion [61].

The obtained L,  $\Delta_2$ ,  $\Delta_4$ , and  $\Gamma$  conduction-band edge profiles for the grown samples are shown in Fig. 3.5, and in Fig. 3.6 we display the results of the selfconsistent calculation for the conduction electronic states at 10 K in one of the samples. From the comparison between the donor level and the Fermi energy  $E_f$ , it is clear that only a very small fraction of the donor impurity states is ionized. This in turn implies that the final equilibrium solution is quite unstable (from a numerical point of view), and in fact typically up to 50–100 iterations are needed. We finally point out that, even if the algorithm can be optimized to reduce the number of required iterations, the present version was able to reach the final solution within any given required accuracy in all the different systems that we have simulated.
## Chapter 4

# Achieving direct-gap Si/Ge systems

### 4.1 Introduction

As already discussed in the Introduction of this Thesis, a CMOS-compatible laser based on group-IV materials is extremely desirable for the monolithic integration of the photonics part of the devices with their control electronics.

We have already examined in Chapter 3 the possibility of using Ge/SiGe heterostructures in the intersubband regime, with light emission in the THz range of the electromagnetic spectrum. In this Chapter we focus instead on the possibility of light emission exploiting interband transitions.

In fact, present research efforts are focused on the development of energy-efficient and CMOS-compatible LED or laser sources in the 1.55  $\mu$ m C-band, since this band is routinely used for long-range optical fiber communications (the band is defined as 1.530–1.565  $\mu$ m, i.e. with energy 810–792 meV). Indeed, at these wavelengths the losses in silica-based fibers are reduced. Moreover, the most used fiber amplifier, the erbium-doped fiber amplifier (EDFA) has its amplification window precisely in the C-band. The realization of a new device emitting in this frequency range would thus ensure its compatibility with the existing telecommunication infrastructure.

However, emission at this energy cannot be obtained with intersubband SiGe devices, since the band offset are not large enough, and then we must wisely exploit interband transitions. The main obstacle for optical emission in systems based on silicon or germanium is their indirect gap, which is at the basis of the very poor recombination efficiency observed in these materials. In fact, in Si the direct gap at  $\Gamma$  has an energy larger than 3 eV, much above the fundamental gap at  $\approx 1.13$  eV (with conduction band minimum along the  $\Delta$  line). On the other hand, in bulk Ge the conduction band minimum at the  $\Gamma$  point is only 136 meV higher in energy than the bottom of the conduction band at the L point, which is located (at low temperature) at about 900 meV above the top of the valence band. Thus Ge has two advantages: first, the direct gap energy is not too far from the required C-band, considering also

that, increasing the temperature, the energy of the direct gap decreases. Moreover, even if the minimum is not at the  $\Gamma$  point, the direct gap has an energy not much larger than the indirect gap. This motivates the study of Ge-rich systems for the realization of Si-compatible photonics applications. We just mention here that several other strategies have been adopted to obtain Si-based optically active materials, such as exploiting erbium doping [117], reduced dimensionality [118], hybrid Si/III-V systems [119],  $\beta$ -FeSi<sub>2</sub> alloying [120] and porous structures [121].

In the following Sections, we discuss different avenues that could allow the realization of optically-active systems based on Si and Ge. In particular, this Chapter is organized as follows: as a first step we discuss in Sec. 4.2 the type-I alignment of the band structure at the  $\Gamma$  point for Ge/SiGe MQWs grown along the [001] direction, by comparing the simulated absorption spectrum with the experimental absorbance spectrum. Then, we analyze in Sec. 4.3 how to exploit large strain fields in order to reach the direct-gap condition in Ge/SiGe MQW systems. In Sec. 4.4 we then discuss the possibility of the exploitation, in bulk and MQW systems, of smaller strain fields in combination with large *n*-type dopings, to achieve light amplification. To this aim, we developed a code (described in Sec. 4.5) for the evaluation of the luminescence spectra of Ge-based systems. In Sec. 4.6 we the discuss whether a rapid thermal annealing of Ge/SiGe MQW systems can increase the tensile strain without damaging the structure, in order to shift the lowest excitonic feature inside the C-band. Finally, in Sec. 4.7 we describe an interesting possibility of obtaining direct-gap Si-based systems by the use of short-period superlattices (SL).

Some of the studies are supported by experimental results, which have originated from collaborations with different experimental groups. In particular, for what concerns interband devices, we mention both the "L-NESS" (Como, Italy) group and the "LFTS" (Rome, Italy) group for the growth of SiGe heterostructures, and the "PSI" (Villigen, Switzerland) group for the x-ray and optical characterization of the samples.

### 4.2 Type-I alignment and calculation of the absorption coefficient

Recently, robust offsets for both  $\Gamma$  and L electrons in [001] Ge-rich Ge/SiGe multilayer structures have been reported [122, 123]. In particular, Kuo *et al.* have first demonstrated a type-I profile for the  $\Gamma$  point band edges in Ge QWs and then exploited this result to propose Ge/SiGe MQW high-speed optical modulators based on the Quantum Confined Stark Effect [122, 124]

In order to verify the type-I alignment of Ge/SiGe MQWs at the  $\Gamma$  point, we have investigated in Ref. [94] the optical absorption coefficient of a 30 MQW sample with 19.0 nm-thick Ge QWs and 19.0 nm-thick Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> barriers on a Si<sub>0.05</sub>Ge<sub>0.95</sub> equivalent substrate.

The comparison between the experimental and theoretical data is reported in Fig. 4.1a and shows a good quantitative agreement. For the electronic-states cal-



(a) Experimental absorbance spectra and theoretical absorption spectrum. (b) Band edges and wavefunctions at  $\Gamma$ .

**Figure 4.1** – (a) Interband absorbance spectra (right vertical axis) of the MQW sample described in the text, measured at 10 and 77 K (black solid lines). The spectrum at T = 77 K has been displaced along the vertical axis for clarity. Peaks attribution and the low-temperature theoretical absorption spectrum (left vertical axis) are also shown (dashed line). (b): LH, HH and c $\Gamma$  band edges (thick lines) and squared moduli of the wavefunctions at  $\Gamma$  for the same MQW system. Relevant states are labeled.

culation, we have adopted the TB  $sp^3d^5s^*$  model described in Sec. 1.2, using the parametrization of Ref. [16] for both Si and Ge. The calculated LH, HH and c $\Gamma$  band-edge profiles and the squared moduli of the wavefunctions at  $\Gamma$  are reported in Fig. 4.1b. To the aim of calculating the optical absorption spectrum of Fig. 4.1a, the model described in Sec. 2.1 has been adopted, with the inclusion of the 2D exciton contribution as described in Sec. 2.4. The very good prediction of the absorption spectrum constitutes a check of the reliability of the material parameters that we are using to predict the properties of these systems in the neighborhood of the  $\Gamma$  point. Moreover, the comparison of the experimental spectrum with our calculation allows to assign the different excitonic features to the respective transitions, and this interpretation in terms of transitions between quantum-confined states both in the conduction and in the valence band provides a verification of the type-I band alignment for the electrons and holes at  $\Gamma$ .

### 4.3 Large tensile strain for optical gain in Ge

If we want to obtain direct-gap light emission from Ge structures, we have to conceive clever ways to reduce the  $\Gamma$ -L energy difference, in order to fill the  $\Gamma$  valley with

electrons and reach the population inversion regime. One appealing possibility is to apply a tensile strain field to the Ge material. In fact, when such a strain field is applied, both the L and  $\Gamma$  conduction states lower their energy but, due to the larger deformation potential of the  $\Gamma$  state, the fundamental gap becomes direct for an in-plane strain of about 2% [125] (see also solid lines of Fig. 4.2). This effect can be obtained for instance by means of a mechanical stress deformation on a germanium thin film [126]. However, while this may be an adequate technique for the investigation of the effects of strain on Ge, application of a mechanical strain is not appropriate for the integration in final devices. Instead, the embedding of strain by means of a coherent heteroepitaxial growth (see Sec. 1.3.2) would be much more effective. However, since Si has a smaller lattice constant than Ge, if we grow Ge on a SiGe substrate, we would expect only compressively-strained Ge layers. Actually, it is possible to obtain (small) tensile strains growing epitaxial Ge layers on Si substrates exploiting the thermal expansion mismatch between Ge and Si [127] (a discussion on the application of this technique is presented in Sec. 4.4 and following Sections). Such thermally induced tensile strain can reach values up to  $\approx 0.25\%$  and is moreover insensitive to the Ge film thickness [128]. However, with the values of the tensile strain attainable with this technique, the difference between the  $\Gamma$ and L valleys of Ge can be decreased to ≈115 meV, but we are yet quite far from the direct-gap regime. Presently, the most promising possibility to grow Ge layers on Si substrates with large tensile strain is to use  $Ge_{1-x-y}Si_xSn_y$  alloys, due to the larger lattice constant of  $\alpha$ -Sn (6.489 Å) with respect to Si (5.430 Å) and Ge (5.6563 Å) [129– 131]. Moreover the Sn concentration, y, represents an additional degree of freedom for band engineering [132–137]. Indeed, through simultaneous control of the x and y molar fractions, relaxed  $Ge_{1-x-y}Si_xSn_y$  alloys grown on Ge-buffered silicon have already been optimized to obtain tunable direct gap structures [137].

We would like to point out here that often in the literature one refers to "thin" Ge layers, where the word "thin" means a few  $\mu$ m thick. For what concerns the electronic properties, however, such systems are not thin at all, and in fact they display bulklike properties. Instead of growing "thin" Ge layers on a buffer substrate, a very attractive route towards a direct-gap Ge laser is represented by suitably designed silicon-germanium multilayer heterostructures, which are highly compatible with CMOS processing [89]. In fact, the exploitation of confined nanostructures such as Ge-rich SiGe MQWs could benefit from larger oscillator strengths due to the reduced dimensionality. Moreover, as discussed in Sec. 4.2, [001] Ge-rich Ge/SiGe multilayer structures present robust offsets for both  $\Gamma$  and L electrons and a type-I profile for the  $\Gamma$  point band edges. Motivated by these arguments, we study in this Section the possibility of obtaining a direct-gap material when a significant tensile-strain is applied to a Ge/SiGe MQW system. The results of this work have been published in Ref. [138].

For this study, we adopt the  $sp^3d^5s^*$  tight-binding Hamiltonian described in Sec. 1.2. In fact, it fully considers strain, alloy effects, spin-orbit coupling, interface potentials and band non-parabolicities, and moreover it is particularly suitable for the whole Brillouin zone description of the multivalley conduction bands of tensile

strained Ge-rich Ge/SiGe MQWs. In this way the leakages in the gain coefficient, related to the occupation of the electronic states near the L point, can be correctly taken into account. Also, the analysis of the spatial and orbital contributions of the near-gap states allows us to give a transparent interpretation of the numerical results for the strain-dependent TE/TM gain ratio.

The systems investigated in this Section are multiple quantum well heterostructures with alternating Ge and SiGe layers, coherently grown along the [001] direction on SiGeSn relaxed virtual substrates.

Appropriate periodic boundary conditions are assumed along the lateral (parallel) and growth (orthogonal) z directions. The in-plane lattice constant is determined by the SiGeSn substrate, and the inter-plane separations along z are evaluated according to the macroscopic elasticity theory (see Sec. 1.3.2). Interfaces are assumed flat and sharp.

For the evaluation of the electronic states, we adopt here the TB parametrization of Ge given in Ref. [36], which has been developed to improve the results of Ref. [16] in the presence of tensile strains ad discussed in Sec. 1.3.5. This is of particular relevance in our case, where intense strain fields are present. For Si, we use the parametrization reported in Ref. [35], with the scaling coefficients for the hopping energies of Ref. [16]. For the valence band offset between the average of the valence-band edges in a strained Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> and in a relaxed SiGe substrate, we adopt the formula of Eq. (1.37). Note, however, that in order to describe the case of a SiGeSn substrate, we extend to the  $a_{\parallel} \gtrsim a_{\text{Ge}}$  range the above expression, which was originally derived for  $a_{\text{Si}} \leq a_{\parallel} \leq a_{\text{Ge}}$ . Since we are interested only in the relative offsets between the substrate, the extension provides the correct result, since the substrate enters in this formula only through its lattice constant. Finally, dipole matrix elements and gain coefficients are calculated as described in Chap. 2.

As an useful starting point we have evaluated the  $\Delta_{\perp}$ , L and  $\Gamma$  energy gaps for Ge and Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> bulk crystals with the same parallel lattice constant as a function of the in-plane Ge tensile strain. The results are shown in Fig. 4.2. All these gaps decrease in energy with increasing strain, but in Ge, due to the larger deformation potential of the  $\Gamma$  states with respect to the L states, an indirect–direct band gap transition occurs at  $\varepsilon_{\parallel} \simeq 1.8\%$ .

We have then considered MQW structures, composed of a sequence of alternating regions of Ge and Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> materials, of thickness 110 Å each. For both L and  $\Gamma$  electrons, the band edge of the SiGe alloy is higher in energy than the corresponding value of pure Ge, so that the Ge layers act as quantum wells and the alloy layers as barriers. The situation is reversed for the  $\Delta_{\perp}$  edges, which are however much higher in energy. Therefore for the evaluation of the gain spectra, only electrons filling the  $\Gamma$  and L valleys have to be taken into account. As evident from Fig. 4.2, where the MQW conduction confinement energies have been added to the corresponding bulk gaps, the larger confinement energy of  $\Gamma$  electrons due to their lighter mass pushes the indirect–direct crossover to a higher strain value, at about  $\varepsilon_{\parallel} \simeq 2.68\%$  (see the arrow in Fig. 4.2).



Figure 4.2 – Band gaps as a function of the in-plane lattice constant (bottom *x*-axis) for in-plane biaxial tensile strained bulk materials. Solid (dashed) lines refer to Ge ( $Si_{0,2}Ge_{0,8}$ ). The inplane strain indicated in the top *x*-axis refers to germanium. Band gaps at the  $\Gamma$  and L points, and along the  $\Delta_{\perp}$  line are indicated by red, black and green lines, respectively. Band minima along the  $\Delta_{\parallel}$  line are higher in energy and are not shown in the Figure. The contribution to the L and  $\Gamma$  energy due to confinement in the MQW systems are represented as triangles and circles for  $cL_1$  and  $c\Gamma_1$ , respectively. The arrow indicates the crossover between the indirect and direct gap regions in the MQW system.

Figure 4.3 - Schematic band profile (not to scale) at the L and  $\Gamma$  points of the MQW for systems A ( $a_{\parallel}$  = 5.818 Å, panel (a)) and for system B ( $a_{\parallel}$  = 5.794 Å, panel (b)). The injected carrier densities corresponding to the  $|c\Gamma_1 - cL_1|$  energies difference are quoted. The energy difference corresponding to the maximum value of the carrier density discussed in the text  $(5 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  is also reported. Energies are referred to the topmost valence state  $(LH_1).$ 

**Figure 4.4** – Integrated electronic density of states for system A, plotted as a function of the quasi-Fermi energy. The dotted line has been obtained integrating the DOS resulting from the electronic spectrum of the tight-binding Hamiltonian. The solid line is calculated from the DOS obtained with the 2D effective mass model. The energies of the  $c\Gamma_1$ ,  $cL_1$ and  $cL_2$  states are indicated with arrows. In the inset, conduction band edge profiles and square modulus of the confined wavefunctions at L and  $\Gamma$  points are reported.



From now on, we focus on two MQW systems whose  $\varepsilon_{\parallel}$  are chosen at opposite sides of the indirect-direct gap crossover shown in Fig. 4.2. For system A we set  $\varepsilon_{\parallel} = 2.86\%$ , so that  $E(c\Gamma_1) < E(cL_1)$ , while system B corresponds to  $\varepsilon_{\parallel} = 2.43\%$ , and thus  $E(c\Gamma_1) > E(cL_1)$ . The relevant energies at the  $\Gamma$  and L points are summarized in Fig. 4.3a and Fig. 4.3b for systems A and B, respectively. It is worth to notice that both the A and B MQWs are not strain compensated, since in both cases not only the active Ge region but also the barrier material are tensile strained. It follows that in the practical realization of the above structures one has to limit the total thickness of the MQW stack so to preserve coherent growth. Strain compensation can be realized exploiting SiGeSn alloys for the barrier material, as proposed for instance in [139], where tensile-strained Ge MQW systems with similar  $a_{\parallel}$  lattice constant are studied within an effective mass approach. We note that the authors of [139] find L and  $\Gamma$  band edge alignments comparable to those obtained here. Also their reported gain spectra are similar to our findings, as one may expect since the optically active states are well confined in the Ge layer. This suggests that the results discussed in the following do not depend critically on the chemical composition of the barrier material, provided that enough confinement in the near gap valence, and  $\Gamma$  and L conduction states exists.

We report in Fig. 4.4 the integrated DOS for system A, obtained from the TB Hamiltonian taking into account the joint contribution of the L and  $\Gamma$  conduction valleys. As shown in the inset, both at L and at  $\Gamma$  three confined states are present. The contribution of the L states to the DOS is predominant due to the fact that the 2D effective mass at L,  $m_{\rm L} \simeq 0.26m_0$ , is much larger than  $m_{\Gamma} = 0.034m_0$  and also because of the fourfold degeneracy of the L valleys. As a realistic upper bound to the injected carrier densities  $D_j$ , we investigate the region  $D_j \le 5 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ , which corresponds to  $E_f \le 556 \text{ meV}$ . For this injection range, only the first confined states are states are states are present. The contribution of the L and the energies higher than 644 meV. For this reason we find that if  $D_j \le 5 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ , the



**Figure 4.5** – Right panel: Valence bands calculated for the MQW system A, as a function of  $k_x$ , at  $k_y = 0$  and  $k_z = 0$  (solid lines) or  $k_z = \pi/a_{\perp}$  (dashed lines). Left panel: quasi-Fermi energy for holes as a function of the injected carrier density. In the left inset the LH band edge profile and the square modulus of the near-gap wavefunctions at  $\Gamma$  are also shown.

integrated DOS resulting from the electronic spectrum of the TB Hamiltonian is quite well reproduced by a simple 2D effective mass parabolic model of the L and  $\Gamma$  valleys where the dispersion along the growth axis (*z*) is assumed negligible (see Fig. 4.4, solid line).

The TB valence bands of system A and the corresponding integrated DOS are reported in Fig. 4.5. In the near gap region only one state is confined by the potential profile which originates from the light-hole bulk bands (see inset in Fig. 4.5). Heavyhole states are lower in energy due to the band splitting caused by the tensile strain field in the Ge and Si<sub>0.2</sub>Ge<sub>0.8</sub> layers. The interaction of the heavy-hole and light-hole bands at  $\mathbf{k} \neq 0$  makes in this case the parabolic effective mass model a very crude approximation, especially for the lower energy band where a negative effective mass is obtained. Furthermore to evaluate the hole population, band dispersion along the z direction must now be taken into account because of the shallower confinement of the hole states. For instance, comparing the band structure at  $k_z = 0$  (solid lines) and  $k_z = \pi/a_{\perp}$  (dashed lines) in the right panel of Fig. 4.5, we obtain for the LH<sub>1</sub> state an energy bandwidth along  $k_z$  of about 10 meV and an even larger dispersion for the lower energy states. Finally, in the evaluation of the DOS and of the optical properties, also the anisotropy in the growth plane (xy) has been taken into account, sampling the Brillouin zone along eight nonequivalent directions in the *xy* plane. In the low temperature limit, and for an injected carrier density  $D_i \leq 5 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ , only the first two valence states are filled. The second band (whose energy at the  $\Gamma$  point is about –110 meV) starts to be populated for densities  $D_j \gtrsim 2.2 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ , and because of its negative curvature, states with  $\mathbf{k} \neq 0$  are filled first. Similar results hold also for system B.

The low temperature gain spectrum is evaluated as discussed in Sec. 2.2.2, according to the expressions (2.12), (2.13) and (2.14). For any given injected carrier density, the related Fermi levels are calculated so to satisfy the appropriate charge neutrality

#### 4.3 Large tensile strain for optical gain in Ge



**Figure 4.6** – Gain spectra of systems A and B, evaluated at different injected carrier densities for TE (top panels) and TM (bottom panels) polarizations of the incident radiation.

equation. Notice also that only k-direct transitions are considered: therefore, positive contributions to the gain originate only from electron-hole pairs recombining in a neighbourhood of the  $\Gamma$  point. The leakages due to the presence of confined L states are accounted through their influence on the Fermi distribution function of the conduction band.

The evaluated TE and TM gain spectra of systems A and B, for the broadening parameter y = 10 meV [139], are shown in Fig. 4.6 for different injected carrier densities. Notice that despite its indirect-gap structure, a positive gain is obtained also for system B, although a higher carrier density is required.

For both systems, the maximum gain is obtained with TM polarization. This is due to the symmetry of the involved states. To address this point we observe that the peak in the gain spectrum (at about 535–545 meV and 585–595 meV for system A and B, respectively) originates from the  $c\Gamma_1 \rightarrow LH_1$  transition. The  $c\Gamma_1$  state has prevalent *s* character while, neglecting the strain coupling for the time being, the orbital character of the LH states at the  $\Gamma$  point writes:

$$LH_{J_{z}=1/2} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} [(p_{x}^{\downarrow} + ip_{y}^{\downarrow}) - 2p_{z}^{\uparrow}],$$

$$LH_{J_{z}=-1/2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} [(p_{x}^{\uparrow} - ip_{y}^{\uparrow}) + 2p_{z}^{\downarrow}],$$
(4.1)

as discussed in Eqs. (1.23). Since the TE (TM) polarization couples the *s*-like conduction orbital only with the  $p_{x,y}$  ( $p_z$ ) valence orbitals, we expect a larger gain in the TM



**Figure 4.7** – TM/TE ratio for the square modulus of the dipole matrix element for the LH $\rightarrow$ c $\Gamma$  transition in bulk Ge. The dipole matrix element is evaluated at  $\Gamma$  as a function of the (001) in-plane tensile strain  $\varepsilon_{\parallel}$ . The value of the TM/TE ratio at  $\varepsilon_{\parallel} = 0$  is four; it monotonically increases with  $\varepsilon_{\parallel}$  because of the mixing of the valence bands caused by the strain field.

**Figure 4.8** – Maximum value of the TE (left panel) and TM (right panel) gain as a function of the injected carrier density. Solid and dashed-dotted lines have been calculated for the A and B system, respectively. Dashed and dotted lines are the respective values evaluated in the parabolic approximation (see text for details).

polarization. In particular, since gain is proportional to the square modulus of the matrix dipole element, a TM/TE ratio of the order of four is expected. However, for both systems A and B we find a much larger TM/TE ratio, of the order of 12–13. This large value is due to strain-induced mixing of the valence states, especially between the LH and split-off states which has not been considered above. Tensile strain induces an increase of the fractional  $p_z$  character of LH states [140], thus increasing the TM/TE ratio. To support this argument we have plotted in Fig. 4.7 the ratio of the square moduli of the TM and TE dipole matrix elements between the bottom conduction and topmost valence states at the  $\Gamma$  point, calculated in bulk Ge as a function of the in-plane tensile strain. As expected, from Eq. (4.1) this ratio is four for relaxed Ge but increases with strain, in agreement with the results that we have obtained in the MQW systems.

In addition to the main peak of the TE gain spectrum of system A, we observe in Fig. 4.6a a second peak at about 610 meV whose intensity increases for increasing injected charge density. This feature is due to transitions from  $c\Gamma_1$  to the (not confined) valence state below LH<sub>1</sub> (see inset of Fig. 4.5), which is active only for sufficiently large injected densities, i.e. when holes with  $k_{\parallel} \neq 0$  start to populate the band below LH<sub>1</sub>. Actually, the intensity of these transitions are of the same order of magnitude for TE and TM polarizations, but since the  $c\Gamma_1 \rightarrow LH_1$  transition in the TM polarization is much stronger, the related signal is only a small correction to the main TM peak and is not clearly resolved in the spectrum (see Fig. 4.6a, bottom panel).

Finally, in Fig. 4.8 we report the maximum value of the TE and TM gain spectrum of system A and B as a function of the injected carrier density. The threshold carrier density of system B at about  $2.3 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> is associated with the filling of the L states below the  $c\Gamma_1$  level (see also Fig. 4.3b). Conversely system A, having a direct gap, is characterized by positive gain already at small injected carrier densities. However it is worth to notice that for  $D_j \simeq 5 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> the maximum gain for system B is only about one half of that obtained for system A. To evidence the role of the band structure effects on the gain spectra, we also show in Fig. 4.8 the maximum gain evaluated in a simple 2D parabolic model, where effective masses and band edges are taken from the TB results together with the  $c\Gamma_1 \rightarrow LH_1$  dipole matrix elements, which are assumed to be *k*-independent.

Despite its simplicity, the parabolic model fits reasonably well the TB results, even if in the gain spectra obtained by means of this simplified model (not shown), the peak at about 610 meV reported in the top panel of Fig. 4.6a is not reproduced. This is not surprising considering that this feature is related to the transition to the valence band below LH<sub>1</sub>. Furthermore, the main peak obtained in the parabolic approximation is redshifted of about 5 meV with respect to the TB spectra. This fact is to be attributed to the valence band dispersion along the *z*-direction, which has been neglected in the 2D effective mass model.

Thus, in conclusion, we have shown that in Ge/SiGe MQW structures the direct gap crossover requires higher strain fields with respect to bulk materials due to the large confinement energy associated to  $\Gamma$  electrons. We have obtained large gain coefficients for realistic values of the injected carrier density, showing that this kind of systems could be good candidates as optically-active materials. We have also studied the TE and TM gain as a function of the tensile strain field, demonstrating that the applied strain increases the TM/TE ratio due to an increment of the fractional  $p_z$  character of the topmost LH state. Finally, a critical comparison of the tight-binding results with a simple effective mass model has also been provided.

### 4.4 Small strain and doping

As shown in the previous Section, the large strain fields needed to obtain a directgap material shrink the band gap to about 550 meV, which is far below the abovementioned telecom optical window. Moreover, we have to take into account that the technology for the epitaxial growth of group-IV structures containing Sn is not as well developed yet.

To overcome the above-mentioned difficulties, in 2007 Liu and coworkers [128] have theoretically proposed to engineer the electronic structure of [001] Ge thin layers grown on Si by the application of a small biaxial strain field (of the order of  $\approx 0.25\%$ , realizable with the thermal mismatch technique), in order to slightly reduce



**Figure 4.9** – Schematic of density of states (DOS) and occupation (i.e., DOS times Fermi-Dirac distribution) of a Ge quantum well system. In the Figure, the 2D and continuum contributions to the DOS are evident. The quasi-Fermi energies for the conduction  $(E_f^c)$  and valence  $(E_f^v)$  bands are also shown. For clarity, the band profiles and the confined states at  $\Gamma$ and L are shown on the left. Under optical pumping, a strong inversion between conduction states at L and the valence band states at  $\Gamma$  builds up due to conduction electrons scattered from  $\Gamma$  to L bands. Eventually, electrons thermally excited to the  $\Gamma$  bands (in red) recombine radiatively (dipole allowed transitions) with holes filling the QW subbands. Since the hole occupation is close to unity, strong stimulated emission may set in.

the energy difference between the L and  $\Gamma$  conduction edges, and thereafter achieve population inversion across the direct gap by filling the lower-energy L states by means of *n*-type heavy doping. In this way, tuning the temperature, we can thermally excite some electrons in the  $\Gamma$  valley. A schematic graphical representation is provided in Fig. 4.9. Following this approach a significative enhancement of the signal related to radiative recombination across the direct gap has been reported by several groups in the last years, both in electroluminescence [141–143] and photoluminescence [126, 144–148] experiments with tensile-strained and/or heavily-doped Ge layers.

As an example, we show in Figs. 4.10a and 4.10b two sets of experimental PL spectra for different pump powers and temperatures performed on a Ge (100)  $n^+p$  diode; the Figures are taken from Ref. [142]. In this Figures, it is evident how the PL signal due to direct-band transitions becomes more and more important (with respect to one due to indirect-band transitions) both when the pumping power or when the temperature are increased.



(a) The PL spectra of the Ge diode at room temperature. The contribution due to the direct band transition at the  $\Gamma$  point increases with increasing pump power.



(b) Temperature dependent PL at the temperature of 310–415 K. Direct band gap transition enhancement is due to carrier distribution toward the high energy part as well as the decrease in the band gap difference between direct and indirect band gaps at high temperature.

**Figure 4.10** – Photoluminescence spectra of the Ge (100)  $n^+p$  diode described in the text. The Figures are reproduced from Ref. [142].

**Figure 4.11** – Room temperature photoluminescence spectra of phosphorusdoped bulk Ge obtained by the gas immersion laser doping process, compared to the photoluminescence of an undoped Ge sample. The active donor concentration is indicated in the graph. The detector has a cutoff at 1590 nm. The Figure is reproduced from Ref. [146].



As a second example, we report in Fig. 4.11 the room-temperature PL spectra of strongly *n*-doped bulk Ge as a function of the doping density, taken from Ref. [146]. In this Figure, a  $20 \times$  increase of the PL signal associated to the direct-gap transitions is apparent for the largest doping density considered with respect to an undoped Ge sample, showing the effectiveness of the large doping technique in building a population inversion at  $\Gamma$ .

Note that the presence of a small strain has in fact some benefits (apart from the fact that it can be obtained in Sn-free structures). As a first point, it slightly reduces the gap energy at  $\Gamma$ , which gets closer to the C-band. Moreover, it splits the LH and HH valence states, and for tensile strains the top of the valence band has light-hole symmetry. Since the mass of the LH states is quite small ( $m_{\text{LH}} = 0.043m_0$ ), the optical gain increases faster with the injected carrier density due to the low density of states

associated with the light-hole band. Finally, since the electrons are thermally excited from the L to the  $\Gamma$  valley, even a small reduction of the  $\Gamma$ -L energy difference can lead to a large enhancement of the number of electrons at  $\Gamma$ , due to the exponential decay of the Fermi–Dirac distribution.

Nevertheless, the observation of robust optical gain in this kind of systems still remains elusive, even if the first evidence of (feeble) light amplification under optical pumping has been recently reported by Liu *et al.* [4], probably due to the large contribution to the absorption of the light by the free carriers: in such heavily-doped systems, free-carrier absorption (FCA) is the main loss mechanism and hence a fundamental limit to the performance of the devices [128,149].

In the effort of increasing the oscillator strengths adopting also here systems with lower dimensionality, one would be tempted to consider SiGe quantum wells with smaller strain fields than those discussed in Sec. 4.3, and n-dope the SiGe barriers. In this way, a filling of the remaining L states could in principle be obtained, similarly to what has been just discussed for "bulk" tensile Ge layers. Nevertheless, as we prove now by a quantitative argument, this approach can be ruled out, at least if the doping is limited to the barriers.

In fact, considering a direct gap in the range of the telecom window (i.e., a wavelength between 1520 and 1620 nm) one would require a strain of the order of 1 - 1.2%. Integrating the density of states (DOS) associated to the (four) L valleys, we get that the doping density required to push  $E_f$  above the  $c\Gamma_1$  level is already of the order of  $2 \cdot 10^{19} - 4 \cdot 10^{19}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. For such high doping densities, the Hartree potential deeply affects the band edge profile (see Sec. 1.9). In fact, if one assumes that the doping electrons localize in the well and remain confined there, the resulting electrostatic energy at the well/barrier boundary is of the order of 1 eV. This value is much larger than the L band offset which is of about 130 meV for  $Si_{0.2}Ge_{0.8}$  barriers (see e.g. Fig. 4.2). It follows, in analogy to what has also been discussed in Sec. 3.2, that one reaches a self-consistent solution where only a small portion of the doping charge is transferred into the well. Then, this small charge is not able to fill the L valleys.

Finally, it is worth to notice that as an alternative route towards a Ge-based quantum well laser, it has been recently proposed to *n*-dope the Ge active region of Ge/SiGeSn MQW systems [150]. This of course could heal the problem of the small charge transfer connected with the doping of the barriers, still exploiting lower strain fields, but it can introduce large impurity scattering contributions to the non-radiative relaxation times (in addition to the free carrier absorption) due to the presence of the doping ions within the well.

### 4.5 Simulating the photoluminescence

The physical nature of the population inversion process in the systems described in the previous Section is quite different from the one of "standard" III-V materials, due to the special non-equilibrium conditions at the direct gap (which is not the fundamental energy gap). In the previous Section we have discussed how the interplay of strain and doping may result in a population inversion, and how in the last years many experiments of EL, PL, ... have been performed in order to study the dependence of the direct-gap emission on temperature, doping, pumping power, etc.

A quantitative description of the competitiveness between the direct- and indirect-gap emission in Ge systems is then of the uttermost importance to gain further insight in the problem, and to predict and design new photonic devices based on Ge. With this aim, we have developed a general code for the treatment of PL in both bulk structures and MQWs, taking into consideration both direct and indirect transitions.

The code is still in an initial stage, but it is already capable of calculating the PL spectrum of optically-pumped bulk  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  alloys under strain (focusing mainly on Ge-rich systems), both in undoped and doped systems. In the code, we take into account both the direct-gap transitions at  $\Gamma$  and the phonon-mediated transitions between the topmost valence states and the L valleys in the conduction band.

The model for the calculation of the state energies and the effective masses is the same described in Sec. 3.A for what concerns the conduction band. For the valence band, we use the following expressions for the HH, LH and SO edges measured from the average of the three bands [23]:

$$\begin{split} E_{\rm HH} &= \frac{\Delta_{so}}{3} - \frac{\delta E_{001}}{2}, \\ E_{\rm LH} &= -\frac{\Delta_{so}}{6} + \frac{\delta E_{001}}{4} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\Delta_{so}^2 + \Delta_{so}\delta E_{001} + \frac{9}{4}\delta E_{001}^2}, \\ E_{\rm SO} &= -\frac{\Delta_{so}}{6} + \frac{\delta E_{001}}{4} - \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\Delta_{so}^2 + \Delta_{so}\delta E_{001} + \frac{9}{4}\delta E_{001}^2}, \end{split}$$

where  $\Delta_{so}$  is the spin-orbit splitting and the quantity  $\delta E_{001}$  is expressed in terms of the deformation potential  $b_v$  and of the strain components as

$$\delta E_{001} = 2b_v(\varepsilon_{zz} - \varepsilon_{xx}).$$

The values of  $b_v$  are  $b_v^{\text{Si}} = -2.1 \text{ eV}$  [151] and  $b_v^{\text{Ge}} = -1.88 \text{ eV}$  [125]; a linear interpolation scheme is adopted for  $\text{Si}_{1-x}\text{Ge}_x$  alloys. For the effective masses in the valence band, we use the functional form suggested in Ref. [41] to fit the curve reported in [152] for the Luttinger parameters  $\gamma_1$ ,  $\gamma_2$  as a function of the Ge content x of the alloy. Moreover, we make the approximation  $\gamma_2 = \gamma_3$ , that is we assume a cylindrical symmetry for the effective masses. The resulting fit functions are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \gamma_1 &= 4.4204 - 2.675\,39\log\left(1 - 0.962\,19x^{1.35}\right)\\ \gamma_2 &= 0.276\,905 - 1.019\,21\log\left(1 - 0.976\,85x^{1.35}\right)\end{aligned}$$

- - -

The (bulk) effective masses are then given by

$$m_{\rm HH} = \frac{1}{\gamma_1 - 2\gamma_2}, \qquad m_{\rm LH} = \frac{1}{\gamma_1 + 2\gamma_2}, \qquad m_{\rm SO} = \frac{1}{\gamma_1}.$$

Moreover, in the code we have also taken into account the bandgap shift as a function of the temperature, independently for the L and the  $\Gamma$  gaps. For the gap at  $\Gamma$ , we interpolate between the bandgap shifts of Si and Ge whose values in meV are given by [153]:

$$\Delta E_g^{\Gamma,\text{Si}}(T) = -0.391 \frac{T^2}{T+125},$$
  
$$\Delta E_g^{\Gamma,\text{Ge}}(T) = -0.582 \frac{T^2}{T+296},$$

where the temperature is expressed in K. For the bandgap at L, since no experimental data are present for Si, and we are concerned mainly with pure Ge or Ge-rich SiGe alloys, we use the formula for the bandgap shift of Ge [153]:

$$\Delta E_g^{\mathrm{L,Ge}}(T) = -0.48 \frac{T^2}{T+235}$$

The calculation of the recombination times is done as discussed in Sec. 2.3, with the assumption of parabolic bands and of a single quasi-Fermi level in the conduction band, both for the  $\Gamma$  and the L valleys. The quasi-Fermi levels in the conduction and valence bands are calculated using a bisection algorithm with the same technique of the code described in Sec. 3.A. We remind that the present model includes only three bands (HH, LH and SO) in the valence, while in the conduction band it takes into account one band at  $\Gamma$  and and one band at L (or more precisely four degenerate bands, one for each L valley).

To show some preliminary results, we report in Fig. 4.12 the temperature dependence of the total spontaneous recombination rate for a 0.5% tensile-strained Ge bulk with  $1 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> *n*-doping and an optical pumping that induces a charge of  $5 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.

At low temperature, since only the L conduction minimum is filled with electrons, the PL spectrum originates only from the indirect recombinations, as it is the case for instance for the spectrum at T = 10 K. We can recognize two contributions (the main peak and the shoulder at lower energy) which originate from the indirect transitions involving the HH and the LH valence states. We remind that in the calculation, the Ge bulk is tensile-strained, so that the HH and LH edges are not degenerate (the SO band plays only a minor role due to the fact that it is at much lower energy than the HH and LH bands). We remind moreover that at low temperature only the phonon emission channel is active. At higher temperatures, some of the electrons start to populate also the  $\Gamma$  valley due to the tail of the Fermi–Dirac distribution, so that also the direct-gap transitions contribute to the spectrum. Indeed, two new peaks appear at larger energy, whose magnitude increases with temperature. The two peaks originate from the direct transitions from the conduction  $\Gamma$  valley to the two HH and LH bands in the valence. In particular, the LH state is on top (at  $\Gamma$ ), implying that the peak due to the LH-cF transition occurs at a lower transition energy. To understand the behavior of the relative magnitude of the direct and indirect contributions to

the spectra, we note that they both depend on the respective populations and on the magnitude of the matrix elements involved. In particular, if the populations are similar, the direct transitions are much more significant than the indirect ones. In our case, however, the  $\Gamma$  conduction valley has a much smaller population than the L valleys, and the two effects compensate. Increasing the temperature, the population in the  $\Gamma$  valleys increases and thus at large temperatures the direct contribution becomes the predominant one.

In Fig. 4.13 we instead show the dependence of the PL spectrum on the doping of the 0.5% tensile-strained Ge bulk. The spectra have been calculated assuming a temperature of 210 K, with an optical pumping that induces a charge of  $5 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. Also in this case, we note that a large doping increases the direct contribution, due to the fact that for large doping densities the L valleys are filled and electrons can populate also the  $\Gamma$  valley. The overall qualitative structure of the spectrum does not change very much and the different features can be understood following the same considerations discussed above for Fig. 4.12.

Finally, in Fig. 4.14 we show the dependence of the total recombination rate on the strain of the Ge sample, calculated at T = 210 K, with  $1 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> n-type doping and an optical pumping that induces a charge of  $5 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. In this case, two main effects are visible. The first one is a global redshift of the spectrum for increasing tensile strain, due to the bandgap shrinking of tensile-strained Ge (see for instance Fig. 4.2). The second even more relevant effect is the splitting of the peaks originated from transitions involving the LH or HH bands. In fact, at zero strain the HH and LH states are degenerate at  $\Gamma$ , so that the onsets of the recombination spectra (both due to direct and indirect transitions) occur at the same energy for the transitions originating from the two bands. Indeed, at zero strain (black curve) we recognize only two peaks: the one at lower energy is due to the indirect transitions, while the narrower one at larger transition energies is due to the direct transitions. Increasing the tensile strain, we see that the direct contribution splits in two peaks, that can be assigned as discussed before to the LH- $c\Gamma$  and HH- $c\Gamma$  direct transitions. Analogously, a shoulder at low energy appears in the part of the spectrum originating from indirect transitions, also in this case due the different energies of the transitions involving HH or LH valence states.

To conclude this Section, we mention some further effects that we plan to include in the code. First of all, we are implementing the self-absorption correction to the spectrum. This effect is due to the fact that, when the light is emitted within the sample, it is typically reabsorbed by the material itself before reaching the surface and escaping from the sample. The PL spectrum is significantly altered by this effect, mainly because the direct-gap emission is much more affected by the self-absorption than the indirect-gap emission.

A second effect to be included is the recombination rate due to the localized donor levels; since we typically consider systems with very large doping density, this recombination channel may be relevant.

Then, the absorption due to the free carriers must also be included. In fact, in the samples that are typically considered, the density of free electrons is very large: these



Figure 4.12 – Temperature dependence of the total recombination rate for a 0.5% tensile-strained Ge bulk with  $1 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$  *n*-type doping and an optical pumping that induces a charge of  $5 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ .

Figure 4.13 - Doping dependence of the total recombination rate for a 0.5% tensilestrained Ge bulk under optical pumping that induces a charge of  $5 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, at T = 210 K.



Figure 4.14 - Strain dependence of the total recombination rate for a tensile-strained Ge bulk with  $1 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ *n*-type doping and an optical pumping that induces a charge of  $5 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, at T = 210 K.

electrons can absorb the emitted light and then constitute a large loss mechanism. This must be taken into account especially if we are interested in obtaining a system with positive gain that can lead to laser action. We mention that formulae to fit the absorption due to free carriers are available in the literature (see for instance Ref. [128]).

Finally, the code has been developed with the idea of considering also quantum well systems, so that all data structures are ready to be generalized to this case. From a physical point of view, the generalization to such systems requires to analyze how all the calculated quantities change when we consider a two-dimensional system.

### 4.6 Annealing procedure to increase the tensile strain

The maximum strain that can presently be achieved with the thermal mismatch technique is not large enough to shift the lowest  $LH_1-c\Gamma_1$  transition of Ge/SiGe MQW structures within the C-band. In Ref. [154] we investigated the possibility of increasing the (tensile) strain of Ge/SiGe MQW samples by means of a post-growth Rapid Thermal Annealing (RTA), and we interpreted the effects of this procedure on the direct-gap transitions. Indeed, the RTA allows to partially increase the tensile strain of the system. However, besides the redshift due to this strain increase, another effect had to be taken into account: in fact, if the annealing is performed after the heterostructure growth on the strained substrate, there can be a significant interdiffusion of Si atoms from the SiGe barriers in the Ge MQWs, which is detrimental for the device operation and moreover produces a blueshift of the bandgap. Actually, the results of the experiments can be interpreted only if interdiffusion produces a net blueshift of the QW gap, as we discuss in this Section.

For what concerns the experimental part, we summarize here only the most relevant aspects and refer the reader to Ref. [154] for further details. The 10-period Ge/SiGe MQW heterostructures and  $2 \mu m$  Ge-on-Si virtual substrate were grown using low-energy plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition [155].

X-Ray Diffraction (XRD) measurements give nominal barrier and QW widths of 8.8 nm and 17.6 nm, respectively. The Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub> barrier composition is determined as x = 0.87, whereas the QWs are of pure Ge (x > 99%). In order to enhance the tensile-strain, a series of post-growth RTA samples was prepared between 650 °C and 850 °C in an inert-atmosphere oven. The sample chips were held at their maximum temperature for 30 s (5 s and 1 s for "flash-annealed" samples) and cooled at 28 °C/s (from 850 to 650 °C), limited by the thermal inertia of the oven.

Fig. 4.15 shows the transmission-spectrum (and first-derivative) of the as-prepared MQW sample, together with the first-derivative spectra of a series of annealed samples. The sharp features below 800 meV are due to the absorption edges of the bulk Ge-on-Si virtual substrate, in particular for the transitions at  $\Gamma$  between the light-hole valence band and the lowest conduction band (LH– $c\Gamma$ ), and from the



**Figure 4.15** – (a) Brewster-geometry transmission spectrum of the asprepared sample, and first-derivative of transmission spectra of the asprepared sample and of the annealed samples (annealing time of 30 s). The lineshape is fitted to a qualitative model to extract the MQW1 and MQW2 transition energies (see text). (b) Photoreflection spectrum of the asprepared sample, clearly resolving individual light/heavy-hole transitions in MQW1 and MQW2. The PR-spectrum is fitted by a TDFF model to extract the LH/HH transition energies.

heavy-hole valence band to the conduction band (HH– $c\Gamma$ ). We remind here that for tensile strain fields, LH states are above HH states at  $\Gamma$  (see Figs. 1.15 and 1.16) and thus the LH- $c\Gamma$  transition has a lower energy than the HH- $c\Gamma$  transition. For moderate in-plane strain, the LH–HH splitting is proportional to the biaxial tensile-strain of the virtual substrate ( $\varepsilon_{\parallel}$ ) and in particular it holds [156]

$$E_{\rm LH} - E_{\rm HH} = (6700 \pm 50) \text{meV} \cdot \varepsilon_{\parallel}. \tag{4.2}$$

Without post- growth RTA, the VS biaxial tensile-strain (as deduced from transmission measurements) is 0.17%; this was independently verified using XRD rockingcurve measurements, which gave  $\varepsilon_{\parallel} = 0.16 \pm 0.01\%$ . The coherent growth of the Ge/SiGe MQWs was verified by XRD reciprocal space map measurements, i.e. they also have the same 0.17% tensile strain. Two quantum-confined direct-gap transitions can be resolved in the first-derivative spectra, and using the TB model described in Sec. 1.2, they can be attributed to the superposition of LH1/HH1–c $\Gamma$ 1 transitions, termed "MQW1", at (824 ± 1) meV, and to the superposition of LH2/HH2–c $\Gamma$ 2 transitions, termed "MQW2", at (895 ± 3) meV, with a dominant contribution from the LH transitions. Note that for this calculation for the as-grown samples, we assumed perfectly sharp interfaces. In fitting the experimental lineshape of the first-derivative spectra, MQW1 and MQW2 are reproduced by including an exciton feature in addition to the expected 2D band-to-band transition. For the only aim of the fit of the experimental data, this simple model uses *erf*-functions for the 2D band-to-band transitions and a Gaussian peak for the exciton feature.



**Figure 4.16** – (a) LH–HH splitting from transmission and PR data, and the corresponding in-plane biaxial strain of the VS, as a function of the annealing time and temperature. (b) Transmission and PR determinations of MQW1 (LH1/HH1– $c\Gamma$ 1) and MQW2 (LH2/HH2– $c\Gamma$ 2) transition energies, as a function of the annealing temperature, with annealing time of 30 s. (c) TB calculations of the LH1/HH1–  $c\Gamma$ 1 and LH2/HH2- $c\Gamma$ 2 transitions, taking the linear diffusion constants from both the literature and the XRD determination from the samples.

In Fig. 4.15b we show the photoreflectance (PR) spectrum of the as-prepared sample. In contrast to the transmission measurements, this technique is able to resolve also the LH–HH splitting of the quantum-confined MQW1 and MQW2 transitions (in addition to the bulk splitting of the virtual substrate). After accounting for the thin-film interference of the Ge-on-Si VS, the PR spectrum can be fitted using the third-derivative functional form model [157] including the contribution of excitons, and 3D and 2D band-to-band transitions (note that an exciton feature is needed to properly fit the MQW1 transition).

The transmission spectrum of the as-prepared sample gives the MQW1 transition at  $(824 \pm 1)$  meV, and PR of the same sample resolves the HH1–cT1 transition at  $(819 \pm 1)$  meV. This indicates that the strained Ge/SiGe MQWs have an exciton feature just 9–14 meV from the infrared telecommunication C-band (Erbium window: 810-792 meV). An exciton feature so close to the C-band is already of technological interest, because the absorption band can be fully shifted into the band using moderate Stark-effect tuning fields [158]. The possibility of redshifting this exciton feature further into the C-band motivated this study and in particular the investigation of the annealed samples.

As expected, RTA increases the strain of the MQWs, in particular from 0.17% to 0.24% as deduced from the LH–HH splitting using Eq. (4.2), see Fig. 4.16a, and redshifts the Ge-on-Si VS bulk absorption edges. However, both MQW1 and MQW2 transitions experience a blueshift, as shown in Fig. 4.16b, even for the lowest annealing temperature of 650 °C. In the annealed samples, MQW1 and MQW2 can be resolved

#### ACHIEVING DIRECT-GAP SI/GE SYSTEMS

up to 750 °C, but after 800 °C only a single feature at 895 meV in transmission is observed. This is very close to the 902 meV direct gap of the strained  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  (x = 0.96) alloy given by the weighted stochiometric mix of QWs and barriers.

The net blueshift of MQW1 away from the C-band is explained by annealinginduced interdiffusion between the barriers and the QWs. We have used the numerical model for the evaluation of the interdiffusion process described in Sec. 1.11, starting with the as-prepared profile (assuming sharp interfaces, periodic boundary conditions, fixed nominal layer dimensions and barrier composition). For the annealed samples, alloy interdiffusion is calculated using two sets of temperaturedependent linear diffusion constant values: the first set is extrapolated from the literature [59], while the second set is obtained from the XRD measurements on the experimental samples, under the assumption of coherent growth of the MQWs without relaxation of the in-plane tensile strain. In particular, we assume a constant in-plane lattice parameter for each sample, deduced from the LH-HH splitting of the bulk virtual substrate.

The evaluated concentration profiles after the annealing and interdiffusion process are shown in Fig. 1.20. These profiles are then used to calculate the relevant interband electronic states by means of the TB code, which was suitably adapted to accept as input a generic concentration profile as described in Sec. 1.11. The calculated transition energies are shown in Fig. 4.16c. Comparing this panel with Fig. 4.16b, we can see that both the transition energies and the general trend of the blueshift of MQW1 and MQW2 are correctly reproduced.

The measured onset of interdiffusion (taken as the first net blueshift of the transitions) occurs at 650 °C when using our own XRD-determined diffusion constant, whereas the model based on literature values predicts 700 °C. The stronger-thanexpected diffusion was experimentally verified by XRD analysis of the first superlattice (SL) satellite peak [159] and the SL signal reduction is found to be a factor of 5.5 times stronger than the existing literature values, equivalent to a 50 K temperature shift. It should be noted that reported values of the linear diffusion constant for Ge/SiGe MQWs can vary by 50 K (see Refs. [59, 160]). The model based on our own XRD-determined diffusion constant gives a better agreement, but still predicts a modest redshift of MQW1, which could however easily be offset by the natural variation of QW thickness in different chips cut from the same wafer. Note also that the TB calculations reported in Fig. 4.16c only include the difference between energy states at the  $\Gamma$  point of the BZ for MQW1, or at the BZ boundary along the growth direction for MQW2. Accounting for the  $k_z$  band dispersion could bring the model and the experimental data into even better agreement.

In an effort to decouple the role of strain and interdiffusion, some chips were "flash-annealed" at their maximum temperature for just 1 s or 5 s. However, as shown in Fig. 4.16a, flash-annealing to below 800 °C does not increase the tensile strain, while annealing for even 1 s above 800 °C removes all traces of MQW features from the PR spectra.

The band structure calculations, using our XRD-determined diffusion constant, are used to estimate the annealing-induced transition broadening due to the band

**Figure 4.17** – (a) Absorption strength of the MQW1 and MQW2 transitions, as determined from the transmission spectra. (b) The inverse transition broadening of the LH1/HH1- $\Gamma$ 1 and LH2/HH2- $\Gamma$ 2 transitions, as calculated from the TB model taking the linear diffusion constant from the XRD determination on the samples. For clarity, transitions involving LH states are scaled by a factor of eight.



dispersion along the growth direction. This dispersion is mainly due to the coupling of valence states confined in neighboring QWs and increases with the annealing temperature, since the height of the effective barrier is lowered for strongly interdiffused samples. Assuming a negligible dependence of the dipole matrix elements on  $k_z$ , the strength of the transmission features is expected to be inversely proportional to such broadening. This is clearly demonstrated in Fig. 4.17, where the measured MQW1 and MQW2 feature strength, and the calculated inverse of the band dispersion, differ only by a scaling factor.

In summary, quantum-confined direct-gap transitions have been clearly identified in 0.17–0.24% tensile-strained Ge/SiGe MQWs. The as-prepared MQWs have an exciton feature just 9–14 meV from the C-band edge. TB calculations are used to identify the different LH/HH transitions. RTA of the samples increases their strain, redshifting the VS absorption edges, but the quantum-confined transitions experience a net blueshift due to strong interdiffusion.

This study motivates a new investigation, where Ge/SiGe MQWs are grown directly onto 850  $^{\circ}$ C pre-annealed Ge virtual substrates, which could offer the strain needed for the LH1–c $\Gamma$ 1 transition to enter the C-band, eliminating the interdiffusion effects and the related blueshift.

### 4.7 Direct-gap Si<sub>n</sub>/Ge<sub>m</sub> superlattices

In this Section, we discuss another possible strategy that could allow the realization of direct-gap group-IV light sources based on the exploitation of short-period Si/Ge superlattices [161]. In fact, intense research efforts during the Eighties and the Nineties have been devoted to the study of short period  $Si_n/Ge_m$  superlattices as promising systems for band gap engineering, and in particular to address the physics of pseudodirect band gap systems (for a review see for instance Ref. [162]). As discussed below, also these kind of structures can display a direct gap, even if the physics that is at the basis of the direct gap is much different from the one of the systems that have been presented insofar. In fact, while in the previous Sections the direct gap was a mere consequence of the different deformation potentials of L and  $\Gamma$ valleys (so that a suitable strain — or a large enough doping — could fill of electrons

also the  $\Gamma$  valley and produce a population inversion), in the case of superlattices the direct gap is a consequence of the band folding and mixing due to the reduced symmetry, as we discuss below. A detailed discussion of folding effects in Si<sub>n</sub>/Ge<sub>m</sub> SLs and the different respective space groups, which depend on the values of *n* and *m*, can be found in the Appendix 4.A of this Chapter.

Structural properties of Si/Ge SLs have been theoretically investigated by means of first principle total energy [23, 163, 164] and valence force field [165] calculations and their electronic band structure has been addressed in the framework of pseudo-potential [163, 164, 166–171], Kronig-Penney [172, 173], and tight-binding (TB) [174–176] Hamiltonians. The accuracy of the theoretical results has often been limited by the indeterminacy affecting some relevant material parameters of the Si/Ge system, like the band offsets [23] or the deformation potentials. However, a quite general consensus was reached about the direct gap nature of Si<sub>n</sub>/Ge<sub>m</sub> SLs grown along the [001] direction on Ge or Ge-rich substrates with period  $n + m \ge 10$ ; for them non vanishing oscillator strengths (OS) of the band edge transitions were also predicted. In optimized Si/Ge SLs the estimated OS values were only one or two order of magnitude smaller than those measured in III-V direct gap semiconductors [170,171, 175,177].

On the experimental side, the impressive progresses in SiGe molecular epitaxy have made it possible the low-temperature growth of strain-symmetrized (ss)  $Si_n/Ge_m$  SL samples on step-graded  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  buffers with high crystalline quality, atomically sharp interfaces, very low defect density, large number of repetitions of the main period, and absence of strain relaxation (see Ref. [178] and references therein). A large amount of experimental data was thus collected through electro- and photore-flectance [172, 179], photoluminescence [173, 178, 180–182], absorption [176, 183, 184], ellipsometry [185, 186], electroluminescence [180], and photoconductivity [176] measurements.

From the above-mentioned results, it is well accepted that interband optical transitions in  $Si_n/Ge_m$  strained SLs are to be interpreted in terms of direct transitions between zone-folded bands [187]. Of course these folded states are not merely equivalent to the bulk ones, since in the nanostructures their symmetry is modified by different perturbing potentials due to interfaces, inhomogeneous strain and confinement effects [171]. Under proper conditions, these symmetry modifications can guarantee a significant oscillator strength for the radiative transitions between conduction states folded at the  $\Gamma$  point and the topmost valence states.

To our knowledge, up to now no results have been reported on the possibility to reach positive optical gain in  $Si_n/Ge_m$  SLs, in spite of the above-mentioned results and of the impressive efforts recently dedicated to the realization of laser action in Si/Ge based layers, as already discussed in the Introduction of this Chapter. We furthermore notice that PL results for short period  $Si_n/Ge_m$  strained SLs [178, 180, 181] compare favorably with recent PL measurements [146] in tensile *n*-type Ge layers. In fact, as already discussed in Sec. 4.4, in Ref. [146] a room-temperature PL signal magnified by a factor of 20 in comparison with undoped germanium was obtained. On the other hand, in ss-Si<sub>6</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub> and Si<sub>9</sub>/Ge<sub>6</sub> samples, low temperature PL peaks were found to

be enhanced by a factor of 150 and 90, respectively, when compared with the spectra of the corresponding  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  equivalent alloys [178, 180, 181]. Moreover, room temperature strong electroluminescence in  $Si_n/Ge_m$  systems due to band-to-band recombination was also demonstrated [180].

Motivated by the above considerations, we study in this Section the potential of  $Si_n/Ge_m$  SLs as gain medium for optical amplification. Here, we assume coherentlygrown and dislocation-free superlattices on fully relaxed substrates. The in-plane lattice constants of the Si and Ge layers are thus determined by the lattice constant of the buffer. The lattice spacing orthogonal to the interfaces is deduced from the macroscopic elasticity theory (see Sec. 1.3.2) which, as demonstrated by valence force field calculations (see Ref. [170] and references therein), can be safely applied also in this context where the single layers are only a few atoms thick. The equilibrium positions of the atoms in the Si and Ge layers are calculated accordingly. The Ge–Si bond lengths at the interfaces are set equal to the average of the Si–Si and Ge–Ge bond lengths in the corresponding strained layers [170,175].

In short-period superlattices, the atomistic details of the Si–Ge heterointerfaces can deeply affect the electronic and optical properties. It has been shown numerically that the presence of interface disorder or intermixing can increase the fundamental gap [174, 188], modify the functional form of the absorption edge [174, 188], reduce the oscillator strength of the pseudo-direct fundamental transition and, due to the breaking of the translation symmetry in the growth plane, produce allowed nophonon transitions which involve folded states with  $\Delta_{\parallel}$  symmetry [189]. On the other hand, due to the improvements of the growth processes, fabrication of quite ideal SLs was claimed [176, 178]. In fact, X-ray diffraction spectra and Raman measurements demonstrated strong suppression of the Si–Ge interfacial vibrations [190]. For this reason in the present Section we discard disorder and intermixing effects and assume ideal sharp interfaces. As a consequence, appropriate periodic boundary conditions are applied along the growth direction and within each plane parallel to the interfaces.

For the description of the SLs electronic states and optical gain spectra, we adopt the  $sp^3d^5s^*$  tight-binding Hamiltonian model with spin-orbit interaction described in Sec. 1.2. Here we use the self-energies and hopping integrals in the two-center approximation of Ref. [35] and Ref. [36] for Si and Ge, respectively. Scaling laws for the hopping parameters are taken from Refs. [16, 36]. For the valence band offset between the average of the valence-band edges in a strained  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  and in a relaxed SiGe substrate, we adopt the formula of Eq. (1.37). Finally, optical properties are evaluated sampling the superlattice BZ so to fully take into account the strong non-parabolicities of the SL valence and conduction bands and the kdependence of the optical matrix elements. The dipole allowed oscillator strengths for vertical transitions in the TB formalism and the low temperature material gain spectrum are calculated as described in Chap. 2. In particular, the quasi-Fermi levels are obtained from the injection carrier density and satisfy the appropriate charge neutrality condition, and the Lorentzian lineshape broadening  $\gamma$  is set equal to 10 meV (see Ref. [180]). As refractive index  $n_0$ , we choose the static refractive index of the  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  bulk alloy material with equivalent Ge concentration, calculated exploiting

**Table 4.1** – Superlattices investigated in the present paper. The buffers are made of pure Ge, or SiGe alloys with Ge content appropriate to obtain strain symmetrization (ss). Space groups, crystal system (OR=orthorhombic, T=tetragonal) and lattice kind (S=simple, BC=body centered) for each SL are reported. References of previous investigations are also shown.

SL	Space group	System	Lattice	Refs.
Si <sub>2</sub> /Ge <sub>14</sub> on Ge	$D_{2h}^{5}$	OR	S	[177]
Si <sub>3</sub> /Ge <sub>7</sub> on Ge	$D_{2d}^{\bar{9}'}$	Т	BC	[172]
ss-Si <sub>6</sub> /Ge <sub>4</sub>	$D_{2h}^{\bar{2}\bar{8}}$	OR	BC	[173, 178, 191, 192]
ss-Si <sub>5</sub> /Ge <sub>5</sub>	$D_{2d}^{\overline{9}}$	Т	BC	[170, 175, 193]
ss-Si <sub>3</sub> /Ge <sub>4</sub>	$D_{4h}^{\overline{19}}$	Т	BC	[194]

Eq. (1.35). Notice that only *k*-direct transitions are considered. We also stress that since no loss channels have been inserted in the model, the evaluated material gains have to be intended as an upper theoretical limit.

We limit our study to five short-period superlattices, which were chosen among a larger set of SL systems studied in the literature, selecting those that presented a direct gap with non-zero dipole moment for the lowest-energy transition. They are listed in Table 4.1 together with the corresponding space groups (for a discussion of the space groups, see Appendix 4.A of this Chapter). References of the main investigations of their electronic and optical properties are also reported.

Two of the studied SLs are grown on relaxed Ge substrates while the other three are ss-SLs grown on SiGe buffers. In all the investigated cases the Si layers are tensile strained due to the presence of germanium in the substrate while the Ge layers are relaxed (compressively strained) when grown on germanium (SiGe) buffers. We have thus (see also Sec. 1.3.6 and Fig. 4.18) that the minimum of the SLs conduction band edge profile occurs at the  $\Delta_{\perp}$  minima in the Si layers while the topmost of the SLs valence band is at the  $\Gamma$  point and lies in the Ge layers. It follows that the band gap alignment is of type II. This fact limits the thicknesses of the Si and Ge layers since, to achieve a robust oscillator strength for the direct gap recombination, the wavefunctions must have a significant overlap. As exemplificative cases, we report in Fig. 4.18 the band profiles evaluated for the ss-Si<sub>6</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub> SL, and for the Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>7</sub> SL grown on a Ge relaxed buffer.

For what concerns the SL near-gap valence states, the energy difference of the heavy and light hole confined levels is determined by the interplay of the energy splitting of the HH and LH bands caused by the strain field, and the different confinement energies associated to the HH and LH quantum well profiles. For instance, in samples grown on Ge buffers, the HH and LH band edges in the Ge layer are degenerate and the height of the LH barrier in the Si layer is smaller than the HH one, due to the tensile strain. Therefore in ultrathin SL systems grown on Ge, since the large confinement energies associated to the respective barrier energies, the topmost valence state can have light hole symmetry. This case is usually referred to as hole reversal.

Figure 4.18 - Band profiles of the ss-Si<sub>6</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub> SL grown on a  $Si_{0.6}Ge_{0.4}$  relaxed substrate (top panel (a)) and of the Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>7</sub> SL grown on a Ge relaxed substrate (bottom panel (b)). Note that the electronic degeneracies of the relaxed Ge layer in the Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>7</sub> system are not present in the ss-Si<sub>6</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub> SL because of the strain field. The band gap alignments are of type II with electrons (holes) confined in the Si (Ge) regions. Here and in the following the zero of energy is set at the barycenter of the valence bands in the relaxed substrate.



On the other hand, when Si or Si-rich SiGe buffers are adopted, the topmost valence level usually has HH character because of the large HH–LH splitting in the Ge layers.

In short-period [001]-Si<sub>n</sub>/Ge<sub>m</sub> SLs the L and  $\Gamma$  electrons are well above the bottom of the conduction band, since their light confinement masses push these states close to the energy of the respective barrier levels, i.e. the L and  $\Gamma$  band edges in the silicon layers (see Fig. 4.18). Thus one expects that the bottom conduction SL states originate from the  $\Delta_{\perp}$  minima and are confined in the Si regions. Indeed, the tensile strain of the Si layers guarantees that the states resulting from the  $\Delta_{\parallel}$  edges are at higher energies with respect to the  $\Delta_{\perp}$  ones. Also confinements effects contribute to raise the energy of the SL  $\Delta_{\parallel}$  states with respect to  $\Delta_{\perp}$  ones since their confinement mass is lighter than the one associated to the  $\Delta_{\perp}$  electrons. From the above considerations and since band folding occurs only along the growth direction, it follows that, to achieve a direct gap system, Ge-rich buffers must be adopted [163, 166, 168].

Another requirement to obtain direct gap systems was first put in evidence by Satpathy *et al.* [169] who demonstrated that for Si<sub>n</sub>/Ge<sub>m</sub> SLs, upward dispersion of the lowest conduction band around the  $\Gamma$  point is obtained only for  $n + m \ge 10$ . This fact is a consequence of the position of the  $\Delta_{\perp}$  minima in the *k*-space along the  $\Gamma-X_{\perp}$  line.

center of the valence bands e relaxed substrate. he other hand, when Si or usually has HH character l in short-period [001]-Si<sub>n</sub>/G e conduction band, since t

#### ACHIEVING DIRECT-GAP SI/GE SYSTEMS



**Figure 4.19** – Square moduli (vertical bars) of the SL wavefunctions projected on each monolayer and related eigenvalues (horizontal lines), calculated at the  $\Gamma$  point for the valence and conduction near gap states of the ss-Si<sub>6</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub> SL. The HH, LH,  $\Delta_{\perp}$ , and  $\Gamma$  band edge profiles are also shown. The  $C_1$ – $C_6$  conduction states are  $\Delta_{\perp}$ states folded into  $\Gamma$ ;  $C_7$  is the lowest genuine  $\Gamma$  state of the SL.

In SLs with shorter periods the  $\Delta_{\perp}$  minima fold outside the  $\Gamma$  point. Therefore the conduction band at the zone center bends downward and the SL band gap remains indirect. Finally, also symmetry arguments have to be taken into account to select direct gap SLs with a dipole-allowed transition between the bottom conduction states and the topmost valence ones. In fact the SL space group is determined by the number of monoatomic layers in the Si and Ge regions [169,170,175]. In particular, if either *n* or *m* is even, there is a center of inversion. Either *n* or *m* must be odd for the existence of a fourfold axis perpendicular to the layers (tetragonal symmetry) since if this is not the case the projection on the growth plane of the Si–Ge bonds located at the interfaces of the Si and Ge regions are always oriented along the same direction (orthorombic symmetry) [170]. A complete symmetry analysis of Si<sub>n</sub>/Ge<sub>m</sub> SLs and the indication of allowed dipole transitions for both TE and TM polarizations are reported in Refs. [169,170].

The near gap electronic levels in the conduction band at the  $\Gamma$  point of the SLs BZ can thus be classified as folded levels originating from the  $\Delta_{\perp}$  states, or genuine  $\Gamma$  levels. As an example we show in Fig. 4.19 the near-gap wavefunctions for the ss-Si<sub>6</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub> system, calculated at the  $\Gamma$  point of the SL BZ. The C<sub>1</sub> (1006 meV) and C<sub>2</sub> (1091 meV) conduction levels originate from the folding of the two *k*-conjugate  $\Gamma$ -X<sub> $\perp$ </sub> lines and the corresponding states extend mainly in the Si layers. We have verified that the amplitude of their wavefunctions are characterized by rapid oscillations with different phases, as it usually happens for couples of degenerate levels split by intervalley interaction [195]. Other couples of folded states are present at higher energies, above the  $\Delta_{\perp}$  barrier level (see Fig. 4.19) and thus extend also in the Ge layers. The first genuine  $\Gamma$  state is C<sub>7</sub>, about 1805 meV above C<sub>1</sub>. Due to the light



**Figure 4.20** – Electronic band structure of the  $Si_2/Ge_{14}$  SL on Ge substrate. The highsymmetry points of the SL BZ are labeled according to Ref. [170].

confinement mass of electrons in this band, the  $C_7$  energy is close to the  $\Gamma$  level of the bulk strained Si and it is only weakly confined in the Ge region. Also valence states  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  are weakly confined in the Ge layers and their character corresponds to the HH and LH bulk states, respectively. The poor confinement of the hole states is to be attributed to their masses which are lighter than the ones associated with  $\Delta_{\perp}$  electrons. Accordingly, the hole miniband dispersion along the SL growth direction is expected to be significantly larger with respect to the bandwidth of the bottom conduction states.

After this brief discussion on the physics of the different states in Si/Ge SLs and of the main requirements that the SLs should satisfy in order to display a direct gap, we now present the results for the SLs listed in Table 4.1 concerning the optical matrix elements and the gain spectra in the low temperature limit, obtained for different injection levels and directions of the polarization vector. To this aim it is useful to briefly comment the electronic band structure of the SLs with reference to the case of the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> SL grown on [001]-Ge buffer, reported in Fig. 4.20. We notice the direct fundamental gap at  $\Gamma$ . Direct fundamental gaps at the  $\Gamma$  point are obtained also for all the other investigated SLs (not shown). As discussed in the previous Section, the dispersion of the lowest conduction band along the  $\Gamma$ -Z line, corresponding to the growth direction, results to be much smaller with respect to the topmost valence band. The Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> crystal system is orthorhombic (see Table 4.1) and thus the two mutually orthogonal lines  $\Gamma$ -X and  $\Gamma$ -Y (Z–U and Z–T) within (at the boundary of) the SL BZ, which in real space correspond to two orthogonal directions in the growth plane, are not equivalent. The  $\Gamma$ -X and  $\Gamma$ -Y directions differ since the  $\Gamma$ -X line is orthogonal to the projection of the Si-Ge bonds on the interface plane, while the  $\Gamma$ -Y line is parallel. The same holds for the Z-U and Z-T directions, respectively. This fact is demonstrated in Fig. 4.21 where the band structures along the U- $\Gamma$ -X and  $T-\Gamma-Y$  paths are compared.

To design direct-gap  $Si_n/Ge_m$  SLs optimized for optical amplification, it is useful to understand the symmetry character of the SL states close to the bottom of the conduction band. These SL levels can be regarded as resulting from the superposition of bulk states with different  $k_z$  vectors. It follows that the more effective is the SL



**Figure 4.21** – Comparison of the electronic band structure evaluated for the orthorhombic Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> SL on Ge substrate, along the non-equivalent U- $\Gamma$ -X and T- $\Gamma$ -Y paths.

**Table 4.2** – Optical matrix elements for the investigated SLs and for bulk Ge, evaluated at the  $\Gamma$  point for the transitions from the two topmost valence states V<sub>1</sub>,V<sub>2</sub> to the lowest conduction level C<sub>1</sub>. For orthorhombic SLs, the  $\hat{x}$  ( $\hat{y}$ ) in-plane direction is orthogonal (parallel) to the projection of the Si–Ge bonds on the interface planes. In the tetragonal SLs the in-plane projections of the Si–Ge bonds alternate between the  $\hat{x}$  and  $\hat{y}$  directions.  $\hat{z}$  is along the growth axis. The dominant HH or LH character of the V<sub>1</sub> and V<sub>2</sub> states are also reported (see text). Units are chosen to set  $|\langle HH|p_x|c\Gamma_1\rangle|^2$  in bulk Ge equal to 100 as reference value.

		$V_1$				$V_2$		
system	$ p_{x} ^{2}$	$ p_{y} ^{2}$	$ p_{z} ^{2}$	symmetry	$ p_{x} ^{2}$	$ p_{y} ^{2}$	$ p_{z} ^{2}$	symmetry
bulk Ge	100	100	0	HH	33.44	33.44	133.1	LH
Si <sub>2</sub> /Ge <sub>14</sub> on Ge	4.422	0.483	3.408	HH+LH	0.524	8.920	3.151	HH+LH
Si <sub>3</sub> /Ge <sub>7</sub> on Ge	0.305	0.305	2.438	LH	1.515	1.515	0.000	HH
ss-Si <sub>6</sub> /Ge <sub>4</sub>	0.241	0.326	0.006	HH	0.041	0.739	0.152	LH
ss-Si <sub>5</sub> /Ge <sub>5</sub>	0.438	0.438	0	HH	0.290	0.290	0.105	LH
ss-Si <sub>3</sub> /Ge <sub>4</sub>	1.068	1.068	0	HH	0.634	0.634	0.739	LH

potential in mixing folded  $\Delta_{\perp}$  states with genuine  $\Gamma$  ones, the larger is the oscillator strength (OS) associated with the radiative recombination across the fundamental direct gap. As discussed in the following, also the symmetry of the topmost valence state is relevant to determine the optical properties of the SLs. In fact, an important consequence of the hole reversal is the transfer of the OS from the TE (electric field perpendicular to the growth direction) to the TM (electric field parallel to the growth direction) polarization. The SL topmost valence level can also result from a strong hybridization of the heavy and light hole states. If this is the case, a significant OS for both the TE and TM modes is expected.

In Table 4.2 we report the square modulus of the optical matrix elements for the direct-gap transitions involving the two topmost valence states V<sub>1</sub>,V<sub>2</sub> and the bottom conduction level C<sub>1</sub>, calculated at  $\Gamma$  for two orthogonal TE polarizations and for the TM polarization. For comparison, we also report the optical matrix elements of the direct HH,LH $\rightarrow c\Gamma_1$  ( $\Gamma_8^+ \rightarrow \Gamma_7^-$ ) transitions in bulk germanium, where a very modest biaxial compressive strain field has been applied along the [001] direction in order to separate the HH and LH contributions. Units are chosen so to obtain the reference value 100 for the squared modulus of the TE component of the HH $\rightarrow c\Gamma_1$  transition in bulk Ge. In order to interpret the optical properties of Si<sub>n</sub>/Ge<sub>m</sub> SLs, it is necessary to consider separately the tetragonal and orthorhombic structures. In fact, as mentioned before, if both *n* and *m* are even (orthorhombic symmetry) the projections of the Si–Ge bonds on the growth plane are aligned. As a consequence in-plane optical anisotropy in orthorhombic SLs can be evidenced for different TE polarizations. Indeed, as shown in Table 4.2, we obtain different optical matrix elements when the TE polarization vector  $\hat{\bf e}$  is oriented perpendicular to the Si–Ge bonds ( $\hat{x}$  direction) or along them ( $\hat{y}$  direction). On the other hand, in the case of tetragonal SLs, the  $\hat{x}$  and  $\hat{y}$  components of the optical matrix element are equal because the Si–Ge bonds projections occur along both directions. The above results are also confirmed if we rotate the TE electric field by ±45 degrees with respect to the previous cases. In fact for both kind of symmetries the new directions are equivalent and accordingly we obtain equal optical matrix elements (not shown in Table 4.2).

In Table 4.2 we have indicated the dominant symmetry character of the V<sub>1</sub> and V<sub>2</sub> states. In the ss systems V<sub>1</sub> (V<sub>2</sub>) has mainly HH (LH) character due to the presence of compressive strain in the Ge layers. On the other hand, hole reversal (LH on top) is obtained for the Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>7</sub> SL grown on Ge. Finally, the topmost valence state in the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> SL results from strong mixing of the HH and LH bulk states. The different behavior of the two latter SLs is to be attributed entirely to their geometrical differences since they have the same band edge profile. The HH or LH symmetry of the valence states accounts for the vanishing matrix optical elements along the *z* axis reported in Table 4.2 and it is of help to interpret the relative strengths between parallel and orthogonal polarizations. The magnitude of the SL squared matrix elements given in Table 4.2 are one or two orders of magnitude smaller with respect to the direct transition in bulk Ge. The most robust OS for the V<sub>1</sub>  $\rightarrow c\Gamma_1$  transition is obtained for the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> SL with polarization vector in the growth plane. Robust OS is found also for the Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>7</sub> system with polarization vector along the growth axis, since in this case the topmost valence state has LH symmetry.

Low temperature material gain spectra  $g(\hbar \omega)$  evaluated for an injection level  $n_{inj}$ equal to  $7 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> in the TE mode with polarization vector along the  $\hat{y}$  direction, and in the TM mode, are reported in Fig. 4.22a and Fig. 4.22b, respectively. The calculation of the gain spectra has been done as discussed in Sec. 2.2.2, according to the expressions (2.12), (2.13) and (2.14). For comparison, in Fig. 4.22 we also report  $g(\hbar \omega)$  for bulk Ge, calculated at the same injection level and with the same transition broadening parameter. In this case the indirect L and  $\Delta$  valleys of the conduction band have been intentionally neglected. Since the band structure of Ge in a neighborhood of the  $\Gamma$  point is similar to that of III-V compounds, the gain calculated for this "direct-gap" Ge system is comparable to that of a typical III-V direct bulk semiconductor. The magnitudes of the gain peaks in the studied SL systems are typically about one order of magnitude smaller than the value obtained for the the "direct-gap" Ge system. The largest gain value is found for the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> SL in the TE polarization, and the positive portion of its gain spectrum consists of a single narrow peak with full width at half maximum of about 40 meV. For this



**Figure 4.22** – Material gain spectra,  $g(\hbar\omega)$ , of the investigated SL systems for the TE (panel (a)) and TM (panel (b)) mode, calculated for  $n_{inj} = 7 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ . In TE mode the polarization vector is set along the  $\hat{y}$  direction (see text). For comparison, the gain spectra (scaled by a factor of ten) of an artificial (see text) Ge crystal with direct fundamental gap is also shown. For the latter system the two distinguishable features are related to the HH-LH energy separation of the active transitions with non vanishing k vector.

system, in the TE mode we estimate a peak intensity of about  $780 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ , which is only a factor of 6 weaker than the Ge reference value. Robust gain is predicted also for TM polarization, due to the mixing of bulk HH and LH states in the almost degenerate V1 and V2 levels of the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> SL (at this injection level, hole population extends in both the two topmost valence bands, their energy difference at  $\Gamma$  being 10 meV only). We stress that both in the TE and TM modes, the gain maximum is at about 780 meV, i.e. only 13 meV below the bottom of the erbium-window telecommunication band which is located at 793 meV (at this energy the TE gain is reduced to  $533 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ ). Less pronounced but positive gain values are estimated also for the ss-Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub> SL in the TE mode (205 cm<sup>-1</sup>) and for the Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>7</sub> SL grown on Ge buffer in the TM mode  $(322 \text{ cm}^{-1})$ . The widths of the features shown in Fig. 4.22 are much narrower in SLs than in the "direct gap" Ge bulk system (note however that the inclusion of broadening effects associated to disorder in the SL could lead to the opposite result). We attribute this fact to the very different dispersions near the  $\Gamma$  point of the bottom conduction band in the SLs and in the bulk Ge system. In fact, in the investigated SLs there is negligible dispersion of the lowest conduction band along the growth direction (see e.g. Fig. 4.20); moreover along the in-plane directions the dispersion is governed by the transverse mass of the folded  $\Delta_{\perp}$  electrons, which is about 10 times larger than the isotropic mass of the  $\Gamma$  electrons in Ge. For this reason the energy dispersion of the active transitions (positive gain contributions) are narrower in the SLs than in the considered Ge bulk system.

Gain spectra of the orthorhombic SL systems for TE incident radiation depend on the direction of the in-plane polarization vector, due to the optical anisotropy discussed above. This effect is demonstrated in Fig. 4.23 where the calculated TE Figure 4.23 – Material gain spectra  $g(\hbar\omega)$  of the or-(top thorhombic  $Si_2/Ge_{14}$ panel (a)) and  $Si_6/Ge_4$  (bottom panel (b)) SLs in the TE mode for  $n_{inj} = 7 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ , evaluated for different directions of the polarization vector  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}$ in the growth plane. Dashed (dotted) curve refers to ê parallel (perpendicular) to the direction of the Si-Ge bonds projected on the growth plane. The solid curve is obtained with  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}$  lying in the growth plane at 45 degrees with respect to the in-plane projection of the Si-Ge bonds direction.



gain spectra of the orthorhombic Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> (top panel) and ss-Si<sub>6</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub> (bottom panel) SLs are shown for different directions of the in-plane polarization vector. We obtain larger gains when  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}$  is along the projection of the Si–Ge bonds on the growth plane. It is for this in-plane direction of the oscillating field that the contribution to the optical matrix element arising from the mixed bonds is maximized. For the ss-Si<sub>6</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub> SL, the ratio between the maximum gain values obtained for  $\hat{\mathbf{e}}$  parallel and orthogonal to the projection of the Si–Ge bonds on the growth plane is about 1.2 (see Fig. 4.23b). This value well agrees with the ratio of the corresponding square matrix elements for the V<sub>1</sub>  $\rightarrow c\Gamma_1$  transition at the  $\Gamma$  point reported in Table 4.2. In fact, for the considered injection value ( $n_{inj} = 7 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ ), the V<sub>2</sub> band edge is below the Fermi level and thus it plays no role. This is not true for the case of the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> SL since the hole population extends also into the V<sub>2</sub> band whose edge is only 10 meV below the V<sub>1</sub> one.

Eventually, we address the dependence of the gain on the injected carrier density. Gain spectra for injection values  $n_{inj}$  in the range  $0.7 \cdot 10^{18} - 7 \cdot 10^{18}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> have been evaluated. In this regime, for all the investigated SLs the shape of the positive portion of  $g(\hbar\omega)$  remains qualitatively stable, as reported in Fig. 4.24 where the gain of the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> and Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>7</sub> SLs for TE and TM polarizations are shown as examples. The peak value increases with  $n_{inj}$  and its dependence from the injection level in the TE and TM modes is summarized in Fig. 4.25. Within the free carrier model of Eq. (2.12), we do not observe gain saturation in the investigated range of injection levels. In the TE mode, the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> on Ge and the ss-Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub> SLs reach the largest peak gain values, at about 800 and 200 cm<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (see Fig. 4.25a). In the



**Figure 4.24** – Material gain spectra  $g(\hbar\omega)$  for the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> (left plots) and the Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>7</sub> (right plots) SLs, evaluated for injection levels  $n_{inj} = 0.7, 1, 3, 5, \text{ and } 7 \cdot 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ . Top and bottom panels refer to the TE and the TM mode, respectively. In the TE mode the polarization vector is along the  $\hat{y}$  direction (see text). In each Figure the gain peak increases as  $n_{inj}$  increases.



**Figure 4.25** – Maximum value of the TE (panel (a)) and TM (panel (b)) material gain spectrum as a function of the injected carrier density for the investigated SLs. In TE mode the polarization vector is along the  $\hat{y}$  direction (see text). The gain of the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> and Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>7</sub> systems in the TM mode are scaled by 0.1. Note that the vertical scales of panels (a) and (b) are different.

TM mode, the largest values are observed for the Si<sub>2</sub>/Ge<sub>14</sub> (~500 cm<sup>-1</sup>) and for the ss-Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>7</sub> (~300 cm<sup>-1</sup>) systems. Note that different functional dependencies of the peak gain on  $n_{inj}$  are obtained. Their interpretation is not immediate since a number of different factors are at work: among them the strong non-parabolicity of the bands, the V<sub>1</sub>-V<sub>2</sub> energy separation, the HH-LH mixing and the *k*-dependence of the optical matrix elements. For instance we find a sublinear dependence behavior of the gain maximum in the TE mode (Fig. 4.25a), which is typical of quantum wells systems with direct gaps [64]. On the other hand, the ss-Si<sub>3</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub>, ss-Si<sub>6</sub>/Ge<sub>4</sub>, and ss-Si<sub>5</sub>/Ge<sub>5</sub> systems in the TM mode display a superlinear behavior of the peak values as function of  $n_{inj}$  (see Fig. 4.25b). Since in the latter SLs the dominant character of the topmost valence level V<sub>1</sub> is HH, we attribute this superlinear behavior to the fact that the region in *k* space where population inversion is achieved increases with  $n_{inj}$ , and on the same foot also the involved TM optical matrix elements becomes larger, due to the HH-LH mixing in the V1 states with  $k \neq 0$ .

In conclusion, we have provided a comparative investigation of some selected SiGe SLs which were indicated in the literature as possible direct gap materials. Their electronic band structure, optical matrix elements and material gain have been evaluated by means of a  $sp^3d^5s^*$  tight-binding model. The role of buffer substrates, strain, band folding, charge injection level, SL symmetry due to the number of Si and Ge monolayers in the fundamental cell, has been analyzed in order to investigate the SL gain. Out of the studied samples we have obtained that the Si<sub>2</sub>Ge<sub>14</sub> superlattice on [001] Ge buffer presents material gain which is only a factor 6 weaker than the gain of a typical direct gap material. Therefore these results indicate that well designed SiGe based SLs could be considered as suitable structures for light amplification in the infrared region, and call for further experimental investigations.

### 4.8 Conclusion of the Chapter

In conclusion, in this Chapter we have discussed critically different viable paths that could allow the realization of optically-active systems based on Si and Ge.

We have first shown the role of the strain in determining the relative position of the band edges in Ge bulk systems and Ge/SiGe heterostructures. We have shown that for large enough tensile strains, a direct-gap is obtained. In particular, we have calculated the gain spectra for strained Ge/SiGe MQWs, showing that this kind of system can provide very large gain coefficients. This large strain regime has however the disadvantage of shifting the direct-gap transition to about 500–600 meV, a region of the electromagnetic spectrum that is not interesting for long-range telecommunications. To circumvent this problem, we have discussed an approach recently presented in the literature, that adopts a modest tensile strain (shifting the transition energy within the C-band) and a large n-doping in order to fill the L valley and have some thermally-excited electrons in the  $\Gamma$  band. We have critically discussed whether this approach is suitable also in Ge/SiGe MQW systems, and how the physics behind this  $\Gamma$  population inversion mechanism can be investigated by means of electrolumi-

nescence and photoluminescence experiments. We have then presented a software that we are developing that calculates the photoluminescence spectra of Ge-based systems. This software can be used to interpret the experimental results and to predict and optimize the relevant parameters that can lead to light amplification in Ge. Subsequently, we have critically investigated the possible exploitation of thermal annealing procedures on Ge/SiGe MQW samples in order to increase the tensile strain and consequently redshift the lowest direct-gap transition within the C-band. We have shown how the competing interdiffusion mechanism produces however a net blueshift of the transition, and we have proposed a way to circumvent this problem. Finally, we have analyzed short-period superlattices as a different class of Si-based systems that can display a direct gap. We have discussed in detail the different physics that is at the origin of the direct gap. The gain spectra for different superlattices have been evaluated and we have identified five possible direct-gap candidates with positive gain coefficient.
4.A Appendix: Folding of the Brillouin zone and symmetries of SLs

## 4.A Appendix: Folding of the Brillouin zone and symmetries of SLs

We address in this Appendix the symmetry properties of  $Si_n/Ge_m$  superlattices, their primitive cell in real space and the corresponding Brillouin zone in k-space. In the following, we denote with z the growth direction [001], with n the number of atomic monolayers of Si and with m the number of atomic monolayers of Ge.

We start from the description of the symmetry properties of these lattices. Not all superlattices belong to the same symmetry group. The most important difference is if there exists a fourfold rotation symmetry around the *z* axis, i.e. if the *x* and *y* directions are equivalent. In this case, the symmetry is called tetragonal. If instead this symmetry is not present, the symmetry is called orthorhombic. As we discuss below, the latter symmetry occurs only if both *n* and *m* are even. In this case, in fact, all mixed Si–Ge bonds are along the same direction, which is then different from the one rotated by  $\pi/2$ . In the case where at least one between *n* and *m* is odd, there exists instead a symmetry operation which leaves the system unchanged, consisting of a translation along *z* plus a rotation of  $\pi/2$  around *z*, and thus the symmetry becomes tetragonal. This can be better understood in Fig. 1.2, where the zincblende lattice together with first-neighbor bonds is shown: moving from one monolayer to the next one, the direction of the bonds between neighboring planes rotates of 90 degrees around *z*, so that an even number of Si and Ge monolayers (i.e., both *n* and *m* even) implies that the mixed Si–Ge bonds are always along the same direction.

Let us discuss independently all possible cases.

*n* and *m* even In this case, the cell is orthorhombic and the *x* and *y* directions are not equivalent. The effect on the band structure is shown for instance in Fig. 4.21 for a  $Si_2Ge_{14}$  SL: the bands are different along two directions rotated of 90 degrees with respect to each other. Note that, in that Figure, the X and Y points are not along the [100] and [010] directions, but are instead defined as

$$X = \frac{\pi}{a} \left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0\right), \qquad Y = \frac{\pi}{a} \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0\right), \tag{4.3}$$

i.e. rotated of 45 degrees around z. In fact, in the case of n and m even, in the symmetry group there is also a glide symmetry whose glide vector<sup>1</sup> is on the xy plane, at 45 degrees with respect to the axes, i.e. along one of the directions defined by the X and Y points of Eq. (4.3). That direction has higher symmetry and in particular there is a double degeneracy at the symmetry point X or Y that is located along the direction defined by the glide vector. Note that the glide plane is a plane orthogonal to z at the center of a Si or Ge region (and since n and m are even, this plane does not contain any atom),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A glide symmetry is the composition of the reflection about a plane followed by a translation  $\mathbf{v}/2$  parallel to that plane. The glide vector  $\mathbf{v}$  is twice the above-mentioned translation vector (in fact, applying twice the glide symmetry, we obtain a translation by the glide vector  $\mathbf{v}$ ).

and the direction of the glide vector (towards the high symmetry point X or Y) depends on how we build the superlattice cell.

Moreover, we must consider the case (n + m)/2 even or odd. The final result is that, if (n + m)/2 is even, the unit cell is simple and the space group is  $D_{2h}^5$ , while if (n + m)/2 is odd, the unit cell is body-centered and the space group is  $D_{2h}^{28}$  [170].

n and m odd Different is the case of n and m odd. In this case the symmetry is indeed tetragonal: we can in fact reflect the system about a plane at the center of a Si or Ge region (and since both n and m are odd, this plane contains Si or Ge atoms), and then rotate by 90 degrees around z. This is a symmetry of the superlattice and thus a fourfold rotational symmetry around z exists.

Also in this case we must consider if (n + m)/2 is even or odd. The type of unit cell (simple of body-centered) is the same of the previous case, but the symmetry groups change (since here the group is tetragonal and not simply orthorhombic). If (n + m)/2 is even, the unit cell is simple and the space group is  $D_{2d}^5$ , while if (n + m)/2 is odd, the unit cell is body-centered and the space group is  $D_{2d}^9$  [170].

*n* even and *m* odd or viceversa (i.e., (n + m) odd). In this case, the unit cell has not a periodicity of n + m but of 2(n + m): in fact, both the first and the last plane contain atoms of the same kind ("anions" or "cations") or, from another point of view, the atomic bonds between the last plane and the first one would not be correctly oriented along the vertices of a tetrahedron.

Doubling the cell, we recover a case similar to the one previously discussed with both n and m odd. The cell is thus always body-centered and tetragonal (the fourfold symmetry is given by a translation of (n + m) monolayers in the z direction followed by a rotation of 90 degrees around z). The space group is  $D_{4h}$  (it is different from the previous case since we have now a lower number of symmetry operations) [170].

Note that the case n = m = 1 is special since it has more symmetries than all other cases and thus should be studied by itself. We do not address this special case here.

### **Brillouin zones**

Even if the unit cell is orthorhombic (i.e. the x and y directions are not equivalent), from a purely geometrical point of view the Brillouin zone is always tetragonal, since we are considering a biaxial strain with same strain components on the xy plane. If we want to discuss only the shape of the Brillouin zone and the coordinates of its corners, we do not need to distinguish between the orthorhombic and the tetragonal cases. However, if we are concerned not only with the geometry of the lattice or of the Brillouin zone, but also with the the energy associated to a given k point (or 4.A Appendix: Folding of the Brillouin zone and symmetries of SLs

with other similar properties of the crystal) we have to remember that the x and y directions are not equivalent, if both n and m are even.

We consider here only the case n + m even: as we discussed in the previous section, if n + m is odd the unit cell has actually to be doubled, and thus 2(n + m) is even and we can apply the same considerations that we make in the following.

In the following, we define as "layer" a couple of anion and cation planes; the number of layers within the supercell of a  $Si_n/Ge_m$  SL is then given by (n + m)/2.

As we already mentioned before, we have two different possibilities, which generate different Brillouin zones, depending on the parity of (n + m)/2. We consider the two cases independently, after a short discussion of the standard FCC lattice.

### **Standard FCC lattice**

Let us first consider the Brillouin zone of a FCC Bravais lattice. The real-space FCC lattice together with its primitive cell is shown in Fig. 1.1. This cell is the smallest possible and contains only one atom in the primitive cell (the one at the origin, for instance).

The lattice translation vectors  $\tau_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 are given in the caption of Fig. 1.1. We want now to find the reciprocal-space translation vectors, i.e. the vectors  $G_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3 that satisfy

$$\tau_i \cdot G_j = 2\pi \delta_{ij}.$$

The simplest way to find them is to write the  $\tau_i$  vectors in units of a in the columns of a 3 × 3 matrix and to invert it; the columns of the inverted matrix are the components of the vectors  $G_i$ , in units of  $2\pi/a$ . We get

$$\tau = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & 0\\ \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{2}\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix} \Rightarrow G = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & -1\\ 1 & -1 & 1\\ -1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} \mathbf{G}_1 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(1, 1, -1)\\ \mathbf{G}_2 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(1, -1, 1)\\ \mathbf{G}_3 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(-1, 1, 1) \end{cases}$$
(4.4)

These three vectors describe a BCC lattice, whose Brillouin zone (defined as the portion of space that is the nearest to a given lattice point than to any other) is shown in Fig. 1.3. Note that the boundaries of the BZ belong to planes that lie in the middle between two (reciprocal space) lattice points (this will be used later to calculate the coordinates of the vertices of the Brillouin zone).

### Superlattices with (n+m)/2 even

In this case, we can obtain an "optimal" real-space unit cell (in the sense that it contains only (n + m)/2 layers in the supercell) using a tetragonal unit cell with one vector along z (with length  $a \cdot (n + m)/4$ ) and two vectors  $\tau_1 = (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0)a$  and  $\tau_2 = (\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, 0)a$  on the xy plane. An example for the case (n + m)/2 = 2 is shown in Fig. 4.26. Since the real-space cell is a parallelepiped, also the reciprocal-space cell

### Achieving direct-gap SI/Ge systems



Figure 4.26 - Real-space unit cell for the particular case (n + m)/2 = 2 (even). The points indicate the layers of the structure. The coordinates of the lattice translation vectors are

$$\tau_{1} = \left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0\right)a,$$
  
$$\tau_{2} = \left(\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}, 0\right)a,$$
  
$$\tau_{3} = (0, 0, 1)a.$$

There are two atoms in the unit cell.

Figure 4.27 – The Brillouin zone for a superlattice with  $\frac{1}{2}(n+m) = 2$ (even) is shown in red. The Brillouin zone is a parallelepiped. The coordinates of some high-symmetry points

$$X = \frac{2\pi}{a} (1, 0, 0),$$
  

$$Y = \frac{2\pi}{a} (0, 1, 0),$$
  

$$Z = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left(0, 0, \frac{1}{2}\right),$$
  

$$R = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left(1, 0, \frac{1}{2}\right).$$

Note that these names are different from those used in Sec. 4.7.

is a parallelepiped, that can be obtained folding the BZ of the FCC lattice as shown in Fig. 4.27. Using the same method of Eq. (4.4), we get

,

$$\tau = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & 0\\ \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{n+m}{4} \end{pmatrix} \Rightarrow G = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0\\ 1 & -1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{4}{n+m} \end{pmatrix} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} \mathbf{G}_1 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(1,1,0)\\ \mathbf{G}_2 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(1,-1,0)\\ \mathbf{G}_3 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(0,0,\frac{4}{n+m}) \end{cases}$$

### Superlattices with (n+m)/2 odd

In this case, we can obtain an "optimal" real-space unit cell (in the sense that it contains only (n + m)/2 atoms in the cell) using a face-centered unit cell similar to the case of a FCC lattice, but "stretched" along *z*, as shown for example for the case (n + m)/2 = 3 in Fig. 4.28. In this case, since the real-space cell is face-centered, the reciprocal-space cell is body-centered, as shown in Fig. 4.29. Using the same method



**Figure 4.28** – Real-space unit cell for the particular case (n + m)/2 = 3 (odd). The points indicate the layers of the structure. The coordinates of the lattice translation vectors are

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_1 &= \left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, 0\right) a, \\ \tau_2 &= \left(\frac{1}{2}, 0, \frac{3}{2}\right) a, \\ \tau_3 &= \left(0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}\right) a. \end{aligned}$$

There are three atoms in the unit cell.

of Eq. (4.4), we get

$$\tau = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & 0\\ \frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{n+m}{4}\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{n+m}{4} \end{pmatrix} \Rightarrow \begin{cases} \mathbf{G}_{1} = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left(1, 1, -\frac{2}{n+m}\right)\\ \mathbf{G}_{2} = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left(1, -1, \frac{2}{n+m}\right)\\ \mathbf{G}_{3} = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left(-1, 1, \frac{2}{n+m}\right) \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

## **Final results**

In the limit  $\frac{n+m}{2} \to \infty$ , both cases converge to the same BZ, i.e. a square in the  $k_x k_y$  plane. In this limit, it is difficult to distinguish between the two cases (n+m)/2 even or odd.

The coordinates of the edges of the BZ reported in Figs. 1.3, 4.27 and 4.29 have been calculated as already said considering the intersections of the planes lying in the middle between two reciprocal lattice points. Calling **b** a reciprocal-space lattice vector, the plane orthogonal to **b** that goes through  $\mathbf{b}/2$  has equation

$$b_x k_x + b_y k_y + b_z k_z = \frac{\|\mathbf{b}\|^2}{2}.$$
 (4.6)

Using this expression and knowing the coordinates of the reciprocal lattice vectors obtained previously, one can easily obtain the coordinates of the corners of the BZ also for the general cases.

## Achieving direct-gap SI/Ge systems



**Figure 4.29** – The Brillouin zone for a superlattice with  $\frac{1}{2}(n+m) = 3$  (odd) is shown in red. The reciprocal lattice is body-centered and the Brillouin zone is a truncated octahedron (same topology of the usual Brillouin zone of a FCC direct lattice, but distorted). The coordinates of some high-symmetry points are (the names of the points are not standard):

$$X = \frac{2\pi}{a}(1,0,0), \qquad Y = \frac{2\pi}{a}(0,1,0), \qquad Z = \frac{2\pi}{a}\left(0,0,\frac{1}{3}\right),$$
$$P = \frac{2\pi}{a}\left(1,0,\frac{1}{6}\right), \qquad Q = \frac{2\pi}{a}\left(1,\frac{1}{18},0\right), \qquad R = \frac{2\pi}{a}\left(\frac{17}{18},0,\frac{1}{3}\right),$$
$$T = \frac{2\pi}{a}\left(1,-\frac{1}{18},0\right).$$



**Figure 4.30** – Brillouin zone for a superlattice with  $\frac{1}{2}(n + m) = 3$  together with reciprocal lattice translation vectors. The coordinates of the vectors  $\mathbf{b}_i$  are:

$$\mathbf{b}_1 = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( 1, 1, \frac{1}{3} \right),$$
$$\mathbf{b}_2 = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( 1, 1, -\frac{1}{3} \right),$$
$$\mathbf{b}_3 = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( 1, -1, \frac{1}{3} \right).$$

#### 4.A Appendix: Folding of the Brillouin zone and symmetries of SLs

As an example, let us compute the coordinates of the points P, Q, R and T in the case (n + m)/2 odd (see Figs. 4.29 and 4.30 for the case (n + m)/2 = 3).

We choose as vectors  $\mathbf{b}_i$  the vectors

$$\mathbf{b}_1 = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( 1, 1, \frac{2}{n+m} \right),$$
$$\mathbf{b}_2 = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( 1, 1, -\frac{2}{n+m} \right),$$
$$\mathbf{b}_3 = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( 1, -1, \frac{2}{n+m} \right).$$

which are linear combinations of the  $G_i$  reciprocal lattice translation vectors obtained in Eq. (4.5).

In Eq. (4.6), for simplicity, we define both  $\mathbf{b}_i$  and the coordinates of a given k-space point  $(k_x, k_y, k_z)$  in units of  $2\pi/a$  (the equation remains the same). For all  $\mathbf{b}_i$  vectors, we have

$$\frac{\|\mathbf{b}_i\|}{2} = \frac{(n+m)^2 + 2}{(n+m)^2}.$$

For the point Q, for instance, (see also Fig. 4.30) we study the intersection of the planes orthogonal to  $\mathbf{b}_1$  and  $\mathbf{b}_2$ :

$$\begin{cases} k_x + k_y - \frac{2}{n+m}k_z = \frac{(n+m)^2 + 2}{(n+m)^2} \\ k_x + k_y + \frac{2}{n+m}k_z = \frac{(n+m)^2 + 2}{(n+m)^2} \end{cases}$$

.

Summing and subtracting the two equations, we get  $k_z = 0$  and  $k_x + k_y = \frac{(n+m)^2+2}{(n+m)^2}$ . Since, moreover, we know that all the points P, Q, T, X have  $k_x = 1$  (it is the plane orthogonal to  $\mathbf{b}_2 + \mathbf{b}_3$ ), we get

$$Q = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( 1, \frac{2}{(n+m)^2}, 0 \right)$$

and similarly for point T one gets

$$T = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( 1, -\frac{2}{(n+m)^2}, 0 \right).$$

With the same method one can obtain

$$R = \frac{2\pi}{a} \left( \frac{(n+m)^2 - 2}{(n+m)^2}, 0, \frac{2}{n+m} \right)$$

and

$$P=\frac{2\pi}{a}\left(1,0,\frac{1}{n+m}\right).$$

# Appendices

## Appendix A

## **Further addressed topics**

In this Appendix, I briefly summarize other topics that I have addressed during my Ph.D., using methodologies similar to those discussed in the main part of the Thesis, or which also focus on SiGe systems, but that are not strictly related to the main topic concerning multilayer structures.

In particular, in Sec. A.1 the electronic states of SiGe rolled-up nanotubes are discussed, focusing in particular on the valley splitting at  $\Gamma$  and on the degeneracy lifting of the different valleys. The results of this work partially originate from a visiting period at the IFW Leibniz Institute in Dresden, directed by Prof. O. G. Schmidt. In Sec. A.2, visible-light emission from porous silicon is addressed, with a numerical study of the oscillator strength of the lowest-energy transition, and of the influence of porosity on the emission energy. Finally, in Sec. A.3 the effects of a vertical magnetic field on intersubband polaritons in MQW structures is discussed, with particular attention to systems composed of materials which display a large band non-parabolicity; this work has been done during an internship at the École Normale Supérieure in Paris, under the supervision of Prof. G. Bastard and Prof. R. Ferreira.

## A.1 SiGe rolled-up nanotubes

In the last years, significant research efforts have been oriented towards the exploitation of curvature effects to tailor the mechanical, electronic, transport and optical properties of different classes of nanostructures, as carbon nanotubes [196, 197], nanocorrugated thin films [198–203], and rolled-up nanotubes [204–208]. In particular rolled-up nanotubes, originating from the self-scrolling of a differentially stressed film when released from a substrate, have recently proven to be particularly promising for the design of new functional devices [207–214].

We briefly summarize in this Section the results presented in Ref. [215], where we have studied the electronic structure of Si/Ge rolled-up nanotubes in the whole conduction band, comparing it with the one of corresponding planar slab structures. As discussed in Ref. [215], the main features of the lowest conduction bands originate from the bulk band structure in terms of folding, strain and confinement effects. On this basis, the lifting of the degeneracy of the  $\Delta$  valleys along the different directions in *k*-space has been explained. We have shown that the valley splitting (VS) interaction of the lowest conduction states is influenced by the curvature. This VS effect is due to the interface or the confining potential, that produce a coupling between states which are degenerate in the bulk. The study of the VS has a long-lasting story since the first measurements in Si inversion layers [216], followed by studies in quantum well and superlattice structures [195, 217–222] and, more recently, in other low-dimensional structures, as for instance quantum dots [223].

In Fig. A.1a a sketch of a typical Si<sub>NSi</sub>/Ge<sub>NGe</sub> rolled-up tube is reported. By choosing the unit cell of Fig. A.1b, we are assuming perfect periodic conditions not only for translations of integer multiples of  $a_z$  along the z axis, but also for rotations of integer multiples of  $\theta_0 = 2\pi/N_{\theta}$  around the z axis ( $N_{\theta}$  gives the number of cells along  $\theta$ ). To clarify how this structure is obtained, we show in Fig. A.1c the bulk unit cell of a Si or Ge crystal, from which the cell of Fig. A.1b can be obtained. The atomic positions are calculated minimizing the total elastic energy of the system exploiting the linear continuum elasticity theory (CET) for the curved geometry [224, 225], taking the relevant parameters (elastic constants and lattice constants) from Ref. [22].

Fig. A.2a shows the BZ of the (minimal) diamond-lattice primitive cell and its folding when we instead consider the conventional cell of Fig. A.1c. In the case of a planar slab with finite thickness in the *x* direction (i.e., an "unrolled" tube), the corresponding BZ then further folds into the *yz* plane, reducing to the dark rectangle of Fig. A.2b. Similar considerations also apply for the tube geometry, and the BZ in the  $(k_{\theta}, k_z)$  space is again the rectangle sketched in Fig. A.2b. To illustrate the folding of the  $\Delta$  states in the case of a finite slab or a tube with periodicity along  $y \equiv \theta$  and along *z* we show in Fig. A.2c the corresponding ellipsoids of constant energy. It is then apparent that the four  $\Delta_{\theta}$  and  $\Delta_z$  minima remain unfolded, while the two conjugated  $\Delta_{\rho}$  valleys fold at  $\Gamma$ . Due to the different confinement masses and strains along the *z* and  $\theta$  direction, we expect for the lowest CB of the tube a structure similar to that schematically shown in Fig. A.2d; note the VS doublet at  $\Gamma$ due to the interaction of the two  $\Delta_{\rho}$  valleys (for a more detailed description we refer



**Figure A.1** – (a): Sketch of a rolled-up Si–Ge tube;  $R_1$  is the radius of the first shell of Si atoms. (b): Chosen unit cell for the tube with two atoms on each plane (yellow balls) evidencing the discrete rotational symmetry around the *z* axis. Each red ball represents an atom that can be reached from the appropriate yellow ball on the same shell by means of discrete translations along (or discrete rotations around) *z*. (c): Conventional unit cell for a bulk diamond lattice (black cube) with eight atoms (yellow balls), from which the curved tube cell (panel b) originates. The green shaded region represents the primitive cell of the diamond lattice, containing only two atoms. Planes defined by couples of first-neighbor bonds are shaded in pink.

to Ref. [215]).

The quantitative evaluation of the tube band structure and of the valley splitting effect was performed by means of a TB model with  $sp^3d^5s^*$  orbital basis set and first neighbors interactions, appropriately adapted to describe the discrete cylindrical symmetry. For the hopping and self energies in Si and Ge we adopted the TB parametrization of Niquet *et al.* [32]. For the dangling bonds at the innermost and outermost layers, which are passivated with hydrogen atoms, we used the TB parameters provided by Zheng *et al.* [226].

As an exemplificative case of the electronic band structure, in Fig. A.3 we show the conduction band structure of a tube with  $N_{\text{Si}} = 16$  and  $N_{\text{Ge}} = 9$ , together with the band structure of a planar Si<sub>16</sub>/Ge<sub>9</sub> slab, obtained in the limit  $R_1 \rightarrow \infty$ . In both band structures, near-gap states are related to the three kinds of  $\Delta$  valleys as schematized in Fig. A.2d.

Focusing then on the valley splitting (VS) of the lowest doublet at  $\Gamma$ , we report in panels a,b,c of Fig. A.4 the squared moduli of the wavefunctions calculated at the  $\Gamma$  point, as a function of the radial coordinate, for three tubes with  $N_{\text{Si}} = 40$  and

#### Further addressed topics



**Figure A.2** – (a): Brillouin zone (black lines) of the bulk diamond primitive cell. The shaded cube with vertices at the L points is the BZ corresponding to the conventional unit cell of Fig. A.1c. (b): Folding of the bulk BZ onto the two-dimensional BZ (dark orange rectangle) for the planar slab, or equivalently for the tube structure. (c): Ellipsoids of constant energy around the six  $\Delta$  minima of the bulk Si (or Ge) crystal structure. The two conjugated  $\Delta_{\rho}$  minima (red) fold into the  $\Gamma$  point of the 2D BZ of the tube. (d): Schematic of the CB electronic structure of a Si–Ge tube, adopting the same colors of panel c. The two conjugated  $\Delta_{\rho}$  valleys fold into  $\Gamma$  and their degeneracy is resolved due to the VS interaction. The two conjugated  $\Delta_{\theta}$  valleys remain unfolded and do not interact; the same holds for the  $\Delta_z$  valleys.



**Figure A.3** – Conduction band structure of a Si<sub>16</sub>/Ge<sub>9</sub> tube (black solid lines) along the  $\Theta - \Gamma - Z$  path. The internal radius of this tube is  $R_1 = 49.1$  nm. The band structure of a Si<sub>16</sub>/Ge<sub>9</sub> planar slab ( $R_1 \rightarrow \infty$ ) grown on a Si buffer is also reported with red dashed lines.



**Figure A.4** – (a), (b), (c): squared moduli of the wavefunctions, calculated at the  $\Gamma$  point, for tubes with  $N_{\text{Si}} = 40$ , and internal radius  $R_1 = R_{\min}$ ,  $R_1 = 2R_{\min}$ , and  $R_1 = 3R_{\min}$  respectively. The corresponding values for  $N_{\text{Ge}}$  are: 22, 85, 123. The triangular band profiles for the  $\Delta_{\rho}$  valleys are also shown. The white central area represents the Si region; the left (inner side) is made of the H passivation layer; the Ge region in on the right side. (d): VS of the ground-state doublet at  $\Gamma$  as a function of  $N_{\text{Si}}$ . The value of  $N_{\text{Ge}}$  is chosen in order to obtain the minimum internal radius of the tube  $R_1 = R_{\min}$  (black dots), or  $R_1 = 2R_{\min}$  (red triangles), or  $R_1 = 3R_{\min}$  (blue squares). The lines, connecting points with even or odd  $N_{\text{Si}}$ , are only a guide to the eye. The vertical orange line indicates the value of  $N_{\text{Si}}$  for which panels a,b,c are calculated. (e): VS of the ground-state doublet at  $\Gamma$  as a function of the tube at  $\Gamma$  as a function of the ground-state doublet at  $\Gamma$  as a function of the tube internal radius and  $R_1$ , for three different values of  $N_{\text{Si}}$ . Each curve starts from the minimum attainable value for  $R_1$ . The black dots labeled A, B, C refer to the systems of panels a, b, c respectively.

#### Further addressed topics

different curvatures. Since the wavefunctions corresponding to the ground-state doublet are confined mainly in the Si region, it is interesting to plot the VS of the ground state doublet at  $\Gamma$  as a function of  $N_{\text{Si}}$ , for the minimum radius  $R_1 = R_{\min}$  that can be obtained by varying  $N_{\text{Ge}}$  (black squares in Fig. A.4d). For comparison in Fig. A.4d we also show the VS data calculated for twice and three times of this radius (red and blue data points, respectively). From Fig. A.4d we deduce that damping of the VS oscillations can also be obtained for fixed value  $N_{\text{Si}}$  but decreasing  $R_1$  (vertical orange line in Fig. A.4d). Therefore, in Fig. A.4e we plot the VS as a function of the internal radius  $R_1$ , for three fixed values of  $N_{\text{Si}}$ . A detailed discussion of the behavior of the VS oscillations can be found in [215].

In conclusion, for the first time we have theoretically and numerically investigated the electronic band structure of Si/Ge rolled-up nanotubes, presenting the multivalley structure of the conduction band and the intervalley splitting of the tube levels at its bottom. Our results show that the  $\Delta$  band-edge states are inequivalent. This degeneracy removal has been interpreted in terms of the confinement effects and of the action on the electronic spectrum of the non-biaxial strain fields induced by the tube curvature. We have thus shown that the curvature of the tube can be exploited to control the valley splitting magnitude.

## A.2 Porous silicon

The breakthrough of the discovery of room-temperature visible-light emission from porous silicon by Canham [227] has contributed to revive the interest in silicon for optoelectronic applications. Efforts have been focused in fabricating also other silicon nanostructures so to tailor their optical properties by means of quantum confinement (QC) effects. Among them we cite Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> superlattices [228], hydrogen-passivated silicon nanocrystals [229], and silicon nanowires [230]. Theoretical simulations show that whenever the charge carriers in these structures are confined in a region of 1–4 nm, at least in one direction, the obtained gap is located within the visible-light energy spectrum.

In order to understand the physics at the basis of this effect, and the role of the confinement effect in porous silicon, we have studied [231, 232] the emission energy and the oscillator strength of porous silicon with different porosity. Porous silicon is modeled by removing cylindrical holes from a bulk silicon crystal, as shown in Fig. A.5. Note that, for very large porosities, the system is in fact composed of individual nanowires (Fig. A.5f–h). The porosity p is defined as the fraction of void within the porous silicon and it can easily be determined in experiments by weight measurement. Usually, the porosity of fabricated porous silicon may range from 4% for macroporous layers (where the pore size is larger than 50 nm), up to 95% for microporous layers (where the pore size is smaller than 2 nm). Theoretically, we



**Figure A.5** – Silicon supercell of size  $4 \times 4 \times 1$  unit cells with various porosities *p*: (a) *p* = 0 (bulk Si); (b) *p* = 0.78%; (c) *p* = 7%; (d) *p* = 20%; (e) *p* = 38%; and (f) *p* = 62%. Cases (f)–(h) are equivalent and emphasize that, for large porosities, the system is in fact composed of Si nanowires. In particular, panel (h) shows four supercells to demonstrate the separation between the nanowires. The surface dangling bonds are passivated with hydrogen atoms (blue dots).



**Figure A.6** – Band structures along the  $\Gamma$ –X high-symmetry line of a fixed-size porous silicon sample of  $2\times2\times1$  unit cells but with different porosities: (a) p = 0 (bulk Si); (b) p = 3%; (c) p = 28%; (d) p = 72% (Si nanowire). The valence band edge of bulk Si is taken as energy reference. Confinement energies are also shown.

define the porosity as

$$p = \frac{N_{\rm Si}^{\rm bulk} - N_{\rm Si}}{N_{\rm Si}^{\rm bulk}},$$

where  $N_{\text{Si}}$  is the number of silicon atoms in the porous silicon sample and  $N_{\text{Si}}^{\text{bulk}}$  is the number of silicon atoms supposed to be in a bulk silicon crystal with the same volume.

The band structures of systems with different size and porosity have been calculated, using a second-neighbor  $sp^3$  tight-binding method including spin-orbit interaction, with the parametrization of Ref. [233]. An example of the band structures is reported in Fig. A.6.

We subsequently performed a critical study of the functional dependence of the bandgap energy as a function of porosity and interpore distance. The result is that the main parameter that controls the bandgap energy, and hence the emission frequency, is given by the interpore distance. This is due to confinement effects of the electrons and holes in the space between the pores, where the Si atoms are located. The fact that the emission frequency is controlled by confinement effects has been verified studying the power-law dependence of the bandgap energy vs. the interpore distance *d*, which has been verified to follow a low of the type

$$E_g = A + \frac{B}{d^C}$$

where  $E_g$  is the gap energy, d is the interpore distance defined in Fig. A.5, and A, B and C are constants.

Finally, the oscillator strength of the interband transitions at  $\Gamma$  of different samples of porous silicon has been evaluated with a method analogous to the one described



**Figure A.7** – TB results for the oscillator strength of the interband transitions at  $\Gamma$  versus the diameter *d* of Si NWs in the range 5–38 Å. The results are presented in semi-log scale to display the exponential correlation. The dotted lines are guides to the eye.

in Sec. 2.2.1 (but generalized to the second-neighbor TB Hamiltonian); we show the results in Fig. A.7.

## A.3 Intersubband polaritons

During an internship at the École Normale Supérieure in Paris (France), under the supervision of Prof. G. Bastard and Prof. R. Ferreira I studied the effects of a vertical magnetic field on intersubband polaritons in MQW structures composed of materials which display a large band non-parabolicity. Since this work is not focused on Si/Gebased systems, here only a brief introduction to the problem is given, referring the reader to Ref. [234] in which the results are published for all the details.

The idea of the polaritons was first proposed by Hopkins [235]. They are mixed quasiparticles which can be observed when there is a coupling between electronic and photonic states; they are the eigenstates of the system, which consist of a linear superposition of photonic and electronic excitations. The coupling is quantified by the Rabi frequency  $\Omega_0$ .

In particular, ISB polaritons are mixed states formed by the strong coupling of the light within a microcavity and the intersubband transitions of electrons confined in a semiconductor QW embedded in the cavity. Since the first experimental demonstration in 2003 [236] with a GaAs/AlGaAs MQW structure, intense research efforts have been devoted to the study of ISB polaritons. With this kind of polaritons the light-matter coupling can reach very large values [237, 238] becoming comparable to (or even larger than) the bare frequency of the cavity and of the ISB excitations. In this ultrastrong coupling regime, interesting quantum effects appear [239–242]. Moreover, since the coupling strength is proportional to the square root of the number of electrons, it can be controlled by electrical gating [243, 244]. Beside the observation of the strong coupling regime by means of reflectance spectroscopy as in the first experiments, and of photovoltaic measurements [245], also the electrical injection of cavity polaritons and their electroluminescence is being studied with considerable effort [246-249]. Moreover, the coupling of the ISB transition with a surface plasmon supported by a metal grating has been demonstrated [250]. In the effort of reaching larger light-matter couplings toward the ultrastrong coupling regime, other materials beside GaAs/AlGaAs have been considered, like for instance InAs/AlSb MQWs. Also the smaller effective mass of InAs with respect to GaAs  $(m_{\text{InAs}}^*/m_{\text{GaAs}}^* = 0.39)$  implies a stronger coupling [238].

At zero magnetic field, the polaritons can be simply and effectively described by a two-level problem [239], where the first level is the cavity mode with energy  $E_{cav}$ , and the second level is the ISB transition with energy  $E_{21}$  between the first (ground) and the second (excited) subband; the coupling is quantified by the Rabi frequency  $\Omega_R$ , where  $2\hbar\Omega_R$  gives the splitting of the upper and lower polariton branches at the resonance  $E_{cav} = E_{21}$ .

When a magnetic field *B* is applied along the QW growth axis  $\hat{z}$ , neither the energies nor the strength of the ISB–cavity coupling are altered; thus, *a fortiori*, the two-level description of the polariton levels remains valid, if we still focus on transitions between the Landau levels belonging to different subbands. Actually, the aforementioned insensitivity to a vertical magnetic field is exact only for parabolic-band materials. It remains a very good approximation for GaAs-based heterostructures,

A.3 INTERSUBBAND POLARITONS



**Figure A.8** – Polariton branches at fixed in-plane vector  $k_{\parallel}$  versus the magnetic field *B* for a InAs/AlSb MQW structure embedded in a microcavity (black solid lines). Blue dotted–dashed line: bare cavity mode energy  $E_{cav}$ . Red dashed lines: ISB transition energies  $\Delta E_j(B)$ , plotted only in the *B* range in which the corresponding Landau levels in the ground subband are not empty.

since GaAs shows very little non-parabolicity. On the contrary, in narrow-gap semiconductors like InAs or InSb, the band non-parabolicity effects cannot be disregarded in the calculation of the polaritonic states.

In Ref. [234], we show that for intersubband polaritons in narrow-gap semiconductors, with a significant non-parabolicity, the magnetic field plays a true role of an external control parameter that allows to tune the regime of light–matter interactions. It becomes then possible to tune the strength of the coupling of the light with the different non-degenerate intersubband levels. Our numerical results for a InAs/AlSb system identify three different regimes for the polariton coupling as a function of the intensity of the magnetic field. Just to show the final result, we report in Fig. A.8 the resulting magneto-polaritons (black lines) as a function of the magnetic field *B*, for fixed in-plane wavevector.

Our work has also allowed to design an optical parametric oscillator in the FIR spectral range. The structure is based on the existence of a mirror dispersion scheme for the magneto-polaritons, which ideally allows fulfilling phase-matching requirements for the pump and parametric waves.

## List of publications related to this Thesis

## Papers published in peer-reviewed journals

- M. DE SETA, G. CAPELLINI, Y. BUSBY, F. EVANGELISTI, M. ORTOLANI, M. VIR-GILIO, G. GROSSO, **G. PIZZI**, A. NUCARA and S. LUPI, *Conduction band intersubband transitions in Ge/SiGe quantum wells*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **95**, 051918 (2009).
- **G. PIZZI**, M. VIRGILIO and G. GROSSO, *Tight-binding calculation of optical gain in tensile strained* [001]-Ge/SiGe quantum wells, Nanotechnology **21**, 055202 (2010).
- Y. BUSBY, M. DE SETA, G. CAPELLINI, F. EVANGELISTI, M. ORTOLANI, M. VIR-GILIO, G. GROSSO, **G. PIZZI**, P. CALVANI, S. LUPI, M. NARDONE, G. NICOTRA and C. SPINELLA, *Near- and far-infrared absorption and electronic structure of Ge-SiGe multiple quantum wells*, Phys. Rev. B **82**, 205317 (2010).
- N. TIT, Z. H. YAMANI, G. PIZZI and M. VIRGILIO, *Comparison of confinement characters between porous silicon and silicon nanowires*, Phys. Lett. A **375**, 2422 (2011).
- G. PIZZI, F. CAROSELLA, G. BASTARD and R. FERREIRA, *Magnetic field control* of intersubband polaritons in narrow-gap semiconductors, Phys. Rev. B 83, 245318 (2011).
- L. CARROLL, F. IMBERT, H. SIGG, M. SÜESS, E. MÜLLER, M. VIRGILIO, G. PIZZI, P. ROSSBACH, D. CHRASTINA and G. ISELLA, *Quantum-confined direct-gap transitions in tensile-strained Ge/SiGe multiple quantum wells*, Appl. Phys. Lett. 99, 031907 (2011).
- M. VIRGILIO, G. PIZZI and G. GROSSO, *Optical gain in short period Si/Ge superlattices on [001]-SiGe substrates*, J. Appl. Phys. 110, 083105 (2011).
- M. ORTOLANI, D. STEHR, M. WAGNER, M. HELM, G. PIZZI, M. VIRGILIO, G. GROSSO, G. CAPELLINI and M. D. SETA, *Long Intersubband Relaxation*

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THIS THESIS

*Times in n-type Germanium Quantum Wells*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **99**, 201101 (2011).

### Submitted and accepted papers

- N. TIT, Z. H. YAMANI, G. PIZZI and M. VIRGILIO, Origins of visible-light emissions in porous silicon, phys. stat. sol. (c) (Accepted).
- G. PIZZI, M. VIRGILIO, G. GROSSO, S. KIRAVITTAYA and O. G. SCHMIDT, *Curvature effects on valley splitting and degeneracy lifting: The case of Si/Ge rolled-up nanotubes*, Phys. Rev. B (Submitted).

## **Conference proceedings**

- M. VIRGILIO, G. PIZZI, G. GROSSO, M. DE SETA, G. CIASCA, Y. BUSBY, G. CA-PELLINI, F. EVANGELISTI, M. ORTOLANI, A. NUCARA, P. CALVANI, G. NICOTRA, C. SPINELLA, *Intersubband absorption in n-type* [001] *Si/SiGe and Ge/SiGe MQWs*, in Proceedings of The Tenth International Conference on Intersubband Transitions in Quantum Wells (ITQW2009), Montreal, Canada, September 6-11, 2009
- G. PIZZI, M. VIRGILIO, G. GROSSO, Optical Amplification in Tensile-Strained [001]-Ge/SiGe Multiple Quantum Wells: a Tight-Binding Model, in SiNEP-09, First International Workshop on Si based nano-electronics and -photonics, Book of Extended Abstracts, NetBiblo (2009), ISBN: 978-84-9745-416-2
- Y. BUSBY, M. DE SETA, G. CAPELLINI, F. EVANGELISTI, M. ORTOLANI, M. VIR-GILIO, G. GROSSO, G. PIZZI, A. NUCARA, S. LUPI, G. NICOTRA, C. SPINELLA, *Terahertz intersubband transitions and band alignment in* n-*type Ge/SiGe Multi QWs*, in The Second Transalpine Conference on Nanoscience and Nanotechnologies (Transalp'Nano2010), Como, Italy, June 3-5, 2010
- Y. BUSBY, M. DE SETA, G. CAPELLINI, F. EVANGELISTI, M. ORTOLANI, M. VIR-GILIO, G. GROSSO, G. PIZZI, A. NUCARA, S. LUPI, *Intersubband transitions in the conduction band of Ge/SiGe MQWs*, in Proceedings of the 2010 European Materials Research Society Meeting (EMRS2010), Strasbourg, France, June 7-11, 2010
- Y. BUSBY, G. CAPELLINI, F. EVANGELISTI, M. ORTOLANI, M. VIRGILIO, G. GROSso, G. PIZZI, A. NUCARA, S. LUPI, M. DE SETA, *Terahertz intersubband transitions in the conduction band of Ge/SiGe multi quantum wells*, in Infrared Millimeter and Terahertz Waves (IRMMW-THz), 2010 35th International Conference on, Rome, Italy, September 5-10, 2010
- M. DE SETA, Y. BUSBY, G. CAPELLINI, F. EVANGELISTI, M. ORTOLANI, M. VIR-GILIO, G. GROSSO, G. PIZZI, A. NUCARA, P. CALVANI, *Intersubband transitions*

*in the conduction band of Ge/SiGe MQWs*, in **X International Conference on "Nanostructured Materials" (NANO2010)**, Rome, September 13-17, 2010

- G. PIZZI, M. VIRGILIO, G. GROSSO, (Si)<sub>n</sub> /(Ge)<sub>m</sub> superlattices for optoelectronic devices: a theoretical investigation, in Proceedings of the 96<sup>th</sup> annual meeting of the SIF (Italian Physical Society), Bologna, Italy, September 20-24, 2010
- G. PIZZI, F. CAROSELLA, G. BASTARD, R. FERREIRA, Magnetic field effects on intersubband polaritons in narrow gap semiconductors, in Proceedings of The 11<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Intersubband Transitions in Quantum Wells (ITQW2011), Badesi, Sardinia, Italy, September 11-16, 2011
- M. VIRGILIO, G. PIZZI, Y. BUSBY, M. DE SETA, G. CAPELLINI, M. ORTOLANI, S. LUPI, A. NUCARA, P. CALVANI, G. GROSSO, F. EVANGELISTI, Intersubband Transitions in Ge/SiGe Multi Quantum Wells on Si Substrate, in Proceedings of The 11<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Intersubband Transitions in Quantum Wells (ITQW2011), Badesi, Sardinia, Italy, September 11-16, 2011

## Participation at Schools and Conferences

- SiNEP-09 (First International Workshop on Si based nano-electronics and -photonics), Vigo, Spain (Sep 20-23, 2009). In this Workshop I presented a poster titled *Optical amplification in tensile strained* [001]-*Ge/SiGe multiple quantum wells: a tight-binding model.*
- CNR DMD 2009 National School on the Physics of Matter "Physics of Spin in Materials", Chiavari (GE), Italy (Nov 2-9, 2009).
- CMD23 (23<sup>rd</sup> General Conference of the Condensed Matter Division of the European Physical Society), Warsaw, Poland (Aug 30-Sep 3, 2010). In this Conference I presented a poster titled *Bound-to-bound conduction inter-subband transitions in Ge/SiGe MQWs: experiment and modeling.*
- **CINECA 19<sup>th</sup> Summer School on Parallel Computation**, Casalecchio di Reno (BO), Italy (Sep 6-17, 2010).
- 96<sup>th</sup> annual meeting of the SIF (Italian Physical Society), Bologna, Italy (Sep 20-24, 2010). In this Conference I presented an oral contribution titled  $(Si)_n/(Ge)_m$  superlattices for optoelectronic devices: a theoretical investigation.
- 6<sup>th</sup> Optoelectronics and Photonics Winter School: Physics and Applications of T-Rays, Fai della Paganella, Trento, Italy (Feb 20-26, 2011). In this Winter School I presented an poster titled *Effects of the magnetic field on intersubband polaritons in narrow-gap materials.*

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS RELATED TO THIS THESIS

- Polatom Conference on Cold Atoms, Semiconductor Polaritons and Nanoscience, Chersonissos, Crete, Greece (May 2-6, 2011). In this conference I presented a poster titled *Magnetic field effects on intersubband polaritons in semiconductors with non-parabolic band dispersion*.
- Ψ-k/CECAM/CCP9 Graduate School in Electronic-Structure Methods, Oxford, UK (Jul 10-16, 2011).
- ITQW 2011 (11<sup>th</sup> International Conference in Intersubband Transitions in Quantum Wells), Badesi, Sardinia, Italy (Sep 11-16, 2011). In this conference I presented an oral contribution titled *Magnetic field effect on intersubband polaritons in narrow gap semiconductors*.

## Internships and research collaborations during my Ph.D.

• 2010: invited as Ph.D. student/guest scientist for one month at the Leibniz-Institut für Festkörper- und Werkstoffforschung, Dresden, Germany.

During this period at the Institute for Integrative Nanosciences, directed by Prof. O. G. Schmidt, I studied the strain in Si/Ge "rolled-up" nano-and microtubes. The results are being published [215].

• **2010-2011**: internship of five months at the **École Normale Supérieure**, Paris, France.

During this period I have studied the effects of a vertical magnetic field on the intersubband polaritons, under the supervision of Prof. G. Bastard and Prof. R. Ferreira. The results have been published in Ref. [234].

## Acknowledgements

It is a pleasure to thank here all the people who supported me during the last three years as a Ph.D. student, without whom all this work would not have been possible.

It is difficult to overstate my gratitude to my Ph.D. supervisor, Prof. Giuseppe Grosso, for his guidance and help throughout this Thesis, his expertise, his kindness, and his exquisite human qualities. He always provided encouragement, sound advice, good teaching, and he was always able to find the time to discuss with me.

I am really grateful to thank also Dr. Michele Virgilio, with whom I collaborated for most of the work presented in this Thesis: for the countless hours spent together coding, discussing Physics and performing calculations, even at distance.

I would like to acknowledge the support from Prof. Giuseppe La Rocca and Prof. Renato Colle. A special acknowledgment is also dedicated to the collaborators at University of Roma Tre, University of Roma La Sapienza, and NEST-CNR of Pisa: in particular, Prof. Florestano Evangelisti, Prof. Monica De Seta, Prof. Giovanni Capellini, Dr. Yan Busby, Dr. Michele Ortolani, Prof. Alessandro Tredicucci, Luca Masini, Dr. Alessandro Pitanti, Simone Zanotto.

I would then like to show my gratitude to the group of the Leibniz Institut-IFW Dresden, and in particular to prof. Oliver G. Schmidt and Dr. Suwit Kiravittaya, and to the group of École Normale Supérieure of Paris, in particular to prof. Gérald Bastard, Dr. Robson Ferreira and Dr. Francesca Carosella, for their hospitality during my periods abroad.

It is a pleasure to acknowledge also all the people that I have met during these periods abroad, and all friends and colleagues in Pisa and in Pordenone, whose list would be way too long to be written here. But to everyone of them goes my gratitude, because they all directly and indirectly helped me through these years.

And of course a special thank goes to Marcella, not only for her patience and for having encouraged me constantly; but for her love and for the very special person she is.

Lastly, and most importantly, I wish to thank my parents, Adele and Giuseppe, and my sister Antonella, for their love and unconditional support.

## Bibliography

- P. CHEBEN, R. SOREF, D. LOCKWOOD and G. REED, *Silicon Photonics*, Adv. Opt. Tech. 2008, Article ID 510937 (2008).
- [2] L. PAVESI, Silicon-Based Light Sources for Silicon Integrated Circuits, Adv. Opt. Tech. 2008, Article ID 416926 (2008).
- [3] D. PAUL, Silicon photonics: a bright future?, Electron. Lett. 45, 582 (2009).
- [4] J. LIU, X. SUN, R. CAMACHO-AGUILERA, L. C. KIMERLING and J. MICHEL, *Ge-on-Si laser operating at room temperature*, Opt. Lett. **35**, 679 (2010).
- [5] K. TAKAI, C. KANETA, Y. UEHARA and Y. KADOOKA, Development of Problem Solving Environment for Large Scale Electronic Structure Calculations Based on Tight Binding Method, J. Conv. Inform. Technol. 5, 195 (2010).
- [6] http://www.nanohub.org.
- [7] http://www.nextnano.de.
- [8] J. SÉE, P. DOLLFUS and S. GALDIN, Comparison between a sp<sup>3</sup>d<sup>5</sup> tight-binding and an effective-mass description of silicon quantum dots, Phys. Rev. B 66, 193307 (2002).
- [9] A. ZUNGER, On the Farsightedness (hyperopia) of the Standard k·p Model, phys. stat. sol. (a) **190**, 467 (2002).
- [10] N. H. QUANG, N. T. TRUC and Y.-M. NIQUET, *Tight-binding versus effective mass approximation calculation of electronic structures of semiconductor nanocrystals and nanowires*, Comp. Mat. Sci. **44**, 21 (2008).
- [11] H. MERA, M. PERSSON, Y. NIQUET and M. BESCOND, *Effective mass versus tight-binding: Where is the discord?*, in *Computational Electronics (IWCE)*, 2010 14th International Workshop on (2010).
- [12] R. W. G. WYCKOFF, *Crystal Structures*, vol. 1, Interscience Publishers, 2nd ed. (1963).

- P.-O. LÖWDIN, On the Non-Orthogonality Problem Connected with the Use of Atomic Wave Functions in the Theory of Molecules and Crystals, J. Chem. Phys. 18, 365 (1950).
- [14] J. C. SLATER and G. F. KOSTER, Simplified LCAO Method for the Periodic Potential Problem, Phys. Rev. 94, 1498 (1954).
- [15] P. VOGL, H. P. HJALMARSON and J. D. DOW, A Semi-empirical tight-binding theory of the electronic structure of semiconductors, J. Phys. Chem. Sol. 44, 365 (1983).
- [16] J.-M. JANCU, R. SCHOLZ, F. BELTRAM and F. BASSANI, Empirical spds\* tightbinding calculation for cubic semiconductors: General method and material parameters, Phys. Rev. B 57, 6493 (1998).
- [17] M. E. ROSE, Relativistic Electron Theory, Wiley (1961).
- [18] J. D. JACKSON, Classical Electrodynamics, Wiley, third ed. (1998).
- [19] F. BASSANI and G. PASTORI PARRAVICINI, *Electronic States and Optical Transitions in Solids*, Pergamon Press, Moscow (1975).
- [20] J. M. LUTTINGER and W. KOHN, Motion of Electrons and Holes in Perturbed Periodic Fields, Phys. Rev. 97, 869 (1955).
- [21] R. J. ELLIOTT, Spin-Orbit Coupling in Band Theory Character Tables for Some "Double" Space Groups, Phys. Rev. 96, 280 (1954).
- [22] O. MADELUNG (Editor), Semiconductors: Group IV Elements and III-V Compounds, Springer, New York (1991).
- [23] C. G. VAN DE WALLE and R. M. MARTIN, *Theoretical calculations of heterojunction discontinuities in the Si/Ge system*, Phys. Rev. B **34**, 5621 (1986).
- [24] P. N. KEATING, Effect of Invariance Requirements on the Elastic Strain Energy of Crystals with Application to the Diamond Structure, Phys. Rev. 145, 637 (1966).
- [25] P. N. KEATING, Relationship between the Macroscopic and Microscopic Theory of Crystal Elasticity. I. Primitive Crystals, Phys. Rev. **152**, 774 (1966).
- [26] P. N. KEATING, Relationship between the Macroscopic and Microscopic Theory of Crystal Elasticity. II. Nonprimitive Crystals, Phys. Rev. **169**, 758 (1968).
- [27] A. B. ANDERSON, Valence-Force-Field Potentials for Diamondlike Crystals, Phys. Rev. B 8, 3824 (1973).
- [28] P. C. CHOU and N. J. PAGANO, *Elasticity: Tensor, dyadic, and engineering approaches*, Dover Publications (1992).

- [29] W. A. HARRISON, *Electronic structure and the properties of solids: The physics of the chemical bond*, Freeman and Company, San Francisco (1980).
- [30] S. Y. REN, J. D. DOW and D. J. WOLFORD, *Pressure dependence of deep levels in GaAs*, Phys. Rev. B **25**, 7661 (1982).
- [31] T. B. BOYKIN, G. KLIMECK, R. C. BOWEN and F. OYAFUSO, *Diagonal parameter shifts due to nearest-neighbor displacements in empirical tight-binding theory*, Phys. Rev. B **66**, 125207 (2002).
- [32] Y. M. NIQUET, D. RIDEAU, C. TAVERNIER, H. JAOUEN and X. BLASE, *Onsite matrix elements of the tight-binding Hamiltonian of a strained crystal: Application to silicon, germanium, and their alloys*, Phys. Rev. B **79**, 245201 (2009).
- [33] Y. M. NIQUET, C. DELERUE, G. ALLAN and M. LANNOO, Method for tightbinding parametrization: Application to silicon nanostructures, Phys. Rev. B 62, 5109 (2000).
- [34] T. B. BOYKIN, G. KLIMECK and F. OYAFUSO, Valence band effective-mass expressions in the  $sp^3d^5s^*$  empirical tight-binding model applied to a Si and Ge parametrization, Phys. Rev. B **69**, 115201 (2004).
- [35] F. SACCONI, A. DI CARLO, P. LUGLI, M. STADELE and J.-M. JANCU, Full band approach to tunneling in MOS structures, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 51, 741 (2004).
- [36] J.-M. JANCU and P. VOISIN, *Tetragonal and trigonal deformations in zinc-blende semiconductors: A tight-binding point of view*, Phys. Rev. B **76**, 115202 (2007).
- [37] T. B. BOYKIN, M. LUISIER, M. SALMANI-JELODAR and G. KLIMECK, Straininduced, off-diagonal, same-atom parameters in empirical tight-binding theory suitable for [110] uniaxial strain applied to a silicon parametrization, Phys. Rev. B 81, 125202 (2010).
- [38] N. J. EKINS-DAUKES, K. KAWAGUCHI and J. ZHANG, Strain-Balanced Criteria for Multiple Quantum Well Structures and Its Signature in X-ray Rocking Curves, Cryst. Growth Des. 2, 287 (2002).
- [39] J. MATTHEWS and A. BLAKESLEE, *Defects in epitaxial multilayers: III. Preparation of almost perfect multilayers*, J. Cryst. Growth **32**, 265 (1976).
- [40] J. P. DISMUKES, L. EKSTROM and R. J. PAFF, *Lattice Parameter and Density in Germanium-Silicon Alloys*, J. Phys. Chem. **68**, 3021 (1964).
- [41] M. M. RIEGER and P. VOGL, *Electronic-band parameters in strained*  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  *alloys on*  $Si_{1-y}Ge_y$  *substrates*, Phys. Rev. B **48**, 14276 (1993).
- [42] D. PAUL, *The progress towards terahertz quantum cascade lasers on silicon substrates*, Laser Photonics Rev. **4**, 610 (2010).

- [43] R. SCHOLZ, J.-M. JANCU, F. BELTRAM and F. BASSANI, Calculation of Electronic States in Semiconductor Heterostructures with an Empirical spds\* Tight-Binding Model, phys. stat. sol. (b) 217, 449 (2000).
- [44] J. WEBER and M. I. ALONSO, Near-band-gap photoluminescence of Si-Ge alloys, Phys. Rev. B 40, 5683 (1989).
- [45] L. COLOMBO, R. RESTA and S. BARONI, Valence-band offsets at strained Si/Ge interfaces, Phys. Rev. B 44, 5572 (1991).
- [46] G. P. SCHWARTZ, M. S. HYBERTSEN, J. BEVK, R. G. NUZZO, J. P. MANNAERTS and G. J. GUALTIERI, Core-level photoemission measurements of valence-band offsets in highly strained heterojunctions: Si-Ge system, Phys. Rev. B 39, 1235 (1989).
- [47] E. YU, E. CROKE, T. MCGILL and R. MILES, Measurement of the valence-band offset in strained Si/Ge-(100) heterojunctions by x-ray photoelectron spectroscopy, Appl. Phys. Lett. 56, 569 (1990).
- [48] E. O. KANE, Band structure of indium antimonide, J. Phys. Chem. Solids 1, 249 (1957).
- [49] G. BASTARD, *Wave mechanics applied to semiconductor heterostructures*, Les éditions de physique, Les Ulis (1990).
- [50] M. EL KURDI, G. FISHMAN, S. SAUVAGE and P. BOUCAUD, *Comparison between* 6-band and 14-band k·p formalisms in SiGe/Si heterostructures, Phys. Rev. B **68**, 165333 (2003).
- [51] S. RICHARD, F. ANIEL and G. FISHMAN, *Energy-band structure of Ge, Si, and GaAs: A thirty-band k·p method*, Phys. Rev. B **70**, 235204 (2004).
- [52] S. RICHARD, F. ANIEL and G. FISHMAN, Band diagrams of Si and Ge quantum wells via the 30-band k·p method, Phys. Rev. B 72, 245316 (2005).
- [53] M. G. BURT, *The justification for applying the effective-mass approximation to microstructures*, J. Phys.: Cond. Matt. **4**, 6651 (1992).
- [54] G. LEHMANN and M. TAUT, On the Numerical Calculation of the Density of States and Related Properties, phys. stat. sol. (b) 54, 469 (1972).
- [55] F. STERN and W. E. HOWARD, *Properties of Semiconductor Surface Inversion Layers in the Electric Quantum Limit*, Phys. Rev. **163**, 816 (1967).
- [56] K. DRISCOLL and R. PAIELLA, *Design of n-type silicon-based quantum cascade lasers for terahertz light emission*, J. Appl. Phys. **102**, 093103 (2007).
- [57] P. HARRISON, Quantum Wells, Wires and Dots, Wiley, 2nd ed. (2005).

- [58] C. JACOBONI and L. REGGIANI, The Monte Carlo method for the solution of charge transport in semiconductors with applications to covalent materials, Rev. Mod. Phys. 55, 645 (1983).
- [59] N. OZGUVEN and P. C. MCINTYRE, Silicon-germanium interdiffusion in highgermanium-content epitaxial heterostructures, Appl. Phys. Lett. 92, 181907 (2008).
- [60] M. MEDUŇA, O. CAHA, M. KEPLINGER, J. STANGL, G. BAUER, G. MUSSLER and D. GRÜTZMACHER, *Interdiffusion in Ge rich SiGe/Ge multilayers studied by in situ diffraction*, phys. stat. sol. (a) 206, 1775 (2009).
- [61] G. GROSSO and G. PASTORI PARRAVICINI, *Solid State Physics*, Academic Press (2000).
- [62] S.-Y. REN and W. A. HARRISON, Semiconductor properties based upon universal tight-binding parameters, Phys. Rev. B 23, 762 (1981).
- [63] F. TRANI, G. CANTELE, D. NINNO and G. IADONISI, *Tight-binding calculation of the optical absorption cross section of spherical and ellipsoidal silicon nanocrystals*, Phys. Rev. B **72**, 075423 (2005).
- [64] W. W. CHOW and S. W. KOCH, *Semiconductor-Laser Fundamentals*, Springer (1999).
- [65] H. BEBB and E. WILLIAMS, *Photoluminescence I: Theory*, in *Transport and Optical Phenomena*, edited by R. WILLARDSON and A. C. BEER, *Semiconductors and Semimetals*, vol. 8, chap. 4, pp. 181–320, Elsevier (1972).
- [66] S. ZOLLNER, S. GOPALAN and M. CARDONA, *Intervalley deformation potentials and scattering rates in zinc blende semiconductors*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **54**, 614 (1989).
- [67] C. JACOBONI, F. NAVA, C. CANALI and G. OTTAVIANI, *Electron drift velocity and diffusivity in germanium*, Phys. Rev. B **24**, 1014 (1981).
- [68] M. FISCHETTI, Monte Carlo simulation of transport in technologically significant semiconductors of the diamond and zinc-blende structures. I. Homogeneous transport, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices **38**, 634 (1991).
- [69] H. HAUG and S. W. KOCH, *Quantum Theory of Optical and Electronic Properties* of Semiconductors, World Scientific Publishing Company, fourth ed. (2004).
- [70] D. P. DAVÉ and H. F. TAYLOR, *Thomas-Kuhn sum rule for quantum mechanical systems with a spatially varying effective mass*, Phys. Lett. A **184**, 301 (1994).
- [71] Y. FU and M. WILLANDER, Optical absorption coefficients of semiconductor quantum-well infrared detectors, J. Appl. Phys. 77, 4648 (1995).

- [72] F. M. PEETERS, A. MATULIS, M. HELM, T. FROMHERZ and W. HILBER, Oscillator strength and sum rule for intersubband transitions in a superlattice, Phys. Rev. B 48, 12008 (1993).
- [73] M. HELM, The Basic Physics of Intersubband Transitions, in Intersubband Transitions in Quantum Wells, Physics and Device Applications I, edited by H. C. LIU and F. CAPASSO, Semiconductors and Semimetals, vol. 62, chap. 1, pp. 1–99, Academic Press (2000).
- [74] S. K. CHUN and K. L. WANG, Oscillator strength for intersubband transitions in strained n-type  $Si_xGe_{1-x}$  quantum wells, Phys. Rev. B **46**, 7682 (1992).
- [75] J. FAIST, F. CAPASSO, D. L. SIVCO, C. SIRTORI, A. L. HUTCHINSON and A. Y. CHO, *Quantum Cascade Laser*, Science 264, 553 (1994).
- [76] R. KÖHLER, A. TREDICUCCI, F. BELTRAM, H. E. BEERE, E. H. LINFIELD, A. G. DAVIES, D. A. RITCHIE, R. C. IOTTI and F. ROSSI, *Terahertz semiconductor-heterostructure laser*, Nature 417, 156 (2002).
- [77] A. TREDICUCCI and R. KÖHLER, Terahertz Quantum Cascade Lasers, in Intersubband Transitions in Quantum Structures, edited by R. PAIELLA, pp. 45–105, McGraw-Hill (2006).
- [78] J. R. GAO, J. N. HOVENIER, Z. Q. YANG, J. J. A. BASELMANS, A. BARYSHEV, M. HAJENIUS, T. M. KLAPWIJK, A. J. L. ADAM, T. O. KLAASSEN, B. S. WILLIAMS, S. KUMAR, Q. HU and J. L. RENO, *Terahertz heterodyne receiver based on a quantum cascade laser and a superconducting bolometer*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **86**, 244104 (2005).
- [79] H.-W. HÜBERS, S. PAVLOV, A. SEMENOV, R. KÖHLER, L. MAHLER, A. TREDICUCCI, H. BEERE, D. RITCHIE and E. LINFIELD, *Terahertz quantum cascade laser as local oscillator in a heterodyne receiver*, Opt. Express 13, 5890 (2005).
- [80] A. LEE, B. WILLIAMS, S. KUMAR, Q. HU and J. RENO, *Real-time imaging using a 4.3-THz quantum cascade laser and a 320×240 microbolometer focal-plane array*, IEEE Photon. Techn. Lett. **18**, 1415 (2006).
- [81] H.-W. HÜBERS, S. G. PAVLOV, H. RICHTER, A. D. SEMENOV, L. MAHLER, A. TREDICUCCI, H. E. BEERE and D. A. RITCHIE, *High-resolution gas phase spectroscopy with a distributed feedback terahertz quantum cascade laser*, Appl. Phys. Lett. 89, 061115 (2006).
- [82] M. TONOUCHI, Cutting-edge terahertz technology, Nat. Photonics 1, 97 (2007).
- [83] G. SCALARI, C. WALTHER, M. FISCHER, R. TERAZZI, H. BEERE, D. RITCHIE and J. FAIST, *THz and sub-THz quantum cascade lasers*, Laser Photonics Rev. 3, 45 (2009).

- [84] S. KUMAR, Q. HU and J. L. RENO, *186 K operation of terahertz quantum-cascade lasers based on a diagonal design*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **94**, 131105 (2009).
- [85] C. W. I. CHAN, S. FATHOLOLOUMI, E. DUPONT, Z. R. WASILEWSKI, S. R. LAFRAMBOISE, D. BAN, Q. HU and H. C. LIU, A terahertz quantum cascade laser operating up to 193K, in Proceedings of the 11<sup>th</sup> ITQW conference, Badesi, Sardinia, Italy (2011).
- [86] A. WADE, G. FEDOROV, D. SMIRNOV, S. KUMAR, B. S. WILLIAMS, Q. HU and J. L. RENO, *Magnetic-field-assisted terahertz quantum cascade laser operating* up to 225 K, Nat. Photonics 3, 41 (2009).
- [87] M. BELKIN, Q. J. WANG, C. PFLUGL, A. BELYANIN, S. KHANNA, A. DAVIES, E. LINFIELD and F. CAPASSO, *High-Temperature Operation of Terahertz Quantum Cascade Laser Sources*, IEEE J. Sel. Topics Quantum Electron. 15, 952 (2009).
- [88] L. AJILI, G. SCALARI, N. HOYLER, M. GIOVANNINI and J. FAIST, *InGaAs– AlInAs/InP terahertz quantum cascade laser*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **87**, 141107 (2005).
- [89] D. J. PAUL, *Si/SiGe heterostructures: from material and physics to devices and circuits*, Semicond. Sci. Tech. **19**, R75 (2004).
- [90] G. DEHLINGER, L. DIEHL, U. GENNSER, H. SIGG, J. FAIST, K. ENSSLIN, D. GRÜTZMACHER and E. MÜLLER, *Intersubband Electroluminescence from Silicon-Based Quantum Cascade Structures*, Science **290**, 2277 (2000).
- [91] S. A. LYNCH, R. BATES, D. J. PAUL, D. J. NORRIS, A. G. CULLIS, Z. IKONIC, R. W. KELSALL, P. HARRISON, D. D. ARNONE and C. R. PIDGEON, *Intersubband electroluminescence from Si/SiGe cascade emitters at terahertz frequencies*, Appl. Phys. Lett. 81, 1543 (2002).
- [92] H. VON KÄNEL, M. KUMMER, G. ISELLA, E. MULLER and T. HACKBARTH, Very high hole mobilities in modulation-doped Ge quantum wells grown by low-energy plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition, Appl. Phys. Lett. **80**, 2922 (2002).
- [93] M. DE SETA, G. CAPELLINI, Y. BUSBY, F. EVANGELISTI, M. ORTOLANI, M. VIR-GILIO, G. GROSSO, G. PIZZI, A. NUCARA and S. LUPI, *Conduction band intersubband transitions in Ge/SiGe quantum wells*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **95**, 051918 (2009).
- [94] Y. BUSBY, M. DE SETA, G. CAPELLINI, F. EVANGELISTI, M. ORTOLANI, M. VIR-GILIO, G. GROSSO, G. PIZZI, P. CALVANI, S. LUPI, M. NARDONE, G. NICOTRA and C. SPINELLA, Near- and far-infrared absorption and electronic structure of Ge-SiGe multiple quantum wells, Phys. Rev. B 82, 205317 (2010).
- [95] V. A. SHAH, A. DOBBIE, M. MYRONOV, D. J. F. FULGONI, L. J. NASH and D. R. LEADLEY, *Reverse graded relaxed buffers for high Ge content SiGe virtual substrates*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **93**, 192103 (2008).

- [96] G. CAPELLINI, M. DE SETA, Y. BUSBY, M. PEA, F. EVANGELISTI, G. NICOTRA, C. SPINELLA, M. NARDONE and C. FERRARI, Strain relaxation in high Ge content SiGe layers deposited on Si, J. Appl. Phys. 107, 063504 (2010).
- [97] G. CIASCA, M. D. SETA, G. CAPELLINI, F. EVANGELISTI, M. ORTOLANI, M. VIR-GILIO, G. GROSSO, A. NUCARA and P. CALVANI, Terahertz intersubband absorption and conduction band alignment in n-type Si/SiGe multiple quantum wells, Phys. Rev. B 79, 085302 (2009).
- [98] E. R. BROWN and S. J. EGLASH, Calculation of the intersubband absorption strength in ellipsoidal-valley quantum wells, Phys. Rev. B **41**, 7559 (1990).
- [99] V. V. AFANAS'EV, A. STESMANS, L. SOURIAU, R. LOO and M. MEURIS, Valence band energy in confined  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  (0.28<x<0.93) layers, Appl. Phys. Lett. **94**, 172106 (2009).
- [100] S. V. KONDRATENKO, A. S. NIKOLENKO, O. V. VAKULENKO, M. Y. VALAKH, V. O. YUKHYMCHUK, A. V. DVURECHENSKII and A. I. NIKIFOROV, Band offsets and photocurrent spectroscopy of Si/Ge heterostructures with quantum dots, Nanotechnology 19, 145703 (2008).
- [101] P. MURZYN, C. R. PIDGEON, J.-P. R. WELLS, I. V. BRADLEY, Z. IKONIC, R. W. KELSALL, P. HARRISON, S. A. LYNCH, D. J. PAUL, D. D. ARNONE, D. J. ROBBINS, D. NORRIS and A. G. CULLIS, *Picosecond intersubband dynamics in p-Si/SiGe quantum-well emitter structures*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **80**, 1456 (2002).
- [102] R. W. KELSALL, Z. IKONIC, P. MURZYN, C. R. PIDGEON, P. J. PHILLIPS, D. CARDER, P. HARRISON, S. A. LYNCH, P. TOWNSEND, D. J. PAUL, S. L. LIEW, D. J. NORRIS and A. G. CULLIS, *Intersubband lifetimes in p-Si/SiGe terahertz quantum cascade heterostructures*, Phys. Rev. B 71, 115326 (2005).
- [103] P. RAUTER, T. FROMHERZ, G. BAUER, N. Q. VINH, B. N. MURDIN, J. P. PHILLIPS, C. R. PIDGEON, L. DIEHL, G. DEHLINGER and D. GRÜTZMACHER, *Direct monitoring of the excited state population in biased SiGe valence band quantum wells by femtosecond resolved photocurrent experiments*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **89**, 211111 (2006).
- [104] P. RAUTER, T. FROMHERZ, N. Q. VINH, B. N. MURDIN, G. MUSSLER, D. GRÜTZ-MACHER and G. BAUER, Continuous Voltage Tunability of Intersubband Relaxation Times in Coupled SiGe Quantum Well Structures Using Ultrafast Spectroscopy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102, 147401 (2009).
- [105] M. ORTOLANI, D. STEHR, M. WAGNER, M. HELM, G. PIZZI, M. VIRGILIO, G. GROSSO, G. CAPELLINI and M. D. SETA, Long Intersubband Relaxation Times in n-type Germanium Quantum Wells, Appl. Phys. Lett. 99, 201101 (2011).
- [106] D. STEHR, S. WINNERL, M. HELM, T. DEKORSY, T. ROCH and G. STRASSER, Pump-probe spectroscopy of interminiband relaxation and electron cooling in doped superlattices, Appl. Phys. Lett. 88, 151108 (2006).
- [107] B. N. MURDIN, G. M. H. KNIPPELS, A. F. G. VAN DER MEER, C. R. PIDGEON, C. J. G. M. LANGERAK, M. HELM, W. HEISS, K. UNTERRAINER, E. GORNIK, K. K. GEERINCK, N. J. HOVENIER and W. T. WENCKEBACH, *Excite-probe determination of the intersubband lifetime in wide GaAs/AlGaAs quantum wells using a far-infrared free-electron laser*, Semicond. Sci. Tech. **9**, 1554 (1994).
- [108] G. SCALARI, L. AJILI, J. FAIST, H. BEERE, E. LINFIELD, D. RITCHIE and G. DAVIES, *Far-infrared* ( $\lambda \simeq 87 \mu m$ ) bound-to-continuum quantum-cascade lasers operating up to 90 K, Appl. Phys. Lett. **82**, 3165 (2003).
- [109] A. VALAVANIS, Z. IKONIĆ and R. W. KELSALL, Intersubband carrier scattering in n - and p-Si/SiGe quantum wells with diffuse interfaces, Phys. Rev. B 77, 075312 (2008).
- [110] T. UNUMA, M. YOSHITA, T. NODA, H. SAKAKI and H. AKIYAMA, Intersubband absorption linewidth in GaAs quantum wells due to scattering by interface roughness, phonons, alloy disorder, and impurities, J. Appl. Phys. 93, 1586 (2003).
- [111] A. VALAVANIS, T. V. DINH, L. J. M. LEVER, Z. IKONIĆ and R. W. KELSALL, Material configurations for n-type silicon-based terahertz quantum cascade lasers, Phys. Rev. B 83, 195321 (2011).
- [112] F. SCHÄFFLER, High-mobility Si and Ge structures, Semicond. Sci. Tech. 12, 1515 (1997).
- [113] C. G. VAN DE WALLE, Band lineups and deformation potentials in the modelsolid theory, Phys. Rev. B **39**, 1871 (1989).
- [114] O. GUNNARSSON and B. I. LUNDQVIST, Exchange and correlation in atoms, molecules, and solids by the spin-density-functional formalism, Phys. Rev. B 13, 4274 (1976).
- [115] M. FRANZ, K. PRESSEL, A. BARZ, P. DOLD and K. W. BENZ, Shallow donors in Ge-rich GeSi bulk crystals, Appl. Phys. Lett. 74, 2708 (1999).
- [116] R. KRÜSSMANN, H. VOLLMER and R. LABUSCH, *The Activation Energy of Phos-phorus Donors in Silicon-Rich Silicon-Germanium Alloys*, Phys. Stat. Sol. (b) 118, 275 (1983).
- [117] B. ZHENG, J. MICHEL, F. Y. G. REN, L. C. KIMERLING, D. C. JACOBSON and J. M. POATE, Room-temperature sharp line electroluminescence at  $\lambda$ =1.54 µm from an erbium-doped, silicon light-emitting diode, Appl. Phys. Lett. **64**, 2842 (1994).
- [118] N. KOSHIDA, Device Applications of Silicon Nanocrystals and Nanostructures, Springer (2009).

- [119] X. SUN, A. ZADOK, M. J. SHEARN, K. A. DIEST, A. GHAFFARI, H. A. ATWATER, A. SCHERER and A. YARIV, *Electrically pumped hybrid evanescent Si/InGaAsP lasers*, Opt. Lett. 34, 1345 (2009).
- [120] K.-I. TAKAKURA, N. HIROI, T. SUEMASU, S. F. CHICHIBU and F. HASEGAWA, Investigation of direct and indirect band gaps of [100]-oriented nearly strainfree  $\beta$ -FeSi<sub>2</sub> films grown by molecular-beam epitaxy, Appl. Phys. Lett. **80**, 556 (2002).
- [121] N. KOSHIDA and H. KOYAMA, Visible electroluminescence from porous silicon, Appl. Phys. Lett. 60, 347 (1992).
- [122] Y.-H. KUO, Y. K. LEE, Y. GE, S. REN, J. E. ROTH, T. I. KAMINS, D. A. B. MILLER and J. S. HARRIS, Strong quantum-confined Stark effect in germanium quantumwell structures on silicon, Nature 437, 1334 (2005).
- [123] M. BONFANTI, E. GRILLI, M. GUZZI, M. VIRGILIO, G. GROSSO, D. CHRASTINA, G. ISELLA, H. VON KANEL and A. NEELS, *Optical transitions in Ge/SiGe multiple quantum wells with Ge-rich barriers*, Phys. Rev. B 78, 041407 (2008).
- [124] Y.-H. KUO, Y. K. LEE, Y. GE, S. REN, J. E. ROTH, T. I. KAMINS, D. A. B. MILLER and J. S. HARRIS, JR., Quantum-Confined Stark Effect in Ge/SiGe Quantum Wells on Si for Optical Modulators, IEEE J. Sel. Topics Quantum Electron. 12, 1503 (2006).
- [125] J. LIU, D. D. CANNON, K. WADA, Y. ISHIKAWA, D. T. DANIELSON, S. JONGTHAM-MANURAK, J. MICHEL and L. C. KIMERLING, Deformation potential constants of biaxially tensile stressed Ge epitaxial films on Si(100), Phys. Rev. B 70, 155309 (2004).
- [126] M. EL KURDI, H. BERTIN, E. MARTINCIC, M. DE KERSAUSON, G. FISHMAN, S. SAUVAGE, A. BOSSEBOEUF and P. BOUCAUD, Control of direct band gap emission of bulk germanium by mechanical tensile strain, Appl. Phys. Lett. 96, 041909 (2010).
- [127] J. LIU, D. D. CANNON, K. WADA, Y. ISHIKAWA, S. JONGTHAMMANURAK, D. T. DANIELSON, J. MICHEL and L. C. KIMERLING, *Tensile strained Ge p-i-n photodetectors on Si platform for C and L band telecommunications*, Appl. Phys. Lett. 87, 011110 (2005).
- [128] J. LIU, X. SUN, D. PAN, X. WANG, L. C. KIMERLING, T. L. KOCH and J. MICHEL, *Tensile-strained, n-type Ge as a gain medium formonolithic laser integration on Si*, Opt. Express 15, 11272 (2007).
- [129] J. MENENDEZ and J. KOUVETAKIS, *Type-I Ge/Ge*<sub>1-x-y</sub>Si<sub>x</sub>Sn<sub>y</sub> strained-layer heterostructures with a direct Ge bandgap, Appl. Phys. Lett. **85**, 1175 (2004).

- [130] Y.-Y. FANG, J. TOLLE, R. ROUCKA, A. V. G. CHIZMESHYA, J. KOUVETAKIS, V. R. D'COSTA and J. MENÉNDEZ, Perfectly tetragonal, tensile-strained Ge on Ge<sub>1-v</sub>Sn<sub>v</sub> buffered Si(100), Appl. Phys. Lett. **90**, 061915 (2007).
- [131] S. TAKEUCHI, A. SAKAI, O. NAKATSUKA, M. OGAWA and S. ZAIMA, *Tensile strained Ge layers on strain-relaxed Ge*<sub>1-x</sub> $Sn_x$ /virtual Ge substrates, Thin Solid Films **517**, 159 (2008).
- [132] R. A. SOREF and C. H. PERRY, Predicted band gap of the new semiconductor SiGeSn, J. Appl. Phys. 69, 539 (1991).
- [133] P. MOONTRAGOON, Z. IKONIC and P. HARRISON, Band structure calculations of Si-Ge-Sn alloys: achieving direct band gap materials, Semicond. Sci. Tech. 22, 742 (2007).
- [134] M. BAUER, C. RITTER, P. A. CROZIER, J. REN, J. MENENDEZ, G. WOLF and J. KOUVETAKIS, Synthesis of ternary SiGeSn semiconductors on Si(100) via  $Sn_xGe_{1-x}$  buffer layers, Appl. Phys. Lett. 83, 2163 (2003).
- [135] P. AELLA, C. COOK, J. TOLLE, S. ZOLLNER, A. V. G. CHIZMESHYA and J. KOU-VETAKIS, *Optical and structural properties of*  $Si_x Sn_y Ge_{1-x-y}$  *alloys*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **84**, 888 (2004).
- [136] J. TOLLE, R. ROUCKA, A. V. G. CHIZMESHYA, J. KOUVETAKIS, V. R. D'COSTA and J. MENENDEZ, *Compliant tin-based buffers for the growth of defect-free strained heterostructures on silicon*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **88**, 252112 (2006).
- [137] V. R. D'COSTA, Y.-Y. FANG, J. TOLLE, J. KOUVETAKIS and J. MENENDEZ, Tunable Optical Gap at a Fixed Lattice Constant in Group-IV Semiconductor Alloys, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102, 107403 (2009).
- [138] G. PIZZI, M. VIRGILIO and G. GROSSO, *Tight-binding calculation of optical gain in tensile strained [001]-Ge/SiGe quantum wells*, Nanotechnology **21**, 055202 (2010).
- [139] S.-W. CHANG and S. L. CHUANG, *Theory of Optical Gain of Ge-Si*<sub>x</sub> $Ge_ySn_{1-x-y}$ *Quantum-Well Lasers*, IEEE J. Quantum Elect. **43**, 249 (2007).
- [140] G. JONES and E. O'REILLY, Improved performance of long-wavelength strained bulk-like semiconductor lasers, IEEE J. Quantum Elect. 29, 1344 (1993).
- [141] S.-L. CHENG, J. LU, G. SHAMBAT, H.-Y. YU, K. SARASWAT, J. VUCKOVIC and Y. NISHI, Room temperature 1.6 µm electroluminescence from Ge light emitting diode on Si substrate, Opt. Express 17, 10019 (2009).
- [142] T.-H. CHENG, C.-Y. KO, C.-Y. CHEN, K.-L. PENG, G.-L. LUO, C. W. LIU and H.-H. TSENG, *Competitiveness between direct and indirect radiative transitions* of Ge, Appl. Phys. Lett. **96**, 091105 (2010).

- [143] M. DE KERSAUSON, R. JAKOMIN, M. EL KURDI, G. BEAUDOIN, N. ZEROUNIAN, F. ANIEL, S. SAUVAGE, I. SAGNES and P. BOUCAUD, *Direct and indirect band gap* room temperature electroluminescence of Ge diodes, J. Appl. Phys. **108**, 023105 (2010).
- [144] T.-H. CHENG, K.-L. PENG, C.-Y. KO, C.-Y. CHEN, H.-S. LAN, Y.-R. WU, C. W. LIU and H.-H. TSENG, Strain-enhanced photoluminescence from Ge direct transition, Appl. Phys. Lett. 96, 211108 (2010).
- [145] Y. CHEN, C. LI, Z. ZHOU, H. LAI, S. CHEN, W. DING, B. CHENG and Y. YU, Room temperature photoluminescence of tensile-strained Ge/Si<sub>0.13</sub>Ge<sub>0.87</sub> quantum wells grown on silicon-based germanium virtual substrate, Appl. Phys. Lett. 94, 141902 (2009).
- [146] M. EL KURDI, T. KOCINIEWSKI, T.-P. NGO, J. BOULMER, D. DEBARRE, P. BOU-CAUD, J. F. DAMLENCOURT, O. KERMARREC and D. BENSAHEL, *Enhanced photoluminescence of heavily n-doped germanium*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **94**, 191107 (2009).
- [147] C. LI, Y. CHEN, Z. ZHOU, H. LAI and S. CHEN, Enhanced photoluminescence of strained Ge with a delta-doping SiGe layer on silicon and silicon-on-insulator, Appl. Phys. Lett. 95, 251102 (2009).
- [148] X. SUN, J. LIU, L. C. KIMERLING and J. MICHEL, *Direct gap photoluminescence* of *n*-type tensile-strained Ge-on-Si, Appl. Phys. Lett. **95**, 011911 (2009).
- [149] X. SUN, J. LIU, L. KIMERLING and J. MICHEL, *Toward a Germanium Laser for Integrated Silicon Photonics*, IEEE J. Sel. Topics Quantum Electron. 16, 124 (2010).
- [150] G.-E. CHANG, S.-W. CHANG and S. L. CHUANG, Theory for n-type doped, tensilestrained  $Ge-Si_xGe_ySn_{1-x-y}$  quantum-well lasers at telecom wavelength, Opt. Express 17, 11246 (2009).
- [151] L. D. LAUDE, F. H. POLLAK and M. CARDONA, Effects of Uniaxial Stress on the Indirect Exciton Spectrum of Silicon, Phys. Rev. B 3, 2623 (1971).
- [152] T. FROMHERZ, E. KOPPENSTEINER, M. HELM, G. BAUER, J. F. NÜTZEL and G. ABSTREITER, Hole energy levels and intersubband absorption in modulationdoped  $Si/Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  multiple quantum wells, Phys. Rev. B **50**, 15073 (1994).
- [153] http://www.ioffe.ru/SVA/NSM/Semicond.
- [154] L. CARROLL, F. IMBERT, H. SIGG, M. SÜESS, E. MÜLLER, M. VIRGILIO, G. PIZZI, P. ROSSBACH, D. CHRASTINA and G. ISELLA, *Quantum-confined direct-gap transitions in tensile-strained Ge/SiGe multiple quantum wells*, Appl. Phys. Lett. 99, 031907 (2011).

- [155] G. ISELLA, D. CHRASTINA, B. RÖSSNER, T. HACKBARTH, H. J. HERZOG, U. KÖNIG and H. VON KÄNEL, Low-energy plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition for strained Si and Ge heterostructures and devices, Solid State Electron. 48, 1317 (2004).
- [156] Y. ISHIKAWA, K. WADA, J. LIU, D. D. CANNON, H.-C. LUAN, J. MICHEL and L. C. KIMERLING, Strain-induced enhancement of near-infrared absorption in Ge epitaxial layers grown on Si substrate, J. Appl. Phys. 98, 013501 (2005).
- [157] H. SHEN, P. PARAYANTHAL, F. H. POLLAK, M. TOMKIEWICZ, T. J. DRUMMOND and J. N. SCHULMAN, *Photoreflectance study of GaAs/AlAs superlattices: Fit to electromodulation theory*, Appl. Phys. Lett. 48, 653 (1986).
- [158] D. J. PAUL, 8-band  $k \cdot p$  modeling of the quantum confined Stark effect in Ge quantum wells on Si substrates, Phys. Rev. B 77, 155323 (2008).
- [159] J.-M. BARIBEAU, X-ray scattering analysis of interface roughness and diffusion, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B 16, 1568 (1998).
- [160] X.-C. LIU and D. R. LEADLEY, Silicon-germanium interdiffusion in strained Ge/SiGe multiple quantum well structures, J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 43, 505303 (2010).
- [161] M. VIRGILIO, G. PIZZI and G. GROSSO, Optical gain in short period Si/Ge superlattices on [001]-SiGe substrates, J. Appl. Phys. 110, 083105 (2011).
- [162] F. CERDEIRA, Optical properties, in Germanium Silicon: Physics and Materials, edited by R. HULL and J. C. BEAN, Semiconductors and Semimetals, vol. 56, chap. 5, pp. 226–292, Academic Press, San Diego (1999).
- [163] S. FROYEN, D. M. WOOD and A. ZUNGER, Structural and electronic properties of epitaxial thin-layer Si<sub>n</sub>Ge<sub>n</sub> superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 37, 6893 (1988).
- [164] S. CIRACI, A. BARATOFF and I. P. BATRA, Zone-folded direct band gaps and energetics in strained  $(Si)_4/(Ge)_4$  superlattices, Phys. Rev. B **41**, 6069 (1990).
- [165] J. ZI, K. ZHANG and X. XIE, Theoretical study of structures and growth of strained Si/Ge superlattices, Appl. Phys. Lett. 57, 165 (1990).
- [166] M. S. HYBERTSEN and M. SCHLÜTER, *Theory of optical transitions in Si/Ge(001) strained-layer superlattices*, Phys. Rev. B **36**, 9683 (1987).
- [167] K. B. WONG, M. JAROS, I. MORRISON and J. P. HAGON, *Electronic Structure and Optical Properties of Si-Ge Superlattices*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60, 2221 (1988).
- [168] M. A. GELL, Effect of buffer-layer composition on new optical transitions in Si/Ge short-period superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 38, 7535 (1988).

- [169] S. SATPATHY, R. M. MARTIN and C. G. VAN DE WALLE, Electronic properties of the (100) (Si)/(Ge) strained-layer superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 38, 13237 (1988).
- [170] U. SCHMID, N. E. CHRISTENSEN, M. ALOUANI and M. CARDONA, *Electronic and optical properties of strained Ge/Si superlattices*, Phys. Rev. B 43, 14597 (1991).
- [171] R. J. TURTON and M. JAROS, *Linear and nonlinear optical properties of direct gap Si-Ge superlattices*, Optoelectronics IEEE Proceedings J. **138**, 323 (1991).
- [172] T. P. PEARSALL, J. M. VANDENBERG, R. HULL and J. M. BONAR, Structure and optical properties of strained Ge-Si superlattices grown on (001) Ge, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63, 2104 (1989).
- [173] R. ZACHAI, K. EBERL, G. ABSTREITER, E. KASPER and H. KIBBEL, Photoluminescence in short-period Si/Ge strained-layer superlattices, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64, 1055 (1990).
- [174] I. A. PAPADOGONAS, A. N. ANDRIOTIS and E. N. ECONOMOU, Optical properties of  $Si_mGe_n$  superlattices: A CPA treatment of the interface diffusion, Phys. Rev. B 55, 10760 (1997).
- [175] C. TSERBAK, H. M. POLATOGLOU and G. THEODOROU, Unified approach to the electronic structure of strained Si/Ge superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 47, 7104 (1993).
- [176] T. P. PEARSALL, L. COLACE, A. DIVERGILIO, W. JÄGER, D. STENKAMP, G. THEODOROU, H. PRESTING, E. KASPER and K. THONKE, Spectroscopy of band-to-band optical transitions in Si-Ge alloys and superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 57, 9128 (1998).
- [177] M. GELL, Direct-gap Si/Ge superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 40, 1966 (1989).
- [178] U. MENCZIGAR, G. ABSTREITER, J. OLAJOS, H. GRIMMEISS, H. KIBBEL,
  H. PRESTING and E. KASPER, Enhanced band-gap luminescence in strainsymmetrized (Si)<sub>m</sub>/(Ge)<sub>n</sub> superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 47, 4099 (1993).
- [179] P. A. M. RODRIGUES, M. A. ARAÚJO SILVA, F. CERDEIRA and J. C. BEAN, Confinement and zone folding in the E<sub>1</sub>-like optical transitions of Ge/Si quantum wells and superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 48, 18024 (1993).
- [180] J. OLAJOS, J. ENGVALL, H. G. GRIMMEISS, U. MENCZIGAR, M. GAIL, G. ABSTRE-ITER, H. KIBBEL, E. KASPER and H. PRESTING, *Photo- and electroluminescence in short-period Si/Ge superlattice structures*, Semicond. Sci. Tech. 9, 2011 (1994).
- [181] H. PRESTING, H. KIBBEL, M. JAROS, R. M. TURTON, U. MENCZIGAR, G. AB-STREITER and H. G. GRIMMEISS, Ultrathin  $Si_mGe_n$  strained layer superlattices — a step towards Si optoelectronics, Semicond. Sci. Tech. 7, 1127 (1992).

- [182] S. GHOSH, J. WEBER and H. PRESTING, *Photoluminescence processes in*  $Si_mGe_n$  *superlattices*, Phys. Rev. B **61**, 15625 (2000).
- [183] T. P. PEARSALL, Differential optical absorption spectroscopy in Ge-Si superlattices, Appl. Phys. Lett. **60**, 1712 (1992).
- [184] T. P. PEARSALL, H. POLATOGLOU, H. PRESTING and E. KASPER, Optical absorption spectroscopy of Si-Ge alloys and superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 54, 1545 (1996).
- [185] U. SCHMID, J. HUMLÍČEK, F. LUKE, M. CARDONA, H. PRESTING, H. KIBBEL, E. KASPER, K. EBERL, W. WEGSCHEIDER and G. ABSTREITER, *Optical transitions in strained Ge/Si superlattices*, Phys. Rev. B 45, 6793 (1992).
- [186] Y. D. KIM, M. V. KLEIN, J.-M. BARIBEAU, S. H. HWANG, K. W. WHANG and E. YOON, Spectroscopic ellipsometry study on E<sub>2</sub> peak splitting of Si–Ge short period superlattices, J. Appl. Phys. 81, 7952 (1997).
- [187] U. GNUTZMANN and K. CLAUSECKER, *Theory of direct optical transitions in an optical indirect semiconductor with a superlattice structure*, Appl. Phys. A **3**, 9 (1974).
- [188] G. THEODOROU and C. TSERBAK, Interface intermixing influence on the electronic and optical properties of Si/Ge strained-layer superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 51, 4723 (1995).
- [189] R. J. TURTON and M. JAROS, Effects of interfacial ordering on the optical properties of Si-Ge superlattices, Semicond. Sci. Tech. 8, 2003 (1993).
- [190] C. SHENG, T.-C. ZHOU, Q. CAI, DAWEI-GONG, M.-R. YU, X.-J. ZHANG and X. WANG, Suppression of Si-Ge interfacial vibration mode in the Raman spectrum of a Si<sub>6</sub>Ge<sub>4</sub> superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 53, 10771 (1996).
- [191] E. KASPER, H. KIBBEL, H. JORKE, H. BRUGGER, E. FRIESS and G. ABSTREITER, Symmetrically strained Si/Ge superlattices on Si substrates, Phys. Rev. B 38, 3599 (1988).
- [192] U. SCHMID, F. LUKE, N. E. CHRISTENSEN, M. ALOUANI, M. CARDONA, E. KASPER, H. KIBBEL and H. PRESTING, *Interband transitions in strain-symmetrized Ge*<sub>4</sub>Si<sub>6</sub> superlattices, Phys. Rev. Lett. **65**, 1933 (1990).
- [193] H. M. POLATOGLOU, G. THEODOROU and C. TSERBAK, Optical absorption of pseudomorphic Si/Ge superlattices, Phys. Rev. B 49, 8132 (1994).
- [194] C. TSERBAK, H. M. POLATOGLOU and G. THEODOROU, (Si)<sub>3</sub>/(Ge)<sub>4</sub> Superlattices: Direct-Gap Semiconductors?, Europhys. Lett. **18**, 451 (1992).

- [195] M. VIRGILIO and G. GROSSO, Valley splitting and optical intersubband transitions at parallel and normal incidence in [001]-Ge/SiGe quantum wells, Phys. Rev. B 79, 165310 (2009).
- [196] O. GÜLSEREN, T. YILDIRIM and S. CIRACI, *Systematic ab initio study of curvature effects in carbon nanotubes*, Phys. Rev. B **65**, 153405 (2002).
- [197] S. B. FAGAN, L. B. DA SILVA and R. MOTA, Ab initio Study of Radial Deformation Plus Vacancy on Carbon Nanotubes: Energetics and Electronic Properties, Nano Lett. 3, 289 (2003).
- [198] V. M. OSADCHII and V. Y. PRINZ, *Quantum confinement in nanocorrugated semiconductor films*, Phys. Rev. B **72**, 033313 (2005).
- [199] Y. MEI, S. KIRAVITTAYA, M. BENYOUCEF, D. J. THURMER, T. ZANDER, C. DENEKE, F. CAVALLO, A. RASTELLI and O. G. SCHMIDT, Optical Properties of a Wrinkled Nanomembrane with Embedded Quantum Well, Nano Lett. 7, 1676 (2007).
- [200] S. ONO and H. SHIMA, *Tuning the electrical resistivity of semiconductor thin films by nanoscale corrugation*, Phys. Rev. B **79**, 235407 (2009).
- [201] Y. MEI, S. KIRAVITTAYA, S. HARAZIM and O. G. SCHMIDT, Principles and applications of micro and nanoscale wrinkles, Mat. Sci. Eng. R: Reports 70, 209 (2010).
- [202] C. ORTIX, S. KIRAVITTAYA, O. G. SCHMIDT and J. VAN DEN BRINK, Curvatureinduced geometric potential in strain-driven nanostructures, Phys. Rev. B 84, 045438 (2011).
- [203] P. CENDULA, S. KIRAVITTAYA, I. MÖNCH, J. SCHUMANN and O. G. SCHMIDT, Directional Roll-up of Nanomembranes Mediated by Wrinkling, Nano Lett. 11, 236 (2011).
- [204] O. G. SCHMIDT and K. EBERL, *Nanotechnology: Thin solid films roll up into nanotubes*, Nature **410**, 168 (2001).
- [205] S. V. GOLOD, V. Y. PRINZ, V. I. MASHANOV and A. K. GUTAKOVSKY, Fabrication of conducting GeSi/Si micro- and nanotubes and helical microcoils, Semicond. Sci. Tech. 16, 181 (2001).
- [206] J. ZANG, M. HUANG and F. LIU, Mechanism for Nanotube Formation from Self-Bending Nanofilms Driven by Atomic-Scale Surface-Stress Imbalance, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 146102 (2007).
- [207] X. LI, Strain induced semiconductor nanotubes: from formation process to device applications, J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. **41**, 193001 (2008).

- [208] M. HUANG, F. CAVALLO, F. LIU and M. G. LAGALLY, *Nanomechanical architecture of semiconductor nanomembranes*, Nanoscale **3**, 96 (2011).
- [209] C. C. BOF BUFON, J. D. COJAL GONZÁLEZ, D. J. THURMER, D. GRIMM, M. BAUER and O. G. SCHMIDT, Self-Assembled Ultra-Compact Energy Storage Elements Based on Hybrid Nanomembranes, Nano Lett. 10, 2506 (2010).
- [210] K. DIETRICH, C. STRELOW, C. SCHLIEHE, C. HEYN, A. STEMMANN, S. SCHWAIGER, S. MENDACH, A. MEWS, H. WELLER, D. HEITMANN and T. KIPP, Optical Modes Excited by Evanescent-Wave-Coupled PbS Nanocrystals in Semiconductor Microtube Bottle Resonators, Nano Lett. 10, 627 (2010).
- [211] E. J. SMITH, S. SCHULZE, S. KIRAVITTAYA, Y. MEI, S. SANCHEZ and O. G. SCHMIDT, Lab-in-a-Tube: Detection of Individual Mouse Cells for Analysis in Flexible Split-Wall Microtube Resonator Sensors, Nano Lett. (2010), doi: 10.1021/nl1036148.
- [212] S. SANCHEZ, A. N. ANANTH, V. M. FOMIN, M. VIEHRIG and O. G. SCHMIDT, Superfast Motion of Catalytic Microjet Engines at Physiological Temperature, J. Am. Chem. Soc. (2011), doi: 10.1021/ja205012j.
- [213] Z. TIAN, V. VEERASUBRAMANIAN, P. BIANUCCI, S. MUKHERJEE, Z. MI, A. G. KIRK and D. V. PLANT, Single rolled-up InGaAs/GaAs quantum dot microtubes integrated with silicon-on-insulator waveguides, Opt. Express 19, 12164 (2011).
- [214] C. C. BOF BUFON, J. D. ARIAS ESPINOZA, D. J. THURMER, M. BAUER, C. DENEKE, U. ZSCHIESCHANG, H. KLAUK and O. G. SCHMIDT, *Hybrid Organic/Inorganic Molecular Heterojunctions Based on Strained Nanomembranes*, Nano Lett. (2011), doi: 10.1021/nl201773d.
- [215] G. PIZZI, M. VIRGILIO, G. GROSSO, S. KIRAVITTAYA and O. G. SCHMIDT, *Curvature effects on valley splitting and degeneracy lifting: The case of Si/Ge rolled-up nanotubes*, Phys. Rev. B (Submitted).
- [216] A. B. FOWLER, F. F. FANG, W. E. HOWARD and P. J. STILES, *Magneto-Oscillatory Conductance in Silicon Surfaces*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **16**, 901 (1966).
- [217] D. Z.-Y. TING and Y.-C. CHANG, *L-valley-derived states in (001) GaSb/AlSb quantum wells and superlattices*, Phys. Rev. B **38**, 3414 (1988).
- [218] G. GROSSO, G. PASTORI PARRAVICINI and C. PIERMAROCCHI, Valley splitting in triangular Si(001) quantum wells, Phys. Rev. B 54, 16393 (1996).
- [219] T. B. BOYKIN, G. KLIMECK, M. A. ERIKSSON, M. FRIESEN, S. N. COPPERSMITH, P. VON ALLMEN, F. OYAFUSO and S. LEE, Valley splitting in strained silicon quantum wells, Appl. Phys. Lett. 84, 115 (2004).

- [220] M. A. WILDE, M. RHODE, C. HEYN, D. HEITMANN, D. GRUNDLER, U. ZEITLER, F. SCHÄFFLER and R. J. HAUG, Direct measurements of the spin and valley splittings in the magnetization of a Si/SiGe quantum well in tilted magnetic fields, Phys. Rev. B 72, 165429 (2005).
- [221] A. VALAVANIS, Z. IKONIĆ and R. W. KELSALL, Intervalley splitting and intersubband transitions in n -type Si/SiGe quantum wells: Pseudopotential vs. effective mass calculation, Phys. Rev. B 75, 205332 (2007).
- [222] M. VIRGILIO and G. GROSSO, *Optical transitions between valley split subbands in biased Si quantum wells*, Phys. Rev. B **75**, 235428 (2007).
- [223] S. SRINIVASAN, G. KLIMECK and L. P. ROKHINSON, *Valley splitting in Si quantum dots embedded in SiGe*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **93**, 112102 (2008).
- [224] M. GRUNDMANN, *Nanoscroll formation from strained layer heterostructures*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **83**, 2444 (2003).
- [225] A. MALACHIAS, C. DENEKE, B. KRAUSE, C. MOCUTA, S. KIRAVITTAYA, T. H. METZGER and O. G. SCHMIDT, Direct strain and elastic energy evaluation in rolled-up semiconductor tubes by x-ray microdiffraction, Phys. Rev. B 79, 035301 (2009).
- [226] Y. ZHENG, C. RIVAS, R. LAKE, K. ALAM, T. BOYKIN and G. KLIMECK, *Electronic properties of silicon nanowires*, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices **52**, 1097 (2005).
- [227] L. T. CANHAM, Silicon quantum wire array fabrication by electrochemical and chemical dissolution of wafers, Appl. Phys. Lett. 57, 1046 (1990).
- [228] D. J. LOCKWOOD, Z. H. LU and J.-M. BARIBEAU, Quantum Confined Luminescence in Si/SiO<sub>2</sub> Superlattices, Phys. Rev. Lett. 76, 539 (1996).
- [229] M. NAYFEH, Highly nonlinear photoluminescence threshold in porous silicon, Appl. Phys. Lett. 75, 4112 (1999).
- [230] B. TIAN, X. ZHENG, T. J. KEMPA, Y. FANG, N. YU, G. YU, J. HUANG and C. M. LIEBER, Coaxial silicon nanowires as solar cells and nanoelectronic power sources, Nature 449, 885 (2007).
- [231] N. TIT, Z. H. YAMANI, G. PIZZI and M. VIRGILIO, Comparison of confinement characters between porous silicon and silicon nanowires, Phys. Lett. A 375, 2422 (2011).
- [232] N. TIT, Z. H. YAMANI, G. PIZZI and M. VIRGILIO, Origins of visible-light emissions in porous silicon, phys. stat. sol. (c) (Accepted).
- [233] G. GROSSO and C. PIERMAROCCHI, *Tight-binding model and interactions scaling laws for silicon and germanium*, Phys. Rev. B **51**, 16772 (1995).

- [234] G. PIZZI, F. CAROSELLA, G. BASTARD and R. FERREIRA, Magnetic field control of intersubband polaritons in narrow-gap semiconductors, Phys. Rev. B 83, 245318 (2011).
- [235] J. J. HOPFIELD, Theory of the Contribution of Excitons to the Complex Dielectric Constant of Crystals, Phys. Rev. **112**, 1555 (1958).
- [236] D. DINI, R. KÖHLER, A. TREDICUCCI, G. BIASIOL and L. SORBA, *Microcavity Polariton Splitting of Intersubband Transitions*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **90**, 116401 (2003).
- [237] E. DUPONT, J. A. GUPTA and H. C. LIU, Giant vacuum-field Rabi splitting of intersubband transitions in multiple quantum wells, Phys. Rev. B 75, 205325 (2007).
- [238] A. A. ANAPPARA, D. BARATE, A. TREDICUCCI, J. DEVENSON, R. TEISSIER and A. BARANOV, *Giant intersubband polariton splitting in InAs/AlSb microcavities*, Solid State Commun. **142**, 311 (2007).
- [239] C. CIUTI, G. BASTARD and I. CARUSOTTO, *Quantum vacuum properties of the intersubband cavity polariton field*, Phys. Rev. B **72**, 115303 (2005).
- [240] S. DE LIBERATO, C. CIUTI and I. CARUSOTTO, Quantum Vacuum Radiation Spectra from a Semiconductor Microcavity with a Time-Modulated Vacuum Rabi Frequency, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 103602 (2007).
- [241] S. DE LIBERATO, D. GERACE, I. CARUSOTTO and C. CIUTI, *Extracavity quantum vacuum radiation from a single qubit*, Phys. Rev. A **80**, 053810 (2009).
- [242] P. NATAF and C. CIUTI, Vacuum Degeneracy of a Circuit QED System in the Ultrastrong Coupling Regime, Phys. Rev. Lett. **104**, 023601 (2010).
- [243] A. A. ANAPPARA, A. TREDICUCCI, G. BIASIOL and L. SORBA, *Electrical control of polariton coupling in intersubband microcavities*, Appl. Phys. Lett. 87, 051105 (2005).
- [244] G. GÜNTER, A. A. ANAPPARA, J. HEES, A. SELL, G. BIASIOL, L. SORBA, S. DE LIBERATO, C. CIUTI, A. TREDICUCCI, A. LEITENSTORFER and R. HUBER, Sub-cycle switch-on of ultrastrong light-matter interaction, Nature 458, 178 (2009).
- [245] L. SAPIENZA, A. VASANELLI, C. CIUTI, C. MANQUEST, C. SIRTORI, R. COLOMBELLI and U. GENNSER, *Photovoltaic probe of cavity polaritons in a quantum cascade structure*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **90**, 201101 (2007).
- [246] R. COLOMBELLI, C. CIUTI, Y. CHASSAGNEUX and C. SIRTORI, *Quantum cascade intersubband polariton light emitters*, Semicond. Sci. Tech. **20**, 985 (2005).

- [247] L. SAPIENZA, A. VASANELLI, R. COLOMBELLI, C. CIUTI, Y. CHASSAGNEUX, C. MANQUEST, U. GENNSER and C. SIRTORI, *Electrically Injected Cavity Polaritons*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **100**, 136806 (2008).
- [248] Y. TODOROV, P. JOUY, A. VASANELLI, L. SAPIENZA, R. COLOMBELLI, U. GENNSER and C. SIRTORI, *Stark-tunable electroluminescence from cavity polariton states*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **93**, 171105 (2008).
- [249] P. JOUY, A. VASANELLI, Y. TODOROV, L. SAPIENZA, R. COLOMBELLI, U. GENNSER and C. SIRTORI, *Intersubband electroluminescent devices operating in the strong-coupling regime*, Phys. Rev. B 82, 045322 (2010).
- [250] S. ZANOTTO, G. BIASIOL, R. DEGL'INNOCENTI, L. SORBA and A. TREDICUCCI, Intersubband polaritons in a one-dimensional surface plasmon photonic crystal, Appl. Phys. Lett. 97, 231123 (2010).

# List of Figures

1.1	FCC lattice with primitive vectors	8
1.2	Conventional unit cell of the zincblende lattice	9
1.3	Brillouin zone of a FCC lattice	10
1.4	Interaction between different sites	17
1.5	Director cosines	17
1.6	Band structure of silicon (without spin-orbit)	21
1.7	Valence states at the zone center	25
1.8	Band structure of Si and Ge	28
1.9	Stress components	31
1.10	Engineering strain	32
1.11	Example of coherent growth — schematic	34
1.12	Example of coherent growth — TEM micrograph	34
1.13	Real space cell with orthogonal vectors	37
1.14	Folded Brillouin zone	38
1.15	Splitting of the states under strain	42
1.16	Top of the valence band of germanium under strain	42
1.17	Fundamental bandgap of a SiGe alloy	46
1.18	$\Delta$ and L ellipsoids of constant energy	56
1.19	Interband scattering mechanisms with phonons	64
1.20	Interdiffused concentration profiles	68
1.21	Graphical representation of the renormalization procedure	70
2.1	Scheme of a direct interband transition	81
2.2	Scheme of an indirect interband transition	87
2.3	Excitonic contribution to the 2D absorption spectrum	94
2.4	Lineshape of the intersubband absorption features	104
3.1	Maximum operating temperature of QCLs	110
3.2	TE and TM ISB transmission spectra	114
3.3	Dichroic transmittance spectra – First set of samples	116
3.4	Measured 2D ISB absorption coefficient	116
3.5	Conduction band edge profiles for Ge/SiGe MQWs	117
3.6	Band profile and states including the band bending for sample 1594	118
3.7	Measured and calculated carrier densities	118
3.8	Measured and calculated ISB absorption energies	120
3.9	Band profile and states including the band bending for sample 1776	122

LIST OF FIGURES

3.10	Dichroic transmittance spectra – Second set of samples	123
3.11	Pump-probe lifetime measurements	124
3.12	Ge/SiGe QC emitter	128
3.13	Ge/SiGe QC emitter with band bending	128
3.14	Ge/SiGe QC emitter with states of the contacts	129
3.15	Ge/SiGe QC emitter, improved injector region	130
3.16	Ge/SiGe QC emitter, improved extractor region	131
3.17	Si/SiGe QC emitter, design 1	132
3.18	Si/SiGe QC emitter, design 2	132
3.19	Si/SiGe QC emitter, design 3	133
4.1	Theoretical and experimental absorbance spectra	141
4.2	Band gaps as a function of the tensile strain	144
4.3	Schematic band profile of two tensile-strained Ge/SiGe MOWs	144
4.4	Integrated DOS for the direct-gap Ge/SiGe MOW	145
4.5	Valence bands of the direct-gap Ge/SiGe MQW	146
4.6	Gain spectra of the tensile-strained Ge/SiGe MQWs	147
4.7	TM/TE ratio for the dipole matrix elements in bulk Ge	148
4.8	Maximum gain value of the Ge/SiGe MQW system	148
4.9	Schematic of 2D and 3D DOS contributions	150
4.10	Photoluminescence of a Ge $n^+p$ diode	151
4.11	Photoluminescence of a $n$ -doped bulk Ge	151
4.12	Evaluated recombination rate for bulk Ge (temperature dependence)	156
4.13	Evaluated recombination rate for bulk Ge (doping dependence)	156
4.14	Evaluated recombination rate for bulk Ge (strain dependence)	156
4.15	Transmission and photoreflection spectra of annealed MQWs	158
4.16	Transition energies in annealed MQWs	159
4.17	Absorption strength in annealed MQWs	161
4.18	Band profiles of Si/Ge superlattices	165
4.19	Square moduli of the superlattice wavefunctions	166
4.20	Band structure of the $Si_2/Ge_{14}$ superlattice	167
4.21	Anisotropy of the band structure of the $Si_2/Ge_{14}$ superlattice $\ldots$	168
4.22	Gain spectra of the investigated superlattices	170
4.23	Anisotropy of the gain spectra	171
4.24	Gain spectra of the superlattices for different injection levels	172
4.25	Maximum gain value of the superlattices	172
4.26	Real-space lattice for a superlattice with $\frac{1}{2}(n+m) = 2$ (even)	178
4.27	Brillouin zone for a superlattice with $\frac{1}{2}(n+m) = 2$ (even)	178
4.28	Real-space lattice for a superlattice with $\frac{1}{2}(n+m) = 3$ (odd)	179
4.29	Brillouin zone for a superlattice with $\frac{1}{2}(n+m) = 3$ (odd)	180
4.30	Brillouin zone for a superlattice with $\frac{1}{2}(n+m) = 3$ together with	
	reciprocal lattice translation vectors	180
A 1	Real-space description of a rolled-up tube	187
A 2	Reciprocal-space description of a rolled-up tube	188
A 3	Conduction band of a Si/Ge rolled-up tube	188
11.5	Somuction band of a on Geroned-up tube	100

### LIST OF FIGURES

A.4	Valley splitting in a rolled-up tube	189
A.5	Supercells for porous silicon	191
A.6	Band structures of porous silicon samples	192
A.7	Oscillator strengths of porous silicon samples	193
A.8	ISB polariton branches as a function of the magnetic field	195

## List of Tables

1.1	Lattice constants of some semiconductors	8
1.2	Slater–Koster integrals	16
1.3	$H^{ac}$ interaction matrix	20
1.4	On-site matrix block with spin-orbit	27
1.5	Stiffness constants of Si and Ge	33
1.6	Conduction-band masses for Si and Ge	55
3.1	Investigated samples for the ISB absorption	115
3.2	Investigated samples for the non-radiative lifetime	123
3.3	Conduction-band offsets between Ge and SiGe	127
3.4	Deformation potentials for Si and Ge	137
4.1	Investigated short-period superlattices	164
4.2	Optical matrix elements of the investigated superlattices	168